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Dedication

This novel is dedicated to the men and women serving as part of
Operation Enduring Freedom and Operation Iraqi Freedom, and
to their families and loved ones. Thank you all for your service
and sacrifice.

This is also dedicated to the peacemakers of all nations who are still
wise and bold enough to know that free nations must still keep their
swords sharp, their eyes open, and their resolve strong in order to be
prepared to combat the evil in the world.



Author’s Note

This is a work of fiction and a product of my imagination. Although I
use the names of some real-world persons and organizations, their use is
only to enhance authenticity of the story and is not meant to describe
any real-world persons or organizations or depict their actual activities.
Any similarity whatsoever is coincidental.
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PROLOGUE

BATTLE MOUNTAIN AIR RESERVE BASE, NEVADA
June 2004

A-17 target-detection radar, twelve o’clock, fifty miles, no prob-

lem, well below detection threshold ... oh, wow, a newcomer,

SA-12 surveillance radar, one o’clock, eighty-five miles,” the re-
connaissance technician reported. The guy looked all of nineteen years
old and sounded even younger. He could’ve been commenting on the
appearance of aliens in a video game—he was neither excited nor sur-
prised, just gleefully energized. “SA-12 datalink signals being transmit-
ted . . . still not locked on, but he knows we’re out here. He— Wait,
radar’s down. He shut it off in a big hurry.”

“Well, well—the Russkies sneaked an SA-12 into the theater,” Ma-
jor General Patrick McLanahan remarked. He was well accustomed to
the youthful expressions and seemingly laid-back style of his soldiers,
and he tried not to impart his own “red alert” mentality on them. The
forty-seven-year-old two-star Air Force general typed in commands on
his computer terminal, calling up any additional information on this
new contact. “Possibly a full SA-12 battery—six transporter-erector-
launchers plus five loader-launchers tied into a surveillance radar vehi-
cle, sector-scanning radar vehicle, and command post. He’s pretty far
outside Ashkhabad—it’s obviously not intended to protect Russian
forces in the capital. It’s a clear violation.”

“They’re moving the heavy guns a little farther east every day,” Air
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Force Colonel Daren Mace remarked. The fifty-one-year-old Air Force
veteran watched as the large, full-color tactical display updated itself
with the location and identification of the new Russian surface-to-air
missile unit. The SA-12, similar in performance to the American Patriot
antiaircraft system, was one of the Russian Federation’s most advanced
surface-to-air missile systems, capable of destroying large aircraft out as
far as sixty miles. ““You’d think they didn’t want us out there watching
them or something.” He made a few inputs on his own keyboard. “The
task force has been updated with the new intel, and we’ve sent warnings
to all the United Nations participants,” he went on. “The Russians are
threatening past the sixtieth meridian now with the SA-12; sir. If they
keep this up, they’ll have surface-to-air missile coverage over Mary itself
in just a few days.”

Patrick nodded. The Republic of Turkmenistan had been cut in
half since the Taliban invasion last year, with the Turkmen government
and military virtually exiled to the city of Mary in the east and the
Army of the Russian Federation in control of the capital city of
Ashkhabad in the west. The United Nations Security Council had or-
dered all parties to stand fast until peacekeeping forces could be moved
into the country to try to sort everything out, and to everyone’s sur-
prise the resolution passed without a veto from Russia. Now it appeared
that the Russians were violating the order and moving steadily east-
ward, taking steps to control the skies first and then slowly taking more
and more of the countryside. “I'll go to Eighth Air Force again and
make sure they know that the Russians haven’t stopped pushing east.”

“Think that’ll do any good, sir?” Daren asked. “We’ve painted a
pretty clear picture of the Russians moving east across Turkmenistan, in
violation of the Security Council’s resolution. The SA-12 is a lot more
than a tactical defensive weapon—one battery can shut off two hundred
thousand cubic miles of airspace.”

“Our job is to surveille, monitor, analyze, and report—not attack,”
Patrick said with a hint of weariness in his voice as he keyed in com-
mands to submit a report to Eighth Air Force’s senior duty controller.
Eighth Air Force, located in Shreveport, Louisiana, was the Air Force
major command in charge of all of America’s heavy bomber forces.
“I'm taking it upon myself to have the assets in place in case we’re
asked to respond. I have a feeling I'm lucky to continue to be doing
that.” Daren Mace said nothing—he knew that the general was definitely
correct.
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Patrick, Daren, and their technical crew were conducting an aerial
surveillance and reconnaissance mission over central Turkmenistan, a
former Soviet Central Asian republic—but they were safe and secure in
the BATMAN, or Battle Management Center, at Battle Mountain Air
Reserve Base in north-central Nevada. The aircraft flying over Turk-
menistan was a QB-1C Vampire III, a highly modified unmanned B-1
bomber loaded with electronic surveillance and monitoring equipment.
Eavesdropping equipment allowed Patrick to intercept signals from a
wide variety of sources, and the bomber’s laser radar, or LADAR, al-
lowed them to take incredibly detailed images of ground and air targets
from long range.

Along with defensive weapons—six AIM-120 Advanced Medium
Range Air-to-Air Missiles (AMRAAMs) on external fuselage hard-
points—the Vampire bomber carried two StealthHawk UCAVs (Un-
manned Combat Air Vehicles) on a special rotary launcher in its center
bomb bay. Resembling wide, fat, winged surfboards, the StealthHawk
drones carried small but powerful precision-guided missiles and cluster
munitions to attack hostile ground targets. The StealthHawks could be
retrieved, refueled, and rearmed inside the Vampire, allowing each drone
to attack dozens of targets while the mother ship stayed well out of
range of antiaircraft threats.

Patrick punched the radio channel command, entered a password,
waited a few moments until the secure channels synchronized, then
spoke, “Fortress, this is Avenger, secure.”

“Avenger, Fortress is secure,” the Eighth Air Force senior controller
on duty responded.

“How are you tonight, Taylor?”

“Just fine, General,” Air Force Lieutenant Colonel Taylor Viner
replied. Taylor Rose Viner was a young and talented aerospace engineer
and command pilot that Patrick had tried for years to recruit to
Dreamland, the top-secret weapon center in Nevada, but the mother of
twin boys had opted for a halfway normal family life as one of the shift
commanders in charge of Eighth Air Force’s command center. “Go
ahead, sir.”

“We’ve detected a new SAM site in central Turkmenistan, an SA-12
less than forty miles outside the city of Mary,” Patrick said. “It’s not a
threat to task-force aircraft right now, but that’s only because we’re
stealthier than the average bear. If we put up any standard reconnais-
sance aircraft, they’d be dead meat.”



4 DALE BROWN

“The Security Council resolution prohibits Russian forces from ap-
proaching closer than fifty kilometers from Mary—that’s thirty miles,”
Viner said. “He’s legal.”

“But an SA-12 is a threat to large aircraft out to forty miles, and that
means over the city of Mary,” Patrick said.

“I understand, sir,” Viner said. “I’'m not arguing, only playing devil’s
advocate.” She was also gently reminding Patrick of the first likely ques-
tion the Eighth Air Force commanders would ask if she woke them up
with this information. “What do you want to do, sir?”

“I'm requesting permission to launch a StealthHawk UCAV over
the city in an effort to ascertain the Russians’ intent.”

“UCAV? You've got UCAVs on board the task-force aircraft, sir?”
Taylor asked with surprise. She paused for a moment as she typed on
her own computer terminal, then added, “Sir, there’s nothing on the
frag order about UCAVs. Are they armed, sir?” Patrick hesitated—and
that’s all Viner needed to know. “General, my recommendation to you
would be to launch another aircraft immediately that 1s armed exactly
per the frag order to replace the one you have on station.”

“The frag order doesn’t prohibit us from carrying UCAVs, and it
does permit us to carry defensive weapons.”

“Yes, sir,” Viner replied, in a tone of voice that clearly said, The
bosses aren’t going to like that argument one bit. “Shall I upchannel
your observations and request, sir, or would you like to continue moni-
toring the situation?”

Taylor was making one last attempt to dissuade Patrick from taking
any action, and Patrick decided she was right. “We’ll continue monitor-
ing the situation, Colonel,” Patrick said. “You can put in your report
that we have StealthHawk UCAVs on board the Bobcat patrol aircraft
and that we are ready to respond immediately if necessary. Please mark
the SA-12 battery-contact report ‘urgent’ and let them know we’re
standing by.”

“Yes, sir,” Viner responded. “Anything else to report, sir?”

“No, Taylor. Ops normal otherwise. We’re standing by to respond.”

“Roger that, sir. Fortress clear.”

“Avenger standing by.” Patrick sat back in his seat and studied the
displays in front of him. “Well, Daren,” he said to Mace beside him, “I
sure hope I didn’t piss off the brass—any more than I already have.”

“If you’ll pardon an unsolicited observation, sir, I think they’re
probably going to be perpetually pissed at you, whether or not you
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launched the Vampires with UCAVs,” Daren observed. Patrick nodded
in agreement. He was right: This whole mission was a no-win situation
from day one, and Patrick was the center of the shit storm.

The United Nations Security Council resolution ordered aerial ob-
servation of Turkmenistan only. President Thomas Thorn, in a surprise
move, pledged support, and the council accepted. The secretary of de-
tense ordered U.S. Central Command, the major command in charge of
military operations in Central Asia, to set up round-the-clock recon-
naissance; Central Command in turn tapped the U.S. Air Force to per-
form the reconnaissance task.

At first the Air Force tasked Twelfth Air Force, the Air Combat
Command headquarters that owned long-range reconnaissance aircraft,
to plan a reconnaissance schedule. Twelfth Air Force built a plan to de-
ploy its conventional reconnaissance aircraft—the unmanned RQ-4A
Global Hawk, the U-2 “Dragon Lady” spy plane, the RC-135 RIVET
JOINT electronic reconnaissance plane, and the E-8 Joint STARS (Sur-
veillance and Targeting Radar System) ground-reconnaissance aircraft.
With a combination of these aircraft over Turkmenistan, augmented
with satellite reconnaissance, they’d have a complete, 24/7 real-time
picture of the situation there.

But the 111th Bomb Wing’s aircraft, already deployed to Diego
Garcia during the initial conflict in Turkmenistan, offered so much
more than just simple surveillance. An unmanned QAL-52 Dragon
airborne-laser aircraft could protect as much as 20 million cubic miles of
airspace from ballistic missiles, cruise missiles, aircraft, and even some
ground targets; the unmanned QB-1C and QB-52 “flying battleships”
each provided as much oftensive and defensive firepower as a flight of
tactical fighters. At Patrick McLanahan’s urging, Central Command ve-
toed Twelfth Air Force’s plans and ordered Eighth Air Force, in charge
of the Air Force’s long-range bombers, to deploy McLanahan’s Air Bat-
tle Force to patrol Turkmenistan. The high-tech bombers of the 111th
Bomb Wing had acquitted themselves well in the opening conflict with
the Russians, and this was seen as a reward for their efforts; besides, they
were already in place and knew the tactical situation thoroughly.

This decision managed to upset both Eighth and Twelfth Air Force
commanders, although they had no choice but to accept it. Eighth
Air Force had its own fleet of strike aircraft, of course—160 long-range
B-1B, B-52, and B-2 bombers and several hundred aerial-refueling
tankers, along with a dazzling array of cruise missiles and precision-
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guided munitions. But they were all back in the States or providing
long-range patrol duties with U.S. Navy Surface Action Groups around
the world.

Although administratively part of the Air Reserve Forces—most of
the men and women in the Wing were part of the Nevada Air National
Guard—the 111th Bomb Wing operationally belonged to Eighth Air
Force. But when it came down to it, no one at Eighth Air Force knew
how to deploy or fight with the high-tech gadgets at Battle Mountain
Air Reserve Base. They had no choice but to place Major General
Patrick McLanahan in charge of the operation, reporting directly to
Eighth Air Force headquarters.

The decision to let Patrick’s Air Battle Force patrol Turkmenistan
created a much more effective presence there for far less cost than
Twelfth Air Force’s planned operation, but the decision did not sit well
with many Air Force general ofticers. No doubt they were all waiting
for Patrick and his fleet of robot planes to fail.

Daren Mace let Patrick stew in silence for several long moments.
Daren was a bit older than Patrick, but his Air Force career had not been
nearly as successful or dynamic—until he met up with the young two-
star general. Now, as operations officer of the 111th Bomb Wing, Daren
Mace commanded a growing fleet of the most high-tech warplanes on
the planet, the majority of which were created by Patrick McLanahan
in the supersecret desert research center at Elliott Air Force Base in
Groom Lake, Nevada, commonly known as Dreamland. A few years
ago, aerial-warfare expert Mace had made his living flipping slides and
making coffee for generals and administrators in the Pentagon. Now
those same generals and bean-counting bureaucrats were coming to
him asking for answers to America’s tough defense problems.

“Want to bring that Vampire home,” Daren asked, “and replace it
with one without StealthHawks aboard?”

Patrick looked as if he didn’t hear Mace. He was staring intently at
the large, full-color tactical situation display, with the new SA-12 bat-
tery in the center. Finally he pointed at the screen on the wall before
him. “You see anything wrong with how that SA-12 is deployed,
Daren?” he asked.

Daren studied the display. Something had been nagging at him ever
since the surface-to-air missile battery had been detected. The SA-12’s
precise position was plotted on the screen, along with a circle represent-
ing the maximum eftective range of the two-stage solid-propellant
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Russian 9M82 antiaircraft missile, a larger but almost direct copy of the
American Patriot missile. “Well, I wouldn’t have put it there myself,”
Daren said a few moments later.

“Why?”

“It’s too far south,” Daren replied. “If we were going to fly a strike
mission against Russian forces coming from Ashkhabad, we could easily
circumnavigate that SA-12.”

“Which tells you . . . 27

“That . . . maybe the Russians have another SA-12 battery farther
north?”

“Exactly,” Patrick said. “How many batteries can a single SA-12
command post control?”

“Up to four—almost a hundred missiles total.”

“We might have two or three more batteries sneaking their way east
as we speak.” Patrick pointed at several laser-radar returns well north of
the SA-12 battery. “There’s a bunch of newcomers up there, but we
haven’t identified them yet—"

“Because they haven’t broadcast any radar or radio datalink signals,”
Daren said. “They could be anything—tanks, SCUDs, SAMs, camels—
but if they didn’t flash a radar or broadcast what we think might be a
fire-control datalink signal, we left it alone until we had time to give it
a closer look.”

“But the SA-12 could use a hardwired cable datalink, which we
couldn’t detect. They could be ready to fire within seconds,” Patrick
said. He pointed at the screen on his console. “I count ten vehicles in this
area and twelve in this general area here. They could be SA-12 batteries,
sitting silent. I wish we had authorization to send some Tin Man recon
units into the area.” But that was not going to happen. Part of Patrick’s
Air Battle Force, the Tin Men were small commando teams outfitted
with electronic battle armor, sophisticated sensor systems, and high-tech
infantry weapons. They could move quietly, survive in extremely hostile
situations, and reconnoiter large areas far behind enemy lines very
quickly. Naturally, the Russians didn’t want them anywhere near their
troops. They convinced the United Nations Security Council that the
Tin Men were nothing but search-and-destroy squads, not a monitoring
team, and so were forbidden to enter the theater of operations at all.

“I think it might be time to take a look,” Daren said. “Eighth Air
Force might squawk if we launch a StealthHawk, but if we move the
Vampire bomber in for a closer look . . .”
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“Do it,” Patrick said.

Daren smiled and pulled his headset microphone closer to his lips,
issuing orders to the technicians in the “virtual cockpit” behind him in
the Battle Mountain Battle Management Center. The QB-1C Vampire
IIT bomber normally operated under a preprogrammed flight plan writ-
ten and uploaded on the ground, which commanded the bomber to pa-
trol a certain area for a certain amount of time, then return for refueling
or landing. But it took only moments for the technicians in the ground-
based “cockpit” of the big bomber to change the flight plan and radio
it to the bomber via secure satellite transmission.

Moments later Patrick and Daren watched as the unmanned Vam-
pire bomber began moving farther and farther north. It took almost
thirty minutes to change the patrol orbit a hundred miles north. “Laser
radar transmitting . . . LADAR identifies the vehicles as transports. No
SA-12s.

“Get it in closer,” Patrick said. “I want a detailed identification.”

“Roger.” Daren issued more orders, and they watched as the Vam-
pire bomber moved even closer to the suspect vehicles—now within
twenty miles of the unidentified “transports.” “LADAR now classifying
some of the vehicles as transporter-erector-launchers,” Daren reported.
“We might have something here. What next, General? You want one of
the StealthHawks to make a pass now?”

“Not quite yet,” Patrick responded. He thought for a moment,
then, “Open the bomb doors.”

“That should get their attention,” Daren said. Into his microphone
he ordered, “Send to Bobcat Zero-seven: open center bomb-bay doors.
Do not launch UCAVs. Repeat, do not launch UCAVs.”

The QB-1C Vampire III bomber had the radar cross-section smaller
than a bird—until one of its three sets of bomb-bay doors were opened.
Once that happened, its radar size increased a thousandfold. Radar en-
ergy bounced and reflected inside the bomb bay, making the bomber’s
apparent size on radar jump exponentially. Seconds after Daren issued
the order, they heard a computer voice in their headsets: “Warning, threat
radar, SA-12, eleven o’clock, twenty-two miles, surveillance scan . . . warning,
datalink active, SA-12, eleven o’clock, twenty-one miles.”

“There it is,” Daren remarked. “You were right, sir—they have an-
other SA-12 system farther north. And it’s a lot closer to Mary. They
have full radar and antiaircraft-missile coverage of the city now.” He hit
his intercom button. “Bobcat Zero-seven, close bomb doors, activate all
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defensive countermeasures, and get out of there fast.” He knew that the
flight-control techs would simply take manual control of the Vampire
and fly it directly away from the SA-12, while at the same time repro-
gramming the flight plan for a low-level evasive dash. “What do you
want to do with the SA-12 batteries, General?”’

“Kill them, Colonel,” Patrick said simply, punching up the datalink
code for Eighth Air Force headquarters again. “It’s an unidentified hos-
tile threat that is not authorized by United Nations resolution. Destroy
it. Command vehicle first, then the radars, and then the missiles. I'll no-
tity Eighth Air Force of our actions.”

“Yes, si,” Daren responded enthusiastically. On the secure com-
mand link, he ordered, “Bobcat Zero-seven, this is Bobcat. Designate
the SA-12 contacts as hostiles and attack. Repeat, designate all SA-12
contacts as hostile and attack. We think they rolled an entire brigade
into the area. If they did, I want them all found, and I want them to die
soonest. Order of target priority: command-post vehicle, missile-
control radars, scanning radars, and launchers.” The Vampire flight tech-
nicians acknowledged the order and hurriedly reprogrammed both the
Vampire and its StealthHawks for the attack.

The Vampire began a fast turn to the east and a rapid descent. The
tactical display showed the lethal-range ring of the SA-12 system—as
the Vampire descended, the ring was getting smaller, but the bomber
was still well within kill range. The display suddenly showed the Vam-
pire’s rate of descent slowing dramatically. Daren was about to ask why
when he realized that Bobcat Zero-seven had to almost level off to
launch its StealthHawks—the UCAVs could not safely leave the center
bomb bay with the bomber in a steep descent. “First StealthHawk
away . .."

“Hurry, damn 1it, hurry,” Patrick breathed.

“Warning, SA-12 missile guidance radar, six o’clock, thirty miles,” the

computer blared. “Warning, missile launch . . . warning, second missile
launch!”
“Second StealthHawk away . . .” Moments later the icon represent-

ing Bobcat Zero-seven disappeared. “Lost contact with Bobcat Zero-
seven,” the flight-control tech reported. “Looks like both SA-12
missiles hit dead on.”

Daren Mace slammed a fist into a palm and swore loudly. “I don’t
want to see anything but smoking holes in the ground where those SA-
12s are!” he shouted.
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“Take it easy, Colonel,” Patrick said. On his secure datalink, he
spoke, “Fortress, this is Avenger, secure. Priority-alert notification.”

“Go ahead with your priority-alert notification, Avenger, Fortress is
secure.” Patrick could hear the warning tones being sounded in the
Eighth Air Force command center as Taylor Viner hit the ALERT button
on her console, which sounded a tone in the entire room and would
page each of the headquarters’ staff officers.

“Bobcat Zero-seven has just been shot down by a Russian SA-12
surface-to-air missile. Request permission to return fire with ground-
attack UCAVs.”

“Copy your request, Avenger. Stand by.”

“General . . . ?” Daren asked. The StealthHawks were beginning
their attack runs.

“Continue,” Patrick said without hesitation. “Nail em.”

Each of the StealthHawk UCAVs carried millimeter-wave radar and
infrared sensors that could precisely locate and identify the enemy tar-
gets. They received initial target-area instructions from the Vampire
bomber, but, once released, they searched for targets on their own. A
screen on the “big board” showed the decision-making matrix each
StealthHawk employed. It was extraordinary to watch: The BATMAN
staft saw the image the StealthHawk was looking at, saw it compare the
image to its stored catalog of vehicles and come up with several possibil-
ities. A few seconds later, the StealthHawk would take another “snap-
shot” of the target and refine its guess until it came up with only one
possibility. Then it selected a weapon that would be most effective in de-
stroying the target: an AGM-211 mini-Maverick missile for the armored
SA-12 command vehicle, and CBU-87/103 Combined Effects Muni-
tions mines against the radar arrays and transporter-erector-launchers.

Two more SA-12 missiles launched moments after they picked up a
sector-scan warning, followed by two more from a different set of
launchers, but it was obvious the radar didn’t have a solid lock-on. “Four
SA-12s in flight . . . missiles are deviating, the missile-tracking radar has lost
contact . . . back to surveillance-scan mode only . . . clean misses.” The radar
cross-section of each StealthHawk was one one-thousandth the size of
the already-stealthy Vampire bomber—the Russian radar had no chance
at all of tracking it except at very close range.

Both StealthHawks bypassed the second SA-12 battery and instead
rushed the first group of vehicles detected—the one with the
command-post vehicle, the nerve center of the SA-12 system. The
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Ural-4320 six-by-six was the smallest vehicle in the group, but that
didn’t matter to the UCAVs—both launched a single mini-Maverick
missile at the correct vehicle. Patrick and Daren watched the attack un-
fold as the area images from the StealthHawk’s sensors, and then the tar-
get images from the mini-Mav’s imaging infrared sensor, showed the
missiles closing in. The mission commander had the option of designat-
ing another target or correcting the aimpoint, but it wasn’t necessary—
the StealthHawks were perfectly accurate. Both missiles plowed
dead-center into the command-post vehicle, transforming it into a
cloud of fire in seconds.

Like meat-eating bees buzzing around a picnic table, the Stealth-
Hawks continued their work. The first UCAV sent its second mini-
Maverick into the nearby 9S15MV surveillance-radar vehicle, which
consisted of a large tracked vehicle carrying a massive billboardlike
long-range radar. The second UCAV rolled in on another large radar
array not far from the command-post vehicle, but Patrick hit his inter-
com button. “Negative on that target, Zero-seven,” he said. ““That’s the
sector-scanning radar—it’s only effective against ballistic-missile attack.
Put another mini-Mav into that ‘billboard’ radar.” The remote mission
commander overrode the StealthHawk’s target choice and instead
guided it against the same long-range radar attacked by the first UCAV.
Without the command-post vehicle, the SA-12 was lobotomized. Now,
without the surveillance radar, it lost its long-range vision.

The StealthHawks continued their attack by orbiting the two SA-
12 batteries, searching for targets for their second weapon—two canis-
ters, each filled with thirty BLU-97 Combined Effects Munitions
bomblets that were scattered in a wide oval pattern above a target clus-
ter. Each bomblet was a two-pound high-explosive fragmenting case
with an inflatable Ballute parachute tail and a tiny radio altimeter that
measured how far aboveground the canister was and set oft the explo-
sive at precisely the correct instant. When detonated, each canister shot
several thousand steel fragments in all directions out to fifty to sixty feet,
strong enough to penetrate automotive steel and light armor. At the
same time, a mixture of zirconium in the Cyclotol explosive ignited,
creating a fireball hot enough to set oft unprotected fuel tanks, detonate
ammunition—or kill a human being—for thirty to forty feet away.

The two StealthHawks could not hope to destroy all of the over
180 remaining SA-12 missiles in the brigade, but their final attacks were
still devastating. Each StealthHawk automatically adjusted its altitude
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and track so as to maximize the kill pattern of its Combined Eftects
canisters, dropping the canisters so that the scatter pattern of the BLU-
97 bomblets hit as many targets as possible. Each run managed to hit at
least two SA-12 transporter-erector-launchers or reload-launcher trail-
ers, which created spectacular secondary explosions as the shrapnel
ripped open missile casings and fuel tanks and the incendiary fireballs
ignited the fuel or explosives within.

As the StealthHawks continued to orbit the area, they sent back im-
ages and radar maps of their handiwork. “Command vehicle, surveil-
lance radar, and most of two entire SA-12 batteries destroyed or heavily
damaged, sir,” the StealthHawk flight-control officer reported. “No
radar or datalink transmissions detected.”

“Over thirty missiles destroyed and several more damaged,” Daren
said. “Friggin’ unbelievable. We pretty much pulled the plug on this en-
tire brigade.” Left unsaid was the casualty count—each SA-12 battery
was manned by almost fifty soldiers, and the command vehicle alone
had twelve officers and technicians on board.

But even after all of their weapons were expended, the Stealth-
Hawks were not finished. Because they knew that their Vampire mother
ship had been destroyed and they did not have enough fuel to reach
friendly territory or rendezvous with another mother ship, they located
one last target—both of the UCAVs selected a surviving launcher filled
with SA-12 missiles—and dove in on it. Their small, thirty-pound “sui-
cide” warheads ensured that both the target and the UCAVs themselves
were destroyed in their final kamikaze attack runs.

“Direct impacts on two more transporter-erector-launchers,”
Daren reported. Patrick was still listening for word from Eighth Air
Force headquarters. “Almost two entire SA-12 batteries destroyed, in-
cluding their command-and-surveillance center.”

“Pass along to your Bobcat crews, “Well done, good shooting,’
Daren,” Patrick said. It was over in less than ten minutes—one QB-1C
Vampire bomber and two StealthHawk UCAVs destroyed with no casu-
alties, versus half of a Russian SA-12 brigade with possibly dozens of
casualties. Even Patrick was astounded by the power and efficiency of
his unmanned aerial-combat warplanes. “Let’s get another Vampire air-
borne and on patrol, and let’s pinpoint the rest of that SA-12 brigade.”

“Roger that, sir,” Daren responded eagerly. He left his station be-
side Patrick to go up the theaterlike Battle Management Center to the
Bobcat flight-control center to pass along the general’s congratulations.
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At the same time, Patrick heard a chime in his headset. He entered his
passcode and waited for the secure linkup. “Fortress, Avenger is up and
secure.”

“What’s your report, General?” Patrick recognized the groggy, gruff
voice as Major General Charles Zoltrane, the deputy commander of
Eighth Air Force. Well, he thought ruefully, the brass was awake now.
He was probably speaking from a secure phone in his quarters, and he
definitely did not sound happy about being awakened at this hour.

“One of my unmanned Vampire bombers was shot down by a
Russian SA-12 surface-to-air missile battery just outside Mary, sir,”
Patrick replied. Patrick had known Zoltrane for many years, and they
were of equal rank. But when Zoltrane used “General” instead of
“Patrick,” McLanahan knew to keep this conversation formal and care-
tully observe their chain of command.

“Shit,” Zoltrane murmured. “How in hell did you manage that,
General?”

“We were investigating some unidentified ground returns just
twenty miles outside Mary, well within the prohibited area, when it
popped on and nailed us. We detected two SA-12 batteries and their
command-and-control units.”

“Transmit the site’s coordinates and electromagnetic signals to
headquarters, and let’s have a look.” But Zoltrane detected the hesita-
tion in Patrick’s response and said, “What else do you have to report,
McLanahan?”

“The SA-12 batteries have been neutralized, sir,” Patrick said. “The
command-and-control unit, surveillance radar, and a total of ten
transporter-erector-launchers have been destroyed.”

“Destroyed? Destroyed with what?”

“StealthHawk UCAVs, sir, launched from our Vampire just before it
was shot down.”

“StealthHawks? You had Stealthhawks on board your reconnaissance air-
craft? How many?”

“Two.”

“Where are they now?”

“They were both completely destroyed when they kamikazied into
SA-12 transporter-erector-launchers.”

“Who gave the order to attack those SA-12 batteries, General?”

“I did, sir, as soon as my Vampire bomber was attacked and destroyed
by hostile ground fire from within the prohibited area around Mary.”
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“You received no guidance from General Samson or from CENT-
COM?” Zoltrane asked. Lieutenant General Terrill Samson was the
commander of Eighth Air Force and the immediate task-force com-
mander. Although anyone up the chain of command could have issued
attack orders to Patrick—even the president of the United States him-
self—most if not all commands would have gone through General
Samson at Eighth Air Force except in the direst of emergencies.

“No, sir.”

“I see.” There was silence for several long moments, during which
Patrick could tell that Zoltrane was still on the line. Then, abruptly, he
said, “Stand by,” and the connection was broken. That was not a good
sign, Patrick thought.

Daren Mace returned a few minutes later. “Bobcat Zero-four is in-
bound inside the ingress corridor over western Pakistan and should be
on station in less than an hour,” he reported. “He does not have any
StealthHawks on board. Bobcat Zero-two will be ready to launch from
Diego Garcia in about thirty minutes, and he’s loaded with two UCAVSs.
We can only load fifty percent of our Vampires with UCAVs for now,
but we expect to get a few more ready to upload within twenty-four
hours. Within forty-eight hours, all Vampires will have UCAVs on
board.”

“Very good,” Patrick said. “Get Zero-two airborne as soon as pos-
sible, with StealthHawks and full defensive armament. All Vampires that
launch from now on will have StealthHawks on board unless further
advised. The Russians might have many more SA-12s waiting for us out
there.”

“Yes, sir.”

Patrick glanced up and saw Brigadier General David Luger, his sec-
ond in command, trotting down the stairs toward the command con-
sole, apparently in a very big hurry, looking worriedly at Patrick. “Put
Zero-four on patrol, and have him identify each and every laser-radar
return within fifty miles of Mary,” he went on. “If the Russians have a
portable latrine out there, I want to know about it.”

“You got it, sir,” Daren said enthusiastically. He started to put on his
headset to talk with the flight-control crew in the BATMAN and his
ground crews on Diego Garcia, but David Luger came over to him, bent
down, and whispered something to him. Daren Mace looked quizzically
at Luger and shook his head, but Luger grasped Mace by his right upper
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arm, and Mace stood up and retreated up the stairs toward the flight-
control crews.

Patrick watched this interchange with a slight feeling of dread that
he tried not to make evident in his voice as he asked, “What’s going on,
Dave?”

“I received a call from Eighth Air Force headquarters, Patrick,”
Luger replied. Patrick noticed that David was in a flight suit but was un-
shaven and had barely taken the time to lace up his flying boots. At that
moment a tech from the communications center trotted down the steps
carrying a message. He handed it to Luger, who read it quickly. Patrick
saw his face turn ashen. “Oh, shit . ..”

“What in hell’s going on, Texas?” Patrick asked.

“You . . . you've been relieved of duty, Patrick,” Luger responded,
his voice shaking with disbelief and shock. He handed the message to
Patrick. “I've been ordered to take command of the Air Battle Force
and to confine you to quarters until you can be reassigned. All of our
planes are being recalled. You . . . Christ, Patrick, you’ve been demoted
to brigadier general.”

Patrick read the message, shrugged, and simply nodded. “Guess they
didn’t appreciate me blowing up a Russian SAM site without letting
them know first,” he said simply.

“Patrick . . . Muck, this is not right,” David stammered. “Eighth Air
Force can’t take away your command just like that—we don’t belong to
them. And only the president, the SECDEE or the chief of staff can take
away your stars.”

“This message is not from Eighth Air Force,” Patrick said, holding
up the note and tapping the relevant line. “It came from the Pentagon,
transmitted in response to a request from General Samson,” Patrick said.
He crumpled the paper in his hands. “You have command of the Air
Battle Force, Dave. I've been ordered to go home.” He looked at his
friend, clasped him on the shoulder, then took off his headset and
dropped it on the command console. “I'll be with my son in quarters.
If they want me, they can reach me there. I'll have my earset on—don’t
ring my home phone. It might wake Bradley.”

David Luger was just too stunned to move. “Muck . . .”

“Don’t let them take away your ability to fight, Dave,” Patrick said,
looking at his longtime friend and partner with a defeated expression
Luger had never seen before. “The staff weenies at Barksdale don’t have
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a clue. Don’t let them take away your strength.” And with that, Patrick
McLanahan marched up the steps and out of the Battle Management
Center.

In the blink of an eye, a general reduced to nothing.

MINISTRY OF DEFENSE OF THE REPUBLIC OF TURKMENISTAN,
ASHKHABAD, TURKMENISTAN

That same time

es, sir, I know what my orders were,” Colonel General Boris Kasi-

mov, commander of Turkmenistan Defensive Alliance forces, forcibly
responded on the secure telephone line. “The order was ‘all weapons
tight.” But we were under attack, damn it. The Americans had an armed
B-1 bomber up there over Mary, and it rolled in on my brigade and at-
tacked without any warning.”

“Take it easy, Boris, take it easy,” General Anatoliy Gryzlov, president
of the Russian Federation, asked in a soft, understanding tone. Short,
slender, with thin brown hair and bright blue eyes, the former cosmo-
naut, test pilot, and, until recently, chief of staft of the Russian military,
usually appeared as if he would very much like to beat up everyone to
whom he spoke. But when he was speaking to his generals, Gryzlov’s
entire demeanor was different; he treated them all, from the most senior
commanders to the lowliest conscripts, with fatherly attention.

“Sir, I take full responsibility for this incident. [—"

“Boris, hold it,” Gryzlov implored. “It’s me, Anatoliy, your classmate
at the academy, your squadron leader, your poker buddy. We’ve served
too long together, fought too many battles, for you to talk to me like an
altar boy caught yanking his wanker in the confessional. Just speak to
me, all right? What happened?”

Gryzlov could hear Kasimov take a deep, relieved breath and a hard
swallow. “General, we came under attack, and the air-defense brigade
reacted, plain and simple,” he said wearily. “All of a sudden that damned
American bomber appeared out of nowhere and headed right for the
number-one battery, and it had its bomb doors open. The crews saw it
on the optronic sights, and everyone panicked. They lit it up and fired
on it without requesting permission.”

“For Christ’s sake, Boris, I know your crews have more discipline
than that,” Gryzlov said. “That’s the reason we picked that brigade to
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deploy on this mission—they knew how to preserve operational secu-
rity. My orders were specific: Weapons stayed tight unless I personally,
verbally gave the order to attack. And that was only going to happen af-
ter we started moving the armored divisions eastward—not for another
six months at least. I was hoping by then that the world would have for-
gotten about that stinking rathole called Turkmenistan and leave us
alone to do our business, just like Chechnya. This incident puts the con-
flict right back on the world media’s hot sheet.”

“General, blame it on the Americans,” Kasimov said angrily. “They
weren’t permitted to bring armed attack aircraft into Turkmenistan, just
unarmed reconnaissance planes and other aircraft armed with defensive
systems only.”

“I know that, Boris,” Gryzlov said. “What I'm asking you is, what
were your orders to the brigade? Exactly.”” There was a long pause.
“Boris, let’s not play games here. Talk to me.”

“I told my brigade commanders that the order from you was
‘weapons tight,” but I made it clear to them that I did not want to lose
the brigade to attackers, especially Americans or Turkmenis,” Kasimov
said finally. “I told the colonel that they were not to initiate an attack,
but they were not to lose the brigade under any circumstances.” He
quickly added, “Surely, General, you did not expect me to just allow that
S-300 brigade to be attacked from the air without fighting back? I
know that your orders didn’t mean we should just let the entire brigade
be wiped out. . . .”

“Boris . . .”

“The Americans had a B-1 bomber that launched fwo unmanned at-
tack aircraft,” Kasimov said, his voice pleading now. “Each one of those
things employed at least two guided missiles and two cluster munitions
before flying themselves into another target. They took out nearly the
entire antiaircraft brigade! At least we got the fucking bomber—and if
you ask me, we should follow it up by attacking their forward base in
Diego Garcia. We can’t let the Americans get away with this!”

Gryzlov winced when Kasimov reminded him of that fact. The
Antey S-300V-series surface-to-air missile system—what the West
called the SA-12 “Gladiator”—was the best long-range, high-altitude
antiaircraft weapon system in the Russian Federation, and probably the
best in the world; it was also the world’s first workable mobile
antiballistic-missile system. Despite its eftectiveness, however, Russia’s
outmoded and inadequate industrial and technical development centers
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and its rapidly shrinking defense budget couldn’t produce enough spare
parts and reloads for its own training and operational needs, let alone
tully support its export customers. Just a single pair of missiles ex-
pended in a rare live-fire training exercise took weeks, sometimes
months to replace—losing two entire missile batteries, not to mention the
command-and-surveillance radar vehicles, would be devastating.

And the men that were lost . . . five officers and thirteen technicians
killed, including the brigade commander and his deputy; three ofticers
and thirty techs injured, some critically. It was a devastating loss. It
didn’t matter that the United States was technically in violation of the
UN Security Council’s peacekeeping agreement: Russia had suffered a
tremendous loss, in a country where it had almost total control.

The plan to move the S-300 brigade secretly into central Turk-
menistan was Gryzlov’s, but it could be accomplished only with perfect
and careful security. All of the components of the S-300 could easily be
disguised while on the march, and it could stay well disguised and hid-
den even when fully set up and operational—it could go from com-
pletely closed up and camouflaged to ready to fire in just five minutes.
The key was simple: Keep the radars oft the air and the datalink trans-
missions between radar and fire-control centers limited to fiber-optic
landline cables. The orders were not followed—or were never properly
issued—and the brigade was discovered. No one in Moscow thought
the Americans would immediately open fire on the brigade with
precision-guided and cluster munitions, but they did, and the cost in
human life and loss of equipment was high indeed.

And someone was going to have to pay it.

“Damn it, Boris, I’'m sorry it happened,” Gryzlov said. “I wish your
boys had kept their fingers oft the commrt buttons.”

“I apologize for that, General,” Kasimov said. “I take full responsi-
bility. But the fact remains: The Americans killed almost two dozen men
and injured many more. The Americans provoked a response by their
actions, and they employed offensive weapons in violation of the peace-
keeping agreement.”

“I know, and I will hold them fully responsible for the deaths they
caused,” Gryzlov said. “I'm sorry, Boris, but I have to bring you back to
Moscow. You did not pull the trigger, but you are responsible for what
happened out there and for the actions of your men.”

“Yes, sir. I understand.”
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“Don’t worry, Boris, 'm not going to make you the whipping
boy—you know more about Central Asia than almost any other general
officer, and you’ve done a commendable job commanding our forces in
Turkmenistan all these years. You'll still be involved in everything that
goes on in Central Asia. Turn your staff operations over to General Bi-
latov, hop a flight back, and report to General Stepashin. After you two
have a chance to talk, we’ll meet and discuss our next moves, once the
furor over this incident dies down.”

“Yes, sir,” Kasimov replied. “I'll depart within the hour.”

“Good. That will be all. I'll see you in a day or two.”

Colonel General Kasimov felt somewhat relieved as he called for his
staff transport jet, a Yakovlev-40, to be made ready for departure and his
staft car brought around to take him home so he could pack. He was
going to be roasted over the coals by Nikolai Stepashin, the new chief
of staft and the commander of the Ministry of State Security, perhaps
even demoted. But Gryzlov needed experienced, well-educated officers
for his Central Asian campaign, and Kasimov felt confident that his tal-
ents were not going to be wasted commanding some frozen remote
radar site in Siberia for the next ten years just because one of his lieu-
tenants had an itchy trigger finger.

Kasimov briefed his deputy commander while he loaded files into
his briefcase, then shook hands with his office staff members and strode
out to his waiting car. The plane would not be ready for at least another
hour, so he had time to relax and have a few drinks in his quarters,
an unassuming concrete-block building on the northeast side of
Ashkhabad International Airport. He told his aide and driver to stay in
the car—he could pack easier and faster himself, and he wanted to be
alone. He would be done as soon as the plane was fueled and ready for
takeoft.

He was sure as hell not going to miss this shitty little house, he
thought as he fixed a stiff drink, retrieved his A-3 kit bag from under his
bed, zipped it open, and started throwing clothing into it. Duty in Turk-
menistan was great until this whole incident had blown up in their
faces—the Taliban invasion of eastern Turkmenistan, the threat to Rus-
sian interests, the mobilization of troops, the American involvement, the
battle for the cities of Mary and Chirjew, and the Americans’ preemp-
tive strike inside Russia to cut oft their counterattack. Since then all of-
ficers who had formerly lived in nice apartments in the capital had to



20 DALE BROWN

move to these little houses at the airport, where it was a bit more secure.
Inadequate heat and light, terrible water, leaking plumbing, drafty doors
and windows, cold in the winter and hot in the summer—he now lived
only slightly better than his troops in their tents or out in the field
camping beside their armored vehicles.

Satisfied that the rest of his packing could be finished in a few min-
utes, Kasimov kicked off his boots, stretched out on his bed, and took a
deep sip of his vodka on ice. Still at least a half hour to wait. He
thought he should call his wife but decided instead to call her from base
operations right before departure. He took another sip, then closed his
eyes for a short catnap.

Kasimov never heard the gunman enter through the back door, step
silently into the bedroom, place a pistol muzzle under the general’s chin,
and fire a single sound-suppressed round into his brain. In seconds the
gunman retrieved the spent shell casing and replaced it with one from a
small plastic bag, left some hair and fabric samples near the body so they
could be easily found by forensic investigators, and departed.

THE KREMLIN, MOSCOW, RUSSIAN FEDERATION

A few minutes later

ussian president Anatoliy Gryzlov replaced the telephone receiver on

its cradle. “Something terrible has happened—General Kasimov has
been murdered in his quarters,” he said tonelessly, matter-of-factly.

Minister of State Security and Chief of the General Staff Nikolai
Stepashin nodded. “A horrible tragedy. I shall commence an immediate
investigation. No doubt anti-Russian Turkmen assassins or Muslim ter-
rorists were involved. They will be hunted down and summarily exe-
cuted” He could have been reading from a long-ago-prepared
script—which, in fact, he was.

“Now that we have the unpleasantries out of the way,” Gryzlov
said, “these are my orders: I want Turkmenistan in complete Russian
control in thirty days. I want every Taliban fighter and sympathizer
dead and buried, and I want every American aircraft blown out of the
sky. That idiot Kasimov tipped our hand and gave away the element of
surprise, but it doesn’t matter. I don’t care what it takes, I don’t care
what forces you need to mobilize—just do it. I want every oil and
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natural-gas field in that entire fucking country with a Russian infantry
battalion on it.”

Stepashin nodded—he dared not voice any of the dozens of con-
cerns he had—and picked up the telephone to issue the orders that
would send a hundred thousand more Russian soldiers into Turk-
menistan.






AIR INTELLIGENCE AGENCY HEADQUARTERS,
LACKLAND AIR FORCE BASE, SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS
Weeks later

here is he, Chief?” Colonel Trevor Griffin, operations officer and

acting commander of the 996th Information Warfare Wing of

the Air Force Air Intelligence Agency, asked as he hurried
through the doors. His excitement was obvious as he waited at the verge
of impatience exchanging security badges with the guard, facing a sen-
sor for a biometric face-identification scan, and entering a security code
into a keypad to open the outer door. Griffin was a sort of caricature,
like a kid wearing his dad’s military uniform—short in stature, bean-
faced, with slightly protruding ears and narrow, dancing blue eyes. But
the broad shoulders, thick neck, and massive forearms under his over-
coat only hinted at the soldier hidden behind those giddy eyes.

“In the boss’s office, sir,” the command’s Chief Master Sergeant
Harold Bayless responded as he met the colonel on the other side of
the security barrier. “I came in early to get caught up on some paper-
work, and he was already here. I buzzed you and the boss as soon as I
found out.”

“Let me know when the boss gets in,” Griftin said as he removed his
Air Force blue overcoat and handed it to the chief master sergeant.
“Make sure he has an office, a car, and billeting set up.”

“Yes, sir,” Bayless said. Physically, the two men could not have been
more different: Bayless was husky and tall, with lots of thick, dark hair
and humorless, penetrating dark eyes. Despite their height difference,
Bayless had trouble keeping up with the quick full bird—Bayless finally
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had to let Griftin hurry oft ahead of him, and he retreated to his own
office to make all the appropriate notifications on behalf of this most
unexpected distinguished visitor.

Despite his fast pace, Griftin wasn’t even breathing hard as he hur-
ried past the stunned noncommissioned officer in charge and into his
office. There, sitting on the sofa in the little casual seating area, was their
unexpected visitor. “General McLanahan!” Griftin exclaimed. He stood
at attention and saluted. “I'm sorry, sir, but I didn’t know you’d be here
so soon. I'm Trevor Griftin. Good to meet you, sir.”

Patrick McLanahan got to his feet, stood at attention, and returned
the colonel’s salute. Griffin came over to him and extended his hand,
and Patrick shook it. “Good to meet you, too, Colonel Griftin,” Patrick
McLanahan responded.

“For Christ’s sake, General, please, sit down,” Griffin said, a little
confused at McLanahan’s formal bearing. “It’s a pleasure to have you
here, sir. Can I get you anything? Coftee?”

“Coftee is good, thank you. Black,” Patrick said.

“Me, too—commando style.” Griffin buzzed his clerk, and mo-
ments later the man came in with two mugs of coffee. Griffin intro-
duced his NCOIC, then dismissed him. “I apologize, sir, but I didn’t
expect you for quite some time—in fact, I was only just recently noti-
fied that you’d be joining us,” Griffin said. He stood aside so Patrick
could take the commander’s seat, but Patrick reseated himself on the
sofa, so Griffin, a little confused, took his armchair at the head of the
table. “We’re thrilled to have you take command of the unit.”

“Thank you.”

Griffin waited until Patrick took a sip of coftee, then said with a
smile, “I'm Trevor—or ‘Tagger’ to my friends, sir.”

“Sure,” Patrick said. “I’'m Patrick.” Griftin nodded happily and took
a sip of coftee, still acting as excited as a kid about to go through the
turnstiles at Disneyland. “I guess it’s been a while since I've reported in
to a new unit. I'm a little nervous.”

“And I'm not used to two-star generals showing up without a lot of
fanfare.”

“I'm no longer a two-star, Tagger.”

“It was either a mistake, or a temporary budgetary/billeting/
allotment thing, or somebody’s sending you a pretty strong message,
Patrick,” Griftin said, “because the Air Force doesn’t take away a gen-
eral’s stars, like you're some young captain that just got a DUI. If they
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did, guys like MacArthur and LeMay would’ve been buck sergeants in
no time. General officers either get promoted or they retire, either vol-
untarily or involuntarily—they don’t get demoted.” He couldn’t help
but stare, bug-eyed, at the ribbons on Patrick’s chest, especially the Air
Force Cross—the highest award given to an Air Force officer besides the
Medal of Honor—and the Silver Star. “But whoever’s testing you or
pushing on you,” he went on, dragging his attention back to his new
commanding officer, “it’s their loss and my gain. But we didn’t expect
you for another month at least.”

“I decided to show up early and meet everyone,” Patrick said. “My
son is with his aunt in Sacramento.”

“And your wife?”

“I’'m a widower, Trevor.”

Griftin’s face fell. “Oh, shit . . . I'm sorry, sir,” he said sincerely. He
averted his eyes apologetically, embarrassed that he hadn’t known this
extremely important piece of information. “I received your personnel
file, but I only glossed over it—as I said, I didn’t expect you for a few
weeks.”

This uncomfortable pause gave Patrick a chance to look Trevor
Grittin over. His compact frame only served to accentuate his powerful
physique—he looked as if he had been power-lifting most of his life,
and perhaps still did. Griffin’s short-sleeved casual uniform had few ac-
coutrements—command jump wings under a senior weapons director’s
badge—but Patrick saw his Class A uniform hanging on a coatrack be-
hind the door, and it appeared as if Griftin had every ribbon and award
an Air Force officer could have—and then some: Patrick noticed a
Combat Infantry Badge and even a yellow-and-black RANGER tab.

“That’s okay, Trevor,” Patrick said. “I guess I've thrown a monkey
wrench into your oftice by coming here early like this. I'm sorry.”

“We both have to stop saying ‘sorry’ to each other.”

Patrick smiled and nodded. Wishing to quickly change the subject,
he nodded toward Griffin’s uniform blouse hanging behind the door. “I
know of only one other Air Force officer that wears a Ranger tab.”

“I think there is only one other: Hal Briggs. I convinced him to go
to Ranger school as a brand-new second lieutenant fresh out of Secu-
rity Police school—he had so much energy I thought he’d drive us all
crazy. I lost track of him over the years.”

“He’s a full bird colonel at my previous base in Battle Mountain,
Nevada.”
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“What’s he doing at Battle Mountain?”

“Hal commands a unit of high-tech, highly mobile ground forces
that direct unmanned close-air-support and reconnaissance aircraft.”

“It must be under some very tight wraps for us here at AIA not to
hear about it,” Griffin said. His eyes sparkled in excitement even more.
“Sounds very cool, Patrick. I want to learn more about it.”

“Sure. You’d fit right in, I think—you look like you’re either an
Olympic gymnast or you’re from the special-ops community.”

“I was in special ops before the Air Force really had them,” Griftin
said. “I was an Army Ranger and fought in Grenada, then decided I
wanted to join the Air Force and be an ofticer—I thought I was done
crawling and bleeding in the mud. I was in Security Police for a
while—that’s where I met Hal Briggs—Dbut I couldn’t leave the special-
ops career field and became a combat air controller.

“I directed a combat-controller wing in Desert Storm—my guys set
up a half-dozen forward-resupply points and landing strips inside Iraq,
including three that we set up in the western side of the country weeks
before the air war started. I had one squad that actually put a laser beam
on Saddam Hussein’s getaway vehicle—he was hightailing it to Jordan—
but we couldn’t get a shooter in to launch on him fast enough.

“After Desert Storm I attended Air War College, was assigned to
U.S. Special Operations Command headquarters at MacDill, then mar-
ried a great woman that had two small kids; I adopted hers, and we had
one of our own. It was then, after realizing I was almost forty with three
young kids, that I decided to settle down. I joined the intelligence career
track, and except for service schools and one year at the Pentagon, I've
been either at Kelly Field or here at Lackland. I like to think I con-
tribute the ground-pounder’s perspective to the high-tech Air Force.”

“The Air Battle Force is designed to have shooters deploy with
ground forces at all times,” Patrick said. “We use unmanned long-range
bombers to launch unmanned armed attack vehicles that can be di-
rected via datalink by the ground forces.”

“We definitely need to talk and compare notes, sir,” Griftin said en-
thusiastically. “If you can forgive all my ignorance-based faux pas until
I’'m up to speed, I assure you again that I'm thrilled that you’re coming
here and working with our wing.”

“Thanks.”

Griftin looked at McLanahan carefully for a moment, then said, “If
you’d allow me to make an observation, sir?”
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“Go forit.”

Griffin’s smile dimmed a bit. “I’d say you're here early to check
out this agency . . . to decide whether you want to stay in the Air Force
or not.”

Patrick looked at Griffin sternly, as if he were ready to challenge
him on his observation—but moments later he glanced away, then nod-
ded. “I hoped it wouldn’t be that obvious,” he said.

“Like I said, very few general officers get demoted,” Griffin said.
“Maybe they want to see what you’re made of, what your real goals are.
The rumors are still hot and heavy that you’re being considered for the
post of national security adviser if the president wins reelection—or
maybe even to help Thorn win reelection. If you got kicked out of the
Air Force, or were even forced to resign, it might look bad for the pres-
ident to consider bringing you on. Maybe they want to see whether
you’d stick it out or not, show some loyalty.”

“Trevor, I assure you, I’'m not going to be national security adviser,”
Patrick said.

“Hey, I didn’t make up the rumors—I'm just helping propagate
them,” Griftin said, his energetic and engaging smile returning. “Do
you have any intel background?”

“No,” Patrick replied. “Bombers, engineering, research and devel-
opment. The units I flew with had their own organic intel capabili-
ties—we rarely called on outside intel sources.”

Griftin grinned again, getting more and more intrigued by the
minute. “The Air Battle Force operated with its own intel sources?
Sounds cooler all the time, Patrick.” Griffin looked at Patrick carefully.
“Hold on . . . that attack on the Russians in Turkmenistan a few weeks
ago. The Russians claim an American B-1 bomber attacked an unarmed
observer team being sent into Mary.”

“It wasn’t an ‘unarmed observer team’—it was a mobile SA-12 site,
a full brigade, sitting twenty miles inside the cease-fire zone.”

“I knew it,” Griffin said. “We caught a glimpse of it here, requested
some ground support—send some special-ops guys to go in and take a
look—but that was vetoed by General Houser. Your own intel sources
identified it as an SA-12?”

“We were lucky and caught one squeak from its search radar,”
Patrick explained. “We couldn’t get it to turn the radar back on—until
we made like we were going to attack it.”

“Well, we certainly didn’t think of using our air-intel assets as de-
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coys to incite the Russians to attack us,” Griftin admitted, “but if it
worked, I won’t knock it. The SA-12 attacked?”

“Shot down an unmanned B-1 bomber.”

“An unmanned B-1 bomber? We have them?” Patrick nodded.
“Cool!” breathed Griftin. “Now I understand why you’d use your own
plane as a decoy. I assume your unmanned bomber launched a few of
those armed drones and made mincemeat of that SA-12 site just before
it got shot down, huh?”

“Exactly.”

“Shit-hot!” Griffin exclaimed. “Everyone was starting to believe
what the world press and the Russians were saying—that one of our
guys attacked without provocation—and then when we heard that an
Air Force general got canned for the attack, we thought maybe it was
the truth. I knew the Russians were lying through their teeth. No sur-
prise there, huh?” The pride was evident in Griftin’s face—he was be-
side himself with awe that Patrick McLanahan was sitting in front of
him. “But I thought we were only supposed to be surveilling Turk-
menistan, not patrolling with attack drones.”

“My rules of engagement were unclear on that point,” Patrick said
uneasily, “so I erred on the side of caution and loaded my bombers up
with SEAD weapons.”

“Good thing you did,” Griffin said. “So let me guess—your orders
to Lackland were being cut the next day.”

“It didn’t take even that long,” Patrick admitted. “I was relieved of
command before the last bomb fragments hit the ground.”

“All for doing what you were supposed to be doing—making sure
the Russians weren’t trying to move against Turkmenistan’s new mili-
tary forces before they could organize,” Griffin said disgustedly. “Now
look at what’s happening out there: Russia is claiming that Turkmeni
guerrillas are attacking their observer forces, and they’re flying so-called
defensive-counterinsurgency missions against Turkmeni military forces.
They’ve violated the United Nations cease-fire dozens of times in just
the past few weeks, but no one is saying squat about it. Things are too
hot for us to send recon aircraft like Rivet Joint and Joint STARS in to
monitor their movements, so the Russians now have free rein.”

“I would like to keep a careful eye on the Russians and continue to
report their movements to the Pentagon,” Patrick said.

“You’ve come to the right place, Patrick,” Griffin said proudly.
“That’s what we do best. I believe we have the best and possibly the
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only remaining true brain trust in the intelligence field: Our guys stay
here longer than in any other career field, and we maintain the only se-
riously long-term database of enemy threats in the world. Let’s talk
about this unit, and maybe I'll help talk you into staying—or it may
convince you to take whatever might be waiting for you on the other
side.”

“Fair enough.”

“The unit you’ll take command of, the Nine-sixty-sixth Informa-
tion Warfare Wing, is one of several wings and centers managed by the
commander of the Air Intelligence Agency, who as you know is Major
General Gary Houser.” He noticed Patrick’s suddenly stony face. “You
know him?”

“He was my first B-52G aircraft commander, almost twenty years
ago.”

Grittin chuckled at that. “That’s funny. To listen to him, you’d
think he was always an intel weenie—in fact, he trash-talks fliers, espe-
cially bomber guys, all the time. I knew he was a pilot, of course, but I
didn’t know he flew B-52s. He sees the BUFF as another Cold War relic
sucking money away from information warfare.” He looked carefully at
Patrick again, then added, “So . . . maybe you’re here to check out Gen-
eral Houser and not just the Nine-sixty-sixth—decide whether you’re
cut out to work for your old aircraft commander again?”

“Let’s not try to psychoanalyze this thing too much, okay, Tagger?”

“Yes, sir,” Griffin said, his eyes falling apologetically again. Patrick
couldn’t help but like the colonel: he wasn’t afraid to express his feelings
and thoughts, which made him a trustworthy person. Patrick felt very
comfortable around him.

“Anyway, the Nine-sixty-sixth is probably the last vestige of the old
Mighty Eighth—which, now that I think about it, might be another
reason why you’re here: This is a good place to hide someone nowa-
days,” Griftin went on. “Like most of the Air Intelligence Agency, we’re
a combination of many Air Force agencies. We were known as the
Strike Information Center not long ago, and the Air Force Strategic
Planning Agency before that, and we absorbed the Sixty-sixth Combat
Support Group last year. When General Houser changed everything
over to an ‘information warfare’ theme, the combined group became
the Nine-sixty-sixth Information Warfare Wing. Our primary mission
is to gather information vital to planning and directing strike missions
by Eighth Air Force aircraft. Any country, any objective, any target, any
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weapon, any threat condition—the Nine-sixty-sixth’s job is to find a
way to attack it.

“We can tap in to any intelligence or imagery source in the world,
but primarily we use overhead imagery produced by Air Force assets,
combined with domestic satellite assets and augmented by HUMINT
field reports,” Griffin went on. “We still do a fair amount of covert ops
ourselves, but General Houser thinks that’s unnecessarily dangerous and
doesn’t yield proportionally higher-quality data.”

“What do you think about that?”” Patrick asked.

“Well, as a former ground-pounder, I believe you always need boots
on the ground to do the job right—but I'll also admit that 'm pretty
old-school,” Griffin replied. “Give me a few good trained operatives, a
parachute, and a pair of binoculars and drop me anywhere on the
planet, and I’ll bring back information that no satellite can get you—
and if you need the target blown up, I can pull that off, too. Ask your
typical satellite to do that.” He looked at Patrick, then smiled. “And if
you give me Hal Briggs and a few of his shooters that you spoke about
a minute ago, I can probably blow up a lot more—Ilike what went down
in Libya recently? Or inside Turkmenistan . . . ?”

Griftin punched in further instructions, and the satellite imagery
shifted to a more desolate landscape. “I might as well tell you now,
Patrick—the Nine-sixty-sixth had an ongoing covert reconnaissance
operation against the Russians in Turkmenistan. Your . . . incident . . .
near Mary forced us to pull out.”

“I don’t suppose anyone will ever blame the Russian army for caus-
ing the problems over there in Turkmenistan, will they?” Patrick asked
sarcastically.

“Sorry, sir, I didn’t mean it was your fault . . .” Griffin said. “Any-
way, we were running covert ops out of a small air base in Bukhara,
Uzbekistan. We made contact with some members of the Turkmen
army, made some payoffs, traded weapons and ammo for information,
that sort of thing. We left several of our Turkmeni contacts behind, and
we’d sure like to pull them out.

“The border crossing and highway into Mary is sealed up tight now,
and the Russians have a pretty solid air-defense setup out there now—
too hot even for normal Air Force special-ops planes or helos, let alone
the normal modes of transportation the Nine-sixty-sixth uses. What
might the Air Battle Force have that we could use?”
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“Dave Luger can insert a Battle Force team in about thirty-six hours
and get one, maybe two of your guys out,” Patrick said.

“Thirty-six-hours? That’s impossible.”

“But neither the Pentagon nor Central Intelligence would ever ap-
prove it. It would have to be someone pretty damned important.”

“Ever heard of General Jalaluddin Turabi?”

“Tirabi?” Patrick exclaimed. “Chief of the Turkmen army? He’s
your contact?”

“You tangled with him?”

“He saved our team in the first battle against the Russians in Turk-
menistan. He’s a hero.”

“He’s a better spy and guerrilla than he ever was a general,” Griftin
said. “He’s been out collecting information and harassing the Russians,
and at the same time recruiting soldiers for his army, using Air Intelli-
gence Agency dollars. But when you hit the Russian SA-12 site, he scat-
tered. We gave him up for dead. He resurfaced recently, one or two steps
ahead of the Russians. We’d sure love to yank him out.”

“Then let’s do it.”

“It won’t do us any good to go into Bukhara, Patrick. We still need
to go another two hundred and fifty miles to—"

“I'm not talking about Bukhara, Tagger—I'm talking about Mary.”

“Mary?” Griffin exclaimed. “How can you do that? We can’t over-
fly Turkmenistan. . . .”

“We’re prohibited from overflying Turkmenistan with combat air-
craft,” Patrick corrected him. “Transport aircraft are still allowed by
peacekeeping and observer forces.”

“The Russians will spot a transport plane anywhere within two
hundred miles of Mary.”

“Not our transport plane, they won’t.”

Griftin opened his mouth as if he were going to say something, then
stopped and smiled. “Okay, Patrick. What is it? What do you guys have
that I don’t know about?”

“A little toy we’ve been working on for a few years—an old idea
we’ve just modernized. We—" Patrick stopped himself. He still
couldn’t stop thinking about the Air Battle Force as “his.” “I mean, the
Air Battle Force can get you in anywhere you want to go.”

“I’'ll start working on getting authorizations right away.”

“Dave Luger at Battle Mountain is in charge of surveillance and ob-
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server air operations over Turkmenistan—he’ll give you permission,”
Patrick said.

“I’d have to join the team, of course,” Griftin added with a sly
smile.

Patrick smiled and nodded. Yep, he thought, he definitely liked this
guy. “That you’ll have to take up with General Houser,” Patrick said.
“But I'm sure Dave Luger can put in a by-name request for you to be
part of the team. You’ll have to undergo a few days of training with the
Air Battle Force ground-operations team and their equipment. But I
don’t think you’ll have any problem keeping up with the team—in fact,
you might be teaching them a thing or two. And you’ll be working with
Hal Briggs again.”

“Outstanding. 1 like going to school, especially for new stuft.” Grif-
fin was so excited that he was literally stepping from foot to foot—the
man could hardly wait to get started.

“Anyway, let me continue with my orientation before the boss
shows up,” Griffin went on. “Our work product is called the Strike As-
Griffin went to his desk,
punched in a few commands on a computer keyboard, and a blank line
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sessment Catalog, or what we call “The List.

on a large plasma wall display appeared. “The List used to be just that—
a list, a paper catalog—but of course we’ve computerized it. Pick a tar-
get. Any target.”

Patrick thought for a moment. “Pro Player Stadium—I hate the
Miami Dolphins.”

Griftin shook his head and smiled. “Good thing you didn’t say the
Dallas Cowboys or Houston Texans, or you’d have a fight on your hands.
Unfortunately, we haven’t done any U.S. targets—and you’re the first
guy to ever ask to see the lineup for a U.S. target. How about we take a
look at the latest on what the Russians are doing in Turkmenistan?”

Griffin punched instructions into the computer, and soon some
satellite photos appeared.

“The western outskirts of the city of Mary,” Patrick said. “I recog-
nize that area well.”

“We have pretty decent coverage of this area right now, maybe one
photo every couple hours, so we have a good database going,” Griftin
said. He entered more instructions into the computer, and several blink-
ing yellow circles appeared. “We can overlay synthetic-aperture radar
images in with the visuals, and we see several newcomers to the area. We
can digitally enhance and enlarge the picture”—the photo distorted for
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a moment, then sharpened to show an individual vehicle—"and here
we have what looks like a Russian BTR scout vehicle, with a couple
dismounts standing nearby. The other targets we identified are also
scouts.”

“Driving right to the outskirts of Mary,” Patrick remarked.
“They’re not even bothering to hide anymore.”

“We can have the computer select the best weapon to take them out,
or we can select the weapon system and the computer will recommend
the best plan of attack,” Griffin went on. “But the real value in our sys-
tem 1is not picking targets but in identifying and risk-assessing the threats.
Here, I'll ask to overlay the most recent threat depictions for the area.” A
few moments later, several large red circles appeared, along with lists of
weapons on the side of the image. “The number-one threat in this par-
ticular area is from mobile antiaircraft systems—in this case it’s from
known twenty-three-millimeter optronically guided weapons on the
scouts themselves. But this outer dashed circle represents the threat from
SA-14 man-portable antiaircraft missiles that are known to be carried
aboard Russian scout platoons.”

“So a planner or even a politician can ask for information on a par-
ticular target,” Patrick said. “You start feeding all this information to
the brass, and they decide if the cost, risk, and complexity are worth the
desired result.”

“Exactly,” Griftin said. It was unusual, Griffin thought, to hear an
Air Force general thinking of political realities when planning strike
missions. This could be why, he thought, the guy was still being consid-
ered to be President Thorn’s first national security adviser. “Ninety-
nine percent of the time, we don’t even get past the threat analysis—
some assistant deputy secretary of one of the services wants to know
how we can blow up a breeder reactor in China, and we just pull up the
threat analysis. He’s all hot to trot when it comes to contemplating an
attack, but they go away very quickly when they learn how many assets
it takes to do it. Diplomatic initiatives start to look a whole lot more ap-
pealing.”

“Tell me more about the Air Intelligence Agency and Gary
Houser,” Patrick said.

“Getting right down to the meat of the matter, eh?” Griffin asked,
his ever-present smile and twinkling blue eyes reappearing. “Okay,
here goes:

“Quite simply, the Air Intelligence Agency is one of the most far-
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reaching and, in my opinion, powerful commands in the entire Ameri-
can military. General Houser has his fingertips on every piece of intel-
ligence data generated in the free world. He personally directs the
activities of a score of satellites, dozens of aircraft, and thousands of an-
alysts and operatives around the world. He is also the American mili-
tary’s one and only ‘quintuple hat,” at least as a deputy: As commander
of AIA, he’s also a deputy commander of intelligence for Air Combat
Command, Eighth Air Force, and U.S. Strategic Command, as well as a
deputy director of the National Security Agency and Defense Intelli-
gence Agency. He is definitely Mr. Intel in the Pentagon.

“Over the years various intelligence and electronic-warfare units
were shut down or consolidated, mostly because of budget cuts but also
to minimize redundancy and enhance security, and Air Intelligence
Agency—when it was known as the Air Force Electronic Security
Agency—gained most of them. AIA controls almost all of the Air
Force’s intelligence-gathering operations, but it also controls areas such
as MIJL—meaconing, interception, jamming, and intrusion of enemy
electronic signals—electronic counterintelligence, decoy deployment,
and spycraft. Now, instead of just intercepting enemy transmissions, AIA
has the capability to manipulate transmissions—change them, scramble
them, or move them, in order to confuse the enemy. When computers
came to the forefront, AIA began doing to computer data what we did
with the electromagnetic spectrum—intercept and analyze, then manip-
ulate and distort, while protecting and securing our own data. Other
units and services started doing the same thing, but AIA had been doing
it for a decade before anyone else.

“At first AIA’s work product was so timely and valuable that it be-
gan serving customers in other numbered air forces, not just the Mighty
Eighth. Then it eventually replaced Air Combat Command’s intelli-
gence stuft, and finally its information was being shared with planners in
other commands. AIA has become so powerful and far-reaching that its
mission has even supplanted Eighth Air Force’s mission, and it gets a lot
of funding that normally goes to many other branches, command, and
agencies.

“My predictions are that General Houser will easily win his third
star, become commander of Eighth Air Force, and begin the transfor-
mation to an intelligence-gathering combat command. General Houser
insists that Eighth Air Force will eventually become the information-
warfare command and that bombers will be all but obsolete.”
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“Not in my lifetime, I hope,” Patrick said.

“It’s already happening, Patrick,” Griffin said. “It won’t be long be-
tfore the number of LDHDs—low-density, high-demand aircraft like
spy planes, radar planes, jammers, dedicated anti-air-defense attack
weapons, and data-manipulation platforms—will exceed the number of
strike aircraft in the inventory.

“But I think General Houser is shooting higher: If General Samson
gets selected as the Air Force chief of staff, he’ll see to it that Gary
Houser gets his fourth star and becomes the first commander of the
new U.S. Information Warfare Command, a major unified command
on a par or maybe even surpassing the theater commands in importance,
tasking, and funding. It will probably combine all the intelligence-
gathering assets of Strategic Command, the Air Force, the Navy, and
perhaps even the National Security Agency and Strategic Reconnais-
sance Office into one supercommand.

“That could change the entire face of warfare as we know it. Gen-
eral Houser says that it takes the Air Force twenty-four hours to blow up
an intercontinental-ballistic-missile launch site or a bomber base in
Russia—but soon his information warriors can put that same site out of
commission in twenty-four minutes by jamming, spoofing, interfering,
reprogramming it, giving it a computer virus, or shutting down its
power by computer command.”

“I don’t know how it’s done,” Patrick said, “but if you guys have
progressed to the point where you can hack into a computer that con-
trols a power grid or networks air-defense sites together and shuts them
down with the push of a button, it would be an incredibly powerful
weapon. Maybe it will replace bombers someday—but I wouldn’t rec-
ommend replacing the bomber fleet with computers or aircrews with
hackers.”

“This is the new Eighth Air Force, Patrick,” Griftin said. “The
bombers in Eighth Air Force are still dedicated to the nuclear mission,
but I think they’ll soon shift to Twelfth Air Force along with all the
other nonnuclear attack units.

“Even Strategic Command is supporting planning and targeting for
nonnuclear conflicts, using all their staft and computers that were orig-
inally dedicated to planning World War III against Russia and China to
plan missions in every area in the world where any level of conflict
could break out. Nuclear warfighting is all but dead. You have to speak
in terms of ‘network-centric warfare’ and ‘low-density conflict.” Your
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Air Battle Force sounds like the kind of thing Houser wants to trans-
form Eighth Air Force into, but he wants the shooters to support intel,
not the other way around.”

“Then Id better get up to speed as soon as possible,” Patrick said.

“That sounds pretty positive to me, General,” Griftin said. “I take it
you’ll stay on with us for a while?”

“Tagger, to be honest, there wasn’t really that much chance I’d just
get up and leave,” Patrick admitted. “I’'m not the kind of guy who gets
out because I don’t like the working conditions. I'm an Air Force offi-
cer,and I go where I'm assigned. If they asked me to get out, I’d be out
of here—but they didn’t. Now they have to contend with me.”

“Contend with us,” Trevor Griffin said. He extended his hand, and
Patrick shook it enthusiastically. “Welcome to the Nine-sixty-sixth, sir.
I think we’ll set this command on its ear—and have some fun doing it.”
Patrick was about to say something, but Griftin interrupted him with an
upraised hand. “And I truly believe they’ll eventually give you your stars
back.”

“I wouldn’t count on it,” they heard a voice behind them say.

They turned and found two men standing in the doorway—the
command’s chief master sergeant, Harold Bayless, and the commander of
the Air Intelligence Agency, Major General Gary Houser. Griffin glanced
accusingly at Bayless, and the chief returned his look with a smug
smile—they both knew that Griftin had asked the chief to notify him
when the commander arrived in the headquarters, but instead Bayless
had facilitated this little surprise arrival and eavesdropping opportunity.

“Room, ten-hut,” Patrick said, and both he and Griffin stood
quickly and snapped to attention.

Gary Houser stepped over to Trevor and Patrick, keeping his head
up to emphasize his height advantage over the two. Gary Houser was at
least seven inches taller than Patrick, with a beefy frame, big hands, a
square face, dark eyes, and closely cut hair to deemphasize his baldness.
After he moved close to both officers in the room, he tried to look into
their eyes to read their expressions, but of course he towered over both
of them, especially Griftin. Both Griffin and McLanahan stayed at at-
tention, eyes caged.

“So,” Houser asked in a low voice, “which one of you clowns do I
have to contend with?” Neither one replied. Houser gave Griftin a
warning glare, put his hands behind his back, and went closer to Patrick.
“Patrick McLanahan. Long time no see. My long-lost crew navigator
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who supposedly goes TDY to Fairchild but who mysteriously disap-
pears oft the face of the earth and ends up getting involved with cocka-
mamie ideas such as the Border Security Force and . .. what was that
other group? The Night Riders? Night Invaders?”

“Night Stalkers, sir,” Patrick replied.

“Right . .. the Night Stalkers. Big, bad, vigilante assassination
squad. Are you a big, bad assassin now, Patrick?”

“No, sir,” Patrick replied, still standing at attention.

“You a close and personal friend of that big shot Kevin Martindale?”

“No, sir.”

“Are you going to be national security adviser, secretary of defense,
or maybe even the fucking president now?”

“No, sir.”

“So you just screwed the pooch too many times at this new super-
duper bomber attack base up in Nevada, and you got your ass kicked all
the way down to me by SECDEE is that it?”

“No, sir.”

“Then why are you here, Patrick McLanahan?”

“Reporting as ordered, sir.”

“Why did you lose a star, ex—Major General Patrick McLanahan?
Why am I getting a disgraced and demoted general officer who has no
intelligence experience, no prospects for promotion, and no future in
the United States Air Force?”

Looking straight ahead, standing stiffly at attention, Patrick replied,
“Because you’re one lucky son of a bitch, sir.”

Houser’s faced pufted, his eyes bugged out, and for a moment it ap-
peared as if he’d explode with rage. Then he laughed out loud, guftaw-
ing directly—and purposely—into Patrick’s face. “Good one, nav!” he
barked. “Sounds like you finally got yourself a sense of humor. About
tucking time.” He glanced at Griftin and shook his head. “Look at you
two, standing at attention like academy plebes! Stand at ease, stand at
ease. I don’t want you jokers to pass out on me from the strain.” Griffin
relaxed enough to go to parade rest.

Houser stuck out his hand, and Patrick shook it. “How the hell are
you, Patrick? Good to see you.” To Griffin he said, “This guy was on my
BUFF crew for three damned years. He went from a know-nothing,
pud-pounding kid to the best bombardier in SAC, and that’s no shit.
We won the Fairchild and LeMay trophies two years in a row and won
a shitload of other awards, too. During a competition run, he dropped a
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shack bomb with a completely failed bomb-nav system and helped the
crew shoot down an F-15 fighter. No lie.” He slapped Patrick on the
shoulder and added, “All under my outstanding leadership and tutelage,
of course.” Both Griftin and McLanahan were careful not to forget to
smile and nod in agreement. ““You done with him, Tagger?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Good. Follow me, Patrick.” Griffin called the room to attention as
Houser strode out.

Patrick turned and extended his hand. “Good to meet you, Tagger.
We’ll talk after I meet my troops.”

“Good to meet you, too, Patrick,” Griftin replied as he shook
McLanahan’s hand. He gave Patrick a warning glance, and Patrick nod-
ded that he received it.

Patrick had to take giant steps to keep up with the Air Intelligence
Agency commander as he made his way downstairs to his office on the
first floor. Houser neither acknowledged nor greeted anyone, and most
everyone they passed in the corridors, Patrick noticed, chose not to
make eye contact with the general. They reached a set of oak double
doors flanked by an Air Intelligence Agency flag and a two-star general’s
flag, guarded by a lone Security Force armed guard in blue Class A’s
with white web belt, pistol holster, shoulder braids, ascot, and spats. The
guard snapped to attention and pressed a button to unlock the door.

Houser quickly walked through the outer oftice, without bothering
to order those in the room as they were, and stepped through another
set of double doors into his aide’s oftice. “Coftee, Major,” he said to the
officer at the desk.

“On the way, sir,” the aide responded immediately.

Inside his office Houser jabbed a finger at the sofa, and he took the
large leather wing chair at the head of the coffee table. He withdrew a
cigar from a humidor on the table. “You don’t smoke, as I recall,” he
said by way of explaining why he wasn’t going to offer one to Patrick.
Patrick didn’t bother to correct him. “So how the hell have you been,
Pat?” he asked as he stoked the cigar to life.

“Not bad, sir.”

“Can the ‘sir’ shit, okay, nav?”

“Okay . . . Gary,” Patrick said. Houser took a deep pull on the
cigar, and the silent message conveyed by his rattlesnake-like warning
gaze through the cloud of smoke, despite the amused smile, was unmis-
takable: It’s “General” to you, mister, now and forever.
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After the aide brought coftee in for both general oftficers, Houser sat
back in his big chair, took a sip, and pufted away on his cigar. “So, nav,
you’ve had one train wreck of a career since you left Ford Air Force
Base—when you got shanghaied by Brad Elliott,” Houser began.
“Man, you had it made in the shade before you took up with that nut-
case. Despite your less-than-firewalled effectiveness reports, me and the
wing king had been discussing when to send you to Air Command and
Staft College in residence and what your next assignment was going to
be—the Pentagon or SAC Headquarters. You were on the fast track to
a senior staff job or even a command of your own.

“But then you got recruited by Brad Elliott to join him at Dream-
land,” Houser went on. “You bombed the hell out of the Kavaznya laser
site in eastern Siberia, taking out a half-dozen Soviet fighters and a
dozen SAM sites plus their big-ass antisatellite laser. Then you—"

“That’s classified, General,” Patrick said sternly, “and 1 know you
aren’t cleared for that information.”

“Shit, Patrick, I and ten other guys here at AIA know everything
you've done over the past fifteen years—I found out about it a month
after I first arrived here,” Houser said. “That mission was the beginning
of the end of the Soviet Union—and the beginning of this agency. In-
telligence became the name of the game starting the day after you
dropped that bomb on that laser. Everyone was shocked that we under-
estimated the laser’s capability, and everyone wanted to be the one to
discover the next Kavaznya site.”

“With all due respect, General, I advise you to drop that topic,”
Patrick said seriously. ““You may think you know everything and that
you have the right clearances, but you don’t.”

“Come off it, Pat,” Houser said with a chuckle. “You Dreamland
guys—rather, you ex—Dreamland guys—think you’re so special. Re-
member who I work for: Terrill Samson used to run Dreamland. The
place was blown wide open after the Kenneth Francis James spy inci-
dent. ‘Dog’ Bastian barely had it under control: General Samson had to
clean house to make the place right.” Patrick laughed inwardly: He
knew that Colonel Tecumseh “Dog” Bastian had been firmly in control
of the High Technology Aerospace Weapons Center—in fact, he created
the kind of unit that the Air Battle Force had been patterned upon.

It was Terrill Samson, the black man who rose through the ranks af-
ter enlisting in the Air Force to avoid being drafted into the infantry
during the Vietnam War and who made it all the way to three-star gen-
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eral, who’d never had control. Samson wanted nothing more than to
get promoted, to be the newest and greatest black man to be reach the
highest echelons of power and leadership in the American military.

But in his quest to become a symbol, he found that the harder he
tried to control the men and women at Dreamland, the more he lost
control. Samson got his wish: He got himself promoted to lieutenant
general and commander of Eighth Air Force, in line to become com-
mander of Air Combat Command, maybe even chief of staff of the Air
Force. He left Dreamland without giving it any purpose or direction.
The world’s most high-tech laboratory-turned-combat-unit had be-
come little more than a high-tech aircraft boneyard during his leader-
ship, but it had served its purpose—it was the footstool Terrill Samson
needed to step up to the next level.

“I'm just giving you my recommendation here, Gary,” Patrick said.
“Don’t talk about Dreamland. Let’s change the subject.”

That was three times in a row McLanahan tried to tell a superior
officer what to do, Houser steamed, and that was three times too many.
“Pat, I know all about the activities there, why you got canned, why you
were called back, what you did,” Houser said. “I know Dreamland’s
budgets, its projects, personnel, and progress. Same with Battle Moun-
tain, the Air Battle Force, and the One-eleventh Wing—"

“Those units are difterent, General,” Patrick said. “They’re part of

the Air Reserve Forces Command, and their budgets and missions are
mostly classified ‘confidential.” HAWC is still classified “Top Secret—
EST’ Level Three, which means nothing gets discussed outside the facil-
ity, not even in passing. Let’s drop it before I'm forced to make a
report.” He had already decided to make a report—he was just trying to
limit the length and detail at this point.

“Nav, don’t lecture me about security procedures, all right?”” Houser
retorted. “I’'m commander of AIA. I live and breathe secrecy and secu-
rity. You’re the one that needs to be reminded of his duties and respon-
sibilities here, I think.”

Patrick’s mouth literally dropped open from astonishment. “Sir?”

“The way I see it, McLanahan, you’ve been marching roughshod
through the Air Force, pulling shit that should have landed you in prison
for a hundred years, and somehow you’ve not only gotten away with it
but you’ve been rewarded and promoted for it. Only one man, Terrill
Samson, had the guts to say, ‘Enough is enough,” and he pulled the plug
on you and your wild-ass excursions into personal aggrandizement.
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Your buddy President Martindale overruled him and gave you your stars
back. I can’t figure out why. But what I do know is this: You screwed up
again, your buddy Martindale couldn’t save you, Thorn and Goft
wouldn’t help you, and so you got dumped on my doorstep.”

Houser took another deep drag on his cigar. “Maybe the Chief
wanted to stick you with me to keep you out of sight, or force you to
resign. I don’t know, and I don’t give a shit. But you’re here, and now
you’re my problem.

“So here are the rules, and they’re simple: You do as you’re told, you
keep your nose to the grindstone, and I'll help you dig your way out of
this shithole mess you’ve gotten yourself into,” Houser said. “You can
finish out your twenty right here in San Antonio, maybe get your sec-
ond star back—maybe—and when you retire, the private consulting
firms and security agencies will be throwing plenty of six- and seven-
figure offers your way. If the rumors of you going to Washington are
true, you can do that, too. You probably won’t be national security ad-
viser, but you can snag some high-ranking post in the White House Na-
tional Security Council staff—"

“I'm not looking for a government or a private consulting job.”

“I don’t care what you are or are not looking for, General,” Houser
said. “I'm just telling you that I don’t like my agency being used as a de-
tention facility for out-of-control disciplinary hard-cases. You were a
loner with a give-a-shit attitude when I first pulled a crew with you
back at Ford, and you’re the exact same guy now. You may have been
able to get away with being like that because of a combination of luck
and skill as a bombardier, but that won’t cut it here.

“If you try to pull just one-tenth of the shit you pulled on General
Samson, my friend, I guarantee I'll make your life a living hell,” Houser
went on, jabbing his cigar at Patrick. “You’re with the Nine-sixty-sixth
now, which doesn’t deploy and gets pretty good face time with the brass
and politicos in Washington, Offutt, and Barksdale. That’s a plum job
for you. Keep your nose clean, and you can stay there, studying satellite
photos and HUMINT contact narratives, then briefing the four-stars on
enemy activity, and you might just improve your reputation after a cou-
ple years.

“Here it is in black and white, Pat: You were sent here to cool your
heels, and I don’t like it,” Houser went on bitterly. “I don’t like you be-
ing dumped in my lap, and I don’t like golden boys who think they
know it all and can tell their superior officers off. I want you out of my
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face and out of the limelight. I want you as quiet as I can make you
without cutting out your fucking tongue myself with a pair of rusty
scissors. Maybe we’ll both get lucky and Thorn will give you a job in
his new administration, and then you’ll be out of here soonest. Other-
wise you have two years and nine months before you can retire: I would
advise you to keep your yap shut and put in your time in the Nine-
sixty-sixth, and then you can go out on the lecture circuit at ten thou-
sand a pop or be a talking head on Fox News Channel at five hundred
dollars a day.

“The Nine-sixty-sixth commander is a two-star billet, so maybe
you’ll get your second star back and regain a little bit of the decorum
and pride you’ve squandered over the past few years,” Houser said. “If
you play ball, I'll help you ease on out of here so you can take care of
your son, get your cushy government position, or maybe go back to Sky
Masters Inc. and rip off the government with those hyperinflated de-
fense contracts your friend Jon Masters is so fond of negotiating. I don’t
give a shit what you do after you get out. But while you’re in my unit,
under my command, you will shut your mouth and do what you’re
told. Am I making myself perfectly clear, Pat?”

Patrick looked at Houser for a long moment, never breaking eye
contact, long enough for Houser to feel the anger start to rise in his
temples. But finally Patrick responded. “Yes, sir. Perfectly clear.”

Houser couldn’t find any hint of rebellion or defiance in that sim-
ple answer, which made him all the more angry. “Good to see you
again, Pat,” he snapped. He jabbed the cigar toward his oftice door.
“Now get the hell out.”

OVER CENTRAL UZBEKISTAN, CENTRAL ASIA
Days later

hirty minutes to go, sir,” Hal Briggs said gently. “Time to get mov-
ing.”

Trevor Griffin was instantly awake and alert, but he didn’t know
where he was. The place was dark, smelled like old oil and even older
body odor, and was as noisy as hell—he felt as if he were trapped in a
garbage truck roaring down a freeway at ninety miles an hour. Then he
remembered where he was, and what he was about to do.
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And he thought that this wasn’t a bad place after all, compared to
what he was about to step into. Not bad at all. Pretty darn nice, in fact.

Griftin unfastened his safety harness and swung out of the bunk
he’d been napping in for the past few hours. He was on the upper deck
of a QB-52 Megafortress bomber, a highly modified B-52H Strato-
fortress bomber. The QB-52 Megafortress was a “flying battleship,” ca-
pable of delivering up to sixty thousand pounds of the world’s most
advanced weapons, from ultraprecise cruise missiles to antisatellite
weapons. Except for a pod on each wing that carried radar- and heat-
seeking air-to-air defensive missiles, however, the QB-52 carried no
ordnance on this mission.

In fact, as Griffin looked forward toward the cockpit, he reminded
himself that this B-52 didn’t carry something else either that he used to
think was important: a crew. This B-52 bomber was unmanned—it had
flown halfway around the world without anyone’s even setting foot in
the cockpit. They received constant messages and updates from the folks
back at Battle Mountain Air Reserve Base in northern Nevada, but the
plane flew and even aerial-refueled all by itself.

The other unusual thing about this flight was that this B-52 carried
something it rarely ever took along on its missions: passengers. Trevor
Griffin was one of them.

But not for long.

Hal Briggs, who occupied the bolt-in bunk on the left side of the
aircraft, was already climbing down the ladder to the lower deck. Grif-
fin followed, moving carefully, still getting accustomed to the strange
suit he was wearing. The Air Battle Force guys unflatteringly called it
BERP—Ballistic Electro-Reactive Process—but Trevor called it simply
“un-fucking-believable.” It was a full-body coverall design, made of
material that felt like stiff fabric, such as the kind that knife-proof bank
deposit bags were made of. But once connected to a power unit worn
like a thin backpack, the material electronically, instantly became as hard
as an inch of titanium when struck. Griftin had watched a demonstra-
tion during his daylong training course and couldn’t believe what he
saw: The wearer was protected from thirty-millimeter Gatling-gun fire,
explosions, fire, and even a fall from a twenty-five-story parachute-
training drop tower.

That wasn’t all. The boots had a jet-propulsion system built into
them that compressed and stored a large air charge that allowed wearers
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to jump several dozen meters in height and distance—they no longer
had to run or even drive into combat. The battle armor had two elec-
trodes on the shoulders that could send a lightning bolt of electricity in
any direction out to a range of about thirty feet, powerful enough to
render a man unconscious. In addition, Briggs wore an exotic-looking
exoskeleton device that enhanced their bodies’ strength by automati-
cally stiffening sections of the BERP electronic body armor, then using
microhydraulic actuators to amplify muscular strength. Griffin saw
BERP-outfitted commandos tossing engine blocks around the training
course like pebbles, hefting and firing thirty-millimeter cannons as if
they were handguns, and demolishing small buildings like bulldozers.

His new helmet was something out of a science-fiction movie, too:
It had sensors that gave him “eyes” in the back of his head, superhear-
ing, night vision, and allowed him to talk to practically anyone on planet
Earth with a radio. Even the color of the gear was high-tech: It was
some sort of computerized multicolored pixelated design that allowed
the wearer to blend into any background, from broad daylight in the
desert to night against snow.

Trevor climbed down the ladder and met up with Briggs. On a sig-
nal from Hal, Griffin donned helmet and gloves and powered on his bat-
tle armor, as he was taught to do back at Battle Mountain days ago. Hal
glanced at his old commanding officer with a hint of humor in his eyes
occasionally as he checked Griffin’s battle-armor systems. “How do you
feel, sir?” he asked.

“Like I gotta pee,” Griffin responded. “I'm finding it hard to con-
sciously pee in this thing.” Like some sort of Frank Herbert sci-f1 in-
vention, the BERP gear collected urine and sweat from its wearer and
circulated it through small tubules in the suit, which provided incredibly
effective temperature control. The suit also had small filters built into
the fluid-circulation system that removed bacteria and other contami-
nants from the collected fluid and allowed the wearer to drink the fluid
from a tube—it tasted terrible, but it would save you in an emergency.

“That’s standard for everyone wearing battle armor for the first
time,” Hal said. “But the more you pee in it, the better you'll feel—and
I guarantee if you’re thirsty enough, you’ll want it. Any questions for
me, sir?”’

“How many times have you used this aircraft before?”

“On an actual mission?” Briggs asked. Griffin nodded. “Never.”

“Never?” Trevor remarked. “How about test flights?”
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“This particular aircraft? Never. How many total test flights . . . ?

“Don’t tell me, let me guess: never, right?”

“We have very good computers that model and simulate the flights
for every possible loading and flight condition,” Hal said. “It’s been
tested a hundred times—just not with any live human beings on board.
I think we made one test flight with instrumented dummies a while
back.”

“And?”

Hal smiled, shrugged, and said, “You know;, sir, instrumented test
dummies make terrible pilots.”

“Great.”

“And the best part, sir—you volunteered for this,” Hal said. “We’re
happy to have you along.” He turned away and spoke, “Bobcat Control,
Tin Man One. How do you copy?”

“One, this is Control, we read you five-by,” Brigadier General David
Luger responded from his Battle Management Center, or BATMAN, at
Battle Mountain Air Reserve Base. With him was Colonel Daren Mace,
the operations officer for the 111th Wing; Colonel Nancy Cheshire,
commander of the Fifty-second Bomb Squadron, the unit in charge of
all the Megafortresses, who was “piloting” this unmanned Megafortress;
Marine Corps Sergeant Major Chris Wohl, noncommissioned officer in
charge of the Air Battle Force’s ground forces; and Colonel Kelvin
Carter, the Fifty-second Bomb Squadron’s operations officer and the
man in charge of the special mission that was about to begin in a few
minutes. They were supported by intelligence, weapons, surveillance,
and maintenance technicians seated with them in the Aircraft Control
Group of the BATMAN.

“We’re ready to board Condor.”

“We’re ready here.”

“Let’s mount up.” Hal hit a switch and watched a cabin-
pressurization gauge, which showed the cabin altitude slowly increase
until it equaled thirty-two thousand feet, the same as the aircraft alti-
tude. Their oxygen system was already built into their BERP suits, so
they didn’t need oxygen masks. Griftin tried and failed to control his
belches and other bodily outgassing as the lower outside pressure al-
lowed trapped gases in his body to escape. When the pressure was equal-
ized, Briggs undogged the aft bulkhead door and stepped aft. Griffin
tollowed. A short walk later, they were in the QB-52’s bomb bay. Briggs
flipped on the lights—and there it was.
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They called it the MQ-35 “Condor,” but it had no ofticial designa-
tion because it was as experimental as anything ever before fielded by
any Air Force unit. The Condor was designed as a stealthy long-range
special-operations forces insertion transport aircraft, using a long-range
bomber to get it close to its target, then using its onboard propulsion
system to fly the team out at the end of the mission. It resembled a gi-
ant stealthy air-launched cruise missile, with a smoothly blended trian-
gular lifting-body fuselage, a long flat nose, and a gently sloping aft
section culminating in a small-diameter engine-exhaust nozzle. Thirty-
six feet long, nine feet high and wide, it took up almost the entire bomb
bay, leaving a very narrow catwalk around it. Briggs opened the entry
door on the side of the craft, and Griffin clambered inside and began
strapping in. Hal performed a brief walk-around inspection using a
flashlight, climbed into the front seat, closed and latched the entry door,
and strapped himself in.

The interior was tight and cramped. The team members sat in
heavy-gauge steel seats, not quite side by side and not in tandem, but
slightly staggered so they had a bit more shoulder space. The only win-
dows were the forward cockpit windows. There were two more seats
behind Griffin, plus a small cargo area behind the rear seats for their
weapons and gear. They all were quiet as they tightened shoulder and
lap restraints and readied themselves for their mission. Hal flipped some
switches and powered up the tiny ship’s internal power and instrumen-
tation. “Control, Condor, power on, ready for systems check.”

“Systems check in progress, Condor,” Kelvin Carter responded
from Battle Mountain. Hal Briggs could manually operate and control
Condor, but, like the QB-52 Megafortresses, it was designed to be con-
trolled, monitored, and flown via satellite from Battle Mountain. A few
moments later: “Condor, systems check is complete, aircraft is ready for
flight. I've been informed that we’re sending updated intel info to you
now. We might have to make a change in the landing zone. Stand by.”

“Select the tactical area chart, sir,” Hal told Griffin.

Inside his helmet Griffin glanced at the electronic display, which was
a very wide field-of-view visor, similar to the view from a quality full-
face motorcycle helmet. At the extreme upper left side of the display
was a small yellow bar. When Griftin looked at it, a menu similar to a
Windows or Macintosh computer popped up. He scanned down the
menu until he came to the “Charts” selection, then glanced at the star
icon to the left. Another menu popped up, displaying a set of charts.



PLAN OF ATTACK 47

Griffin selected the proper one. The entire chart appeared to be floating
in front of him. By glancing at navigation icons on his display, he was
able to display changes to the chart from the last briefed information.

“Looks like Russian troops have moved even farther east than we
anticipated, sir,” Hal said after studying the symbology on the new
chart. “I’d say they’ve completely taken Tedzhen. A few patrols have
moved almost all the way to the Sakar Reservoir. Colonel?”

“Our contact point is on the north side of the reservoir,” Griftin
said. “Our landing zone is between them and the Russians’ new posi-
tion. It’s close, but I don’t think it’s been compromised—yet.”

“Top? What do you think?”

“The data is over thirty minutes old, sir—they may have compro-
mised your landing zone already,” Chris Wohl responded by the secure
satellite link. “But there’s only one way to find out.”

“I agree,” Hal said. “Colonel? Your thoughts?”

“This is your show, Hal,” Griftin said. “But going in at night, in this
contraption—I’d say we go for it. No way in hell they’d ever expect us.”

“That’s the spirit, sir,” Hal said happily. “Control, recommenda-
tions?”

“This is Intel, Condor,” the intelligence officer responded. “We
have a few other alternate infiltration spots, but it'll extend your
ground-travel time past your reserve power limit.” The BERP elec-
tronic battle armor ran off very high-tech fuel cells that supplied an
enormous amount of power but for relatively short periods of time, de-
pending on usage. In a simple “sneak and peek” operation, their power
might last hours—but if they had to fight their way out of a battle, the
power could last only minutes.

“The last two fuel cells are emergency-only, Control. We never plan
to use them,” Briggs said. Each team member carried extra fuel cells—
they were even more important than ammunition on this mission. “If
we can’t do this mission without using the emergency fuel cells, we
don’t go. We’ll do the approach to the planned landing zone, and if it’s
hot, we’ll bug out.”

“Sounds good to me, Condor,” David Luger said. “We’re good
to go.”

“Roger that,” Carter acknowledged. “Five minutes to release,
Condor.”

It was the longest five-minute wait in Trevor Griftin’s life. All the
techniques he had learned over the years to calm himself—controlled
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breathing, consciously unclenching muscles, Transcendental Meditation—
refused to work this time. But soon he wished he’d had to wait a little
while longer. It seemed only a few seconds when Carter gave a one-
minute warning.

The bomb doors below them slid open. The rumbling sound rever-
berating in their helmets quadrupled in intensity, and the little craft
shook violently in the disrupted airflow, as if it were a young stallion
trying to break the wrangler’s grasp on the rope to free himself.

But the worst part was when they dropped free of the Mega-
fortress’s bomb bay and fell out into space. Griftin felt as if his stomach
had flown up into his throat. Blood rushed to his head, causing his vi-
sion to “red out,” and he thought for sure he was going to lose his lunch.
The Condor’s sudden deceleration caused his body to mash up against
his shoulder harness, which dug mercilessly into his body, so hard he
could feel it pinch even through the thick BERP body armor. The
Condor’s nose pitched over, and for a very long, uncomfortable mo-
ment, he thought he was heading straight down, ready to slam into the
earth facefirst.

“Good separation, Condor,” Carter’s voice said. “How are you feel-
ing, Colonel?” Undoubtedly the BERP rig had some sort of telemetry
device that was sending body-function readouts back to Battle Moun-
tain. ““You can breathe anytime now; sir.” Griffin found he was holding
his breath, and he let it out with a gush and found that the pressure on
his chest had already greatly subsided.

“I'm okay,” Griftin said, willing his breathing to quickly return to
normal.

“That first step is definitely an eye-opener,” Briggs exclaimed. Grif-
fin silently cursed his desk-bound stomach and vowed to stay in better
shape.

If he made it through this mission in one piece.

“MA flight controls responding normally,” Carter reported. “Com-
ing up to best glide speed .. .now.” The Condor’s nose pitched up
greatly, assuming a much more normal, albeit slightly unsettling, nose-
down attitude. Underneath Condor’s skin were thousands of tiny
computer-controlled hydraulic actuators that twisted and manipulated
most of the outer fuselage—in effect, the entire body was a wing, with
an almost infinitely controllable amount of lift or drag. The craft could
glide as slowly as a feather one moment, sink as fast as a fifteen-
thousand-pound rock the next moment, and then float like a cloud the
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next, all without deploying one aileron or flap. “Looking good, Condor.
Sit back and relax, folks. We’re on glide path to target.”

MARY, REPUBLIC OF TURKMENISTAN

That same time

Ithough it was at the crossroads of travel and commerce in Central
Asia, and had been for centuries, Mary was definitely a very lonely
and desolate place now.

Mary once was the second-largest city in Turkmenistan and the
nexus of the railways, highways, and petroleum pipelines that trans-
ported Turkmenistan’s immense oil and natural-gas wealth to other
parts of Central Asia and as far east as the Indian subcontinent. It was
also now the easternmost stronghold of the Army of the Russian Fed-
eration, which was trying to wrest control of Turkmenistan away from
its interim Muslim government and replace it with a pro-Russian gov-
ernment again. Most of the Muslim population had fled north toward
Chirjew, ready to cross the border into Uzbekistan if necessary; a few
hardier souls had decided to make the perilous journey across the burn-
ing sands of the Kara-Kum Desert toward Kerki, ready to escape to
Uzbekistan or Afghanistan if the Russians dared pursue them this far.

Mary was Podpolkovnik Artyom Vorobev’s first field command. He
was in charge of the 117th Rifles, a motorized rifle regiment with
about three thousand troops carried aboard a conglomeration of vehi-
cles, everything from cargo trucks to BTR-60 armored personnel car-
riers and BRDM scouts. Vorobev, however, was lucky enough to have a
battalion of T-72 light tanks augmenting his force, which he deployed
right up front on the Ashkhabad-Mary highway. He also had almost a
tull air-defense battalion, including four ZSU-23 mobile antiaircraft ar-
tillery vehicles and three 9K35 Strela-10 mobile surface-to-air missile
units, along with a command-post vehicle, radar vehicle, and reloads.

He wused to have an S-300 brigade up front, but of course the
damned Americans and their unmanned stealth bombers had taken care
of that unit. The furor regarding his decision to deploy the S-300 air-
defense brigade so far ahead of his regiment had thankfully quieted
down in the wake of the United Nations” decision to exclude all for-
eign military combat aircraft from Turkmenistan. He was still in com-
mand, and he was determined not to screw up again.
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The Strela-10 heat-seeking antiaircraft missile system was much
more capable than the ancient ZSU-23 against high-performance air-
craft, such as the American bomber that was shot down a few weeks ear-
lier. But as commander of the point scout unit, Vorobev’s objective
wasn’t to take on a massed air or ground assault but simply to make
contact with any enemy forces out there, report their strength and posi-
tion, disengage, and maintain contact until heavier reinforcements ar-
rived. The main force was many kilometers away, but it was two full
reinforced brigades spread out along the fifty kilometers between Mary
and Tedzen, supported by several aviation, air-defense, engineer, and
special-operations companies.

Vorobev’s command vehicle was located near the rear of his regi-
ment, about ten kilometers southwest of the main airport at Mary and
four kilometers behind the lead scout formation to the east. He was
proud of this force, and he told his battalion and company commanders
that every day. Vorobev had been deployed all over the Russian Federa-
tion in various units throughout his eighteen-year-long army career, but
mostly as a staff officer, never as a field commander. He had worked
hard and used his contacts to go to the best schools and training centers
so he could fill out his résumé with plenty of academic experience, but
despite top marks and glowing endorsements from many high-ranking
generals and even a few vice marshals in Moscow, he had always lacked
the one thing he needed to compete for flag rank: actual experience
commanding a combat unit in the field.

When he got his orders to go to Turkmenistan, he thought his ca-
reer was over—an assignment to Central Asia was worse than one to
Siberia. But it turned out that one of his many patrons did him a favor:
He would be taking command of a full regiment, which looked good
on any subcolonel’s record, but his first command was in a relatively
quiet and safe location—Ashkhabad, Turkmenistan. Nothing ever hap-
pened there.

That 1s, until about two months after he took command of his unit.
Then, as his grandfather always used to say, “On idyot pyerdyachim
parom,” or “He was going to the top propelled by fart steam.” The Tal-
iban had invaded Turkmenistan, one of the other Russian army regi-
ments in his division assigned to defend the city of Mary had been
crushed, and now he was suddenly thrust to the forefront with strict or-
ders from Moscow not to underestimate the Taliban-led forces and let
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the same happen to him. Vorobev’s regiment was now expected to blunt
any advances by any hostile forces, whether they be Turkmenis, Taliban—
or American B-1 bombers. Mary was the “line of death” here in the
wastelands of Turkmenistan. If he held fast, Vorobev would get his
long-awaited promotion, perhaps back to a staft job as polkovnik or
maybe even a general major. If he failed, the best he could hope for was
an honorable retirement with his podpolkovnik stars still on his shoulders.

If he survived.

It was nearing 9:00 p.M., which was patrol shift-change time for
most of the regiment. Because so many of his men would be out and
about at this hour, Vorobev made it a habit to stop by at least one security-
sector company to watch the changeover before heading to his tent to
start reviewing reports, making notes, and issuing orders to his battalion
commanders. His driver was waiting for him as he put on his helmet
and pulled the chin strap tight. One of his young lieutenants, a mortar-
company commander named Novikov, and a battalion commander
named Kuzmin were accompanying him on this evening inspection.
These ninety-minute-long tours gave his junior oftficers a chance to
have a look at the rest of the regiment, ask questions, and get some face
time with the boss.

It was a rather pleasant night so far, but Vorobev knew that the
weather in southern Turkmenistan in late spring was unpredictable and
sometimes harsh. “Let’s go, serzhant,” he said. He returned the salutes
from his two junior officers, then shook hands. He chatted with them
idly as they headed to the first security checkpoint, about twenty min-
utes away.

Looks like we came a long way for nothing,” Hal Briggs said. The in-
side of the little Condor was eerily quiet, with just the faintest whis-
per of airflow audible through their helmets. But it wasn’t the ride that
was bothering everyone.

It was the landing area. It appeared as if several Russian patrols were
moving directly toward the landing site itself.

“We’ve been working with Turabi and these Turkmen guerrillas ever
since the peacekeeping force was established,” Griffin went on. “They
risked their lives to pass on valuable intelligence information to us.”

“Well, it appears the Russians are about to nab them,” Briggs said,
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studying the latest satellite-imagery download. “One Russian patrol
looks like they’ve got them right now, and two others seem to be on
their way.”

“The landing site is compromised,” the intel officer back at Battle
Mountain radioed. “I recommend you abort. From your altitude you
can make it back to Bukhara with plenty of fuel left.”

“Colonel Griffin? Speak to me. I'm considering getting the heck
out of here.”

“We can’t let those Turkmen forces get captured if we want any
chance of keeping Turkmenistan out of Russian hands, Hal.”

Hal paused. Then, “Top? Comments?”

Chris Wohl had encountered Jalaluddin Turabi before on two
occasions—the last time, Turabi’s former Taliban fighters helped the
Battle Force commandos escape a Russian attack in Turkmenistan. “It’s
hard to tell, sir,” Wohl responded, “but I don’t see much more than a
squad out there near the landing zone, and maybe a platoon within ten
miles. You can take those guys easily. All you have to do is make sure
you're in the air before more troops show up.”

Briggs thought about it for a few moments. “Roger that. Control,
Condor is proceeding as planned.”

“Are you sure, Hal?” Dave Luger asked. “It’s looking pretty hairy.”

“Not as hairy as it is for Turabi,” Hal said. “Put us down, sir.”

There was a pause, this time from Battle Mountain—Carter was ob-
viously inquiring as to the wisdom of this decision. But soon he said,
“Here we go, Condor. Everyone, prelanding checklists. Hold on tight.”

They were just a few miles from the planned landing zone, still glid-
ing to the southwest at seventeen thousand feet. Just as Griffin thought
there was no way they could make that landing zone from this altitude,
the nose came up and his body was shoved forward on his shoulder
straps as the Condor decelerated. His stomach again churned up into his
throat as they careened earthward. Then, through the sudden wind-blast
noise and intense buffeting, he thought he heard and felt the landing
gear pop out, and moments later they hit the ground.

The noise level suddenly increased a hundredfold as the mission-
adaptive fuselage went into maximum-drag configuration, and Griffin’s
body dug into the shoulder harnesses again for what seemed like five
minutes but was only a few seconds. The moment the pressure released,
Hal Briggs had his restraints off and his door unlatched, and Griftin had
to hurry to keep up with him. As they briefed, Griftin kept watch using
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the battle armor’s sensors while Hal pushed the Condor off the highway
and spread a camouflaged antiradiation net over it—it would be easily
discovered in daytime, but at night it looked like a pile of sand, and the
net would keep it from being spotted by infrared sensors.

Griftin had his weapon ready—a big, heavy rifle that no commando
would ever carry but was the perfect weapon for the Tin Men and their
powered exoskeletons. The rifle was an electromagnetic rail gun that
propelled a large titanium sabot projectile several thousand feet per sec-
ond with amazing accuracy. Coupled with the battle armor’s sensors
and steered with the exoskeleton, the weapon was devastating to any
war machine, from a tank to a bomber, out to a range of over three
miles.

“You okay, sir?” Hal asked.

“Yes. All clear,” Griffin said.

“Then let’s go find your boy, Colonel,” Briggs said. He checked his
electronic charts, stepped in the proper direction, then fired the
thrusters in his boots—and, in a whoosh! of compressed air, he was gone.

Here we go, Griftin said silently. He pointed himself in the right di-
rection, braced himself, and gave the electronic command—what he
called during training “clicking the ruby slippers together.” He felt the
push of the thrusters, but for all he knew he was still standing upright—
there was no sense of flying or falling at all. The battle armor’s stabiliza-
tion system made the jump so smooth that he had to check his sensors
to be sure that he was moving at all. But moments later he felt the
thrusters fire again to slow his fall, and he knew enough to bend his
knees slightly in order to help take the landing impact.

Hal was about five yards away. “Good jump, sir. Follow me.” And he
was gone again.

Very cool, Griftin thought as he waited for the thrusters to recharge
before he made his next jump. Very, very cool . . .

he security patrol had a group of three men on their knees in the
sand, hands atop their heads, when the second patrol team, driving a
wheeled BTR armored personnel carrier, arrived. An officer got out of
the BTR and approached the group. “What do you have here tonight,
Sergeant?” he asked.
“They were out here in shallow spider holes, sir,” the sergeant
replied. “They seemed to be taking a lot of notes. And look at this.”
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The ofticer looked at the object in his flashlight. “It’s a pair of high-
powered binoculars, sir. But there’s something else. . . .”

“A camera—it’s a digital camera, designed to take digital pictures
through the binoculars,” the officer said, examining the binoculars care-
fully. “And this port on the side . . . looks like it hooks into a transmit-
ter, perhaps a satellite transmitter, da? Get someone out here with a
metal detector—I bet we’ll locate the transmitter nearby.” He motioned
to the captives. “You find out which is the leader yet?”

“They don’t appear to understand Russian, sir,” the sergeant said.
“But I think that one is the leader.” He pointed to a very tall Turkmeni
soldier with an empty shoulder holster. “He was the only one with a
sidearm. It was Russian, in very good condition, and it looks like he
knew how to wear it.”

The officer approached the man and shone his flashlight on him.
Moments later, after grasping the man’s face, he broke out into a wide
grin. “Well, well. Sergeant, don’t you see who we have here? This is
General Jalaluddin Turabi himself, the new commander of the so-called
Turkmen armed forces.” He bent down. “Am I not correct, General?
And this is your aide, Abdul Dendara, no? Speak up so all your men can
hear you.” The man remained silent, shaking his head that he did not
understand. “Still playing dumb, General?”” The ofticer withdrew a pis-
tol, aimed it at the head of the younger man beside him, and fired. The
headless body of the young recruit toppled over almost into Turabi’s
lap. “How is your Russian now, General? Coming back to you?”

“Yob tvoyu mat’ khuyesas!” Turabi swore in Russian.

“There, you see, Sergeant? General Turabi knows Russian very well.
We must take him with us back to the capital, and be very careful not to
hurt him—at least for now. As for the other—execute him. We don’t
have enough supplies to feed the entire damned Turkmen army.”

“Bastards! You can’t just slaughter us like this! We are prisoners of
war!” Turabi shouted. As Turabi was dragged away, the patrol sergeant
barked an order. One of his troops clicked the safety oft his
weapon. . . .

But at that second they heard a loud banngg! The lights from the pa-
trol vehicles that were illuminating the area snapped off, steam and
diesel fuel gushing from a completely ruptured engine and fuel tank.
The soldiers, Russians and Turkmen alike, dropped to the desert floor.

The security officer saw several bright flashes nearby that he assumed
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were gunshots, all coming from near his men. “Sergeant!” he shouted.
“Where are the attackers?” No response. “Sergeant! Answer me!”

“I'm afraid he can’t answer you right now, sir,” came a strange, syn-
thetic, computer-like voice. Suddenly the Russian felt himself hauled
up by his jacket. He found himself dangling in the air—being held aloft
by an alien-looking figure straight out of a science-fiction magazine.

“D’yyabat!” he shouted. “Who the hell are you?”

“Turn off his lights, and let’s get out of here, sir,” Hal Briggs said.

“Americans? You are Americans?” the officer shouted. “What are
you doing here? I will—"" But Grittin silenced him with a quick bolt of
energy from his shoulder electrodes, then dropped the unconscious of-
ficer to the sand.

Trevor Griffin went over to Jalaluddin Turabi and helped him to his
feet. “Are you all right?” he asked in Russian via the battle armor’s
electronic interpreter.

“You . ..you are the American robot warriors,” Turabi gasped.
“Why have you come here?”

“I'm from the Air Intelligence Agency, General Turabi,” Griffin said.
Turabi still looked puzzled. “From Texas, General, remember? You’ve
been sending us pictures of the Russians for weeks now. We're here to
get you and your man to safety. Let’s go. We’ve got to get out of here.”

They returned to where the Condor aircraft was hidden, took the
camouflage netting off, and pulled it out onto the highway. Turabi and
his sergeant, Abdul Dendara, climbed in the back and strapped in, fol-
lowed by Griffin and then Briggs. He had the power on immediately.
“Bobcat Control, Condor, we’re up.”

“Good to hear it, guys,” Dave Luger said.

“We’re running a systems check now, Condor. Stand by for engine
start.” A few moments later: “Systems check okay. Hydraulic fluid is a
little low—we may have a leak somewhere. Engine-start sequence in
progress.” On the back of the Condor, a small retractable air inlet de-
ployed, and moments later they heard the high-pitched whine of a tur-
bojet engine. “Engine start complete, running another systems
check . . . Hydraulic pressure is low, almost to the red line. Let’s see if
we can get airborne before we lose the whole system. Hal, use the tiller
and keep her straight on the highway. Ready?”

“Let’s do it.”

But it wasn’t going to happen. As soon as the Condor started mov-
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ing forward, the nose slipped sideways, and they could feel a severe
shuddering under their feet. “Control, I can’t steer it,” Hal said, “and I
teel a really bad vibration in the nose.”

“Hydraulic pressure is down to zero,” Kelvin Carter reported. “The
nosewheel will just free-caster without hydraulic power. Hal, you’ll
have to lock the nosewheel in place with the locking switch on the
tiller. You won’t have any steering, so you’ll have to manually line the
Condor up on the highway. Use differential braking until you get
enough airspeed to steer it aerodynamically. Careful on the brakes—
you’ll flip yourself over if you have takeoft power in and you hit the
brakes too hard.”

“I'll get out and line it up,” Griftin said, and before Hal could
protest, he had undogged his hatch and was scrambling out. It was no
problem for him to lift up the nose of the aircraft and reposition it on
the highway centerline.

But just as he did, a warning beeped in his helmet. “I’'m picking up
an aircraft coming our way.” He raised his rail gun and followed the
prompts in his helmet until he could see the threat symbol in his elec-
tronic visor. “Got him! Got him!” he said excitedly. “Low, six miles,
speed one-ten. Probably a damned helicopter gunship or attack plane.”

“Easy, sir. Wait for him to come into range,” Hal said. With the
powered exoskeleton, Griffin tracked the incoming aircraft easily.
“Should be any second now. Don’t lead him—the projectile will move
a hell of a lot faster than—"

Suddenly Griftin heard in his helmet, “Warning, laser detected. Warn-
ing, laser detected.”

“Laser!” he shouted. “He’s laying a laser designator on us!” He
didn’t wait any longer—he fired the rail gun at the incoming aircraft,
even without a lock-on, hoping that the shot would make the pilot veer
away or the gunner to break his lock-on or concentration.

It did neither. As Griffin watched, his electronic visor showed an-
other target—this one moving much faster than the helicopter.

He didn’t hesitate. He jumped atop the Condor aircraft and
watched as the laser-guided missile streaked in. Like a hockey goalie, he
crouched down, keeping the missile centered in his sights while balanc-
ing. He raised the rail gun and tried to line up on the incoming missile.

But before he could get a shot off, it hit. The missile deflected oft
the barrel of the rail gun, oft Griffin’s right arm, veered away from
Condor, hit the ground, and exploded. The rail gun shattered in his
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hands, and he was blown backward off of the Condor and several yards
through the air onto the hard-baked desert floor.

He was still alive. He heard warning buzzers, his electronic visor was
cracked, and his body felt as if he were being turned on a rotisserie over
a blazing bonfire—but he was still alive.

“Colonel Griffin!” he heard Hal Briggs shout. Briggs was kneeling
beside him, putting out an electrical fire from his backpack and belt and
removing his helmet. “Holy shit . . .”

“Where . . . where’s that gunship, Hal . . . ?” Griffin breathed. “Get
him, damn it!”

Hal turned and raised his rail gun—but before he could line up on
the aircraft, another explosion erupted a short distance away. The Rus-
sian gunship had shot a second laser-guided missile into the Condor,
blowing it to pieces. “Oh, my God!” Griftin shouted. “Turabi and his
sergeant . . .”

“They’re clear,” Hal said. “They’re trying to find a place to hide.”
Just as he was about to fire on the aircraft, he received warning in his
helmet. “Oh, shit, another aircraft inbound.”

He turned to take a shot at the second aircraft, then slung his rail
gun over his shoulder, picked up Griftin, and leaped away—just as an-
other laser-guided missile exploded in the exact spot where they’d been
a fraction of a second earlier. Hal landed from his jump and had barely
enough time to cover Griffin with his body when the second aircraft, a
Russian Mi-24 Hind-D attack helicopter, peppered him with thirty-
millimeter cannon fire. The shock of the heavy-caliber shells hitting
Briggs was so fierce that, even protected by Briggs’s armored body;,
Griftin felt his breath being knocked out of his lungs by the impact. As
soon as the cannon fire stopped, Briggs scooped up Griftin and made
another thruster jump in a different direction, away from Turabi and
Dendara.

But the explosion, the gunship attack, and that last leap substantially
depleted his power—warning tones were popping up the moment he
landed from his jump. Griftin obviously saw them, too, because he held
out his spare power pack. “Turn around—TI’ll swap power packs.”

“Not this one, you won’t,” Hal said, examining the pack—it had
shattered along with the rest of Trevor’s backpack. He quickly ejected
his nearly spent power pack and replaced it with his emergency one,
then made another leap when he noticed the first gunship lining up for
a cannon or missile attack.
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But it was soon obvious that the Russian helicopter pilots had set up
their attack-orbit plan well. Hal couldn’t jump in any direction without
a gunship able to bear down on him quickly with only minor correc-
tions. As soon as he landed from his last jump, cannon shells were rain-
ing down on him, while the other gunship was circling to begin his
attack.

Hal found that he was a few yards away from a shallow wash, and
while he waited for his thrusters to recharge, he carried Griftin to it.
“You gotta stay here, sir,” Hal said. “If we’re going to stop these bas-
tards, I need to get some room to fight. Burrow down as deep as you can
and hide under the sand—your suit will help screen your heat signature
from their IR sensors.”

“Hal . . .” But he was gone seconds later.

As soon as Briggs landed, he hefted his rail gun, took aim on the
closest gunship, and fired. Nothing happened—he saw the bluish yellow
streak of vapor hit the helicopter, but it kept on barreling toward him.
Hal leveled the gun again and prepared to fire another round.

But he realized moments later that the big helicopter was no
longer flying toward him but crashing toward him. The main rotor had
sheared oft milliseconds after the large titanium projectile shattered
one engine and the transmission, and seconds after being hit the gun-
ship was nothing more than a man-made meteorite. The crew com-
partment and cockpit were filled with burning fuel and transmission
fluid, and almost instantly ordnance started to cook off out on the py-
lons and stub wings from the intense fuselage fire. Hal jet-jumped
away from the impact point seconds before the copter crashed into the
desert right in front of him.

“Got the bastard, sir,” Hal radioed, before realizing that Griffin’s
equipment was destroyed and he couldn’t hear. He activated his sensors
to locate Griffin.

And realized with horror that the second Russian gunship had ze-
roed in on Trevor Griffin and was about to attack! He raised his rail gun
just as the gunner started walking thirty-millimeter rounds onto Grif-
fin’s hiding spot.

But at that very moment, two missiles streaked out of the night sky
and rammed into the Hind’s engine exhausts. The gunship immediately
exploded, and the flaming fireball buried itself in the desert a few hun-
dred yards away from the Air Force colonel.

Just as he was wondering who’d shot those missiles, Hal heard,
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“Sorry we’re so late, Tin Man.” It was Kelvin Carter. “Got here as
quick as I could.” Soon the unmistakable roar of their QB-52
Megafortress could be heard, less than five hundred feet overhead.

“You were right on time,” Hal said. “Three more seconds and the
colonel would’ve been turned into Swiss cheese.”

“Roger that,” Carter said. “Glad we could help. We’re going to pay
a visit on a couple other Russki aircraft heading your way. The closest
ground troops are about eight miles southwest. We don’t have any air-
to-ground weapons on board the Megafortress, but we can create some
confusion for you. Watch the skies.”

“Thanks, Bobcat.” Briggs jet-jumped over to Griffin. “You okay,
sire”

“I'm here to tell you, Hal,” Griffin said weakly, “that it is possible
to see your life flash in front of your eyes fwice in one night. I sure as
hell did.”

“You saved our bacon, Colonel,” Hal said, helping Grittin strip off
the useless battle armor. “You've earned the right to join our exclusive
club if you so choose.”

“I've got a desk back in San Antonio waiting for me, along with a
wife and kids—I think that’s where I'll stay for a while,” Griffin re-
sponded honestly. “That 1s, if we can get out of here without Condor.”

At that moment Hal turned. He’d received another warning tone in
his helmet. “A vehicle heading toward us—I thought Carter said it was
clear?” Hal raised his rail gun, preparing to engage.

Then he saw Jalaluddin Turabi frantically waving from his perch
atop the Russian armored personnel carrier. He and Dendara had re-
turned to the place where they’d been captured and absconded with the
APC and weapons.

“It’s a piece of crap! Don’t these Russians believe in cleaning their
vehicles?” Turabi asked. “But it should get us to Repetek, where my
men will be waiting. Shall we go?”

CIA AIR-OPERATIONS BASE, NEAR BUKHARA,
REPUBLIC OF UZBEKISTAN
Later that day

onfirmed, sir,” the unit intelligence officer said, handing his com-
manding officer a report. “The damned Air Force again.”
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“I thought so,” the commander said angrily. He read the report,
shaking his head, then crumpled up the paper and banged a fist on his
desk. “A commando operation supported by a damned B-52 bomber—and
they don’t say one friggin” word about it to us or to anyone at Langley.
Where was Turabi taken?”

“Chirjew, then by air to the USS Lincoln in the Arabian Sea,” the
intelligence ofticer replied. “Bob, we’ve got to pull all our assets in right
now. The Russians are going to sweep east, take Mary, then sweep north
and bomb the living daylights out of us at any time. We’ve got to exfil
our guys and get out of here.”

“I know, damn 1it, I know. A year of work down the tubes—not just
in Turkmenistan but all the way to Iran and all over Central Asia. The
Air Force really screwed us last night.”

The commander looked up from his desk at the hanger where his
office was located. He had a U.S. Air Force MH-53M Pave Low IV
special-ops helicopter and crew standing by ready to go, along with its
crew of six and a team of twelve commandos—and there was no doubt
that he could get volunteers to fill up the chopper if he asked. He had a
large contingent of operatives and valuable informants on the streets of
Ashkhabad, the capital of Turkmenistan, and also down inside Iran,
throughout Afghanistan and Pakistan, and as far away as Krasnovodsk,
the big Russian port on the Caspian Sea—all turning up information
on enemy activity in Central Asia. He had guys deep inside Al Qaeda,
the Russian military, Afghani drug cartels, and terrorist groups for thou-
sands of miles around.

All compromised because of some half-assed Air Force operation
near Mary.

It was too risky to stay in Uzbekistan now. The Russians were go-
ing to be like a large hive of angry bees—stirred up, swarming, and mad
as hell, ready to lash out at anything that wasn’t 100 percent verified
Russian. The whole Central Asia operation was in danger. A lot of
Russians had been killed by the Americans as they fought their way out
of Turkmenistan—no doubt the Russians wanted payback.

“We got no choice,” he said finally. “Send messages via secure mi-
croburst transmissions and radio interference, telling our guys to hightail
it out into the back country and start monitoring the pickup points.”
The CIA operatives used their own secret microburst transceivers—
coded messages sent and received by devices that compressed messages
into microsecond-long bursts, thereby reducing the chances of their be-
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ing detected or used to backtrace their location. The CIA headquarters
also sent messages by broadcasting interference signals overlaid on regu-
lar radio and TV broadcasts—sometimes as simple as bursts of static,
other times images that could be seen only with special lenses or by
slowing down videotapes of certain shows—to relay messages to their
informants or agents in deep cover.

Over time all the field operatives and informants who wished to
leave would get the message, and they would execute their escape plan.
The actual procedure diftered widely for individual agents, but the ob-
jective was for each agent to report to one of several exfiltration points
near where he or she lived or worked and wait for a sign or message that
the agent was going to get picked up. It could take days, sometimes
weeks—patience and trust were the key words here. Sometimes agents
would be on the run, hiding out in the wilderness. If they were lucky,
they could maintain their covers while checking the spots daily for a
sign that their rescuers were nearby.

“Roger that,” the intel officer said. “Everyone’s been in fairly close
contact. We should have no trouble rounding them all up.”

“That’s because the Air Force stirred up the Russians before, too,”
the commander said bitterly. “I am going to make sure that Langley
chews some butt at the Pentagon this time. Someone’s got to lose his
stars over this. They just can’t—"

The unit commander was nearly knocked oft his chair by the first
massive explosion, but by the time he leaped to his feet and began run-
ning for the exit, the second bomb crashed through the ceiling of the
hangar and exploded. He never heard or felt anything after that. . . .

he CIA air base in Uzbekistan was certainly no secret to anyone—es-
pecially not the Russians. Since Russia was a full partner in the de-
fense of Uzbekistan, and Russia was mostly responsible for Uzbekistan’s
border security and defense, the Russians had plenty of information on
anyone moving across the frontier—including the CIA agents and their
most trusted informants.
But instead of simply raiding the CIA field headquarters, Russia had
other plans for them.
A lone Tupolev-22M Backfire bomber swept in over the desert
plains of eastern Uzbekistan. It had been cleared into Kazakhstan by
Russian air-traffic controllers based at Alma-Ata and monitored by
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other Russian air-traffic controllers in Bishkek, the capital of Kyrgyzs-
tan, who watched the speedy bomber as it descended rapidly from high
altitude down to just a few hundred meters from the surface. There
were actually three Backfires that had launched from their secret Sibe-
rian base, but after their last aerial refueling, the crews chose the best-
operating aircraft to complete the mission.

Skirting the Bishkek radars, the Backfire bomber proceeded at low
altitude across the vast southern Kazakh plains, staying below the cover-
age of air-defense radars in Tashkent, Uzbekistan. Minutes later the
bomber started a slight wings-level climb. At an altitude of one thou-
sand meters, it began its attack.

The Tu-22M carried three large air-launched missiles called the Kh-
31, one in the bomb bay and one on external hardpoints on the non-
moving portion of each wing. Each six-hundred-kilogram missile had a
ninety-kilogram high-explosive fragmentary warhead designed to blast
apart lightweight structures like radar arrays and antennas with ease. Af-
ter release, the missile shot ahead of the bomber using its small first-stage
solid-rocket motor, then climbed rapidly through fifteen thousand me-
ters’ altitude using its big second-stage motor. When the second-stage
motor burned out, the motor casing became a ramjet combustion cham-
ber, which automatically fired and quickly accelerated the missile
through Mach 3. The Kh-31 initially used its inertial navigation system
to steer toward its target, but it received position and velocity updates
through its GLONASS satellite-navigation system, which greatly im-
proved its accuracy to near-precision quality. It needed less than four
minutes to fly the two hundred kilometers to its target. Once within
thirty seconds of its target, it switched to a passive radar detector and
homed directly in on a specific radar frequency.

One Kh-31 missile lost contact with its carrier aircraft and hit
harmlessly somewhere in the central Uzbek deserts—but the other mis-
siles continued their flight with devastating accuracy, destroying the air-
defense radar sites at Tashkent and at Samarkand, a large city in
southeastern Uzbekistan. With the Uzbek radars shut down, the Tu-
22M proceeded south into Uzbekistan and set up an orbit, blanketing
the area with electronic jamming signals and also monitoring the activ-
ities about to begin.

The second part of the operation had actually taken place nearly a
half’ hour earlier. Orbiting over southern Siberia at fifteen thousand
meters, a Tupolev-95MS “Bear” bomber, a long-range turboprop air-
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craft first designed in the 1940s, had released two eleven-meter-long
missiles from wing pylons about twenty seconds apart. Code-named the
Kh-90 “Karonka,” or “Crown,” it was one of the world’s most ad-
vanced land-attack missiles. The missiles’ first stage was a solid rocket
motor, which accelerated the missile to almost Mach 2. As in the Kh-
31s launched by the Backfire bomber, when the first-stage motor
burned out, the rocket chamber became a ramjet engine. Air was com-
pressed and accelerated inside the ramjet, and liquid rocket fuel was in-
jected and burned. As the missile gained speed, air and fuel were
squeezed and accelerated even more, until the missile soon was cruising
at over eight times the speed of sound.

The missiles streaked across Siberia and Kazakhstan, climbing to
twenty-five thousand meters’ altitude, then started a steep dive toward
their target. Steered by signals from the Russian GLONASS, their accu-
racy was superb. At an altitude of ten thousand meters, each missile
ejected two independently targeted 150-kilogram high-explosive war-
heads.

The CIA operations base next to the abandoned airfield outside
Bukhara, Uzbekistan, consisted of only four buildings inside a ten-acre
tenced compound—two aircraft hangars, each of which doubled as a
storage facility, ammo dump, and training center; a natural-gas-fired
power generator and well pumphouse; and a headquarters building,
which doubled as a barracks. The warheads hit each structure dead on.
The explosions were so powerful that the fuel and munitions inside the
hangars did not even have a chance to explode.

They simply disappeared in a cloud of superheated gas.



BARKSDALE AIR FORCE BASE, BOSSIER CITY, LOUISIANA
Days later

hat in hell do you mean, you don’t know where it came from?” Lieu-

tenant General Terrill Samson, commander of Eighth Air Force,

thundered. Terrill Samson was a truly imposing man, even when
seated, and a few of the staff members arrayed around him in the head-
quarters battle-staff area jumped when he shouted, even though they
were accustomed to his loud, frequent outbursts. “A Russian bomber
completely wipes out a CIA field-operations base in Uzbekistan, and
you're telling me we still don’t know where it came from or what
weapon it used, General McLanahan? It didn’t just pop up out of
nowhere!”

“Sir, we're working on it,” Patrick McLanahan said. He was speak-
ing via secure videoconference from the Command and Operations
Center of the Air Intelligence Agency at its headquarters in San Anto-
nio, Texas. “The Nine-sixty-sixth should have that information shortly.
We have almost constant surveillance on every Russian bomber base
west of the Urals. So far every one of those bases’ normal inventory has
been accounted for—"

“What about Engels’s bombers, General?” Major General Gary
Houser asked.

“Sir, we still have no firm estimates on how many planes survived,
how many damaged planes were reconstituted, or where any survivors
were relocated,” Patrick responded. Engels Air Base in southwestern
Russia was the largest bomber base in Russia and the headquarters of
Aviatsiya Voyska Strategischeskovo Naznacheniya (A-VSN), or Strategic
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Aviation Force, Russia’s intercontinental-bomber command, composed
of subsonic Tupolev-95 Bear bombers, supersonic Tupolev-160 “Black-
jack” bombers, Ilyushin-78 “Midas” aerial-refueling tankers, and
Tupolev-16 “Badger” tankers and electronic-warfare aircraft. “Our
poststrike intelligence after the raid reported twelve possible Backfire
survivors, plus another ten with only minor damage. The base itself is
still not operational, but it may be usable, so it’s likely that any surviving
bombers could have made it out.”

“Engels’s bombers, eh?” Samson muttered, shaking his head. “I
should have known.” It was well known throughout the command—
and most of the world—that Patrick McLanahan’s former unit, the Air
Battle Force, had conducted a surprise bombing raid on Engels Air Base.
During the conflict with Turkmenistan, Russia was about to initiate a
massive bomber raid from Engels against government and Taliban
troops threatening Russian bases and interests in that oil-rich country.
Using his fleet of unmanned long-range bombers launched from Diego
Garcia in the Indian Ocean, Patrick had destroyed several Russian
bombers on the ground at Engels, damaged several more, and severely
damaged the base itself.

Although Patrick’s raid had halted the conflict in Turkmenistan
and allowed United Nations peacekeepers to enter that country safely
and establish a cease-fire, most of the U.S. government, the Pentagon, and
the world had blamed Patrick McLanahan for the rising tensions be-
tween Russia and the United States. No one expected him still to be
wearing an American military uniform, let alone a general’s star.

Least of all Lieutenant General Terrill Samson, Patrick’s new boss.

“We’ve tried to account for the survivors, through surveillance as
well as through diplomatic channels, but have not been successful,”
Patrick went on. “We should have an answer shortly as to where they
came from. The Russians are bound by the Conventional Forces in Eu-
rope Treaty and the Strategic Arms Limitation Treaty to state exactly
how many long-range bombers they have and their precise location; un-
der the Open Skies Treaty, we have a right to verify that information
ourselves. Russia can’t legally withhold that information. We will—"

“General McLanahan, thanks to your unsanctioned, wasteful, and
wholly unnecessary attack on Engels, we will be lucky to get any coop-
eration from Russia on any aspect of the CFE or SALT agreements,”
Samson interrupted. “You will make it your top priority to find out ex-
actly where those bombers came from and what Russia’s current long-
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and medium-range strike capability is. I want that info on my desk in
twenty-four—no, [ want it in eight hours, in time for the next scheduled
battle-staff meeting. Is that understood?”

“Perfectly, sir.” Patrick knew that was all his staff had been working
on ever since U.S. Strategic Command alerted them of the attack—they
would have the info ready by then.

“What do you know about the attack?” Samson asked heatedly.

“Reports from Uzbek air-traftic-control authorities in Tashkent
have confirmed that the aircraft that crossed over from Russia was a
Tupolev-22M bomber, call sign Mirny-203,” Patrick said. “Air-traffic
controllers from Alma-Ata, Kazakhstan, reported the bomber to
Tashkent but did not provide any flight-plan information. The aircraft
was spotted about one hundred and seventy-five miles north of the
Uzbek border by radar operators at Tashkent before the radars were
knocked oft the air and communications were disrupted.

“The Russians have one missile with that kind of range: the AS-17,
code name ‘Krypton,”” Patrick went on. “The AS-17 is an antiradar
weapon designed to exceed the range and performance numbers of the
Patriot antiaircraft missile. However, the AS-17 was not originally de-
signed to be fired from the Tupolev-22M. One AS-17 apparently mal-
functioned and crashed in the desert in Kazakhstan.”

“CIA will undoubtedly send out teams to recover data on that lost
missile,” Houser said. “T’ll have the info as soon as they get it.”

“Sir, we’ve heard from CIA, and because of the strike against their
base, they’re not prepared to mount a covert mission into Kazakhstan to
retrieve the missile,” Patrick said. “Colonel Griftin has put together a
mission plan for your approval. He can deploy with a team, or we can
brief a team based in—"

“So Griftin wants to lead another covert-ops team into Central
Asia, eh?” Houser asked derisively. “He obviously thinks he’s the newest
action hero now.”

“Sir, no other agencies have offered to get that data for us,” Patrick
said, daring to show his exasperation at Houser’s remark, “and if I may
remind you, we have very few military or intelligence assets in place in
that region since the United Nations Security Council ordered us to
leave so they could install peacekeeping forces. If we want a chance to
get that data, Colonel Griftin needs an execution order immediately. We
can have him and his team deploy immediately to—"

“I think Colonel Griffin has stirred up enough shit in Central Asia



PLAN OF ATTACK 67

for the time being,” Houser interjected. “Although we certainly ap-
plaud him for successfully retrieving General Turabi of Turkmenistan,
who has proved to be an extremely valuable source of information on
the Russians’ advance into Mary, it is clear now that the Russians felt
threatened and retaliated against what they thought was a CIA opera-
tion. In addition, I personally feel that I was led astray by General Luger
at Battle Mountain. Colonel Griftin took an awful risk by going on this
mission, an especially unnecessary risk considering all the forces Battle
Mountain had available.”

“Sir, Colonel Griftin’s plan utilizes forces based in—"

“General Houser said he’d discuss this with you later, General
McLanahan,” Samson cut in irritably. “Can we get on with the brief-
ing, please?”

“Yes, sir,” Patrick said. “The antiradar missiles flew for approxi-
mately one hundred and thirty miles. Speed of each missile was in ex-
cess of Mach three. They were on a ballistic flight path at first, but
during descent the radar operators said the missiles made minute course
changes that placed them precisely on target, indicating that perhaps the
missiles were operator- or GPS-guided, not just inertially guided. This
matches the AS-17’s flight profile. They scored direct hits on the Uzbek
radar sites.

“As far as the attack on Bukhara itself—it’s still a mystery, sir,”
Patrick admitted. “Observers near the impact points there, including a
couple surviving CIA operatives, reported the explosions were tremen-
dous, perhaps five-hundred-pound high-explosive warheads.”

“You have nothing?” Samson asked. “No leads at all?”

“We’re investigating a few uncorrelated bits of data, sir,” Patrick
replied. “Greatly increased air traffic in eastern Siberia and a few rocket
launches from test-launch sites in Siberia detected by DSP satellites ap-
parently shot into the Kazakh missile-test ranges. So far nothing that
could give us any clues on the attack all the way west in Uzbekistan.”

“Then maybe you shouldn’t be wasting your time on these other
‘uncorrelated bits of data,” as you call them,” Samson said. “Any con-
clusions at all to report to us?”

“Sir, it appears that the missiles shot from the Backfire were in-
tended to screen the real attack on the CIA headquarters in Uzbek-
istan,” Patrick went on. “The AS-17 1s designed to be launched from
tactical fighter-bombers, so the existence of these weapons on large
bombers is a new development for the Russians: using tactical
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precision-guided weapons on strategic bombers instead of just long-
range subsonic cruise missiles. It appears that the Russians had excellent
intel and acted on it remarkably quickly. They knew exactly when and
where to hit. They probably loaded those bombers within hours of the
mission to exfiltrate Turabi and launched the attack immediately.

“I feel that this indicates a substantial increase in the capabilities and
effectiveness of the Russian heavy-bomber forces. Wherever these
bombers came from, they were highly modified and their crews trained
to levels of proficiency and tactical coordination that rival our own.
They obviously used sophisticated covert bases, perhaps underground or
well-camouflaged facilities, and a supply system that is many times faster
and more efficient than—"

“General McLanahan, I know you’re new to the Air Intelligence
Agency and the Nine-sixty-sixth Wing, so I'll give you a pass on this
one,” Gary Houser said. “But in the future when you brief the com-
mand or battle staffs, we expect facts, not interpretation. And the facts
are that you still don’t know where those bombers came from or where
they went. That’s what we need to know. Is that clear, General?”

“Yes, sir,” Patrick responded. Houser looked at the darkened
glassed-in booth where the communications officers sat and drew a fin-
ger across his throat. Moments later the link between Barksdale and
Lackland was terminated.

“Let’s go on with the status of forces,” Samson said, giving the
screen on which McLanahan had appeared one last disgusted glance that
was very apparent, even across the secure videoconference network.
“General?”

Conducting his briefing from his seat, in Samson’s preferred style,
the Eighth Air Force deputy commander for operations and the acting
vice commander, Brigadier General Charles C. Zoltrane, pressed a
button on his console to call up his first PowerPoint slide. “Yes, sir.
Currently all wings are reporting one hundred percent conventional-
combat-ready.”

“Conventional only? What’s the nuclear side looking like?”

“Due to our conventional mission commitments, the lack of air-
frames and crews, and lower funding levels, we can meet approximately
sixty percent taskings for Single Integrated Operations Plan missions,
sir,” Zoltrane said. “The crews and the planes are simply not available
for certification. The B-2 stealth bombers are in the best shape at sev-
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enty percent, but the B-52s are at only fifty percent—and I think that’s
being generous.”

Samson thought about the news for a moment, then shrugged.
“Well, if STRATCOM wants more planes ready for SIOP missions,
they’re going to have to send me more money and more airframes,” he
said. STRATCOM, or U.S. Strategic Command, was the unified mili-
tary command in charge of planning and fighting a nuclear conflict.
STRATCOM did not “own” any aircraft—like every unified com-
mand, STRATCOM “gained” aircraft from other major commands,
such as nuclear bombers, intelligence-gathering aircraft, and strategic
command-and-control planes, from Eighth Air Force.

“We can bring some planes out of flyable storage to have available
for SIOP planning if necessary,” Zoltrane said. The fly-stores, or “fly-
able storage,” were the planes held in a sort of maintenance limbo—it
was a way to save costs while maintaining a large fleet capable of fight-
ing with minimal preparation. Two-thirds of the long-range bombers
allocated to both Eighth and Twelfth Air Forces were in flyable storage
at any one time.

“How many planes were we budgeting to come out of fly-store this
year?”

“Through the normal rotation? Thirty-six B-52s and—"

“No, I meant planes coming out of fly-store to augment the fleet.
How many?”

“Well . . . none, sir,” Zoltrane responded. “But we’re technically
non-mission-ready if STRATCOM wants to put any bombers on alert.
We’d have to—"

“That’s STRATCOM’s problem, not mine,” Samson said. “They
know hour by hour how many planes we have available. If they notice
our shortage, they’re not saying anything, which means they don’t want
to deal with the budget crunch either.”

“Sir, we have to do something—at least notify the Pentagon that
we’re low,” Zoltrane said. “It’ll take weeks, maybe months, for some of
those bombers to be mission-ready out of flyable storage. If we start
now, maybe we can stop the process before we break the bank, or maybe
we’ll get interim funding later on. But we can’t just—"

“Okay, okay, Charlie, I get the picture,” General Samson said irrita-
bly. “Have the wings start pulling fly-stores out right away—see if they
can put it under an exercise budget, or if they’re close enough to their
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cycle periods anyway, have them pull their allotments early” Planes in
flyable storage had to be rotated out every six months, brought back up
to full combat readiness, and flown for a specified number of hours be-
fore being put back in fly-store. Because of arms-control limitations and
other political considerations, there was usually no rush to do this, and
in fact many planes in flyable storage went over their six-month time
limit or were never brought back up to full combat-ready status. In ef-
fect they became “hangar queens,” a source of cannibalized parts. It was
an unfortunate fact of life for the Air Force’s bomber fleet. “I want it
done quietly. 1 don’t want it to appear like we’re mobilizing any long-
range strategic forces.”

“Yes, sir,” Zoltrane said.

“This really sucks,” Samson said. “We’re forced to spend money on
spinning up the fly-stores, while McLanahan and Luger get their pick
of the best airframes to do their Q-conversion—and then we can’t even
use the damned things because no one except the weenies at Battle
Mountain knows how they work.” The Q-conversion was the outra-
geous plan recently approved by the Pentagon to modify a number of
B-1 and B-52 bombers to unmanned combat-strike missions, recon-
naissance, and suppression of enemy air defense. The 111th Bomb Wing
at Battle Mountain had developed the capability to control a number of
bombers for global-combat sorties without putting one human being in
harm’s way. “They have code-one airframes and crews out there in Bat-
tle Mountain just twiddling their thumbs while the rest of the com-
mand has to bust our butts just to get to minimum force levels.

“And even if we had them, we don’t even know how to employ ro-
bot planes,” Samson went on. “It’s just like the Turkmenistan UN Se-
curity Council surveillance mission all over again—if’ we want to use
them, we have to put one of their Trekkies in charge. I think we could
stand David Luger or Rebecca Furness in our headquarters for a short
period of time, but if they have to start bringing guys like Daren Mace
or their civilian contractors Masters or Duftield in here, they’d drive us
crazy in no time. No thanks. I’d rather spend the money and bring
some of our fly-stores online before I bring in anyone from Battle
Mountain.” He turned to the next officer at the conference table.
“Gary, I hope you have better news for me.”

“Yes, sir, I do,” Major General Gary Houser said. “The good news
is, one hundred percent of our spacecraft are operational, and we have
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complete overhead coverage of Central Asia and southwestern Russia;
all reconnaissance and surveillance air wings are fully combat-ready, and
sortie completion rates are over ninety percent. True, we didn’t see the
air raid on Bukhara coming, and I will personally find out where the
deficiency is and fix it. But now we have almost constant electronic sur-
veillance on the entire region, and if the Russians try to make another
move, we’ll know about it.”

“Good work,” Samson said. “I'm going to be relying on you for
the best and latest intel, Gary. I expect to be called to the Pentagon
soon, maybe even the White House, and I need a constant stream of
updates.”

“You should let me handle the heat from Washington, sir,” Houser
said. “You’ll have enough on your plate here organizing the force.
Leave the intel mumbo jumbo to me.”

“Wouldn’t be offering just so you can get more face time with the
honchos in Washington, would you, Gary?”

Houser smiled conspiratorially. “Never crossed my mind, sir. I'll
play it any way you’d like.”

“For now I'll take the meetings in Washington or Oftutt or wher-
ever they send me, Gary,” Samson said. “If we start sending strikers
overseas, and they deploy me as part of the air staff, you may have to
stand in during the intel briefs. That’s your area of expertise.”

“Yes, sir.”

“Okay, here’s my take on the attack, based on what we know, folks,”
Samson said, addressing everyone in the room. “I believe that this attack
on Bukhara was an isolated reaction by General Gryzlov. He got his butt
kicked by us at Engels and twice in Turkmenistan, and he lashed out.
We’ve seen this kind of massive aerial assault recently in Chechnya—he
does it for show, then backs off.

“But I believe that Gryzlov is under a lot of pressure from his mili-
tary to retaliate against us, so he won’t stand for any more attacks against
Russian military forces, but the size and scope of this attack leads me to
believe that this is not a prelude to a wider confrontation. Does anyone
see any indication that he wants a war with us?” No response from the
staff members.

“Then I think we concur. The CIA operation in Turkmenistan was
discovered, they had to fight their way out, they killed some Russians,
and the Russians retaliated by bombing their field-operations base. I'll
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recommend to Air Combat Command and the Air Force that we step
up monitoring and surveillance, but we feel that the Russians have shot
their wad.

“What I need is a profile of Russian forces in Central Asia and the
Persian Gulf and a look at other potential targets,” Samson ordered. “If
you think a fight is possible anywhere in the region, I want analysis on
where, when, and how, and I want a plan of action on what we should
do about it. Naturally, the plan of action should place Eighth Air Force
commanders in charge and assets at the pointy end of the spear, espe-
cially intelligence, reconnaissance, and information-warfare activities.
Yes, make sure you emphasize joint warfighting—that’s the important
buzzword these days, and if you use it in your planning, you're likely to
get your plan noticed. But the lead agency and the first units in combat
should be the Mighty Eighth in every way possible.

“Next I want to make sure that every man and woman in this com-
mand—and every piece of hardware from the biggest bomber to the
smallest microchip— is one hundred and ten percent ready to deploy
and fight on a moment’s notice. I want to be able to tell the Pentagon
and the White House that we can send any unit, any weapon system, and
every airman under my command anywhere on the globe just by pick-
ing up a telephone.

“However, it is essential to remember that, until ordered to do so,
we must not appear as if we are stepping up our posture or readiness for
a shooting war,” Samson went on. “This means you cannot step up or-
ders for weapons, fuel, and supplies or increase your normal air order of’
battle. Your units need to prepare as much as possible within the current
posture, but no one receives any more planes, weapons, supplies, or fuel
than they’re currently allotted.

“Finally, I want problems handled in-house, and I want strict, tight
control on information and intelligence,” Samson said, his voice low
and menacing. “Every piece of data that we collect stays in this com-
mand unless I authorize its release. If your staffs find a problem or think
they find something important, it doesn’t leave the command unless this
battle staff sees it, deals with the problem, and releases the information
with a solution attached. No one, and I mean no one, breaks the chain of
command. The buck will stop right here, and I will destroy the airman
and his supervisor if I find out that he or she takes key information and
upchannels it outside the command without my signature. If we gener-
ate it, it stays with us. Is that perfectly clear?” Heads nodded all around.
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“Anything else for me?” The battle staff knew better than to speak—
they knew that the boss was done with the meeting. Any other ques-
tions were expected to go to the deputy commanders. “Good.
Dismissed.”

As usual, Gary Houser and Charles Zoltrane stayed behind with
Terrill Samson after the others had departed. “I apologize for McLana-
han’s performance today, sir,” Houser said. “He’s new to the post, and he
obviously thinks he can run things like he did at Battle Mountain and
Dreamland. It won’t happen again.”

“You know McLanahan as well as I do, Gary,” Samson said. “He’s a
smart and dedicated young officer who was detoured away from a suc-
cessful career by some bad influences. He gets the job done by skirting
the rules, just as Brad Elliott used to do. It’s too bad.”

“Don’t be sorry for him, sir,” Houser said. “I knew him before he
joined up with Elliott, and he was an attitude case then, too. But back
then the brass was letting guys slide if they made the wing king look
good—and McLanahan was good, no doubt about that. He still thinks
his shit doesn’t stink.”

“He’s probably better oft retiring—in fact, that’s what I thought
happened with him after I got him bounced out of Dreamland,” Sam-
son said. “But he’s got balls of steel, loads of brain power, talented
friends, and a real lock-and-load attitude that politicians like. He’s a sur-
vivor. Unfortunately, he’s your problem now, Gary.”

“We’ve had a heart-to-heart already, sir,” Houser said. “He won’t be
a hassle for you.”

“After today’s performance I’d say you still have some work to do,”
Samson said. “Just keep him in line and out of my face, all right?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Who’s your deputy, sir?” Zoltrane asked. “Have him give the
Nine-sixty-sixth’s briefings from now on.”

“That’s Trevor Griftin.”

Zoltrane nodded, but Samson chimed in derisively, “You mean
"Howdy Doody’ on steroids? Shit, last time he gave the staff a briefing,
all T could think of was Opie Taylor giving a book report in front of the
Mayberry schoolmarm. Christ, where do we find these characters any-
way?” Houser did not respond. “Just do what you need to do to keep
your folks in line and functioning, Gary,” Samson went on. “We don’t
need smart-asses like McLanahan giving us attitude in my battle-staft
room. Clear?”
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“Yes, sir. I'll take care of it.”

“See that you do.”

“One more matter for you, sir,” Houser said. “I wanted to ask you
about the vice commander’s vacancy here at headquarters. We talked
about moving me here to get some combat command time before
we—"

“Everything’s on schedule, Gary,” Samson said. ““The vacancy is still
there. I need a firm commitment from the Pentagon about my fourth
star and taking over Air Combat Command or STRATCOM. Once I
hear for sure, I'll install you here as the vice, so you’ll automatically take
command when [ leave. Don’t worry about it. It’s in the bag.”

“Yes, sir.” Houser didn’t sound convinced.

“I don’t think this recent flap with McLanahan will spoil things,”
Samson added. “To the command, I jump in McLanahan’s shit; to
Washington, I tone it down a little. A lot of folks like the son of a
bitch. He’s still being considered for national security adviser, for
Christ’s sake. The politicians like getting their pictures taken with a
real-life aerial assassin. We're below their radar screen, and we need to
stay that way.

“Just keep McLanahan on a short leash. This nonsense about the
Russians gearing up their bomber fleet has got to stay in this command,
understand me? If word gets out, the politicians will wonder why we’re
not doing something about it, and then we’ll look like jerks. If we play
it cool, eventually McLanahan will resign to go work for Thorn, or he’ll
resign to be with his family on the coast, or he’ll be shipped off to
Dreamland and put back in his genie’s bottle until the next war, like his
mentor, Elliott.”

“Yes, sir. I agree. You won’t have to worry about McLanahan, sir.”

Samson pulled out a cigar, lit it, then waved it at the door to dismiss
Houser. The Air Intelligence Agency commander practically bowed be-
fore he headed out.

“I'll get that order to gin up the fly-stores going right now, sir,”
Zoltrane said, picking up a phone to his office.

Samson nodded as he pufted away. “It’s bad enough dealing with
the Russians, Offutt, and Washington,” Samson muttered. “Now I have
to deal with my own subordinate officers who might be ready to start
rolling around on the deck during the storm, knocking guys into the
ocean and wrecking my ship.”
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“Sir, to be perfectly honest with you, I give McLanahan kudos for
giving us that analysis so quick,” Zoltrane admitted as he waited for the
secure connection to go through. “Part of the problem is that our guys
are hesitant to upchannel their reports for fear of being labeled a crack-
pot or a nuisance. We want guys to give us educated opinions, and we
want them soonest. McLanahan’s only been on the job a short time, but
he put together a pretty good analysis of Russian bomber capabilities
and potential.

“And Trevor Griftin shocked the hell out of me. The guy’s. ..
what? In his mid to late forties? He climbs aboard an unmanned B-52
bomber, flies halfway around the world, then climbs into a high-tech
Spam can and lets himself be dropped out of the damned bomb bay.
Fuckin’ incredible. And he made it out of Turkmenistan, too, after the
Russians attacked—that’s even more incredible. Maybe we should—"

“What? Let him have some satellites and maybe even some field
operatives and send them into Russia looking for supersecret Backfire
bombers?” Samson asked. “How the hell can you hide a Backfire
bomber? And we know damned well the Russians aren’t modernizing
Backfires—they’re scrapping them. McLanahan couldn’t possibly have
collected enough information from that raid on Bukhara to come up
with valid conclusions that warrant additional intel missions. He’s
guessing, Charlie. We don’t waste our time or resources on guesses. We
need some hard evidence before we can take a field-intel-ops plan to
Air Combat Command or the Pentagon. And that goes triple for a pro-
posed operation into Russia. McLanahan is guessing, plain and simple,
and he wants to rub our noses in the fact that he’s here against his
will.”

“He doesn’t seem like the kind of guy to pull shit like that, sir,”
Zoltrane said, adding the word “sir” to distance himself from his own
remark and defer to whatever his boss told him. He really didn’t know
McLanahan that well, and he certainly knew his reputation—he was not
about to defend the guy before he personally saw him in action. “He
seems like a straight shooter to me.”

“I worked with him long enough at Dreamland to know that he’s a
sidewinder, Charlie,” Samson said. “He’s quiet and hardworking, but
when he decides he wants to do something, he’ll step over anyone to do
the job—and if there aren’t enough bodies and careers piled up high
enough to get him to where he wants to be, he’ll create more. The
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sooner we get his ass out of the Air Force—for good this time—the
better.”

966TH INFORMATION WING HEADQUARTERS, LACKLAND AIR
FORCE BASE, SAN ANTONIO, TEXAS

A short time later

o how was your first battle-staff meeting?” Trevor Griffin asked
when he met Patrick back in his office. The grin on his face told
Patrick that he already knew the answer to that one.

“Just peachy,” Patrick said dryly.

“If you want me to take those briefings and catch some spears for
you, say the word,” Griftin said. “I’'m used to the abuse.”

“Nabh, I can handle it,” Patrick said, grateful that at least he hadn’t
been singled out for extra-special abuse. He smiled and asked, “What’s
the matter—you don’t want to go jumping around with the Battle
Force anymore?”

“Hey, I'll do that mission again in a heartbeat—just don’t tell my
wife I said that,” Griftin said. “Your guys out there are cosmic. You
should be proud of the team you built. If they need me, I'm in.”

Patrick liked it when Griftin said “your guys,” even though he
knew it wasn’t true. “You’re a Tin Man now and forever, Tagger—
they’ll be calling on you, I guarantee it. So anything else pop up while I
was in the staff meeting?”

“Not a thing.”

Patrick loosened his tie. “What about that missile launch that DSP
discovered?”

“We’re waiting for word from the air attaché’s oftice in Geneva,”
Griffin responded. “According to the Conventional Forces in Europe
treaty, Kazakhstan and Russia are supposed to inform the United Na-
tions if they conduct any tests on missiles with a range longer than five
hundred kilometers. There was nothing on the schedule for that missile
DSP detected.” The DSP, or Defense Support Program, satellites were
supersensitive heat-detecting satellites in geosynchronous Earth orbit,
designed to warn of ballistic-missile launches. DSP could pinpoint the
launch point, report on the missle’s track and speed, and predict its im-
pact point with a fair amount of accuracy. The satellites were designed
to warn of intercontinental-ballistic-missile attack but had been amaz-
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ingly effective in warning friendly forces of Iraqi SS-1 SCUD surface-
to-surface missile attacks during the 1991 Persian Gulf War and had
provided a good amount of warning time in the missile’s projected tar-
get area. “Naturally, Russia denies that it was one of theirs and told us
to contact Kazakhstan; Kazakhstan said they don’t have big missiles like
that and recommended we talk to the Russians.”

Patrick punched instructions into his computer, called up the DSP
data on those rocket launches, and studied them for a moment. “Appar-
ently launched north of Bratsk,” he muttered. “Any ICBMs based at
Bratsk?”

“Not that anyone knows about,” Griffin replied. “Mobile SS-25s at
Irkutsk and Kansk and silo-based SS-24s at Krasnoyarsk. They could
have set up a new SS-25 ‘shell-game’ racetrack out there—it would be
worth a look with a SAR or photo-satellite pass.”

“I’'m going to need an update of all the Russian land-based missile
forces, especially the mobile ones,” Patrick said. “What do we have to
help us on that?”

“We dedicate an entire oftfice to doing just that,” Griffin responded.
“Six guys and girls in the Seventieth Intelligence Wing at Fort Meade
do nothing else but download the latest satellite imagery from the Na-
tional Reconnaissance Oftice and track down every Russian SS-24
‘Scalpel” and SS-25 ‘Sickle’ road- or rail-mobile missile in the Russian
inventory. They study the rail and roadways and monitor every known
secure garage where the missiles are sent on exercises. They also keep an
eye out for cheating, monitor arms-control compliance, and study the
ways the Russians try to decoy or camouflage their missile shelters.”

“Oh?”

“We believe that the Russians are doing a deliberate poor-mouth
routine to delay deactivating their biggest and best nuclear weapons,
claiming they don’t have the money to dismantle and destroy some
weapons,” Griffin explained. “The Scalpel is a perfect example. The
SS-24 is a copy of our ‘Peacekeeper’ ICBM, which was originally de-
signed to be rail-mobile but was converted to silo-launched basing. Like
Peacekeeper, the SS-24 has a range of ten thousand miles, has ten multiple
independently targetable reentry vehicles, and is extremely accurate—it
can threaten targets all across North America and even as far as the
Hawaiian Islands.

“According to the Strategic Arms Reduction Treaty number two,
the Russian SS-24s and the American Peacekeepers were supposed to be
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dismantled or converted to single-warhead missiles. Although we no
longer have any Peacekeepers on alert, the rockets themselves are still
stored in their silos, without any warheads, awaiting removal and dis-
posal. The Russians claim that this is a technical violation, so they said
they would keep an equal number of SS-24s on their launchers, without
warheads. The Russians recently started moving these SS-24s around,
like they move the SS-25s around, so we have to track them as well.”

“Is that a problem?”

“The Seventieth has a pretty good record of finding both missiles,”
Griffin said. “The SS-24s mostly stay in their garrisons. The SS-25s are
much harder, because they’re road-mobile and they have a fairly good
off-road capability and can fire from just about anywhere on the road,
thanks to an inertial-navigation system augmented with satellite posi-
tioning.”

“We have several airborne sensors that can scan wide areas of all
sorts of terrain for targets like this,” Patrick said. “The Megafortresses
have synthetic-aperture radar that can pick out something as large as an
SS-25 launcher from three hundred miles away—even concealed in a
forest or under netting—and see inside a garage at one hundred miles.”

“We can sure use them in treaty-compliance missions—not much
chance of them authorizing us to fly a high-tech stealthy bomber over
their missile-silo fields, though,” Griftin said. “Our imaging satellites do
a pretty good job overall, and we correlate signals intelligence with ve-
hicle movements to spot most movements—we keep the count up as
high as eighty percent. Weather hampers their movements a bit, espe-
cially in the Far East theater, and many units traverse the same areas
every time during routine deployments. The good thing is that for the
past few years the SS-25s have stayed mostly in their storage areas.”

“Reason?”

“It’s four times as expensive to maintain the road-mobile missiles
than it is the silo-based weapons,” Griftin explained. “In addition, the
transporter-erector-launchers were built in Belarus, so the Russians
have had a hard time getting spare parts and replacements after the
breakup of the Soviet Union. The START II treaty limit of just one
warhead on every land-launched missile means that the SS-25 has less
‘bang for the buck.’

“Of course, its survivability gives it a big edge, and the missiles can
be fired from their garages as well, so they all have to be monitored even
while parked. We watch the garrison areas carefully for any sign of
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movement, and we use satellite-based visual, radiological, and thermal
identification methods for tracking and identifying each convoy. We
think there are only two regiments, a total of eighty missiles, actually
deployed in the field at any one time.”

“I think I need to get a status briefing from the Seventieth right
away,” Patrick said. “What else does the Seventieth monitor?”

“Test launches,” Griffin said. “There is a missile test-firing range
north of Bratsk that has been used in the past to test-launch mobile mis-
siles, so no one was surprised at that DSP detection warning. But Rus-
sia hasn’t fired a missile into the old Kazakh test ranges since shortly
after the breakup of the Soviet Union—they usually fire shorter-range
missiles north to the Pol’kino instrumented target complex, and longer-
range missiles east to the Petropavlovsk Pacific range complex. Kaza-
khstan hasn’t specifically banned use of their old target ranges, but they
haven’t allowed it either.”

Patrick nodded as he studied the DSP satellite data. After another
few moments, he asked, “Can the DSP satellites give us the speed and
direction of the missile?”

“Not exactly,” Griffin replied. “Lots of folks say that DSP has a
‘tracking’ function, but in fact it’s just a series of detector activations.
Certain users, like NORAD, can derive speed and ground track from
the detectors, but DSP itself doesn’t provide that information. Since
DSP is a warning-and-reporting system, not a target-tracking system—
ground-based radars like BMEWS and the new National Missile De-
fense System are meant for tracking missiles—and since the system is
designed to track missiles inbound to North America, not to Central
Asia, we don’t have that info.”

“I’d like to find out how fast that missile was going when it was first
detected,” Patrick said.

“It may not be a very accurate number,” Griffin warned. “In
essence, DSP looks directly down at Earth when it spots a missile ex-
haust plume. Because most missiles go up awhile before heading down-
range, the speed turns out to be zero for the first minute or two. That’s
why we sometimes get excited even when we detect a forest fire or oil-
well fire in Russia—they all look the same for the first couple minutes,
which is why NORAD is usually quick to blow the Klaxon if it sees a
hot dot anywhere in-country.”

“Find out for me,” Patrick said.

“Sure. What are you thinking about, Patrick?”
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“I’'m thinking that uncorrelated target has something to do with the
attack on Bukhara,” Patrick said. He drew an electronic line on the
screen between the DSP target-track data points to plot a course—and
they saw that the missile’s flight path took it directly to Bukhara.

“That could be a coincidence,” Griftin said. “The track also goes
through the Kazakh missile ranges. We don’t know where the missile
went after its motor burned out. . . .”

“But you said the Russians haven’t been shooting missiles into
Kazakhstan—which makes sense,” Patrick said. “Kazakhstan cooperates
as much with the U.S. as it does with Russia. And we don’t exactly
know where the missile or its payload impacted—we’re assuming it was
the missile test ranges in Kazakhstan. Maybe it really hit in Bukhara.
But if there are no silos and the Russians have never shot a missile from
Bratsk before, maybe it wasn’t a ground-launched missile.”

“What else could it be?”

“An air-launched missile,” Patrick responded. “Ever hear of any-
thing like that before?”

“An air-launched Mach-eight missile that can fly almost eighteen
hundred miles? I seem to recall something like that, but it’s better to ask
the expert.” Griftin picked up Patrick’s secure phone. “This is Colonel
Griftin. Get Chief Master Sergeant Saks secure at NAIC,ASAP,” he asked
Patrick’s clerk. To Patrick he said, “Don Saks is one of our ‘old heads'—
he’s been around longer than just about everyone. He’s the NCOIC at
the National Air Intelligence Center at Wright-Pat, which collects and
disseminates information on enemy air-and-space weaponry. If it exists,
ever existed, or was once on the drawing board, he’ll know all about it.” A
few moments later, Griffin punched the speakerphone button on the
phone and returned the receiver to its hook. “Chief? Tagger here, secure.
I’'m here at Lackland with General McLanahan.”

“Saks, secure. Hello, sirs. What can I do you for?”

“You’re the walking Russian threat encyclopedia and the Air Intel-
ligence Agency’s Jeopardy! champ, so here goes: It’s a Russian long-range
air-launched hypersonic attack missile.”

“Easy. What 1s the AS-X-19 ‘Koala’?” Saks answered immediately.
“A combination of the obsolete AS-3 "Kangaroo’ air-to-surface missile
and the naval SS-N-24 long-range hypersonic ship-launched antiship
missile. Russian designation Kh-90 or BL-10. First test-launched in
1988. Rocket-boosted to Mach two, then ramjet-powered, speed in ex-
cess of Mach eight, range in excess of fifteen hundred miles, cruises at
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seventy thousand feet altitude. Too big to fit inside a Blackjack bomber,
but the Tupolev-95 Bear could carry two externally. The Tupolev-22M
Backfire could carry three, although over very short distances—the
suckers were supposed to be more than thirty feet long and weigh in
excess of eight thousand pounds. The program was canceled in 1992,
but rumors persisted that the Russians were going to build a shorter-
range conventional-warhead version.”

“You mean, this AS-X-19 was supposed to have a nuclear warhead,
Chief?” Patrick remarked.

“Every Russian air-launched weapon designed before 1991 was
supposed to be able to carry a nuke, and the Koala was no exception,
sir,” Saks replied. “The Koala was inertially guided, but the Russians
had terrible inertial nav systems back then—the missile needed a nuke
in order to destroy anything. They were experimenting with GLONASS-
navigating ultraprecise missiles when the program was canceled.
Why, sir?”

“We’re looking into a recent Russian missile launch to see if it was
an air- or ground-launched bird.”

“Got radar data on it, sir?” Saks asked.

“Negative.”

“Any data on it? DSP perhaps?”

“That we got.”

“Get Space Command to give you the plume-illumination-rate lev-
els from the satellite detectors,” Saks recommended. “They’ll squawk
and say you’re not cleared for that info, but tell them you need it any-
way. A ground-launched missile will have a huge and sustained first-
stage plume, followed by a medium-size second-stage plume, followed
by a long unpowered-coast phase. Air-launched missiles like the Kh-90
have a relatively small first stage—the carrier aircraft is actually consid-
ered the missile’s first stage—followed by a whopping big and sustained
second stage, which sometimes continues through reentry and even to
impact.”

“Would DSP be able to track the Koala during its ramjet-cruise
phase?” Patrick asked.

“Probably not, sir,” Saks responded. “DSP needs a good hot flame,
as from a chemical-reaction motor, versus an air-fuel motor like a ram-
jet. A ramjet is basically an air-breathing engine, like a turbojet, except
it uses the Venturi shape of the combustion chamber, rather than vanes
and rotating blades, to compress incoming air. Because there’s no mov-
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ing parts that stall in supersonic air, the ramjet vehicle can fly several
times faster than most turbojets or turboramjets. NORAD can tune
DSP to pick up cooler heat sources such as from a ramjet engine, but
then it’s more prone to false alarms, so they probably wouldn’t do it un-
less they had a really compelling reason. The HAVE GAZE and SLOW
WALKER  satellites—designed to detect and track stealth aircraft—
might be able to pick them up, but they need a pretty solid aimpoint to
start with.”

“Speed of a ballistic missile, range of a cruise missile—and a nu-
clear warhead to boot,” Griffin summarized. “Did you get the data on
the antiradar missiles fired against Kyrgyzstan and Kazakhstan yester-
day?”

“Yes, sir. Most certainly AS-17 ‘Krypton’ antiradar missiles, what
the Russkies call the Kh-31P. It’s a knockoft of the French ANS super-
sonic antiship and antiradar missile. We've never seen them on Back-
fires before, but it makes total sense. It’s a pretty awesome threat. But if
the Russians are flying Koalas now, that’s an even greater threat. The
Russians practiced launching Koalas from everything from fighters to
cargo planes, and even from airliners back in the eighties. Even a Pa-
triot missile can’t catch up to it—it’s a hypersonic missile almost right
up to impact.”

“Any more good news for us, Don?” Patrick asked wryly.

“Two things, sir: The Russians know superramjet technology,” Saks
responded seriously. “If you think you saw a Koala test-fired lately,
chances are they’ve got a bunch of them ready to go.”

“What’s the other thing, Don?”

“The Koala was originally designed to carry fwo independently tar-
getable reentry vehicles,” Saks added. “They’d deploy at seventy to
eighty thousand feet, which meant the two targets could be as far as
sixty to seventy miles apart. Their accuracy back then was one to two
hundred meters—but now, with GPS or GLONASS steering, they
could have fen- to twenty-meter accuracy. Just thought you should know.”

Those words stayed with Patrick long after he hung up. “Tagger,
we’re going to need to look at those uncorrelated contacts in Siberia,”
he said finally. “We know that Backfire bombers were involved in that
attack on Bukhara, and we know that they can carry both AS-17 and
AS-19 missiles. The boss wants to know where that Backfire came
from—but I want to know who launched that AS-19, and I want to
know what else the Russians are doing with their bomber fleet. If this



PLAN OF ATTACK 83

was some isolated incident, or if this was a prelude to some sort of big-
ger offensive in Turkmenistan or somewhere else, I want to find out
about it.”

“I’ll get the ball rolling, Patrick,” Griffin said. “What’s your guess?”

“My guess is that this attack on Bukhara was an operational test mis-
sion,” Patrick said. “I've flown many of them myself with planes from
Dreamland and from Battle Mountain. I think the Russians are getting
ready to roll out a whole new attack system, based on long-range
bombers. The addition of the Koala missile is the scariest part—with it
they can hold thousands of targets in North America at risk.”

BATTLE MOUNTAIN AIR RESERVE BASE, NEVADA

Later that morning

avid Luger snatched up the secure telephone receiver as soon as he

was told who was on the line. “Muck!” he exclaimed after logging
in secure. “How are you, sir?”

“I'm fine, and I’'m not ‘sir’ to you anymore,” Patrick responded.

“You’ll always be ‘sir’ to me, Muck,” Dave said. “How’s the Nine-
sixty-sixth treating you?”

“Just fine,” Patrick responded. “Good bunch of guys. Some of the
civilian contractors need a bath and a haircut, though.”

“Sounds like our kind of guys. And what’s it like to be hobnobbing
with the numbered air force brass?”

“Remember the old saying about not wanting to watch how
sausage 1s made?”

“Got it.”

“How are things out there?”

“Quiet and busy at the same time,” Dave replied. “Our tanker guys
are getting plenty of work, but the bomber guys and UCAV operators
are going stir-crazy. We had to fly the AL-52s back to the lake.” Even
on a secure line, both parties hesitated to mention Dreamland or
HAWC.

“I expected that to happen,” Patrick said. “We were spending their
money but not keeping up with the test schedule.” The AL-52 Dragon
airborne-laser anti-ballistic-missile aircraft was a test program initially
begun at the High Technology Aerospace Weapons Center, or HAWC,
the supersecret flight-test facility in south-central Nevada known as
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Dreamland. Patrick McLanahan brought the Dragons, the first opera-
tional aircraft to use a laser as their primary attack weapon, to Battle
Mountain and created a combat unit based around these amazing
planes. They were used over both Libya and Turkmenistan with out-
standing results, against both air and ground targets and on targets as
small as a heat-seeking missile and as large as a Russian MiG-29 super-
sonic fighter. But technically the planes still belonged to Dreamland,
because Patrick didn’t have an ofticial budget. “Too bad. Are they going
to continue the program?”

“Hard to tell. The Cobra program is doing well—they should de-
ploy their first operational aircraft ahead of schedule.” The YAL-1A
Cobra was an airborne chemical-oxygen-iodine laser set in a Boeing
747 airframe. While the AL-52 Dragon airborne laser had actually been
used in combat, the technology used in the YAL-1A was less expensive
and far less risky, and so it had much more political and military support
than HAWC’s version.

“Who’s the project officer assigned to the AL-522”

“There wasn’t one when we brought the planes in,” David said.
“The director of flight ops signed for the birds himself.”

“That’s not good.” If there was no project officer assigned to the
flight-test program, there was a very good chance the AL-52 Dragon
airborne-laser program would languish—or, more likely, be canceled.
“I’ll see what I can do from here.”

“Good. Hey, we got the word that the Seventh Bomb Wing is down
for their ORI. We put in a request to cover their sorties. Any word on
that?”

“It was discussed. They’re going to gin up some fly-stores instead.”

“That doesn’t make sense. We're ready to go now. We can do every-
thing the Seventh can do, plus the SEAD stuft.”

“I know. General Hollister stood up for us, but Zoltrane and Sam-
son wanted fly-stores.”

“Hmph. Well, it’s kind of a moot point anyway—we still need to be
certified by Eighth Air Force before we cover sorties. Any word on
when we’re going to recert?”

“After this Russia thing cools down, I'm sure they’ll be out there to
get you recertified.”

“I hope so—we’re definitely ready. The sooner, the better. So
what’s up, Muck?”
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“Dave, I've got a request for you,” Patrick said. “Do you have any
NIRTSats handy?”

“Sure,” Luger replied. NIRTSat stood for “Need It Right This Sec-
ond” satellite. Up to four of the difterent types of the small oven-size
NIRTSats—reconnaissance, communications, or weapon targeting—
were loaded aboard a winged rocket-powered booster, taken up to
thirty or forty thousand feet, then dropped from a launch aircraft such as
Battle Mountain’s EB-52s or EB-1C bombers or from other carrier air-
craft, such as Sky Masters Inc.’s DC-10 launch/tanker aircraft. After
launch, the booster’s first-stage solid rocket motor shot the aircraft to
the top of the stratosphere, where the second- and third-stage motors
would kick in and propel the booster into low Earth orbit, anywhere
from fifty to three hundred miles’ altitude. After ejecting its satellites in
the proper sequence and spacing, the booster would then fly itself back
to Earth for reuse.

Although the NIRTSats carried very little fuel and therefore could
not be easily repositioned and could stay in orbit only a short time, they
gave a wide range of users—field commanders, aircrews, even small-unit
commando forces—their own specialized satellite constellation. But the
cost per pound was high; and although Dreamland and the 111th Bomb
Wing had launched many NIRTSats over the years, it was still consid-
ered an experimental system. “Who’s the customer?” Dave asked.

“The Nine-sixty-sixth Wing.”

“Air Intelligence Agency? You own every other satellite in the Air
Force inventory already, and you control several others I'm sure I don’t
want to know about. What do you need NIRT Sats for?”

“I need a look at some Russian bomber bases to set some baseline
database imagery.”

“Hold on a sec.” David Luger began entering commands into his
desktop computer, pulling up a complex grid of lines surrounding the
globe at various different levels, then studying the results. “I assume
you've looked at your current taskings? You’ve got them pretty well
covered.”

“All we have covered now are the reported active bomber bases as
of the last CFE and NPT treaty reports; the CFE reports are at least two
years old, and the NPT and Open Sky reports are over a year old,”
Patrick said. “I want all the known bases, active or otherwise—any bases

that can still handle a hundred-and-fifty-ton-plus bomber.”
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“Like the Backfires, eh?” Dave asked. “The planes that apparently
came out of nowhere and bombed the hell out of that CIA base in
Uzbekistan?”

“Exactly.”

“We’ve actually been doing some looking ourselves, Muck,” Dave
said. “Obviously, if those bombers reached Bukhara, they can reach the
peacekeeping forces in Turkmenistan.”

“The Backfire bombers have an unrefueled range of just a little over
a thousand miles with a max combat load,” Patrick said. “But none of
the Backfires from bases within that radius were used. That means they
had to use air refueling. We've believed for years that the Russians
wouldn’t use Backfires in a strategic role, but if they start putting the
air-refueling probes back on and using them for long-range bombing
missions, they become a strategic threat once again.”

“Agreed.”

“So now we have to go back and look at every past heavy-bomber
base in Russia to find out where the Backfires came from,” Patrick went
on, “and also to find out what else 1s going on. The Tupolev-160 Black-
jack bombers aren’t supposed to have air refueling probes either, ac-
cording to the CFE Treaty, but if they’re putting probes back on
Backfires, they can just as easily reactivate the retractable probes on
Blackjacks, too.”

“Sounds like good sound reasoning to me, Muck,” Dave said.

“My guess is that the Backfires have been moved east, to somewhere
in Siberia,” Patrick said. “It’s just a hunch, but I would like to get up-
dated pics of the old Siberian bomber bases to see if they’ve been active
lately.”

“So what’s the problem?”

“I haven’t been able to sell my theories to anyone,” Patrick replied.
“Around here it comes down to cost versus benefit. Retasking a Key-
hole or Lacrosse satellite practically needs a papal edict. Landsat is a
polar-orbit bird and won’t help me; if I move Ikonos, it will decrease its
service life too much before a replacement can be launched; and SPOT
charges too much for images of Russia.” SPOT Image was a private
French firm that supplied radar and optical satellite imagery to users all
over the world; many governments and military forces, including those
of the United States, often purchased up-to-the-minute SPOT images
to supplement their own data, or to mask their interest in a particular
area. “I can’t convince Houser to send my plan up the chain.”
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David said nothing—mostly because a dull pain was starting to de-
velop in his left temple. He wasn’t crazy about the direction this con-
versation was taking.

“Is the Air Battle Force still heading up the peacekeeping surveil-
lance effort in Turkmenistan?” Patrick asked.

David Luger hesitated a bit before responding. Yep, he told himself,
he could clearly see the reason for Patrick’s call now—and he didn’t like
it. “I never received any orders relieving us of command,” he said fi-
nally, “but with all our planes grounded and the Russians’ advances into
the interior of the country, no other surveillance assets instead of satel-
lites have been committed. We’re in charge of nothing right now.”

“The Backfires are obviously a threat to UN peacekeepers—"

“We don’t know that for sure, Muck,” Dave interjected.

“In any case, we can reasonably argue that there was a violation, so
an investigation into where those bombers came from is fully justified.
The suspected violation authorizes the Air Battle Force to investigate,
according to the terms of the Security Council’s cease-fire resolution.
That means you’re authorized to employ all necessary assets to investi-
gate the violations. You can legally launch NIRTSats anywhere you
want. You can—"

“Patrick,” David Luger said seriously, “I'm not going to do that.”

“Well, you can’t launch from the Megafortresses, because they’re
still grounded—although I think after we make this argument, we can
get that restriction lifted—but you can launch from the Sky Masters
carrier aircraft,” Patrick went on. “I did a preliminary mission plan: two
boosters, eight NIRTSats, placed in sixty-five-degree elliptical orbits at
two hundred and twenty miles’ altitude—we shouldn’t need one-meter
resolution, so we can afford to go a little higher. We’ll get all the base-
line shots we need in about twelve days. If we have the fuel, we can
reposition whoever’s left to an eighty-degree elliptical at whatever alti-
tude they can make it to and get the remaining shots until we lose the
birds. We’ll then plan to—"

“Get me the okay from the Air Force or from Air Combat Com-
mand, Patrick, and I’ll do it tomorrow,” Dave said.

“But that’s what I'm saying, Dave—you don’t need authorization
from anyone,” Patrick said. “As the joint task force commander, you
have full authority to launch those constellations. Then you can just
share the data with the Nine-sixty-sixth here, and I'll—"

“Patrick, I'm sorry, but I won’t do that,” Luger said tonelessly.
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“What?”

“I said I'm not launching anything from Battle Mountain without
an okay from Air Combat Command or higher,” David said.

“But you have the authority to—"

“No, I don’t,” Luger said. “I’ve been ordered to stand down until
our activities have been investigated. The fact that the joint task force
has not been terminated doesn’t mean I can ignore a direct order from
my superior officers to stand down.”

“But I need that imagery, Dave.”

“I understand, Patrick, and I'm sure we can get it for you. But until
I get an order to launch, I won’t do it.”

“Dave, Air Intelligence Agency is authorized to request support
from any unit or command in the United States military,” Patrick in-
sisted. “I can call up Beale or Whiteman or Offutt or Elmendorf and
launch any number of reconnaissance and intelligence-gathering air-
craft [ need.”

“Then go ahead and do it, Patrick,” Luger said firmly. “I’ll watch.”

“This 1sn’t funny, Texas. . . .”

“I'm not being funny at all, Patrick,” David said. “I would love for
you to put in a request for support to Air Force or Air Combat Com-
mand, because then we’d get recertified and back into the air again. But
the bottom line s, if you thought you could do it through normal chan-
nels, you would have done it already. You probably already made the re-
quest, and it was turned down.”

“Gary Houser is my boss here, Dave,” Patrick said by way of expla-
nation. “You remember Gary, don’t you? He tormented young lieu-
tenants like you for fun, like a cat toying with a mouse.”

“I remember him. He was a great pilot—just not a great person.
You protected me from him . . . took a lot of the heat away from me
and put it on you.”

“Well, he’s doing the same shit to me now, here,” Patrick went on.
“He wants me to find out where the Backfires came from, but he won’t
give me the tools I need to find them. He’s toying with me, hoping I'll
fail and retire.”

“Maybe you’re right, Muck. I wouldn’t put it past him.”

“Well, I can’t let him get away with that shit.”

“And maybe he’s right, Patrick,” Dave said.

“He’s . . . what?”
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“Maybe you should retire, Patrick.”

Patrick was thunderstruck. He couldn’t believe that his longtime
friend and partner just said what he said. “Dave . . . you don’t really be-
lieve that . . . 27

“Patrick, overflying four hostile countries without permission to re-
trieve that UCAV after it had gone out of control, then crash-landing
on Diego Garcia after being ordered by the secretary of defense himself
not to. Or when you ordered the bombing of Engels without authority,
when you flew back over Russia in direct violation of orders after
Dewey and Deverill were shot down—all those incidents happened be-
cause you made them happen. I'll agree that the situation was desperate,
you made a hard decision, and everything turned out for the better for
us in the long run. But the fact is, you exceeded your authority each and
every time. We don’t know what would have happened if you hadn’t
intervened—maybe lives would have been lost. . . .”

“Maybe? Engels bombers were preparing to kill every soul in Chir-
jew. Dewey and Deverill might still be in a Russian prison if I hadn’t
gone back for them!”

“You don’t know that, Patrick,” Luger insisted. “In any case, you
had no right to disregard orders.”

“I had every right. I was in command.”

“I know your arguments, Patrick, and I disregard them all,” Luger
said. ““We all have a superior ofticer. When he or she gives a lawful or-
der, we’re supposed to obey it. The problem is, you don’t. Every day I
saw more and more of Brad Elliott emerging from within you.”

“Oh, Christ, you're not going to give me the ‘I'm turning into Brad
Elliott’ bullshit, too, are you?” Patrick retorted. “I heard that enough
from Houser and Samson and half the four-stars in the Pentagon. It has
nothing to do with Brad Elliott—it has everything to do with accepting
responsibility and taking action.” He paused for a few heartbeats, then
added, “So you’re not going to consider my request for satellite-
reconnaissance support?”

“I’ll be happy to consider it—but I'll upchannel the request to my
superior officers at Air Force, Air Combat Command, and Eighth Air
Force,” Luger replied. “That’s what I feel I have to do.”

“You actually think that’s the way you should play this, eh, Dave?”
Patrick asked. “Make no decision yourself. Don’t exercise your author-
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ity. Ask permission first—and don’t forget to say ‘pretty please.
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“That is the way it’s supposed to be done, Patrick—you just forgot
that somehow. Maybe it is Brad Elliott’s influence working on you.
There’s no doubt that Brad was your surrogate father, and he praised and
encouraged your success in the military the way you know your actual
father never would have done. Your real dad wanted you to join the po-
lice force, and you told me many times how disappointed he was when
his oldest son wouldn’t follow in his footsteps—"

“Don’t give me that Freudian psychobabble crap, Dave.”

“—or maybe it was just your sense of how the bomber world
works . . . no, how your world is supposed to work, your world of instant
justice delivered from above.”

“Are you listening to yourself, Dave? Do you really believe all this
shit you’re telling me?”

“But that’s not how my world works,” Luger said, ignoring Patrick’s
remarks. “In my world, in my command, I need authorization before I
commence a risky operation that puts lives and weapon systems in
jeopardy.”

“Oh, I get it—you have your command now, and you’re going to
do everything you can not to see it get messed up. You're afraid to take
a risk because it might mean you’re unsuited to command a combat
unit of your own.”

“With all due respect, Muck—eat shit,” Luger snarled. “The only
reason I got this command is because you screwed up, so let’s not forget
that. I didn’t ask to get it; I was your deputy, and I was content to do that
job. But now I make the decisions here—not you. It is my responsibility
and my call, and what I say is that I require authorization from higher
headquarters before I'll commit my aircraft, satellites, airmen, or ground
teams. You must get me that authorization before I commence opera-
tions. If you don’t, I'll upchannel your request to my superiors before I
begin.

“And you know something, Patrick? I have a feeling you already
knew the answer to your request, which is why you came to me first,”
Luger went on hotly. “You thought you’d take advantage of our friend-
ship and ask me a favor, hoping I'd go along just because we’ve part-
nered together for so long. Tell me I'm wrong, Muck.” No response.
“Yeah, I thought so. And you wonder why half of Eighth Air Force
wants to see you retire. You've turned into something I never thought
I’d ever see you become.”

“Dave, listen . . .”
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“You take it easy, sir. Air Battle Force, clear.”” And Luger abruptly
terminated the connection.

David Luger sat upright in his chair, hands on the armrests, staring
straight ahead, feet flat on the floor. Anyone who might look in on him
at that moment might think he was catatonic—and in a sense that’s ex-
actly what he was.

Almost twenty years earlier, David Luger had been part of a secret
bombing mission into the Soviet Union, along with Brad Elliott,
Patrick McLanahan, and three others. After completing the mission by
bombing a ground-based laser site, the crew was forced to land their
crippled EB-52 Megafortress bomber on an isolated Soviet air base to
refuel. Dave Luger sacrificed himself to draw the defenders away, which
allowed the Megafortress and its crew to escape.

Luger was captured and held in a secret location in Siberia for many
years. Brainwashed into thinking he was a Soviet scientist, Luger helped
the Soviets design and build aircraft and weapons that advanced the So-
viet state of the art by several years, perhaps several generations. Eventu-
ally Patrick McLanahan and the crew of the EB-52 “Old Dog” helped
rescue him, but by then he had been held against his will, psychologi-
cally and physically tortured, for almost seven years.

During his captivity the rigid position he was in now was a sort of’
psychological and emotional “happy place”—when he was not being
tortured or brainwashed, he was ordered to assume that position, which
he equated with rest or relief. To Luger it actually felt good to assume
that stiff, tense position. After his rescue and rehabilitation, his doctors
and psychologists saw this posture as a manifestation of his emotional
damage. But after years of therapy, David was fully aware of what he
was doing when he put himself in this rather awkward-looking seated
position. In a strange way, it was still a “happy place” for him—in fact,
it helped him focus his thoughts more clearly.

Yes, he was angry at Patrick. Yes, Patrick was wrong for not follow-
ing the proper chain of command, and it was exceedingly unfair of him
to use their close personal relationship to break the rules and do some-
thing they’d both have to answer for later.

But . . . Patrick McLanahan was the best strategic planner and the
best strategic-bombing task-force commander he had ever known. If he
had a hunch about where those Russian bombers came from, he was
probably correct.

“Luger to Briggs, Luger to Furness,” Dave spoke into thin air.
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“Briggs here,” Colonel Hal Briggs responded via the subcutaneous
transceiver system. All of the former Dreamland officers were “wired”
with the global satellite datalink and communications system.

“Can you stop by for a chat?”

“I can be there in ten,” Hal said.

“I'm in the box and ten minutes to the high fix, Dave,” Rebecca
Furness responded. “Give me twenty.” Furness, the commander of the
111th Wing, in charge of Battle Mountain’s fleet of airborne-laser and
tlying-battleship aircraft, was returning from a pilot-proficiency flight
in the “virtual cockpit,” the control station for Battle Mountain’s fleet
of remotely piloted aircraft. With Battle Mountain’s combat fleet
grounded, the crews maintained proficiency by flying unmanned QF-4
Phantom jet-fighter drones, which were the closest to the unmanned
QB-1C Vampire drone’s performance. “Get Daren, unless it can wait.”

“Roger. Luger to Mace.”

“Go ahead, sir.”

“You and Hal meet me in the BATMAN. I have a mission I want
planned.”

“Are we getting a recert?”’

“Soon—I hope. Luger to Masters.”

“For Pete’s sake, Dave, I just sat down to breakfast,” responded Jon
Masters, one of the partners of Sky Masters Inc., a high-tech defense
contractor that developed many of the weapon systems and aircraft used
at Battle Mountain. “I'm going to program this thing to send callers to
voice mail when it detects my mouth full of food.”

“Breakfast was over three hours ago for most of the civilized world,
Jon,” Dave said. “I want one of your DC-10s for a couple weeks. I'm
planning on launching some boosters.”

“About time you guys started doing something,” Masters said.
“Send me your equipment list, and I’ll load her up for you.”

“I’ll send over my list, but I'm not ready to upload yet,” Luger said.
“You'll get the go-ahead from the chief.”

“You mean you’re actually going to have a budget and I might ac-
tually get paid for my gear before the mission kicks off?” Masters asked
incredulously. “With all due respect to the Old Man, I like the way you
do business, Dave.” Masters liked to call Patrick McLanahan the “Old
Man,” an appellation Patrick never seemed to mind.

“Just be ready to go ASAP, Jon,” Luger said. “It’s important.”
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At that moment there was a knock on the door, and Colonel Daren
Mace, the deputy commander of the 111th Wing, entered Luger’s of-
fice. He noticed Luger’s stift posture in his chair and tried not to show
how sorrowful he felt that Luger had to endure that psychological bur-
den, apparently for the rest of his life. “What’s the target, sir?” Daren
asked. Dave put his computer-generated map of Russia on the wall
monitor and overlaid several satellite tracks on it. “Looks like Russian
ICBM bases in the south. Entire country. Are we doing a treaty-
verification run? Or does this have to do with that raid on Bukhara?”

“We’re looking for Backfire bombers,” Luger responded. “We need
to find out where the Backfires came from that raided Bukhara. I want
a look at all the known bases.”

“Are there that many?” Mace asked. “The Russians only have sev-
enty strategic bombers in their entire fleet.”

“Which bases are you aware of?”

“Khabarovsk in the east, Novgorod in the west, Arkhangel’sk in the
northwest, and Mozdok taking over from Engels in the southwest,”
Mace replied after a moment’s thought.

“So where did those Backfire bombers come from?”

“My guess would be one of those bases.”

“Patrick said not. He said AIA has checked, and there’s no evidence
that any Backfires launched from known bases.”

“Well, Backfires are considered tactical bombers, not strategic
ones. . ..”

“I’d love to hear the logic the Russkies used to convince us of that,”
Luger remarked.

“The Tupolev-22M bomber is a pig, and everyone knows it—
that’s why the Russians have been deactivating them in favor of tacti-
cal fighter-bombers like the Sukhoi-35,” Mace said. Daren Mace had
worked around medium bombers most of his Air Force career and, in
the past few years, had worked closely with the secretary of defense
and the Air Force on developing new bomber technologies. “They’d
waste too many resources trying to fly one more than a thousand
miles. Sure, they might be able to refuel them, but it would take one
Ilyushin-76 tanker for every Backfire to make it across the pole. It’s
not worth it. The Tupolev-160s and -95s already have much longer
legs.”

“They have speed, and they have a big payload,” Luger pointed out.
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“Obviously the Russians changed their minds on the Backfires, because
they’ve used them extensively recently over Chechnya, Turkmenistan,
and now Uzbekistan. They could easily upgrade the engine and sacri-
fice a little of payload for added fuel. Screw in the air-refueling probe,
reset the circuit breakers, then retrain your crews in how to do a hose-
and-drogue refueling—"

“Not easy in a big mother like a Backfire.”

“But doable.”

“Sure.”

“So you agree that it’s possible to put a Backfire force together in
Siberia, fly them across Central Asia to bomb Bukhara, and fly them
back without anyone seeing them?” Luger asked.

“Why not? No one would ever see them coming,” Mace surmised.
“The Backfires were supposed to dash across Western Europe and de-
stroy NATO airfields with cruise missiles and NATO ships in the Baltic
with big-ass antiship cruise missiles. They were forward-deployed in
Warsaw Pact countries close to the frontier because they didn’t have the
range of a Tupolev-95 Bear bomber; hence, they were never considered
strategic weapons with the ability to threaten North America.”

“Are they a threat?” Luger asked.

“Top one off over Moscow and it can launch a cruise missile
against every country in NATO—except the U.S. and Canada, of
course,” Daren said. “Yes, I'd say it’s a threat. If the Russians are turn-
ing tactical jets like Backfires out as long-range strategic weapons, that
shifts the balance of power significantly in their favor, especially in Eu-
rope, the Middle East, and Central Asia. We’ve assumed that the Rus-
sians were mothballing them as they got older and they ran out of
money to support them—we’d be in real trouble if it turned out they
were not only rehabilitating them but giving them a much greater
warfighting capability.”

Luger nodded, lost in thought for a moment. He then got up and
headed to the battle-staft room to meet the others.

The BATMAN, or Battle Management area, was a large, theaterlike
room with a stage flanked by sixteen large full-color computer moni-
tors. The senior staft sat behind computer workstations in the “orches-
tra” section. Arrayed behind the senior staft were the support-staff
members, and in two separate enclosures were the control stations for
Battle Mountain’s unmanned aircraft. Hal Briggs was already waiting
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for Luger, and Rebecca Furness was just logging oft her QF-4 drone
training session. They all met at the commander’s workstation in the
tront row, where Dave Luger quickly ran down the situation.

“Wonder why Air Intelligence Agency won’t give Patrick satellite
support?” Daren Mace asked.

“I can think of lots of reasons—none of them flattering to the
general,” Rebecca Furness said. “His reputation has definitely pre-
ceded him.”

“I told Patrick that an unofficial request for support is not good
enough for me—I needed the request to come from either ACC or the
Pentagon,” Luger said.

“I’ll bet he was thrilled to hear you say that, sir,” Briggs quipped.

“Nonetheless, that’s how I see it,” Dave said. “I want to help, but I
want the mission to be fully authorized and budgeted. I'm not going to
spend money I don’t have and use assets I haven’t paid for.” Rebecca
Furness made a show of clearing out her ears, as it she couldn’t believe
what she’d just heard. “Knock it off, Rebecca. But that doesn’t mean I
can’t plan a mission right now.”

He turned to his console and called up the computer images he’d
been working with in his office on the “Big Board” in front of the
BATMAN. “Assume I'm getting two constellations of NIRTSats aloft
in the next few days, and we find something in one of the Siberian or
Sakha provinces—I want a plan of action to take a closer look by the
Tin Men and, if necessary, destroy the bases.”

“A secret Russian base filled with intercontinental bombers?” Fur-
ness asked. “The Russians haven’t relied on bombers to threaten North
America for decades.”

“But just in the past year they’ve used heavy bombers three times,
in Chechnya, Turkmenistan, and now against Uzbekistan,” Dave
pointed out. “Plus, the new president of Russia is the former military
chief of staff and a bomber aficionado. Patrick thinks there are too
many coincidences, and I agree. Let’s build a plan that I can show to
Langley right now.”

It did not take long—working together and relying on their digital
catalogs of preplanned space and aircraft missions along with the com-
puter’s real-time inventory of aircraft and weapons, the team had two
preliminary plans drafted within an hour: one relying on the 111th’s
bombers and special-operations transports, which were currently
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grounded but were ready to go on short notice; and one relying only on
Sky Masters Inc.’s research-and-development aircraft and Air Force
special-ops transports. Once the plans were signed off on by each ele-
ment of the Air Battle Force and finally by Dave Luger himself, he
spoke, “Duty Ofticer, get me the deputy commander of Air Combat
Command, secure.”

“Please stand by, General Luger,” the voice of the “Duty Officer,” the
omnipresent computerized clerk and assistant for everyone at Battle
Mountain, responded.

After Luger was routed through several clerks, aides, and chiefs of
staft, he finally heard, “General Fortuna, secure.”

“General, how are you, ma’am? This is General Luger, Air Battle
Force, Battle Mountain, secure.”

“Dave! Good to hear from you,” General Leah “Skyy” Fortuna, the
deputy commander of Air Combat Command, responded happily, her
thick New York accent still obvious despite the distortion from the se-
cure telephone line. Leah Fortuna got her call sign “Skyy” both from
her love of flying—she’d been a bomber pilot and flight instructor—
and her love of blue American-made vodka. “How the heck is the
smartest guy ever to graduate from the Air Force Academy?”

“I'm doing okay, thanks.”

“Congrats on getting the command out there,” Leah said, “al-
though I'm sure you hoped it would be under happier circumstances.
No one deserves it more than you, though.”

“Thank you, ma’am.”

“You’re making me feel old with that ‘ma’am’ crap, Dave—or is this
a ‘ma’am’ phone call?”

“Sort of, yes.”

“Okay. So what can I do you for?”

“I received an unofficial request for support from General McLana-
han at Air Intelligence Agency,” Dave said.

““Unofticial request,” huh?”

“That’s why I'm calling, ma’am. I have a request for overhead-
imagery support that I'd like you to take to General Muskoka.” General
Thomas “Turbo” Muskoka, a former F-15E Strike Eagle and F-117A
stealth fighter pilot and deputy chief of staff’ of the Air Force, was the
new commander of Air Combat Command, the Air Force’s largest ma-
jor command. “Patrick made the request directly to me. I was not com-
fortable taking that request outside the chain of command, so I denied
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it. But I believe that Patrick does have a legitimate operational need for
the data, and I firmly believe I have the sensors and equipment that can
get him the information he needs.”

“Why not take it to Eighth Air Force?”

“Air Battle Force’s taskings don’t normally come from Eighth Air
Force,” Dave said. He knew it sounded lame, but it was the best excuse
he could think of at the moment. Although the EB-52 and EB-1C
bombers in the Air Battle Force were not nuclear-weapon-capable, the
unit came under the command of Eighth Air Force—although Terrill
Samson definitely treated the unit from Battle Mountain, Nevada, as the
long-lost ugly stepchild.

“I never really understood exactly whom Air Battle Force reports to,”
Leah admitted. “I assumed it was directly to the Air Force chief of staft’s
office. But it’s okay with me for now—I don’t mind being your boss.”

“Thank you,” Dave said. “Besides, I think Patrick already made the
request to his command and was denied. As I said, I think he has a le-
gitimate need that we can fulfill.”

“So you decided to go right to Air Combat Command,” Fortuna
said. “I don’t appreciate McLanahan’s using you to go over his bosses’
heads. You were smart to upchannel his request, Dave. I hate to say this
of Patrick McLanahan, but that man is snake-bit these days. No one
wants anything to do with him, because they’re afraid he’ll do some-
thing on his own that’ll bite them in the ass. I know he’s a good friend
of yours, but I think you should know the buzz about him. He’s gone
way beyond what even Brad Elliott supposedly did.”

“I hear what you’re saying, Leah, and I agree,” Dave said, “but he’s
much more than just a good friend of mine.”

“I know. A word to the wise, that’s all. What kind of satellite sup-
port is he requesting?”

“Two constellations of NIRTSats, launched from a Sky Masters
carrier aircraft or from one of the One-eleventh Wing’s Mega-
fortresses, if I can get them recertified; a mix of visual and synthetic-
aperture radar, short duration, low altitude, targeting southern Siberia
and Sakha provinces. I also want to forward-position a Battle Force
ground team to Shemya for possible ground ops in eastern Siberia.”

“Russia, huh? That’s going to have to go right up to the Pentagon,
probably right past the chief’s office to SECDEF himself. And you said
that Patrick McLanahan requested it?”

“Is that what I said?” Dave asked. “I believe what I said was I was
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requesting it on behalf of the Air Battle Force, in support of the United
Nations peacekeeping operation in Turkmenistan.”

“There you go, Dave,” Leah said. “I think you’ll find that an easier
sell, especially after that attack on the CIA base at Bukhara. A little piece
of friendly advice, Dave? Don’t tie your star too tightly to Patrick
McLanahan. He can be your friend—just don’t let him be your mentor.”

“Can [ share the data I get with him?”

General Fortuna chuckled lightly into the secure connection.
“Loyal to the end, eh, Dave? Okay, it’s your funeral. And it’s your data—
you do with it whatever you want. Air Intelligence Agency gets a copy
of all overhead imagery for its databases anyway. Send me your ops plan
ASAP, and I'll give the boss a heads-up and a recommendation for ap-
proval to pass to the Pentagon. Don’t send those ground forces farther
west than Shemya, or the boss will have your ass for breakfast—after he
gets done kicking mine.”

“Understood.”

“Your request will probably need to go to the White House, too—
just so you know,” Fortuna continued as she made notes on her tablet
PC computer. “Your name and McLanahan’s will be seen by all the suits
as well as the brass. Get ready to take the heat. How soon can you have
the plan over here?”

Luger tapped a button on his computer. “Transmitting it now.”

“Good. I'll look it over, but if it’s coming from you, I don’t see a
problem.”

“Thanks, Leah.”

“Hey, I still owe you big-time for all the help you gave me in
computer-science and math classes at the Zoo,” Fortuna said. “I never
would’ve passed without your help.”

“Bull.”

“Maybe, but I still owe you,” she said. “You were so damned
smart—and you are so damned cute. Good thing you’re way the hell
out there in Nevada.”

“Your husband might agree.”

“Jeez, Dave, has it been that long since we’ve spoken? I ditched
what’s-his-name two years ago,” Leah said. “Best thing that ever hap-
pened to my career. Men might need loyal, sacrificing wives to get pro-
moted, but women need a good long game on the golf course, and to be
able to stay up late, smoke expensive cigars, and bullshit with the politi-
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cians and contractors. Once [ figured that out, I got my second and
third stars with no problem.”

“In that case I think I’d like to come out for a visit and play a few
rounds,” Luger suggested.

“I have a feeling you’re going to be busy here real soon,” Leah said,
“but I'll keep the light on for you, Texas. Stop by anytime, big boy. I'm
clear.”

When the connection was terminated, David Luger sat quietly,
thinking.

Rebecca Furness broke the silence a few moments later. “Sounds
like you two were an item, David. So you were the nerdy bookworm at
the Zoo who helped all the hard-charging type-A upperclassmen pass
the hard-science classes so they wouldn’t get kicked out?”

Luger ignored the comment and turned to Hal Briggs. “Hal, I
want to position a few of your guys out in eastern Russia as quickly as
possible—Shemya, perhaps?”

“Somewhere close to those Russian bomber bases in Siberia?”

“Exactly.”

“No problem,” Briggs said. “Weather’s improving up there. I'll start
working on getting plenty of special-ops tanker and combat search-
and-rescue support—five minutes after takeoft, we’re in no-man’s-land.
How many troops are we talking about?”

“Everyone you have available,” Luger said. “If we find that base, I
want to be able to take it down right away.”

Furness looked at Luger with an exasperated expression as Briggs
stepped over to his console in the BATMAN. “Didn’t you hear what
your girlfriend said, David?” she asked. “I know you like and respect
Patrick, but he’s way overstepped his authority, and he’s asking you to
do the same. Be smart. Don’t do it.”

“Rebecca, I want a couple Megafortresses available to link up with
Hal’s ground forces,” Luger said. “Get together with him and plan a
cover operation with whatever forces he manages to link up with over
there.”

Furness shook her head. “It’s your career, General. You Dreamland
guys will just never learn, will you?”
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THE KREMLIN, MOSCOW, RUSSIAN FEDERATION
Days Later

eneral Nikolai Stepashin strode quickly into Anatoliy Gryzlov’s of-

fice and waited as discreetly as possible just inside the large double
doors. Gryzlov was in a meeting with his team of economic advisers;
obviously it was not a pleasant meeting at all. When Stepashin finally
caught the president’s eye, the chief of staff of the Russian Federation’s
armed forces and chief of military intelligence raised a red-covered
tolder; Gryzlov adjourned the meeting moments later.

“Practically all of the Central Asian republics of the Common-
wealth are threatening to withhold wheat and rice shipments in protest
against the attack on Bukhara,” Gryzlov shouted, lighting a cigarette
and plopping down disgustedly into his chair. “Ukraine and Belarus
might follow suit.”

“We made it perfectly clear to all of them that we bombed an
American CIA base—we were hunting down those responsible for the
attack on our forces in Turkmenistan,” Stepashin said.

“I made it clear to them, but they insisted that any CIA operations
in their countries have been fully sanctioned by Moscow—technically
true—and that no operations of any kind have been mounted by Amer-
icans from those bases in Commonwealth nations,” Gryzlov said. “God,
I hate dealing with bureaucrats and politicians! The economic council is
panicking, the foreign ministers are panicking—everything is spinning
out of control.” He paused, then looked at Stepashin carefully through
eyes squinting with the sting of the pungent smoke from his Turkish
cigarette. “What is it now?”

“We’ve detected two new visual-reconnaissance satellite constella-
tions, launched within just the past few days,” he said. “Probably Amer-
ican. They did not come from one of their government ground-launch
sites at Vandenberg, Shemya, or Patrick Air Force Base; they were either
launched by a relocatable sea platform or air-launched. Low Earth orbit,
small, some radar emissions, deeply encrypted datalinks. One satellite
overhead every twenty-five minutes in each orbit.”

Gryzlov’s face fell. “The target tracks . .. ?”

“Southern and central Siberia—right over the temporary Tupolev-
22M bases.”

“Damn!” he shouted, slamming his chair’s armrest so hard that his
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cigarette went flying out of his hand in a shower of sparks. “How in
hell did they zero in on those bases so quickly?”

“It was a risk using the redesigned -22Ms for the raid on Bukhara,”
Stepashin said. “It turned out to be a good test of the new birds and the
new air-launched weapon, but it raised a lot of questions with the
Americans. They’re keeping a close eye on our bombers now—and
having the refurbished Tupolev-22Ms do such a good job over Bukhara
obviously drew their attention.” Gryzlov remained silent, fuming, so
Stepashin went on. “We detected the new satellites quickly and were
able to hide the planes well, so I don’t think we have been compromised
yet. The Americans will perhaps notice increased activity at bases that
have not been in use for a long time, but they will not be able to deduce
much more than that. And I don’t think they got a good overhead look
at Yakutsk—they were concentrating more on the bases in the west and
along the Mongolian-Manchurian border.”

“We will have to step up our preparations,” Gryzlov said. “The
modified bombers need to be completed as soon as possible and then
dispersed to their secret operating bases.”

“The bomber retrofit is proceeding well ahead of schedule,”
Stepashin assured him. “As soon as the satellite coverage goes away—
these new satellites are small, not very maneuverable, and their orbits
will decay very soon—we can disperse the Tupolev-22Ms and their
weapons to their operating locations. I'm sorry the Americans seem to
be zeroing in on the reactivated bases so quickly, but we knew they
would be discovered sooner or later.”

“I, too, am sorry they apparently have been discovered,” Gryzlov
said, “but at this point I don’t care. I'm tired of trying to suck up to
the Americans on arms-control issues. The Americans unilaterally ab-
rogate the Anti—Ballistic Missile Treaty in order to build their ‘Star
Wars” missile-defense system; then they expect us to hurry up and
conform to the Strategic Arms Limitation Treaty nuclear-weapon lim-
its so they can impose further arms reductions on us. In the meantime
they continue to leap ahead of us in conventional-weapons technol-
ogy. We cannot compete with the United States. The only way to
maintain our position as a world power is to increase, not decrease, our
military capabilities.”

Gryzlov lit another cigarette, then stubbed it out angrily after taking
only one puff. “And that attack on Engels Air Base by those American
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robot planes—that was the last straw!” he fumed. “McLanahan actually
dared to mount a preemptive attack against an active Russian air base!
That is completely unacceptable! And the spineless American president,
Thorn, actually had the audacity to deny he authorized the attack, and
at the same time he rewards McLanahan by allowing him to keep his
stars! He should be in prison—or dangling at the end of a noose—for
what he did!

“The Americans want only one thing—complete domination over
the entire planet,” Gryzlov said. “Well, I will not allow that to happen.
I am going to show how weak and defenseless the United States really
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AIR INTELLIGENCE AGENCY,
LACKLAND AIR FORCE BASE, TEXAS
The next day

e haven’t been successful yet in locating the exact origin of those

three Backfire bombers that attacked Bukhara,” Patrick McLan-

ahan reported. He was doing the daily morning briefing of the
battle staft’ at Air Intelligence Agency headquarters. Seated beside him
was Colonel Trevor Griftin. “The Russians are keeping their entire fleet
of long-range bombers out of sight. However, we have recent imagery
that might give us some clues.”

Griftin hit the slide button. “On this orbit we’re examining six
bases in particular, all active or former Russian long-range-bomber
bases in the south and far east: Omsk, Novosibirsk, Bratsk, Aginskoye,
Blagoveshchensk, and Vladivostok,” Patrick said. “Vladivostok is the
only base known to be operating the Tupolev-95 Bear bomber, primar-
ily in a maritime-reconnaissance role. The last known inventory of
Bears at Vladivostok is eighteen, but in the past couple days we’ve
counted as many as thirty-nine. And as you can see, they’re not the
Tupolev-142M or -MR maritime-reconnaissance planes. You can tell
in these photos that the planes highlighted have no magnetic-anomaly
devices on their vertical tail fins, and they have the large ‘Clam Pipe’
bombing radar under the nose. Only six of the thirty-nine Bears at
Vladivostok have MAD stingers—the rest are strategic bombers.

“We did not see any planes at the other five bases,” Patrick went on
as Griffin changed slides, “nor did we expect to see any—but, for inac-
tive or closed bases, the five other bases showed a lot of activity. For in-
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stance, in Aginskoye, we see twelve brand-new and very large bomber-
size hangars built. At one time Aginskoye was one of the former Soviet
Union’s main strategic-bomber bases in the south, housing dozens of
Blinder, Backfire, and Bear bombers. But when the bomber forces were
cut, Aginskoye was all but deserted, virtually overnight. Not anymore.

“Here was the most interesting feature of this particular shot. No-
tice the southeast end of Aginskoye’s runway. This base always had a
long runway, over ten thousand feet long, but it was only stressed to
handle aircraft as large as the Bear bomber, which is around four hun-
dred thousand pounds max takeoft weight. At most bases this means a
reinforced-concrete runway of approximately four feet in depth. Let’s
zoom in on the end of the runway.” Griftin entered commands into the
keyboard, and the digital satellite image zoomed to a very high magni-
fication, losing only a little of its original definition.

“You’ll see some soldiers or guards climbing down the riprap sup-
porting the edge of the runway. Note how high aboveground they are.
We estimate about eight feet. That means this runway has been rein-
forced even more, perhaps double its original structure. The only plau-
sible reason for reinforcing a runway like this is obviously to handle
larger aircraft.

“There are only two aircraft in the Russian military’s aircraft inven-
tory larger than the Bear bomber—the Antonov-124 Condor heavy-lift
transport, the largest aircraft in the world, and the Tupolev-160 Black-
jack bomber. These hangars, gentlemen, don’t fit the Condor—they’re
way too short in height and length. However, each hangar is dimen-
sioned to fit two Tupolev-160 Blackjack bombers perfectly. I believe
what we have here are accommodations for as many as twenty-four
Blackjack bombers.”

“But aren’t there only forty Blackjack bombers in the entire Russ-
ian arsenal?” General Zoltrane asked.

“Yes, sir,” Patrick replied. “Engels and Blagoveshchensk were the
two known Blackjack-bomber bases in Russia. The last verified inven-
tory of Blackjacks at Engels had their full complement—twenty-eight
planes, most transferred from Belarus. Two were recently verified de-
stroyed, and two more damaged. That’s at least twenty-four survivors.
Blagoveshchensk had its full complement as well—twelve bombers,
transferred from Ukraine and refurbished.”

“That doesn’t make any sense, McLanahan,” Major General Gary
Houser said. “Those hangars at Aginskoye could be housing anything—
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other transports, supplies, even oil-pipeline equipment or derricks.
You’re seeing a big building and assuming there’s a couple Blackjack
bombers in it.”

“The reinforced runway adds to my suspicions, sir,” Patrick re-
sponded. “Although it’s true that Aginskoye’s runway could have been
reinforced to handle Condor transports, and the hangars could be stor-
age buildings, their dimensions still leave room for doubt. It could be a
coincidence, or they could be bomber hangars. The only way to verify
it is to check it visually. We're going to need some eyes on the ground
to look it over.

“Aginskoye 1s about a hundred miles from the Mongolian border,
about two hundred miles” driving distance by the most direct route, or
nine hundred miles from the Sea of Japan.”

Gary Houser turned away without further comments; no one else
had anything to add.

“Colonel Griftin has some suggestions to make in a moment; I have
one more item to present,” Patrick said. “We were able to launch a sec-
ond constellation over Russia, shortly after launching the first over
southern Russia,” he went on.

This time Houser made an expression of pure disgust, not trying to
hide it at all.

“The targets were higher-latitude military bases on the Russian Pa-
cific coast, as well as bases farther in the southwest and in former Soviet
republics.” Griffin changed PowerPoint slides. “Here is the former
bomber base at Magadan. This base has always been the Russian equiv-
alent of their far east tanker task force, but the number of Ilyushin-76
and Tupolev-16 tankers there is astounding—well over forty planes are
now based there. The imagery also gave us a good look at the submarine
base at Petropavlovsk-Kamchatka, which also has seen an increase in the
number of Tupolev-95 strategic bombers in recent days. All in all, we’ve
seen a three hundred percent increase in the number of strategic
bombers and tankers in the Russian far east theater.

“One more observation was made in these latest images: up here, in
the provincial capital of Yakutsk. Yakutsk is the largest northern city
east of the Urals and the center of the Siberian oil and natural-gas in-
dustry. Air service is the life blood of this city, and we’d be accustomed
to a lot of air traftic year-round. The orbit of the second string of satel-
lites didn’t cover Yakutsk as well as we’d like, but we were able to get
some pretty good oblique pictures—yet even in these shots, it’s obvious
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that air traffic into Yakutsk has more than tripled since ofticial counts
were made about a year ago.

“Now, this could be a result of higher oil prices making Siberian
crude more valuable, and hence a push to develop the Siberian fields,
but this rate of increase has been surprising to all of our analysts,”
Patrick summarized. “We’ve seen an overall increase in all types of air
traffic, but most notably in military cargo and resupply flights. It’s hard
to categorize accurately because Aeroflot does as many civil and gov-
ernment flights as it does military, but we regard the increase in air traf-
fic into Yakutsk as significant. And since it coincides with the increases
in military activity in other far east locations, we can conclude that the
buildups in strategic air assets in the far east theater and the buildups in
Yakutsk are related and not just coincidental. We feel that the Russians
are engaged in some sort of massive high-tech buildup of strategic
air-attack assets, including supersonic and subsonic bombers and air-
refueling tankers. The recent attack by Backfire bombers in Turk-
menistan could have been a test of some of these assets.

“Most notably we feel that the Russians are building up Tupolev-
22M Backfire bombers and Tupolev-160 Blackjack bombers, in viola-
tion of Strategic Arms Limitation Treaty rules. The reason for this is
obvious—conventional thinking has it that these aircraft are not threats
to North America; the Backfires supposedly had insufficient range, and
there were only six Blackjacks in the entire Russian arsenal with inter-
continental range. The Nine-sixty-sixth feels that these conclusions are
no longer valid. We feel that there may be as many as twenty to sixty
Backfire bombers with intercontinental range and cruise-missile capa-
bility, and between twenty and perhaps thirty Blackjack bombers also
with intercontinental range and cruise-missile capability, including
nuclear-tipped weapons.

“We don’t know precisely what these forces will be used for,”
Patrick concluded, “but our guess is that these forces pose a significant
threat to our Asian allies—and a direct and credible threat to the
United States as well. We feel that these bombers, with the massive
number of tankers in the theater as well, could easily reach targets all
across North America, primarily above forty degrees north longitude
and west of ninety-five degrees west longitude—only one-fourth of
the United States, but within striking distance of fifty percent of our
land-based bombers, fifty percent of our ballistic-missile submarines
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not presently at sea, and one hundred percent of our land-based intercon-
tinental missiles.”

The battle-staft’ conference room rumbled with low murmurs and
sounds of utter disbelief—but the loudest voice came from the head of
the table. “Say again? What did you just say, McLanahan?”” Houser asked
incredulously. Before Patrick could answer, he went on, “You have got
to be shitting me, General McLanahan! You’re telling me that you think
the Russians are assembling a force of strategic bombers and intend to at-
tack the United States of America?”

“It may sound unbelievable, sir, but—"

“It doesn’t sound unbelievable, McLanahan—it sounds completely
asinine!” Houser retorted. “You ought to know better than most of the
people in this room that the Russians haven’t had a credible long-range-
bomber force in over thirty years.”

“The Bear bombers are relics, McLanahan,” interjected Major Gen-
eral Ralph Nowland, the deputy commander of the Air Intelligence
Agency. Nowland had been in AIA longer than almost anyone else and
had convinced everyone else that he was the expert on any possible sub-
ject concerning the Russian military. “We’ve never received any credi-
ble evidence that the Russians are modernizing the Tupolev-22M
Backfire as an intercontinental strike platform—the Russians have been
yanking Backfires in favor of continued development of the MiG-29S
and Sukhoi-35 fighter-bombers. And for good reason: The Fulcrum
and Flankers have more capability, are far less costly to maintain and de-
ploy, and have similar range and combat performance. As for the Black-
jacks, there’s no evidence whatsoever in any documentation or imagery
that proves they’ve been reactivated and their air-refueling capacity re-
stored enough to give them true intercontinental capability. That’s an
unsubstantiated rumor only.”

“And you haven’t given us one shred of evidence or even any plau-
sible conjecture that the bomber that struck Bukhara is some sort of su-
persecret refurbished Backfire,” Houser said. “No one has been able to
recover the missile that went oft course—the Russians are all over the
impact area, so it’s unlikely we’ll ever get a look at it. We have scoured
the intercepts and technical literature coming out of every lab and
every aircraft-manufacturing bureau in Russia, and there’s not one
mention of any programs to upgrade the Backfire fleet. If it exists, it’s
under a level of secrecy and compartmentalization that hasn’t been seen



108 DALE BROWN

in Russia since the breakup of the Soviet Union.” He shook his head.
“So let’s get down to the bottom line, General: You still don’t know
where those Backfires came from, is that 1t?”

“Sir, my guess is that the bombers came from Bratsk,” Patrick re-
sponded.

“And how did you deduce that?”

“By the number of nonmilitary flights coming in and out of
Bratsk,” Patrick said. “The Russians have made a big deal out of hiding
all their Backfire bombers from satellite view of every base, but the
number of Aeroflot flights going into Bratsk has increased almost three-
fold since the raid on Bukhara. The number of government and civil
flights going into Bratsk has increased from an average of twenty per
day to an average of sixty-three per day since the raid. Bratsk is a major
city on the Trans-Siberian Railway and is a major oil-transshipment
point, but its air traffic has remained fairly constant for the past few
years—except for the past few days, when all of a sudden its civil air
traffic spiked.”

“That’s it?” Nowland asked. “That’s all the evidence you have? No
sign of Backfire bombers being loaded ... no bombs, no men and
equipment on the field, no signs of increased military activity? Just a few
more planes per day taking oft and landing there?”

“Sir, these additional flights going into a base that hasn’t seen much
activity in years could be significant,” Patrick said. “It simply raises more
questions—and it warrants a look around with HUMINT resources.”

“More spy missions inside Russia, is that it?” Houser asked deri-
sively. “McLanahan, you have a lot to learn about the Air Intelligence
Agency. We're not the CIA, and we’re not a bunch of James Bonds ready
to get an assignment to spy on the bad guys. We collect information
necessary to build war plans and to defend Air Force assets. We collect
information from other intelligence sources, including HUMINT data
from other government agencies. The Air Force is not in the business of
sending out spies, and sure as hell not inside Russia in peacetime.”

“Sir, Colonel Griftin has drawn up a plan that would help us verify
our theories on the numbers and capabilities of Russia’s Backfires and
other long-range aviation forces,” Patrick said. “We can send operatives
in to three suspected Russian bases—Omsk, Novosibirsk, and Bratsk,
launched from Kazakhstan—and verify the existence of modified Back-
fire bombers. Our other priority is a covert intelligence-gathering mis-
sion to Yakutsk, launched from the Sea of Okhotsk.”
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“Didn’t you hear what I said, McLanahan?” Houser said. “It’s out
of the question.”

“Sir, I think we’ve exhausted all of our signal and overhead-imagery
data resources, and all we have to show for it are more unanswered ques-
tions,” Patrick said. “The only way to discard or verify any of our data
is to get guys on the ground to go in and take a look.”

“General Houser, I've led Air Force and CIA teams all over the
world collecting intel for the Air Force, and I've assisted the Intelligence
Support Agency on several missions as well,” Trevor Griftin added.
“These missions would not be easy, but they’re doable, and in a very
short time frame. At least it’s worth a check to find out if any other
agencies have field operatives in those areas. If so, we can combine
forces and—"

Gary Houser held up a hand, closing his eyes and shaking his head
to emphasize his weariness of this argument. “I understand the reason
you feel you need to send operatives in, Colonel, but what I'm telling
you is that in the current political climate, the national command au-
thority is not likely to approve an operation like this,” Houser said.
“Placing eight recon satellites over the heart of Russia rattled nerves
and created enough animosity to last an entire generation—exactly the
thing we’re trying to avoid here. Sending in ground operatives after
sending those satellites over the same area would invite disaster as well as
heighten tensions even more. You know that the Russians will be on
guard for such a move. Anyone not passing the most rigorous security
screening will be detained on the spot. Or did you think your operatives
would just be able to hide in barns and ditches while they make their
way to their objectives?”

“Sir, I can have the Nine-sixty-sixth work up a plan of action and
brief you and the staft on it in two days,” Griftin said. “We have the lat-
est threat assessment, force deployments, topographical and cultural
photos of all the target areas. Our staff is already working up ingress and
egress options, lining up aircraft and vehicles, mapping out refueling
drop points and—"

“I know what goes into planning these types of operations, Colo-
nel,” Houser said. ““You can have your staff do all the planning they care
to do—just be sure you don’t make one move off the planning charts
without my express permission. Is that understood?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Before we leave this subject, General McLanahan, I want to know
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about these two satellite constellations you got all this information
from,” Houser went on pointedly. “I don’t recall authorizing them, and
I don’t recall Strategic Command’s briefing the staft that they were go-
ing to launch such a mission. Perhaps you could enlighten us? Whose
are they, and who authorized their insertion?”

All eyes were on him, but Patrick didn’t shrink from any of their
gazes, especially Gary Houser’s. “Yes, sir,” he replied. “When my re-
quest for overhead-imagery support was denied by Eighth Air Force,
in my capacity as Nine-sixty-sixth Information Warfare Wing com-
mander, I requested support from the Air Battle Force commander,
Brigadier General Luger, at Battle Mountain Air Reserve Base. I knew
that the Air Battle Force had on-demand satellite-reconnaissance assets
available. General Luger sent my request to Air Combat Command,
who sent it on to the Air Force chief of staft, who sent it on to the joint
staff’ operations oftice and to the National Security Council liaison of-
fice. The mission was approved by the NSC and promptly executed.”

“Why wasn’t I notified of this request?” Houser asked.

“Sir, you are the deputy commander for intelligence of all these
agencies,” Patrick said. “I thought you would have been notified every
step of the way.”

“I mean, why didn’t you notify me that you were going around my
office for support on an Air Intelligence Agency tasking?” Houser asked
angrily.

“You had already disapproved my request, sir.”

“And why did you not inform Eighth Air Force that you were go-
ing to go around them?” Houser asked. “Did you not receive the direc-
tive from General Zoltrane that all requests for operations originating
in Eighth Air Force go through his office before going outside the
command?”’

“Yes, sir, I did,” Patrick responded. “But as I understand it, the Air
Battle Force reports to Eighth Air Force. My request for support did not
go outside the command until General Luger upchanneled it to Air
Combat Command.”

“Didn’t you expect that General Luger would go outside the com-
mand to get permission to execute the mission?” Houser asked. Patrick
did not reply. Houser nodded knowingly, then added, “Or were you
hoping that he wouldn’t upchannel your request, but just go ahead and
launch the mission without permission from his superiors?” Again
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Patrick did not respond. “Well, it’s good to see that someone in Brad El-
liott’s old organization is obeying orders.

“General McLanahan, I am going to give you a direct order, so as
not to create any confusion or misunderstanding,” Houser went on.
“You will confine your work and your communications to Air Intelli-
gence Agency units only. If you need information from agencies or
sources outside of AIA, you will forward the request to me or General
Nowland first. Under no circumstances will you request information or
pass information outside AIA without permission from my office. Is
that clear?”

“Yes, sir,” Patrick replied simply. “May I ask why;, sir?”

Heads snapped from Houser to Patrick and back to Houser in sur-
prise at the question. Houser’s eyes blazed, but his voice was surprisingly
calm. “It’s simple, General McLanahan—I don’t trust you anymore,” he
said. ““You see, while it is technically correct that you can request intel-
ligence data from any source to create your work product, I'm afraid
that you will be using a multitude of unorthodox or nonsecure sources
and then not sharing the information with AIA, or not even notifying
AIA that you have obtained this information. By doing this you com-
promise security and break the chain of custody of classified and ex-
tremely sensitive information.”

“I assure you, sir, that I would never—"

“I don’t need your assurances, General,” Houser interjected.
“Around here assurances are made with actions, not words. You’ve been
here only a short while, but you’ve already proven you can’t be trusted
with following our procedures and directives. You give me no choice.
My order stands. Is that clear?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Good. General, I'd like to see your plans for covert field action
against the four targets you mentioned, but don’t count on having the
operation approved anytime soon. General McLanahan, the information
you’ve given us is interesting, but I don’t find enough specific informa-
tion to support any ground-reconnaissance action. You still have not
given the staff any information on where those Backfires came from,
only guesses and speculation—and frankly, your ultimate conclusion is
pretty far-fetched, bordering on irresponsible. We need to have a talk
about your thought processes—maybe you’re not cut out to run the Air
Intelligence Agency after all. We’ll see about that. In any case, I can’t
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present that conclusion to Eighth Air Force and expect anyone to take it
seriously.”

“Sir, if you’re not comfortable presenting my findings to Eighth Air
Force or Air Combat Command, I’'m prepared to do so,” Patrick said
firmly.

“That’s not the way we run things here, General McLanahan.”

“Sir, you can’t just sit on the data we’ve collected. Your job is to col-
lect information and present analysis to—"

“Don’t tell me my job, McLanahan!” Houser snapped. “Your job is to
shut your damned mouth and do as you’re ordered! Is that clear?”

Patrick glared at Gary Houser for several seconds, then replied,
“Yes, sir.”

“Colonel Griftin can take the rest of the staft reports. I may ask him
to do so from now on,” Houser said angrily. “In the meantime you’re
dismissed.” Patrick pushed his classified reports and photos on the table
before him to Griffin, stood at attention, then departed. When he did,
Houser said, “Colonel Griffin, plan on taking over the Nine-sixty-sixth
shortly. McLanahan’s on his way out.”

Patrick ignored the surprised stares of his office staff as he hurried
into his office and slammed the door shut. He hung up his Class A
uniform jacket on the coatrack behind his door, poured himself a cup of
coffee, dumped it out, grabbed a bottle of water instead, and nearly
squished it as he tried to open the cap. He finally flung himself onto his
chair and was on the phone moments later.

David Luger picked up the secure phone and could barely wait for
the encryption circuits to lock in before speaking. “Patrick—"

“Houser ignored my report,” Patrick said heatedly. “He’s not going
to send in any recon personnel.”

“Patrick, listen—"

“Dave, I've never been so damned frustrated in my whole life,”
Patrick moaned angrily. “Houser threw me out of his battle-staff meet-
ing. He’s probably going to throw me out of the Nine-sixty-sixth, if
not the entire Air Force. . . .”

“Patrick, listen to me,” Dave said. “We’ve been studying the im-
agery from the NIRTSats today, and—"

“Were you able to move the top constellation?”” Patrick asked. “We
need better images of Yakutsk. I have a feeling that’s going to be the
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key. We should keep an eye on Bratsk and Aginskoye, too, but all the ac-
tivity up in—"

“That’s what I'm trying to tell you, Patrick, so just listen!” Dave in-
terjected. “We moved the second constellation like you asked, and the
orbit dropped down to around eighty-eight miles, and it’s only going to
be aloft for another few hours, but we finally got some good shots of
Yakutsk, and—"

“Good job. What did you—"

“I'm trying to tell you, Muck It looks like half the Russian air force
1s parked there all of a sudden,” Dave said. “We counted sixteen Tu-16
Blinder tankers and—get this—twenty-four Ilyushin-78 tankers. They
only have about thirty in the whole fleet!”

“My God,” Patrick said. “Ninety percent of the Russian tanker
fleet is on one base, in the middle of nowhere in Siberia! Something’s
going on. What about—"

“I'm getting to that, too, Muck,” Luger said breathlessly. “We spot-
ted twenty-four Blackjacks at Blagoveshchensk. We haven’t verified if
they’re all difterent airframes, but they’re sitting there being loaded
with some kind of weapons we haven’t identified yet—probably cruise
missiles.”

“We’ve got to alert Air Force.”

“That’s not all, Patrick. We counted at least twenty Backfires out in
the open at Bratsk, Novosibirsk, and Aginskoye—that’s at least twenty
bombers at each base. They’re being loaded, too. And they have huge
fuel-drop tanks on their external hardpoints—they’ve got to be five or
ten thousand pounds apiece, maybe larger. I mean, all these planes ap-
peared out of nowhere! Twenty-four hours ago there was nothing—
today, boom, the entire Russian bomber fleet is being readied for takeoff.
And we’re only counting the ones we can see—there might be twice
that number in shelters or hangars or dispersed to other bases we’re not
watching. Where in heck did they all come from?”

“I'm sure they’ve been there for a long time, Dave—we just weren’t
looking for them until now,” Patrick said. “Did you report this to any-
one else yet?”

“It just crossed my desk, Muck.”

“Can you transmit it to me?”

“It’s on the way.”

At that same moment, Patrick received a message on his computer
with the image files. “I got them. Hold on.” Patrick punched in a tele-
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phone code for the battle-staft area. Colonel Griftin picked up the
phone. “Tagger, I need to speak with General Houser right away. I'm
e-mailing you photos just taken from the two NIRTSat constellations.
The Russians are on the move.”

“I'll try,” Griffin said, and he put the line on hold. But moments
later he came back on: “The general said not now, Patrick. I'm looking
at the images. I see lots of planes, Patrick, but these are raw images. We
need analysis and verification before we can present it to the staff.”

“Tagger, these images were verified by the intel guys at Air Battle
Force,” Patrick said. “The location and identification data have been
verified. It’s real, Tagger. Houser has to look at them now.”

“Hold on.” But the wait was even shorter. “I'll be right down,
Patrick,” Griffin said. “The general wants me to go talk to you.”

“This can’t wait, Tagger. I'll come up there.”

“Don’t, Patrick. Sit tight. I'll be right there.” And he hung up.

Shit, Patrick thought, now I've succeeded in getting Trevor Griftin
kicked out of the battle-staff meeting also. But this was too important
to just sit on. “Houser won’t look at the imagery, Dave,” Patrick said to
David Luger when he got him back on the line. He thought for a mo-
ment, then said, “I'm going to send a message to the secretary of de-
fense’s office and let them know what’s happening. They’ll have to
contact NORAD to activate the North Warning System, OTH-B, and
put every fighter they can find on five-minute alert.” But at the same
time as he said those words, he knew it was going to be an almost im-
possible job to convince anyone that the threat was great enough to
warrant activating one of the pillars of the Cold War: ADC.

Years earlier the continent of North America was defended by the
Air Defense Command, or ADC, which was a joint U.S.-Canadian inte-
grated system of military and civilian ground-based radars and military
jet-fighter interceptors that stood poised to stop an attack by enemy
bombers or cruise missiles. Its parent organization, the North American
Aerospace Defense Command, or NORAD, still existed, but “aerospace
defense” had been replaced with “air sovereignty,” which generally
dealt with detecting and interdicting drug smugglers. Since the late
1980s, the threat that Russian bombers would launch cruise missiles
against the United States had all but disappeared, while drug smugglers
had virtual free rein over America’s skies, so any resources set up to de-
tect and defend against obsolete Russian bombers was shifted to detect,
track, and interdict smugglers.
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Along with squadrons of jet fighters stationed in Alaska, Canada,
and the northern United States, the ADC used a series of long- and
short-range unmanned radar sites to detect unidentified aircraft. Called
the North Warning System, this system replaced the 1950s-era Defense
Early Warning, or DEW Line, consisting of manned radars in Alaska and
Canada. The ultimate radar system was deployed in the late 1980s:
Called OTH-B, or Over-the-Horizon-Backscatter radar, it could detect
aircraft as far away as three thousand miles by bouncing radar energy oft
the ionosphere. In ideal conditions, OTH-B radar operators in Col-
orado could see Soviet bombers taking off from their Siberian bases.
Along with the radar net, there were fighter interceptors on round-the-
clock alert, ready to hunt down and destroy any unidentified aircraft. At
one time there had been a dozen bases and many dozens of fighters on
twenty-four-hour alert.

But as the threat diminished, so did readiness. OTH-B shifted from
a full-time system to part-time only, and finally it was placed in “ready”
mode, meaning it could be reactivated if needed. The North Warning
System radars shifted to part-time mode as well, to reduce annual main-
tenance and operating costs. Finally, one by one, the fighter-interceptor
squadrons were inactivated, disarmed, reassigned to drug-interdiction
duties, or placed on “generation recall” status, meaning that the fighters
could be placed on the line only after long days of preparation. No one
cared: The Russians had only a handful of nearly obsolete bombers that
were capable of launching ineffective, inaccurate, and unreliable cruise
missiles; the Russian deterrent lay in its arsenal of land- and sea-
launched ballistic missiles; the United States had even reactivated and
modernized its anti-ballistic-missile defense system.

The problem was soon obvious: Could the air-defense network in
North America be reactivated quickly and effectively enough to stop a
modern threat? Cranking up the Air Defense Command system was only
practiced twice a year, and even so it seemed like a lost and arcane art.
Patrick had no idea how to go about ordering an ADC reactivation—
and he doubted if it could be effective enough to stop a massive Russian
attack against the United States such as the one they were seeing develop
right now.

“What do you want me to do, Muck?” David Luger asked.

“You need to get your surveillance and intelligence data over to Air
Force as soon as possible,” Patrick replied, “because when I hit SECDEF
with my concerns, they’re going to want proof.”
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“Patrick . . . Muck, what in hell do you think is going on?” Luger
asked. He sounded more scared than Patrick had heard him sound in a
long time. Despite his traumatic recent history, David Luger was one of
the most unflappable—many called it “emotionless”—persons he knew.
Luger possessed a well-trained scientific mind. Everything could be ex-
plained, even forecast, by using the proper mixture of research, reason-
ing, and theory. He never worried about anything, because his finely
tuned brain started working on a problem the moment it presented it-
self. But for any man, especially someone like Dave Luger, the reality of
what he knew and the thought of what could happen were finally too
much for him to contemplate rationally and analytically.

“Dave . ..”

“I'm looking at the pictures and the analysis, Muck, and I can’t
tucking believe what I'm seeing!”

“Dave, keep it together, buddy,” Patrick said evenly. “I need you one
hundred and ten percent on this.”

“What in hell can we do?”

“The first thing we need to do is turn on all the air-defense infra-
structure in North America, and do it immediately,” Patrick said. “Next
we need to begin twenty-four/seven surveillance of Yakutsk and all the
other bases where bombers have been appearing. I need eyes inside
those bases, especially Yakutsk. The tankers are the key, and it looks to
me like Yakutsk is turning into tanker city. I'm going to talk to the Air
Force and get them to crank up the readiness posture, but we need to
take a look inside those Russian bases immediately, and the Air Battle
Force is the best-positioned unit to get in there. It would take a week
just to convince the CIA that what we’re looking at is real.”

“I've already received permission to forward-deploy Hal and Chris
to the region,” Dave said. “We’re going to send them to Shemya—five
hours one way by tilt-jet, but it’s the best we can do unless we get some
support from U.S. Special Operations Command or the Air Force.”

“Do whatever you can to get them out there, as fast as you can,”
Patrick said. “If you can get in contact with someone at the Pentagon,
maybe SECDEF’s office directly, we might be able to implement it.”

“What is General Houser going to do with the pictures we got from
the NIRT Sats?”

“Nothing, until he’s told to do something with them,” Patrick re-
sponded. “That’s why it has to come from the top down, and higher
than Eighth Air Force or Air Combat Command—Houser might even
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be able to shrug off STRATCOM. Get moving, Dave, and let me know
if you make any progress.”

“Will do, Muck,” Luger said, and disconnected the secure transmis-
sion.

Patrick began another secure telephone call to the secretary of de-
fense’s oftice, then hung up the phone before the encrypted connection
could go through. Although he had met and briefed the SECDEE
Robert Goff, on more than one occasion, their encounters had been
mostly negative—Patrick was usually being reprimanded for some ac-
tion he undertook with less than full authority. He was losing friends
and allies fast, and a phone call to SECDEF’s office, in violation of a di-
rect order issued just a few minutes ago in the presence of the rest of the
Air Intelligence Agency staff, was not going to win him any more. But
this had to be done.

Instead he initiated a secure call to the commander of the Air
Warning Center of the North American Aerospace Defense Command
at its command-and-control center at Cheyenne Mountain Operations
Center, Colorado, deep inside the underground military base. The Air
Warning Center, or AWC, was responsible for monitoring the periph-
ery of the United States, Canada, and parts of Central America and the
Caribbean for unidentified aircraft—including cruise missiles—and
passing information to the Cheyenne Mountain Command Center.
The Air Warning Center controlled the ground-based radars operated
by NORAD and also collected data from ground, sea, and airborne
military-fighter control radars; other surveillance systems, such as
ground- and ship-based radar balloons; Homeland Security radar sys-
tems; and civil air-traffic-control radars. Patrick’s 966th Information
Warfare Wing routinely passed information to AWC on the status of
military forces in Russia and on events around the world, which might
give AWC a heads-up in adjusting its surveillance to counter enemy
incursions.

After several long, excruciating minutes, he was put through to the
AWC Charlie-crew commander, Lieutenant Colonel Susan Paige. “It’s
nice to finally talk with you, General McLanahan,” she said after the se-
cure connection was made and verified. “We’ve received the regular in-
formation updates from the Nine-sixty-sixth, and we’re very impressed
with the quality of work coming from your office. I'd like to—"

“Colonel Paige, I have information provided me by Air Battle Force
that shows that Russia may commence a strategic air attack against the
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United States at any time,” Patrick said. “I'm recommending that
NORAD implement full air-defense measures immediately, including a
tull recall and activation of all northern interceptor units and round-
the-clock activation of North Warning and OTH-B. It’s vital that—"

“Who gave you this information, General? Who 1is this Air Battle
Force?” Patrick knew she was stalling for time—she would be hitting a
hot key on her computer that would be tracing and recording this call
and perhaps notifying the senior controller at the Command and Oper-
ations Center of Patrick’s information—or of a crank phone call. After
Patrick briefly explained, Paige said, “General McLanahan, you need to
take this information to Air Intelligence Agency and have General
Houser message—"

“I've already done that. General Houser won’t act on it. I need to
speak directly with General Lombardi so he can decide if he wants to
increase the air-defense posture.” General Lombardi was the comman-
der of NORAD and the man who could activate all of the defense sys-
tems around North America with one order.

“Maybe you should speak with Air Force or STRATCOM
about—"

This was getting him nowhere. “Colonel Paige, this is extremely ur-
gent, or I wouldn’t have called the NORAD commander’s oftice di-
rectly,” Patrick interjected. “I’'m having General Luger of the Air Battle
Force transmit his overhead imagery to you and to STRATCOM, but
I’'m calling to advise you that I believe that a Russian combat air opera-
tion 1s in progress, perhaps an all-out attack against the United States us-
ing long-range bombers and cruise missiles.”

“Is this for real, McLanahan?” Paige asked. “This isn’t how AIA is-
sues alerts to NORAD. You should—"

“This alert is from the Nine-sixty-sixth Wing, Colonel Paige, not
from AIA,” Patrick said. “The information has not been cleared by
General Houser. But I decided to contact you directly because I feel
there is danger of imminent attack, and when I briefed General Houser
a short time ago, he indicated he wasn’t going to act on the information.
I decided to take a chance and contact you directly. I am now going to
try to contact the secretary of defense and give him this same informa-
tion. McLanahan, Nine-sixty-sixth Wing, clear.” Before Paige could say
anything more, Patrick hung up.

He had done everything he could with NORAD, Patrick thought.
It was up to them if they wanted to act on the information. But even if
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she didn’t believe him, she would certainly sound the alarm—and an
alarm from someplace like NORAD traveled up very, very quickly.

Patrick was on hold with the deputy chief of staft of Air and Space
Operations—the highest person he could reach at the oftfice of the Air
Force chief of staff in the Pentagon—when someone knocked on his
door and then entered without being invited in. It was Trevor Grittin.
Patrick was about to admonish him when he noticed his stony expres-
sion. “I'm on the phone with the Pentagon, Tagger.”

“I know, Patrick,” Griffin said. “The boss knows, too.” Patrick nod-
ded and waved for Griffin to sit, but he didn’t put the phone down.
Griftin held up his secure cellular phone, which had a long list of SMS
messages already on it. “Cheyenne Mountain called a few moments
ago, and just now the chief’s office called. Everybody wants to know
what’s going on. All hell is breaking loose. The boss wants you in the
battle-staft area, pronto.” He paused for a moment, then said with a se-
rious expression, “Sir, what are you doing? You’re out of control. You
gotta stop this.”

“You’ve seen the pictures and looked over my data, Tagger,” Patrick
said. “You know as well as I do how serious this is.”

“Patrick, it’s all speculation,” Griffin said. “It’s a few buildings
erected on bases that haven’t been used in a few years, a bunch of tired

old Backfire bombers—nothing earth-shattering about that. What are
?”

you

“Air Battle Force got new images, Tagger—you saw them yourself,”
Patrick said. “Yakutsk is wall-to-wall tankers now—dozens of them.
Aginskoye, Bratsk, Blagoveshchensk, Ulan-Ude—the Blackjacks and
Backfires are massing everywhere. As fast as they’ve appeared, I think
they’re going to disappear just as fast—all headed this way.”

“Patrick, no one believes that,” Griffin said. “INNo one believes that
the Russians would be crazy enough to attack North America. It’s gotta
be something else—if there is anything at all.”

“The target’s not Europe. All the bombers and tankers are in
Siberia,” Patrick said. “Unless they’re going after China or Japan, I
think the target is the United States.”

“Why? Why would they attack the U.S.?”

“Gryzlov—he wants revenge for my attack on Engels, and he
wants to kill ten thousand enemy soldiers for every one Russian sol-
dier we kill,” Patrick said. “The guy’s crazy, he’s in charge, and he
wants payback.”
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“Patrick, this is nuts,” Griffin breathed. “How in the world are you

going to convince anyone of this? They all think that you . . . well, that
you ...’
“That 'm trying to stir up shit, that I'm trying to get back at the
guys that took away my command and sent me here,” Patrick said. “I
know what they think. But there’s only one thing that matters: We do
everything we can to protect the United States of America.” Patrick
noticed Griffin’s exasperated expression. “Yeah, I know, I sound like
some goody-goody comic-book hero, but that’s what I believe.”

Patrick heard a series of clicks and a rainburst signal on the phone,
and then a voice said, “General McLanahan? Stand by for the chief.” A
moment later: “Kuzner here, secure.”

“General Kuzner, this is General McLanahan, Nine-sixty-sixth In-
formation Warfare Wing, secure. I have a possible situation that requires
your immediate attention, sir.”

“McLanahan, do you have any idea the shit storm you’ve caused
over here?” Charles Kuzner, the Air Force chief of staff, responded an-
grily. “The NORAD Command Center issued a red alert to the Joint
Staft Operations Center, telling us that one of the AIA wing comman-
ders warned them that the United States was under attack by Russian
bombers. Did that warning come from you?”

“Yes, sir, it did.”

“For Christ’s sake, McLanahan . . . where’s General Houser? Does
he even know about any of this?”

“I briefed General Houser and the AIA staff on the findings from
two recent satellite-constellation overflights just minutes ago, sir. He in-
dicated to me that I didn’t have enough actionable information. I dis-
agreed, and I felt that my information needed immediate attention, so I
called Air Battle Force and asked them to draw up a plan for ground re-
connaissance. [t—"

“Air Battle Force?” Kuzner retorted. “You’re with Air Intelligence
Agency, McLanahan, not Air Battle Force! We pulled you out of there
specifically to keep shit like this from happening!”

“Sir, I feel that the information I had needed immediate attention,
but I wasn’t going to get it from AIA,” Patrick went on. “The only re-
course I had was Air Battle Force.”

“How about Eighth Air—"" And then Kuzner stopped—Dbecause he
knew about Patrick’s history with Terrill Samson. He didn’t need to
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mention Air Combat Command either—Thomas Muskoka wasn’t a fan
of Patrick’s either.

“I was informed by General Luger of new data that strongly sug-
gested a massive bomber and tanker mobilization in the Russian far
east,” Patrick went on. “His new information confirmed my suspicions.
At that point I contacted NORAD and gave them the warning, then
contacted Air Force. [—"

“Hold on,” Kuzner said, and the line went silent. He came back a
few moments later. “CJCS wants a briefing later today. You’re going to
give it to him. Let’s see if he believes you—Dbecause I sure as hell don’t.
You report to a videoconference center, hook into the Pentagon comm
center, and stand by until they send you over to the Gold Room.” The
Joint Chiefs of Staff Conference Room was nicknamed the “Gold
Room” because of its décor and because of all the “brass” inside. “I'm
calling the Eighth Air Force staff to meet up with Strategic Command
at Oftutt to discuss the situation. If you’re one second late, mister, I'll
personally go out there and kick your ass all the way back to Washing-
ton. Kuzner, clear.” And the connection went dead.

Patrick got up from his desk and put on his Class A uniform
jacket. “This is probably the second command I've given up in less
than a month—it’s gotta be some sort of record. I'll tell you the same
thing I told Dave Luger before I left Air Battle Force, Tagger: Pay at-
tention to what your head and your heart tell you, not what some bu-
reaucrat tells you.”

“I will, Patrick,” Griffin said, “but you’re not going to lose this
command.”

“I think this time you’re wrong, Tagger,” Patrick said. He opened
his wall safe and extracted a red folder marked ToOP SECRET. Griffin knew
what it was—and he wished Patrick would put it back in the safe where
it belonged. “My last recommendation: Get your ground-recon plan to
Kuzner ASAP and press him on it. Get in contact with Dave Luger and
Hal Briggs at Air Battle Force for help. They have gadgets and weapons
you won’t believe.”

“We’ll plan this thing together, sir,” Griffin said. “I'll go with you to
the battle-staff area.”

“Negative. I want you to get your ground-ops plan forwarded to Air
Force right away. I want to see it kicked off in eight hours.”

“Okay, I'll take care of it.” He stuck out a hand. “You haven’t been
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here long, Patrick, but I already know I’d follow you to hell and back if
you asked me to go.” Patrick smiled, shook Griffin’s hand, nodded, and
left to report to the battle-staft area for the videoconference.

Gary Houser showed up moments after Patrick did. Patrick stood at
attention as Houser stormed over to him. “I'm getting on a plane in a
few hours to report to Strategic Command headquarters to explain
what the hell happened here today,” Houser said angrily. “My boss and
his senior staff, the entire Strategic Command senior staff, half the senior
staff from NOR AD, the chairman of the Joint Chiefs, and undoubtedly
the secretary of defense will be grilling me on what you did today. What
am I supposed to tell them? I think you’ve flipped out or something. Is
that what you think I should tell them?” He stepped toward Patrick un-
til he was almost nose to nose with him. “I just have one question for
you, General McLanahan,” Houser said. “What in hell do you want?”

“Want, sir?”

“What do you want, McLanahan?” Houser barked, standing just
inches from Patrick, leaning down to snarl directly into his face. “Do
you really want to be in the Air Force, or do you want to go out in a
blaze of glory? Do you want to serve your country, or do you just want
to soothe your own bruised and battered ego? Do you want to destroy
the careers of those around you, or are you crazy enough to believe that
what you’re doing here is the right thing?”

“Sir . . .” And then Patrick stopped and locked his eyes on his two-
star commander. Houser’s eyes blazed, and a jaw muscle twitched.
“Gary, I'm getting sick and tired of putting up with your bullshit.”

“What in hell did you just say?” Houser shouted.

“I said, I'm not going to put up with your bullshit anymore,”
Patrick repeated. “I gave you information on what could possibly be a
major attack against the United States, and all you can do is blow me off.
I contacted NOR AD and the Pentagon because you’re too full of your-
self to do it.”

“Get the hell out of here, McLanahan, before [—”

“I’ve been ordered by General Kuzner to brief the Joint Chiefs on
the alert I issued NOR AD,” Patrick said. “I’'m staying. You're not go-
ing to have a chance to weasel out of this.”

“Weasel out . . . ?”

“I'm going to give my information to the JCS, Gary, and then you
can tell them why you chose to ignore it.”

Houser shook his head. “You’ve gone off the deep end, McLana-
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han,” he said. “I always knew you were a loner and a little strange, but
now I know you’ve just completely lost it. Your career is over, my
friend. Not only have you disobeyed a lawful order, but you have some
sort of delusional problem that makes you a danger to the United States
in any sort of command position.

“As soon as this briefing is over, pal, you’re relieved of duty as Nine-
sixty-sixth commander. I will prefer charges against you for disobeying
a direct order and for insubordination. You will report to your quarters
and await the convening of a court-martial. And if I can, I'll make sure
you spend the last remaining years of your career in a military prison
camp.”

“Gary, all you’ve done since I've arrived at Lackland is threaten me,”
Patrick said. “That’s not leadership—that’s tyranny. I'll be glad to get
the hell out of here, even if it’s to a prison cell, as long as I don’t have to
put up with your adolescent nonsense again. Sir.”’



OVER EASTERN SIBERIA, NINE HUNDRED KILOMETERS
NORTHEAST OF YAKUTSK, RUSSIAN FEDERATION

That same time

t was one of the most difficult dances in all of aviation, made even

more difficult because all the aircraft and the damned drogues were

icing up. Someone once described this exercise as trying to stick
your dick into a bull while running across a pasture—except now the
pasture was slick with ice and snow.

Aviatskiy Kapitan Leytenant Josef Leborov was very, very good at
plugging the bull, but even he was having a tough time of it.

This morning, in and out of clouds heavily laden with ice, a for-
mation of twenty-four Tupolev-95MD Modifikatsirovanny Daplata
aircraft led an even larger formation of thirty-six Tu-95MS-16 Modi-
fikatsirovanny Snaryad strategic bombers on their mission. Spread out
over several kilometers, the six formations of four tankers with their six
bombers below and behind them made for a very impressive sight.
What was not so impressive was watching each bomber trying to plug
in to its tanker.

It was Leborov’s second try—and he was doing better than the oth-
ers. The ten-meter-long refueling probe was fixed on the Tu-95’s nose,
right on the centerline and in plain sight of both pilot and copilot; it
had three small lights on the outside edge of the nozzle to illuminate
the drogue as it got closer. Once the tanker was forty meters ahead and
a few meters higher than the receiver, the tanker’s refueling observer in
the tail compartment—formerly the tail gunner’s station—would slowly
unreel the drogue. The drogue would swing around wildly for several



PLAN OF ATTACK 125

meters until it got outside the tremendous prop wash behind the plane,
but it would then stabilize and begin to drop slightly as the weight of
the hose pulled on it. At maximum extension the observer would flash
a green light, and the receiver could move forward and plug the drogue.

The drogue—a large, two-meter-diameter padded lighted steel bas-
ket at the end of the fuel hose—did not move around so much. The
bomber, on the other hand, seemed never to be in one place long
enough to get a good feel for positioning the boom. Unlike Western-
style boom aerial refueling, here the tanker’s observer could not assist
the hookup—it was the bomber pilot’s show all the way.

Leborov cruised slowly up to the drogue, trying to make small con-
trol and power corrections—but it was no use. The drogue whistled left
just enough for the nozzle to hit the rim, which caused the drogue to
skitter away. Leborov pulled off a smidgen of power and swore loudly as
he backed away for another try. “This fucking pig! I have either not
enough control authority or too damned much!”

“Just think of fucking that pretty little waitress you met a few
months ago, Joey,” said Leborov’s copilot and friend, Aviatskiy Starshiy
Leytenant Yuri Bodorev. “That’s what I do.”

“Shut the hell up, asshole,” Leborov said, as good-naturedly as he
could.

“Refueling behind one of our own planes isn’t as easy as it sounded
when they first came up with this idea,” Bodorev remarked. Without
external stores, Tupolev-95 bombers had a maximum range in excess of
twelve thousand kilometers—air refueling was usually not a necessity.
But several months ago they started practicing air refueling again, using
Tupolev-16 tankers. Then, just weeks ago, modified Tu-95 tankers had
been brought in. No one understood the reason for all this innovation
and experimentation—until now. “Want me to give it a try, Joey?”

“No, no, I'm just out of practice,” Leborov said, forcing himself to
relax. “How are the gauges looking?”

“RPMs are matched, trims are within limits, power settings are
within one or two percent of each other, and fuel tanks are balanced
within two hundred kilos,” replied the flight engineer, sitting right be-
hind the copilot.

“Just plug this whore and let’s go, Joey,” Bodorev said. “You're the
flight leader—show the other kids how it’s done.” That seemed to be all
the encouragement he needed—along with the image of the long probe
protruding from almost right between his legs aimed right for his girl-
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friend’s manda—Dbecause on the next pass Leborev plugged the drogue
smoothly and easily, as if he’d been doing it every day for years. The
tuel transfer would be agonizingly slow, just a thousand liters a minute,
so they would be plugged in for about fifteen minutes just to get a par-
tial offload and allow the other bombers to cycle through.

It took three hours of formation flying with this huge armada to
complete the refueling. Along the way five bombers and two tankers
had to drop out, because they either couldn’t transfer fuel, couldn’t re-
ceive fuel, or because of some other major malfunction; one aircraft had
a serious weapon problem that forced it to jettison two weapons on two
different wing pylons. Fortunately, they were able to divvy up fuel from
the remaining tankers to the remaining bombers, so all were able to get
their scheduled onloads and continue the mission.

Since one plane had weapons problems, the formation leader de-
cided that all the weapons had to be visually inspected, in addition to
the routine safe connectivity-safe continuity checks. “Weapon safety
checks complete, all weapons showing safe, no malfunctions,” the bom-
bardier in the downstairs nose compartment reported. “Clearing off for
visual check.”

“Navigator clearing oft to assist.”

Leborov turned around and said, “Stay put, Arkadiy. I need a stretch.
I'll go. Pilot clearing off for visual weapons check.” Bodorev donned
his oxygen mask—the pilot flying the aircraft was required to wear it
while the other pilot was out of his seat—and gave his partner and
friend his usual good-luck sign: thumb and forefinger forming a circle,
meaning “asshole.”

With his parachute, walkaround oxygen bottle, gloves, heavyweight
flight jacket, helmet, and oxygen mask on, Leborov stoop-walked past
the engineer’s and electronic-warfare officer’s stations, patted the navi-
gator on the shoulder in the very aft section of the cockpit, undogged
the hatch to the lower compartment, climbed down the ladder to the
lower deck, sealed the upper-deck pressure hatch, and followed the
bombardier aft to the weapons bay’s pressurized bulkhead hatch. There
were no ejection seats on the Tupolev-95, either upward or downward,
the flight-deck crew slid down a pole that extended through the entry
hatch that carried them out into the slipstream and away from the air-
craft, while the bombardier and gunner simply rolled out through
downward escape hatches in their compartments. Now the bombardier
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unsealed the aft bulkhead hatch, and he and Leborov crawled aft into
the weapons bay.

The deck was slick with frozen condensation and leaking coolant
from some of the electronics bays, but the men ignored it and continued
aft. They could hear the loud click-click-clack-click sounds of the naviga-
tion system, which used Doppler radar and radar fixes to update an ana-
log computer as big as a refrigerator that still used gears and levers to
provide position, heading, and velocity information. The noise from the
big dual counterrotating propellers beating on each side of the fuselage
was deafening, even through their helmets and ear protectors. Leborov
found the switch for the port-side weapon pylon inspection light and
flicked it on—and there it was. He had seen it and preflighted it on the
ground, of course, but somehow it looked difterent when the Tu-95 was
in the air.

The left weapon pylon held one Kh-90 air-launched attack missile.
These were experimental missiles, fielded for the first time when two
missiles had been launched at a CIA base in Uzbekistan just recently
during an operational test. Then the missiles had carried high-explosive
warheads.

But now these missiles carried two one-kiloton thermonuclear de-
vices.

Code-named Sat Loshka, or “Garden Hoe,” the warheads were ac-
tually copies of American nuclear “bunker-buster” bombs developed
after Desert Storm to destroy deep underground bunkers, cave com-
plexes, and biochem-weapon storage facilities without risking large
numbers of civilian casualties. The warheads used rocket motors and ar-
mored nose caps to drive themselves down as much as thirty meters un-
derground, even through layers of steel or Kevlar armor, before
detonating. That meant that the fireballs would be relatively small and
that blast and overpressure damage aboveground also would be small.
Each cruise missile had its own inertial-navigation system—a system of
electronic gyroscopes and pendulums that gave the navigation comput-
ers heading and velocity information—but the addition of GLONASS
satellite navigation gave the missiles better than twenty-meter accuracy.

The bombardier walked down to another porthole to inspect the aft
section of the huge Kh-90 missile. It was as if they were carrying a
small jet fighter on their wings, Leborov thought. He saw a tiny bit of
ice around the air inlet under the nose, but that would not be of any
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concern; less than a minute after launch, the exterior of the missile
would heat up to several hundred degrees Centigrade as it approached
its top speed of five times the speed of sound. He nodded to his bom-
bardier, indicating they were done with their inspection, then shut off
the inspection light and moved to look at the starboard missile. Every-
thing having to do with nuclear weapons always had to be two-officer,
even if it meant looking at the weapons from inside the plane.

Two thermonuclear bunker-buster missiles, faster than any antiair-
craft missile—and Leborov’s sortie was only the leader of a thirty-one-
plane gaggle of similarly armed Tupolev-95 bombers. Each missile had
two independently targeted nuclear warheads designed to burrow un-
derground and destroy even the best-protected bunker. The Americans
would never know what hit them. Poor bastards.

The bomb bay itself contained a rotary launcher with six Kh-31P
long-range antiradar missiles. As they closed in on their launch point,
Leborov and three of the other lead bombers would be responsible for
shutting down the local radar sites along their intended route of flight,
including Yellowknife, Pine Point, Uranium City, Lynn Lake, Fort Nel-
son, Cold Lake, Edmonton, and Whitehorse. The ramjet-powered Kh-
31s had a range of two hundred kilometers and a maximum speed of
Mach 3, with a ninety-kilogram high-explosive fragmentary warhead
that would shred a radar antenna or a building into pieces in the blink
of an eye.

The inspection complete, Leborov and the bombardier crawled
along the narrow catwalk back the length of the bomb bay and looked
in on the gunner, seated in the very aft tail cabin. They did not ask him
to open his pressurized hatch—that meant he would have had to put on
his oxygen mask and depressurize his compartment—but instead just
knocked on the porthole and got a thumbs-up from him. The gunner
was surrounded by box lunches filled with low-residue snacks, a small
stack of magazines, numerous bottles of water, and metal boxes to store
his relief bags. Normally the gunner stayed up front with the crew in a
jump seat until close to enemy territory, but during formation flying his
job was to keep an eye on the wingmen through his large windows and
tail radar, so he had to spend the entire mission in his little compartment.

Despite the bone-chilling cold, Leborov was bathed in sweat by the
time he’d returned to the cockpit and strapped himself into his seat
again. “Pilot’s back up,” he reported.
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“You look like shit,” Borodev said cross-cockpit to his aircraft com-
mander. “You didn’t rot yego yebal with the bombardier again, did you?”

“Screw you.”

Borodev looked at his friend carefully. ““You okay, buddy?”

Leborov was silent for a few moments. Then, “Ah, shit, Yuri, no one
deserves to die in their bed under a fucking nuclear fireball.”

“That’s not our concern nor our decision, Joey,” Borodev said. He
liked calling his friend the anglicized version of his name, because he
was so obsessed with the dichotomy of Americans—their strange mixture
of strength, humor, ruthlessness, and generosity. Some thought his preoc-
cupation with all things American would affect his job performance—
and, Borodev admitted, maybe they were right. “Our targets are missile-
launch facilities and underground command posts for nuclear-
warfighting units, not bedrooms. Besides, what’s the difference between
dying beneath a fireball and a one-thousand-kilo high-explosive bomb?
Dead is dead.”

“You know damn well there’s a difference. . . .

“No I don’t, partner. I don’t believe there’s a difference. Just like
there’s no difference between the American attack on Engels and this at-

”

tack. These are military attacks against military targets. Maybe some
civilians will get killed—that can’t be helped, and we’re doing every-
thing possible to limit civilian casualties, including decreasing the yields
on our weapons to limits that very well may not destroy the target. And
you gotta enjoy the irony of attacking the Americans with a mini-nuke
that they invented and deployed. . . .”

“I'm not in the mood to appreciate irony here, Yuri.”

“Joey, we’re more justified in doing this than the Americans were at-
tacking Engels—we weren’t fighting them, we were fighting the
damned Taliban that raided our bases in Turkmenistan,” Borodev went
on, driving the point home as hard as he could without attracting the at-
tention of the others behind them. The last thing they needed to hear
was their copilot trying to convince the aircraft commander that what
they were about to do was right. “The Americans attacked us for no rea-
son. Remember that! They attacked us.

“Damn it, Joey, we were there. We could’ve been killed in that raid.
One-third of our own regiment was wiped out that night, Joey. One-
third. 1lost a lot of good friends in that attack, Joey—so did you—and I
know a lot of kids who lost fathers and who can’t stop crying at night



130 DALE BROwWN

because they’re afraid of American bombs falling on top of their heads
again. Russia’s finest bomber base is abandoned now—a ghost town.
And I'm convinced that the Americans would not hesitate to keep on
attacking, using every weapon in their arsenal and threatening us with
every other weapon they had, including nukes. That’s why this attack is
necessary. | give President Gryzlov a lot of credit for having the courage
to order this mission.”

“But why are we using nukes, Yuri?”

“You know damned well, Joey,” Borodev replied. “It’s a tactical de-
cision, not a psychological one—we’re doing a job, not trying to send a
message. We're using nukes because the Kh-90s wouldn’t have the de-
structive power if we put nonnuclear warheads on them. They wouldn’t
put a dent in any of the targets we’re going after.” He looked at the pi-
lot with an exasperated expression. “You know all this stuff, my friend.
You certified this mission to the commanding general just three days
ago, and he chose you to lead this gaggle specifically because you ex-
plained it all so well. Don’t wuss out on me now, zalupa.”

“I'm not wussing out. I believe using nukes and biochem weapons
is different from using other kinds of weapons, that’s all.”

“You’re a dipshit, Joey. What’s going on? You get your girlfriend
pregnant and now you dream of a perfect world with no fighting and
no war? Wake up, pal.” He looked at his friend carefully. “You got her
pregnant, didn’t you?”

“Worse—I married her.”

“You jerk! You never listen to a thing I tell you!” Borodev said, slap-
ping him hard on the shoulder. “Congratulations! When were you
planning on telling the general?”

“I submitted the paperwork to him three days ago. He signed us oft
yesterday.”

“The great Josef Leborov, scourge of the gay bars—I mean, the
taverns—missing in action because he has a wife and a rug rat now. I'm
glad I lived to see the day.” He patted his friend on the shoulder. “Good
man. If we make it, you have someone to go home to ... and if you
don’t, your name carries on. Well done, Senior Captain. Now, can we
please get back to fucking work?”

“Affirmative,” Leborov said. On intercom he reported, “Crew, all
weapons have been visually checked and are ready, and we have visually
ensured that our gunner is still with us. Station check.” Every crew
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member did an oxygen check, checked his equipment, and reported
back in order. “Very well. Naviguesser, position report?”

“Thirty-two minutes to the start-countermeasures point,” the nav-
igator responded. The start-countermeasures point was the farthest
point from which American radar planes based at Eielson Air Force Base
in Fairbanks, Alaska, could detect them. So far their intelligence had not
reported any airborne, but Leborov knew that could change at any time,
and without warning. “Approximately three hours to the launch
point.”

“Thank you,” Leborov said. Borodev looked at him, and he realized
that his voice sounded a little high-pitched and squeaky, a combination
of his heavy breathing from crawling around almost the entire length of
the plane and from the realization that time was passing quickly and the
action was going to start very, very soon. He flashed his friend their mu-
tual “okay” signal, ordered a crew-compartment and oxygen check,
then decided to finish off his last box lunch now, before things started
getting hairy.

SECRETARY OF DEFENSE’S BRIEFING ROOM, THE PENTAGON
A few hours later

t Ayou don’t mind my saying so—and I don’t care if you do or not—

you all sound like a bunch of bickering, whining children,” Secretary
of Defense Robert Goft said, slumping wearily in his seat. He had just
received a rundown on the current emergency from the chairman of
the Joint Chiefs, the chief of staff of the Air Force, the commander of
Air Combat Command, the commander of Air Intelligence Agency, and
finally Brigadier General Patrick McLanahan—and his head really hurt
now. The emergency meeting was called because of the alert sent by the
North American Aerospace Defense Command, sent directly to the
chief of operations in the secretary of defense’s office.

When the warning from NORAD sounded, the White House was
instantly put on alert, and the complex mechanisms put in motion to
evacuate the president and other senior members of government. Per
the plan, the president, the secretary of defense, the chairman of the
Joint Chiefs and any of the service chiefs in close proximity, and any
available members of the congressional leadership would get to An-
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drews Air Force Base as quickly as possible and board an Air Force E-4B
aircraft known as the National Airborne Operations Center. The E-4’s
extensive communications suite allowed anyone on board to communi-
cate instantly with virtually anyone anywhere on planet Earth. If the
president was traveling, as he was now, he would take airborne one of
the two VC-25 “flying White House” aircraft known as Air Force One
and communicate with military commanders from there.

If they couldn’t make it to Andrews, key government leaders would
be evacuated immediately to an “undisclosed location,” which almost
everyone in Washington knew to be the Mount Weather Special Facil-
ity, code-named “High Point,” the 434-acre mountain base near
Berryville, West Virginia, operated by the Federal Emergency Manage-
ment Agency to implement the National Continuity of Government
Plan. From the High Point underground-bunker complex, the A-list
government and military leaders holed up there had a direct secure
videoconference link with the White House Situation Room, Air Force
One, the Pentagon, the Navy’s E-6B National Command Post, and the
Air Force’s E-4 National Airborne Operations Center—anywhere the
president or the strategic warfighting commanders were likely to be in
an emergency. But neither the president nor anyone in his cabinet
would evacuate Washington unless absolutely necessary, and it was up to
Secretary of Defense Robert Goft and Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of
Staft Richard Venti to give the president their recommendation.

After receiving a fast status briefing from Venti—and a slightly more
detailed briefing from the commander of NORAD, General Randall
Shepard—Goft immediately called the White House operations staft
and gave them a “no imminent threat” message. It was not an easy mes-
sage to send: If he made a wrong decision, it could mean the avoidable
loss of hundreds, perhaps thousands of lives, including those in the
highest levels of government. Goff was usually ebullient, cheerful, and
smiling, but when he was angry, his expression and features turned dark,
bordering on wide-eyed maniacal. The Joint Chiefs chairman, Air
Force General Richard Venti, had not seen the secretary with such an
evil visage in quite some time.

Naturally, the person responsible for giving him this expression was
the same person that caused him to have it the last time: Patrick
McLanahan.

“I find plenty of fault to go around here,” Goff went on, “but let’s
start with the main instigator of this mess. General McLanahan, to say
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you overstepped the bounds of your authority is being far too generous.
It’s as if you have never heard of a chain of command, a direct order, or
a commanding ofticer. Your actions in this entire episode are a disgrace
to your uniform, and I think it’s about time we investigate whether or
not you should be wearing an American military uniform.

“However, just because we don’t like the person who pulled the fire
alarm doesn’t mean we can ignore the smell,” Goff went on. “General
Houser, I understand and concur that you have plenty of reason to be
angry at this gross contravention of authority and chain of command.
I’'m not an analyst, but I tend to agree with your opinion that we don’t
have enough information to make an accurate assessment. However,
your recommendation that we do nothing is astounding to me. If it were
any other person giving you this information, I think you’d do more, but
because the information came from McLanahan, you recommended no
action.” Goft turned to General Venti. “General? Recommendations?”

“Sir, I know how everyone feels about General McLanahan, but I
happen to think the man is a true professional and that his analysis is
timely and accurate,” Venti said. “If he thinks there is a danger out
there, we should do something about it. I recommend that we establish
an airborne-radar and fighter patrol over northern Alaska immediately
while we fully activate the North Warning System. General Muskoka?”

“The Third Wing from Elmendorf provides AWACS radar coverage
for northern Alaska,” Thomas Muskoka, commander of Air Combat
Command, responded from his headquarters at Langley Air Force Base
in Virginia via a secure video teleconference link. “The Three-fifty-
tourth Fighter Wing from Eielson provides F-16 alert fighter patrols,
backed up with alert F-15s from Elmendorf—fifteen to twenty minutes
away, max. This can be set up in a matter of minutes.

“Over the rest of the northern U.S., we deploy AWACS radar air-
craft from Tinker Air Force Base in Oklahoma over central Canada, de-
ploy Air National Guard air-defense fighters from Fresno and Klamath
Falls to northern bases, and reconfigure other Air National Guard fight-
ers from St. Louis, South Dakota, North Dakota, Montana, Colorado,
Michigan, Iowa, and Minnesota for air-defense duties. The AWACS
planes can be deployed within a few hours. Reconfiguring the fighters
will . . . take some time.”

The shock on Goft’s face was obvious to everyone, no matter how
hard he tried to hide it. “How long, General?” he asked.

“The Fresno and Klamath Falls fighters on ready alert can launch
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within a few minutes,” Muskoka said. “If we can arrange tanker sup-
port, which is almost a certainty, we can put them on airborne alert,
armed and ready for action.” He spread his hands resignedly. “The other
aircraft were never meant to be alert aircraft, but respond only to gen-
eral mobilization and—"

“How long, General?”

Muskoka shrugged. “Seventy-two hours at the earliest, sir,” he re-
sponded. Goft’s lips parted in surprise. Muskoka added quickly, “Fresno
and Klamath Falls should be able to launch perhaps a half dozen aircraft,
F-15s and F-16s, within a few minutes. They’ll have to do a unit recall
to get more aircraft, but with regular ongoing training sorties, we
should have another half dozen aircraft ready to go in an hour or two.
If you need more than a dozen fighters right now, sir, I'd say we’re in
deep shit.”

“I just never dreamed . . . I mean, I never thought it took so long
for us to get fighters in the air, especially after September eleventh,”
Goft said.

“Sir, we can get a fighter in the air with guns to cover one hundred
percent of the U.S. that’'ll look real tough and pretty for CNN,”
Muskoka explained, “but launching a fighter to chase down a Cessna
182 who makes a wrong turn and flies over the White House is a lot
different from chasing down a Russian bomber or a cruise missile—
doing real air-defense work.” The frustration on Muskoka’s face was
obvious. “Besides, I want to know who’s going to pay for all this—it
sure as hell shouldn’t come out of my budget!—and mostly I want to
know why we’re putting so much stock in McLanahan’s analysis. He’s
a bomber guy, not an intel weenie, for Christ’s sake!”

“As you were, General,” Venti warned.

“Excuse me, sir, but you’re talking about putting a half dozen air-
defense fighters on airborne alert over Canada, plus recalling a bunch
more—on McLanahan’s say-so? With all due respect, sir, I'd prefer a lit-
tle more reliable confirmation myself.”

“You’ve got all the confirmation you need, General,” Venti said. He
looked at Goft, who nodded and made an entry into an electronic note-
book. “Make it happen.”

“Roger, sir,” Muskoka said, and he could be seen in the videocon-
ference screen lifting a phone to his ear and giving the orders.

“General Shepard, what’s the status of your sensors and radars?”

“Operational and ready to respond, sir.” U.S. Air Force General
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Randall Shepard was the commander of the North American Aerospace
Defense Command, in charge of monitoring and defending against a
missile or bomber attack on North America; he was also “dual-hatted”
as the commander of U.S. Northern Command, in charge of defending
against military or terrorist attacks on the United States. “The long-
range radars of the North Warning System are currently operational,
with a few maintenance exceptions, which should not impact the sys-
tem’s eftectiveness. The long-range radars have a range in excess of two
hundred miles, depending on terrain and atmospheric conditions. The
short-range radars can be activated within a relatively brief period of
time, depending on local conditions.

“All NORAD-gained fighter-interceptor units are fully opera-
tional: four F-16Cs on alert at Eielson, four F-15Cs at Elmendorf, and
four CF-18s on alert at Cold Lake, Alberta, Canada—plus the Klamath
Falls and Fresno units,” Shepard went on. “I believe each wing can gen-
erate one or two more aircraft in a matter of hours, and they can gener-
ate their entire force in about two days.”

“Only twelve fighters available for all of western North America?” Goft
asked incredulously.

“Sixteen, including the continental U.S. fighters,” Shepard said.
“We’re at full authorized manning, sir. We have just enough funding to
field the units we have out there right now. The southern-U.S. and
drug-interdiction duties get all the funding, and have for many years.”
He looked at Patrick McLanahan’s image on the video teleconference
screen and added, “I still find it hard to believe we’re under a Russian
bomber threat, but be that as it may, we can respond to any threat.”

“What about OTH-B?” Goft asked.

Shepard at first appeared to be confused, then pained, before re-
plying, ‘Sir, I think the staff or General McLanahan is in possession of
outdated information. We operate only one OTH-B array, out of
Bangor, Maine, which is dedicated only to atmospheric sampling
and experiments as directed by the National Oceanic and Atmo-
spheric Administration or on request by the Department of Home-
land Security—which, by the way, has never put in a request to use it.
The West Coast OTH-B system is in warm storage, and the Alaskan
system was canceled about fourteen years ago and was never even
completed.”

“Can the West Coast system be reactivated, General?” Goft asked.

“Yes, sir—but it would take about two weeks to calibrate it and cer-
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tify its accuracy and reliability,” Shepard replied. “Even then it might
not be reliable enough to give you the information you want. The
AWACS planes are your best bet, sir. You get them airborne, and we can
plug them into the network right away and have wall-to-wall coverage.
The AWACS information is merged into North Warning and all the
other ground-radar facilities, and it forms a very complete three-
dimensional picture.”

“The AWACS are on the way, General Shepard,” Venti said. He
turned to Goff and said, “Sir, I request that NORAD direct Eielson, El-
mendorf, and Cold Lake to generate NOR AD-dedicated Bravo-force
alert sorties as quickly as possible.”

“Agreed,” Secretary Goft responded. The “Bravo” alert sorties
were additional crews and fighters readied for duty behind the frontline
planes and crews; unfortunately, it usually took several hours to prepare
them for action.

“On the way, sir,” Shepard said immediately, picking up a phone.
General Muskoka made a note and handed it offscreen to his deputy.
NORAD usually requested support from Air Combat Command for
additional planes for the fighter-interceptor alert mission, so he wanted
his fighter units ready to get the call and start lining up birds.

“General Houser, what other support can you provide for this oper-
ation?” Venti asked.

“Sir, the best support Space Command can ofter, other than the sys-
tems already mentioned, is the Defense Support Program constellation,”
Houser replied. “The DSP satellites are designed to detect the ‘hot dots’
from ballistic-missile launches but can be tuned to detect smaller heat
sources, such as bomber exhausts, traveling across the cold ocean or po-
lar icecaps. It'll take away from their primary function of ballistic-
missile launch warning, and as such I recommend against retuning DSP.
Once we get the AWACS planes airborne, sir, I think we’ll have all the
coverage we need.

“Unfortunately, HAVE GAZE and SLOW WALKER are commit-
ted to operations in Central Asia, and it’ll take several days to focus them
in on any specific area of northern Alaska or Canada.” HAVE GAZE
and SLOW WALKER were infrared satellites and sensors designed to
detect and track small missiles and aircraft. But unlike DSP satellites, in
which just three satellites could cover the entire globe, the other two
satellites had to be focused on a specific area to be effective. “DSP and
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AWACS are the best options we have without degrading our strategic
surveillance.”

“I agree,” General Shepard said. “If the Russians really are gearing
up for some sort of oftensive, NORAD relies on DSP for the first indi-
cation of ballistic missile launch, both land- and sea-based. All our other
ballistic-missile launch-warning systems are limited because they re-
quire the missiles to cross the relative horizon—that reduces launch-
warning time anywhere from two to eight minutes. Only DSP gives us
instantaneous launch warning.”

“Very well—we won’t reconfigure DSP,” Goft said. He was ready for
the meeting to be over with. “All right, we have AWACS planes on the
way from Eielson, plus the alert fighters, plus fighters on the way from the
CONUS bases, and we’re firing up the North Warning radars. Anything
else we’re overlooking?”” No response. “In that case . . .”

“Sir, I'd suggest dispersing the bomber and fighter fleet to alternate-
generation bases or to civil airfields,” Patrick McLanahan interjected.
“If the Russians do attack, I believe they wouldn’t go after civilian tar-
gets, only military ones. Military aircraft would therefore be safer at
civil airfields.”

“General McLanahan, I've agreed to the increased surveillance mea-
sures because I think that’s a prudent step and because we have much of
that infrastructure already in place,” Secretary Goff said irritably. “But
I’'m not going to agree to any more moves that would disrupt day-to-
day operations or create increased anxiety among our people, our allies,
or the Russians until I get more information.” He paused, looking
around the conference table. “Anything else?”

“Yes, sir,” General Muskoka of Air Combat Command chimed in.
He looked uncomfortable but pressed on: “General Luger of the Air
Battle Force submitted a mission plan to me that could supply you with
the information you need. His proposal is to send a small armed recon
force into Yakutsk, Russia, to ascertain the exact level of tanker-aircraft
activity there. According to the satellite images, Yakutsk is turning into
some kind of major Russian tanker base all of a sudden. General Luger
teels that we may only be seeing a small portion of the aircraft there.”

“That damned Air Battle Force outfit is not an intelligence organiz-
ation,” Houser retorted.

“Pardon the fuck out of me, Houser,” Muskoka said, “but I'm not

[

here to listen to your opinions about my operations forces
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“Knock it off, both of you,” Venti warned.

But Muskoka wasn’t nearly done shooting back at Houser. “This is
what I'm telling you, Houser: Dave Luger’s Air Battle Force ground team
is in the Aleutians, and they’re in position and ready to do a sneak-and-
peek operation to Yakutsk,” he went on. “Now, unlike McLanahan, I
trust Luger.” Patrick’s face remained stoic despite the direct indictment,
but if Muskoka noticed Patrick’s lack of reaction, he made no indication
of it. “If it was McLanahan, he’d already be in Yakutsk by now raising all
kinds of hell. Luger pushed his men to the limit of his authority and
stopped, and I commend him for it. The question I put forth to the sec-
retary and the Chiefs is simple: Do you want Luger’s boys to go forward
or not?”

“What’s your recommendation, General Muskoka?”” Secretary Goff
asked.

“Luger’s Tin Men are the only assets we have in that entire region
prepared to get us the information we need,” Muskoka replied. “His
plan is simple, it involves only a few aircraft and men, and it has a fairly
good chance of succeeding. In about two hours, we can get the scoop
on Yakutsk. I recommend you authorize them to proceed. They might
appreciate a Marine Force Recon or Army Special Forces team standing
by to back them up.”

“I've got a unit ready to go,” offered the commandant of the
Marines Corps, General Paul Hooks, after quickly studying a report
handed to him by an aide. “Bravo Company, First Battalion, Fourth
Marines, Eleventh Marine Expeditionary Unit—Special Operations Ca-
pable, 1s right now at Fort Greely, Alaska, finishing up a joint-forces ex-
ercise with the U.S. Air Force. We should be able to back up your guys.”

“Hold it, hold it,” Goff said, raising his hands. “I’'m not authorizing
an armed incursion into Russia at this time—I don’t care how good
they are. Tell General Luger to stand by and wait for my word. I don’t
want to aggravate the situation any more than we already have. Any-
thing else?” Goft asked. Before anyone could reply, he said, “I wish you
all could be in the room when I give this to the president—maybe
you’d have a better understanding of the consternation you cause when
communications break down and personalities and emotions get in the
way of clearheaded thinking. General Houser, General McLanahan, stay
with me. Everyone else, thank you.”

When the others had logged oft the secure connection, Goff went
on, “General McLanahan, General Houser has requested that you be re-
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lieved of command of the Nine-sixty-sixth Information Warfare Wing,
pending the results of a court-martial. I think you’re familiar with the
charges. As is traditional in these cases, I'm offering you the opportunity
to resign your commission in lieu of standing for court-martial.”

“With respect, sir, I object to the ofter,” Houser said. “I request that
McLanahan be bound over for trial.”

“Your objection is overruled,” Goff said. “General McLanahan?”

“Sir, before I respond to these charges, I have one last report to make
to you and to General Houser concerning this air-defense situation—"

“There 1s no ‘air-defense situation,” McLanahan!” Houser snapped.

Patrick held the classified folder up to the camera. “May I, sir?”

Goft sighed, then nodded. “Make it quick, General.”

“Sir, I ran a scenario through the Strike Assessment Catalog com-
puters using the latest intelligence data coupled with the information
we now know of deployment of Russian strategic forces in Siberia,”
Patrick said.

“What scenario?”

“The possibility of success of a Russian bomber attack on the
United States of America,” Patrick replied.

“Give me a break, McLanahan!” Houser cried.

“It is the absolute latest information available,” Patrick went on.
“To make it even more conservative, I accelerated defensive time frames
in our favor by fifty percent and decreased the size of the Russian forces
by fifty percent. The results were the same: The United States can be
successfully attacked from the air by Russian strategic air-breathing
forces, and about half of all American nuclear-capable forces, especially
land-based missiles and bombers, would be destroyed.”

“That’s nonsense!” Houser retorted.

“Sir, my report is done, and I conclude that not only is this attack
teasible but it is imminent,” Patrick said. “The Russians are modifying
their bombers for intercontinental missions, repositioning their strike
and support forces, and preparing some sort of coordinated attack using
long-range aircraft. I believe that their objective is to destroy a good
percentage of our land-based nuclear-deterrent forces. This attack
could commence at any time. Our only hope of surviving it is to get as
many armed interceptors and surveillance aircraft airborne as quickly as
possible and to keep them airborne until we determine exactly what the
Russians’ intentions are.”

“McLanahan, you have gone too far this time!”
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“Hold it, General Houser,” Robert Goff said. “General McLana-
han, I’ve let you have your say, which is more than I should have done,
but I think your past record gives you the right to be heard. I know you
to sometimes overstep your authority, but I believe you do it for good
and true reasons—in your own mind, at least. I don’t see any reason to
sound the alarm based on a computerized tarot-card reading, but I'm
going to do my due diligence here and give you much more of the ben-
efit of the doubt than I think you deserve at this particular time.

“I want you to upchannel that report right away. I want to let
everyone take a look at it and offer opinions.”

“Sir, I don’t think there’s time for that—"

“Too bad, General,” Goff said heatedly. “That’s a direct result of
your attitude and the way you conduct yourself and your units. You’ve
stepped out of line so much that no one trusts you. You created this
mind-set, Patrick—not myself, not General Houser, not General Sam-
son, not the president.

“General Houser, I want McLanahan’s report evaluated and passed
along as expeditiously as possible from your office. I already know how
you feel about McLanahan’s analysis—put it in writing, then send the re-
port on up the chain to my office. No holdups. Is that clear?”

“Yes, sir.”

“That’s the best I'm going to do for you now, Patrick,” Goft said,
“so that report had better be able to stand on its own, because I don’t
think you’ll be around to argue or defend it. Charges and specifications
have been brought against you. Because of your rank and outstanding
service to your country and to the Air Force, it is within my authority to
set aside these charges and avoid a court-martial in exchange for volun-
tary separation from military duty, to avoid any embarrassment to your-
self and your family as well as to the service. How do you respond?”

“I will not resign my commission, sir,” Patrick responded. Houser
looked shocked, before breaking out into a satisfied grin. “I do request
that I be allowed to travel to see my family instead of being confined to
quarters, since my family is in Sacramento and did not accompany me
to San Antonio.”

“General Houser?”

“No objection, sir,” Houser replied.

“Very well,” Goft said. “General McLanahan, you are hereby relieved
of duty. The charges and specifications filed against you by General
Houser remain; however, you retain all the privileges of your rank and are
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free to move about freely within the United States on your own recog-
nizance. You will submit yourself to any hearings or proceedings as di-
rected by the court-martial’s presiding ofticer. That is all.”

The video teleconference ended. Houser stood, then snatched the
report from Patrick’s hand. “I'll read it over, then give it to General
Samson while we’re on our way to Oftutt to meet with STRATCOM,
Air Combat Command, and NORAD,” he said. “But I don’t give it a
snowball’s chance in hell of seeing the light of day. This is a childish tac-
tic to discredit me and General Samson and focus attention on yourself.
Everyone’s going to see this report for what it is: a worthless, pointless
piece of crap.

“You can fly your little plane back to Sacramento and take a little
vacation. Enjoy yourself—because you’ll be in prison before you know
it. It was nice to know you, Muck. Too bad Brad Elliott twisted your
brain into knots. See ya around, nav.”

OVER THE BEAUFORT SEA, 450 MILES NORTHWEST
OF BARROW, ALASKA

A short time later

tart countermeasures point, crew,’ the crew navigator of the lead

Tupolev-95 Bear bomber announced.

“Acknowledged,” the electronic-warfare officer responded. “My
jammers are still in standby mode. All frequencies are clear. I expect to
start picking up the North Warning long-range radars in twenty min-
utes,” the EWO added.

Josef Leborov, the aircraft commander, shook his head in surprise
and checked his watch and flight plan just to be sure what he heard was
correct. It seemed like only minutes ago that the EWO had first given a
status report. “Acknowledged,” he responded. “Crew, station check.
Prepare for ingress procedures.” He took a last sip and secured his can-
teen in his flight bag, hoping like hell he’d have another chance to drink
from it. He flipped to the “Start Countermeasures” page in his check-
list. “SCM check, Yuri,” he ordered.

The checklist was long. It directed them to extinguish all external
lights; turn oft transponders and any other radios that automatically
transmitted a signal, such as the formation distance-measuring equip-
ment and air-refueling rendezvous beacons; make sure radio switches
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were configured so no one would accidentally transmit on an outside
frequency; turn down all interior instrument and cabin lights; and re-
duce cabin pressurization so any piercing of the fuselage would not
produce an explosive decompression. Even the smallest, tiniest lights
still left on in the cockpit seemed like searchlights in the ink-black sky,
and he found himself checking each light switch two and three times,
then finally pulling the circuit breakers to make sure he could not acci-
dentally turn them on. He had done this checklist so many times in
training missions and simulators, but it took on a whole new level of
importance now.

He had no sooner finished the checklist a few minutes later when he
heard a buzzing sound in his headset, and sweat spontaneously popped
onto his forehead and the back of his neck, chilling him instantly.
“Threat warning, India-Juliett band!” the EWO shouted. “F-16 Falcon
interceptor!”

“Low-level-descent checklist!” Leborov shouted, and simultane-
ously pushed the nose over and pulled the throttles of his four
Kuznetsov turboprop engines back to keep the airspeed below red line.
“Copilot, notify the formation, evasive action, proceed to opposed
ingress routes immediately.” In order to ensure that the maximum num-
ber of planes made it past the defenses, the four six-ship formations
would break apart and go in single-ship, following slightly difterent
routes—some planes were separated by only one or two degrees of
track, less than a hundred meters’ altitude, or less than a minute’s time.
Borodev’s voice was as excited and high-pitched as a woman’s as he got
on the radio to notify the rest of their package that enemy fighters were
inbound.

That would be the last transmission to his comrades until they all
met back at base . . . or in hell.

An F-16! They hadn’t expected an F-16 up here for another hour
at least. He adjusted the propeller pitch of the rearmost propellers to
increase drag so he could increase his descent rate. “Has he seen us yet?”
It was a stupid question—they had to assume that the American fighter
had them. They also had to assume that there was more than one
fighter out there—the American Air Force almost always traveled in
two-plane formations. Fortunately, the F-16’s radar did not have a true
look-down/shoot-down capability, so they had a chance if they could
make it to low level. The radar clutter of the Arctic Ocean and then the
ruggedness of northern Canada would hide them very eftectively.
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“I don’t think so, sir,” the EWO responded. “His radar is still in
long-range scan, and his track has not changed. He’s heading northeast,
across but away from us. He might lose track in a couple of minutes.”

But then again, Leborov thought, if he did what he was supposed to
do and establish a patrol orbit, along the most probable inbound path for

bombers from Russia to take—like the one they were on right now—
he was bound to find them. They were quickly running out of time.
“Any word from our support package, copilot?” Leborov asked.

“Negative,” Borodev responded woodenly. “No idea where they
are.”

“Are we on time?”

“About two minutes early,” the navigator responded. “Good tail-
winds.”

“Good tailwinds, my ass—two minutes is all the time that F-16 needs
to sound the alert.” Shit, thought Leborov. Soon the entire American and
Canadian air forces would be howling after them. Mission and radio se-
curity was one thing, but shouldn’t they know where the rest of their
strike package was? “Okay, we can’t stay up here any longer,” he said. He
put the airspeed needle right on the red line by dumping the nose even
lower. “Our best chance is to try to duck under his radar cone before he
comes around on his patrol orbit—we may be able to slip past him.”

Leborov unconsciously let the airspeed creep up past the red line in an
attempt to get down faster, but soon he could feel Borodev pulling back
on the control column. “Let’s not rip the wings oft this old hog, Joey,” he
said. “We've still got a long way to go.” He pulled the nose up to get the
airspeed back down below the red line. Damn, Leborov thought, how
many of his wingmen had started their descent? How many were still up
high? He hoped everyone used proper crew discipline and was ready
when that fighter appeared—or they’d be dead meat.

ABOARD AN F-16C FIGHTING FALCON FIGHTER,
OVER THE BEAUFORT SEA

That same time

nifepoint, Knifepoint, Hunter Four, blue four.”
“Hunter, this is Knifepoint, strangle mode three and Charlie, go
active, stand by for mickey check. ... Hunter, acknowledge. Verify
you’re single-ship this morning.”
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“Knifepoint, Hunter checks, I'm single-ship. My wingman will join
up later.”

“Copy that, Hunter. Negative contacts, cleared into track Gina-two,
deploy, advise joker.”

“Hunter copies, wilco.”

To tell the truth, thought U.S. Air Force First Lieutenant Kelly For-
man, she preferred being up here by herself, without having to keep an
eye out for a wingman or flight lead. The Alaska sky was an absolute de-
light to fly in—clear, crisp, and cold, with only the stars above and a
very, very few lights below. She sometimes felt as if she were the only
person in the sky right now. . . .

Which was obviously not true, or else she would not have been sent
up here on such short notice.

The twenty-six-year-old mother of two boys was a newly opera-
tional F-16C Fighting Falcon pilot in the Eighteenth Fighter Squadron
“Blue Foxes” out of Eielson Air Force Base, Alaska. Although the Blue
Foxes were a ground-attack fighter unit, using the LANTIRN night-
attack and low-level navigation system, they were often tasked with the
air-defense mission as well, operating with the Nineteenth Fighter
Squadron’s F-15 Eagle fighters and the 962nd Airborne Air Control
Squadron’s E-3C AWACS radar planes out of Elmendorf Air Force Base
in Anchorage. But tonight she was all by herself. Even after an hour, she
was still by herself—her wingman was still broken, still on the ground.
Another F-16 had just taken oft a few minutes earlier, with one of the
168th Air Refueling Wing’s KC-135 tankers based at Eielson, and
wouldn’t rejoin for another thirty minutes.

Forman was two hundred miles northwest of Point Barrow, Alaska,
over the seemingly endless expanse of the Arctic Ocean. She had just
entered her assigned patrol orbit, which was a narrow triangular course
aligned northwest-southeast, at an altitude of fifteen thousand feet. She
was the “low CAP,” or combat air patrol, the altitude that allowed her
APG-68 radar to see all the way down to the ocean’s surface, at her
radar’s optimal range of eighty miles, and all the way up to thirty thou-
sand feet, on its normal long-range-scan mode; once her wingman
joined her, he would take the high CAP, twenty-four thousand feet, so
he could see as high as fifty thousand feet.

As briefed, Forman reduced speed to save fuel and started her turn
northwestbound in the triangle. “Hunter Four’s established in Gina-
two,” she reported to Knifepoint. Knifepoint was the call sign of the
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Alaska NORAD Regional Surveillance Center, based at Elmendorf Air
Force Base, which combined radar information from the North Warn-
ing System, Federal Aviation Administration, Transport Canada, and
other military and civil radars into one regional control center. Knife-
point was different from an air-traffic-control center—unlike air-traffic
controllers, who strived to keep aircraft safely separated, the Knifepoint
controllers’ job was to maneuver fighters as close as possible to other
aircraft.

“Roger, Hunter,” the controller responded. “No contacts.” Up
here, at the top of the United States, Knifepoint relied on the North
Warning System radars to see any intruders—the FAA radars in Fair-
banks and Anchorage did not have the range to see this far north. The
North Warning System, or NWS, in Alaska consisted of four long-range
partly attended radars, nicknamed “Seek Igloo,” plus eight short-range
unattended radars, called “Seek Frost,” which closed the gaps in the
longer-range systems.

Air patrols were a combination of monitoring the instruments,
keeping track of the aircraft in its patrol track, twisting the heading
bugs at the corners to head down the next leg, watching the radar and
radar-warning receivers for signs of aircraft—and staying awake. For-
man enjoyed air-defense exercises because she knew there was going to
be an intruder, and it was her job to find it. In the real world, she had
to assume there was an intruder out here in all this darkness. Many
times air-defense fighters would be launched after being detected by
the FAA or North Warning System, and she would be vectored into
position while radar-silent and intercept the intruder from behind to
attempt an identification. Those were damned exciting.

Not so this time. She didn’t know the exact reason she’d been
launched and sent to this patrol, but so far there was no sign of intrud-
ers. Often fighters were sent into air patrols because the Russians had
spy planes nearby, or because NOR AD, the Air Force, or the Canadians
wanted to test or observe something. It was impossible to know;, so she
assumed there was a bad guy out here that needed to be discovered.

But she’d been launched right at the end of her duty day, after
studying for a pre-check-ride written exam while doing her normal
training duties. An eight-hour duty day followed by several hours’ fly-
ing in the wee hours of the morning . . . swell. This could turn into a
very, very long morning.

She had just turned eastbound after completing her initial fifty-mile
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northwest patrol leg when she heard, “Knifepoint, this is Hunter Eight,
blue four.” It was Forman’s wingman, finally checking on with the
NORAD controller.

“Hunter Four, Knifepoint, your company is on freq.”

“Roger that, Knifepoint. Hunter Four checking off to talk with
company aircraft. I'll monitor your frequency and report back up.”

“Roger, Hunter, cleared as requested.”

Forman switched over to her secondary radio: “Eight, this is Four
on tactical. 'Bout time someone showed. Girls don’t like being stood
up, you know.”

“Sorry about the delay—nothing’s working right on the ramp this
morning. Must be a full moon. We’re about two hundred miles out.
How’s everything going?”

“Nice and quiet. Established in the low CAP. The bird is doing
okay.” She punched instructions into her navigation computer, check-
ing her fuel reserves. “Joker plus one on board.” The “joker” fuel level
was the point at which she had to leave the patrol area and head for
home; she had one hour left on patrol before she had to head back in
order to arrive with normal fuel reserves, which in Alaska were sub-
stantial. Because weather and airfield conditions changed rapidly here,
and because suitable alternate airfields were very, very few and far
between in this big state, every fighter flying in Alaska took as much
fuel as possible with it on patrol; Kelly’s F-16 had two 370-gallon drop
tanks on board, along with four AIM-120 AMR AAM radar-guided
missiles, two AIM-9L “Sidewinder” heat-seeking missiles, and ammu-
nition for the twenty-millimeter cannon. Aerial-refueling tankers were
precious commodities.

“Roger that. I brought the gas can with me. Any sign of Roadkill?”
“Roadkill” was the Blue Foxes’ name for their brethren in the Nine-
teenth Fighter Squadron—their squadron emblem, a stylized gamecock,
looked to many folks like a squished critter on the road. The F-15Cs of
the Nineteenth, coming with their E-3C AWACS radar plane, were the
air-defense specialists; the F-15s had much longer legs, two-engine reli-
ability, and a better look-down, shoot-down radar to find any bad guys
that might be up here. They would undoubtedly take over the air-patrol
mission once they arrived, although the F-16s liked to play with them as
much as possible, too.

“Negative.” There was a lot of static on the channel all of a sudden,
which was fairly common at the higher latitudes, usually because of
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sunspot activity. The northern lights were beautiful up here, but the so-
lar flares that caused the sky to light up with waves and waves of shim-
mering light played havoc with the radios.

“Rog. I'll give you a call if T hear from them. See you in a few.”
Despite the growing static, Kelly instantly felt much better. Although
she enjoyed flying by herself, it sure was comforting to hear a friendly
voice on the airwaves, to know that friendly forces were on the way—
especially the tanker.

Forman was a couple minutes from her turn to the southeast when
the radar target box winked on, at the extreme center-left edge of her
heads-up display. Got a nibble, she told herself as she made a hard left
turn to center up on the newcomer. It was high enough so it probably
wasn’t an ice floe or some other—

When she rolled out of her turn, she couldn’t believe what she saw:
radar targets everywhere. She thought she had a radar malfunction, so she
turned her radar to sTBY, then back to rRaDIATE—and the targets were
still there. Maybe two dozen targets, all at different altitudes.

“Ho-lee shit,” she muttered to herself. Frantically, she switched back
to the command channel on the primary radio. Through a haze of sta-
tic, she radioed, “Knifepoint, Knifepoint, this is Hunter Four, ‘gorilla,”
say again, ‘gorilla,” northwest two-four bull’s-eye.” “Gorilla” was the
brevity code for a large formation of unidentified planes in indetermi-
nate numbers. Forman gave the target’s position relative to an imagi-
nary point that changed on every patrol. She couldn’t give the targets’
altitude, speed, or any more precise information because there were so
many of them out there.

“Say again, Hunter.” There was a loud squeal in the radios that the
frequency-hopping communications system couldn’t eliminate. “Be ad-
vised, Hunter, our status is ‘bent,” repeat, ‘bent.” Keep us advised.”

Jamming—someone was jamming them! Forman switched to her
secondary radio and found it hopelessly jammed. The squealing was
drowning out all recognizable sound even before she keyed the mike.
Maybe whoever was jamming her radios was jamming the North Warn-
ing System radar, too—the “bent” code meant that the ground radar
was inoperative. So now she was all alone up here with a huge number
of planes bearing down on her, with no way to contact anyone.

The only thing she had left were her orders and her tactical doc-
trine: Any unidentified aircraft entering the Air Defense Identification
Zone had to be identified, and if they acted in a hostile manner, they
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were to be shot down immediately, as quickly as possible before reach-
ing U.S. airspace. She was to continue the interdiction mission until she
reached “bingo” fuel, which gave her the minimum fuel state over the
intended recovery base only.

Forman thumbed her stick controls and designated the lead aircraft
in the lead formation, placed the radar pipper just to the left and below
center in her heads-up display, and headed toward it. This guy was
screaming for the deck, descending at fifteen thousand feet per minute.
Too late, pal, she thought—I got you. . . .

he radar-warning receiver blared again—but this time, instead of a

steady electronic tone, they heard a fast, high-pitched, raspy sound.
“Fighter has locked on,” the electronic-warfare officer said. “Eleven
o’clock . . . moving into lethal range.”

Leborov couldn’t believe the speed of that thing—it seemed only
seconds ago that they first got the warning. “What the hell should I
do?” he shouted.

“Turn left, head into him!” the EWO shouted. “That’ll increase his
closure rate, and he’ll be forced to maneuver.” That wasn’t necessarily so
with an F-16—they could shoot Sidewinder missiles directly into your
face all day long—but he had to give the pilot something to do until they
got low. “All jammers on and operating . . . chaff and flares ready.”

“Passing two thousand for five hundred,” the navigator said.

“Screw that, nav—we’re going to one hundred meters,” Leborov
said. “If he wants to come down and play, let’s get way down into the
weeds!” Bravado? Maybe, but he wasn’t going to get shot down without
a fight, and there was one place the Tupolev-95 liked to fly, and that was
down low.

hirty miles . . . twenty miles . . . the plane was still heading down,

passing five thousand feet and descending fast. She was at ten thou-
sand feet, not real anxious to chase this guy down until she started
rolling in behind him for an ID. He turned slightly into her, so they
were going nose to nose now. She configured her cockpit switches for
low-light operations and lowered her PVS-9 night-vision goggles. The
view was matte green and with very little contrast, but now she could
see a horizon, the shoreline far behind her, details of the outside of her
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jet—and a spattering of bright dots in the distance: the unidentified air-
craft. There were so many that it looked like a cluster of stars.

Forman thought about trying to contact the plane on the interna-
tional emergency “GUARD” frequency, but the jamming was too
heavy and getting stronger as she closed in. Was that considered a “hos-
tile act” right there? Probably so. Fifteen . . . ten .

Suddenly one of the other myriad radar targets on her heads-up dis-
play scooted across the scope to her right, traveling . . . Shit, the guy was
supersonic. She immediately pulled up, jammed her throttle to zone-five
afterburner, and turned hard right to pursue. The first guy never went
above four hundred knots, even in a screaming-ass dive, but this new-
comer was going twice as fast! He would reach the coastline way before
these others—if she didn’t catch him first.

Again she tried to radio Knifepoint and her wingman of the new
contact—but the jamming was still too heavy. Each one of those in-
coming planes must have enormous jammers to take out digital radios
and even the North Warning System radars at this range! Even her
APG-68 radar was getting spiked, and it had plenty of antijam modes.

The fast newcomer was at forty-three thousand feet, traveling just
over the speed of sound, heading east-southeast. Forman locked him up
on radar easily after getting behind him and tried to interrogate his
Identification Friend or Foe system. Negative IFF—he was a bandit, all
right. Supersonic, no modes and codes, flying way off transpolar flight
routes through a curtain of electronic jamming—unless it was some
Concorde pilot hot-dogging it for his rich passengers, he was a bad guy.

The bandit was passing Mach 1.1, the speed limit for her F-16
Fighting Falcon’s external fuel tanks. No Alaska fighter pilot ever
wanted to punch off external fuel tanks, especially if there was a tanker
anywhere in the area, but she would never catch him otherwise, so, re-
luctantly, off they went. As soon as this guy was ID’d and the Nine-
teenth showed up, she was done for the evening—even with a tanker on
the way, no fighter pilot played very long up in Alaska without plenty of
extra fuel.

It was funny the things you thought about at a time like this, Kelly
mused to herself. Here she was chasing down a bandit, in the midst of
hostile jamming, and all she could think was that someone was going to
have to pay for a couple 370-gallon fuel tanks.

She tried the IFF interrogate switch a couple more times—still neg-
ative—then hit her MASTER ArM switch and selected her twenty-
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millimeter cannon instead of her radar- or infrared-guided missiles.
This guy definitely met all the criteria of being a bad guy, she thought,
but she had enough gas right now to try to do a visual ID. At Mach 1,
he was still fifteen minutes from reaching the Canadian coast. She had
forty-five minutes to bingo fuel—a number that was dropping rapidly
every minute she spent in zone-five afterburner—so she decided to go
in close for a visual.

She kept the power up and was starting to get into visual range in
just under five minutes when suddenly her radar-warning receiver
emitted a high-pitched, fast deedledeedledeedle warning tone. An enemy
fire-control radar had locked on to her! The heads-up display catego-
rized it as an “unknown,” position directly ahead of her. But there were
no other aircraft except the guy in front of her. . . .

A tail gun! That’s the only thing it could be! The damned bandit had
locked on to her with a tail-mounted fire-control radar.

And sure as hell, moments later she saw winks of light coming from
the still-dark silhouette of the bandit in front of her. The bastard was fir-
ing a tail gun at her! She immediately punched out radar-decoying chaft
and flares and broke hard right to get away. She heard a couple hammer
taps somewhere on the fuselage, but there were no warning messages.

Kelly was not scared—she was incensed! She’d been shot at by Iraqi
surface-to-air missiles while doing patrols for Operation Southern
Wiatch, and she’d taken on plenty of simulated surface-to-air missiles,
antiaircraft artillery, and every kind of air-to-air missile possible in
training—but she’d never been shot at by a tail gunner. She didn’t even
know that any planes had tail gunners anymore! Furious, she flipped her
arming switch from the cannon to her Sidewinder missiles and tight-
ened her turn, getting ready to line up on the bandit.

No question any longer—the guy was a hostile. She wished she
could tell her wingman or the Nineteenth about the other bogeys head-
ing in, fearing they all might have tail gunners, but the jamming was still
too heavy. No matter—this guy was going down.

But as she lined up for her first shot, her night-vision goggles
blanked out a tremendous burst of light coming from the bandit. It was
a missile launch—but the missile was huge, hundreds of times larger
than an air-to-air missile. The tail of fire had to be two hundred feet
long! The missile shot straight ahead for a mile or two, then pulled up
abruptly. A few moments later, she heard a sonic boom, followed by a
large flash of light, and the missile accelerated and disappeared in the
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blink of an eye. Oh, Christ, Forman thought, he’s firing attack missiles
toward Canada. They were too fast to be cruise missiles. They looked
like . . . like . . .

Like air-launched ballistic missiles.

As soon as Kelly got a lock indication, she fired a Sidewinder. Sec-
onds later another big missile launched from the bomber. “Oh, my
God,” she muttered, and she fired her last Sidewinder. The first
Sidewinder veered from the attack plane and went after the second mis-
sile, but it accelerated oft too quickly. The Sidewinder couldn’t reac-
quire the plane and fell harmlessly away until it exploded. Just
milliseconds before the second Sidewinder hit, the bandit launched a
third big missile.

Her second Sidewinder hit the enemy aircraft directly in its right
engine. The bandit veered right, stabilized, veered right again, started
to turn left, then made a slower, steadier right turn, crossing directly in
front of her. Forman closed in for the kill. At four miles, as the bandit
made 1its turn, she recognized it as a Russian Tupolev-22M bomber,
nicknamed “Backfire,” its variable-geometry wings slowly swiveling
forward. It had two large external fuel tanks beside the fuselage on
each side. Smoke and fire were trailing from the right engine, getting
heavier each second. She switched to her cannon, zoomed down on
him, and opened fire. Shells peppered the fuselage and left wing, and
now through her night-vision goggles she could see pufts of fire com-
ing from the left engine. The Backfire aimed right for the Canadian
coast, still over a hundred miles away. She doubted if it would stay
aloft for—

Her attention was drawn to a bright streak of fire above and to her
left. She realized with horror it was another one of those huge air-to-
surface missiles. In her desperation to shoot this guy down, she forgot
she was single-ship, that there might be more bombers out there—and
that she was responsible for them all until help arrived! That was proba-
bly why this Backfire turned right instead of left—to distract her
enough so the wingmen could launch their missiles.

Forman turned sharply left and started a climb, selected her AM-
R AAM missiles, and quickly locked on to the second bandit just as it
launched a second big air-to-ground missile—but then her radar-
warning receiver screeched again, and this time the hammer blows and
shudders she’d felt before came back twice as hard. In her drive to hose
the first Backfire and then diverting her attention to the second bandit,
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she’d flown too close to the tail end of the first Backfire and gotten into
its kill zone.

The engine instruments were still okay, but she could feel a vibra-
and then she noticed it, the
right-wing fuel gauge dipping well below the level of the left. She im-

tion in her control stick and rudder pedals

mediately started transterring fuel from the right wing to the fuselage
and left-wing tanks, but there was probably no room in the other tanks
for the right-wing fuel—she was going to end up losing it. Fuel was life
up here in the Arctic.

And as she fretted about her fuel state, the second bandit launched a
third missile, then started to do a one-eighty. Now she assumed that
each Backfire carried three of those big honking missiles, and she as-
sumed that there were more up here, so instead of pursuing the second
bandit, she searched farther west and south for more high-flying fast-
movers. Sure enough, two more supersonic bogeys appeared.

She quickly verified that they were not transmitting any friendly
IFF codes—they were not. She had to fly west a few minutes to get
within range, which was not the direction she needed to be flying. Kelly
didn’t have to check the nav computer to know that if she didn’t turn
around now, she might not make it back to base. Even though Alaska
had the best search-and-rescue units in the world, there was no way you
wanted to eject over northern Alaska—and sure as heck not over the
Beaufort Sea. She had to turn back. . . .

But the Backfire she didn’t attack might be the one that launched a
missile and destroyed Eielson, Fairbanks, Anchorage, Elmendorf, or
Washington, D.C.—and there was no friggin’ way she was going to let
that happen! She started a gradual climb and turned westward to get
within position to attack with whatever ammunition she had left.

As quickly as she could, she maneuvered and locked up both Back-
fires, interrogated for friendly IFF codes once again, received a negative
reply, then fired one AMR AAM missile at each. Both Backfires imme-
diately started ejecting chaff and flare decoys, but she was close enough
for the decoys to have no eftect and the missiles to stay on target. The
first Backfire was hit on the left side of the fuselage and started to spin
almost straight down into the Beaufort Sea. The second was hit in the
belly, and the hit must’ve detonated the missile in its belly, because the
Backfire blew apart in a spectacular cloud of fire. The explosion then
ignited the two external missiles, adding their destruction to the
tremendous fury of that blast. Forman had to peel oft to the north to
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stay away from that massive blast—she swore she could feel the heat
right through her bubble canopy and winter-weight flight gear. Kelly
repeated the attack with two more supersonic targets. One AMRAAM
missed; she scored another hit on a Backfire but couldn’t see what hap-
pened to it because she had removed her night-vision goggles due to
the longer ranges involved. Next . . .

“Warning, fuel low,” the computerized “copilot,” nicknamed “Bitch-
ing Betty,” intoned. One more glance at her fuel gauges: The right
wing was almost empty, and the left wing and fuselage tanks were less
than half full. Crap. She was right at emergency fuel level—sixty min-
utes of fuel, sixty minutes’ flying time to Eielson. But the tanker was on
its way, and there was one emergency airfield at Fort Yukon that she
might be able to use. She still had plenty of ammo in the cannon. Time
to get busy.

Forman lowered her night-vision goggles and did strafing runs on
two more Backfires, scoring hits on both but unsure if she’d done any
damage. She then turned farther to the west to look for more targets—
and there they were. As she saw it, there were several waves of attack-
ers—multiple levels of slower-moving planes, most of them descending
to low altitude, and another wave of high-speed attackers at higher alti-
tude that appeared to be blowing past the slow-movers and launching
huge hypersonic missiles, perhaps to pave the way for the slow-movers.

“Warning, fuel emergency,” Bitching Betty chimed in. In her drive to
get as many enemy planes as possible, Kelly had ignored her fuel state.
She knew that her wingman was coming, but he was still at least twenty
minutes away. She was almost out of ammunition—admittedly having
been a little excitable and trigger-happy on her first gun pass, but being
more frugal as her supply got lower and lower. She tried the radios
again—still jammed. The datalink hadn’t activated yet, meaning that the
AWACS plane from Elmendorf hadn’t arrived yet. There was no indica-
tion that her wingman was anywhere in the area, so she couldn’t even
lead him to the bandits.

With the sky full of enemy planes all around her, she came to the
horritying realization that she was done for the day—she had no fuel
and no weapons. The enemy aircraft were heading farther to the south-
east, within visual range of the Canadian coastline by now. They were
heading away from Eielson, so she couldn’t pursue. It was the hardest
thing she’d ever done in her life, but she had no choice except to break
off and head for home.
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And then she saw them: more missiles flying overhead. The Back-
fires that she couldn’t down were launching their missiles! And she was
powerless to stop them.

Forman pointed her F-16’s nose toward Eielson, entered the emer-
gency beacon code into her transponder, and throttled back to max-
range power. On radar she could see even the slow-movers down low
passing her easily. Her radar tracked twelve bandits cruising on their way
toward North America, and it detected even more missile launches. She
kept trying her radios, but it would be no use until every one of the
bandits had disappeared from radar.

As she slowed to her best-range power setting, the vibration in her
stick and rudder pedals got worse. She couldn’t go below three hundred
knots without the fighter’s shaking so violently that she thought she
could lose control at any second. That was not good. It meant that air
refueling was probably out of the question.

“Hunter Four, this is Hunter Eight on company, how do you read?”

Thank God the jamming had subsided enough to hear human
voices, she told herself. “Two by, Eight,” she responded. “How me?”

“Weak and barely readable,” her wingman said. “We tried to raise
you earlier, but no response. I have you tied on, three-zero at one-two
bull’s-eye, base plus eleven. What’s your state?”

“Eight, I engaged seven, repeat, seven bandits,” Forman said breath-
lessly. “Do you copy?”

“You engaged seven bandits? Did you make visual contact?”

“Affirmative. Russian Backfire bombers. Two of them launched
what appeared to be very large air-to-surface missiles. I got six of the
bandits. There were several groups of bandits, the Backfires up high and
slower-movers that descended to low altitude. They were headed south-
east. I have been unable to contact Knifepoint. Can you try? Over.”
Hunter Eight was farther south, away from the Russian planes that were
jamming them—she hoped he’d have better luck.

Now Forman’s wingman sounded as breathless as she did. “Stand
by,” he said. On the primary radio, she heard, “Knifepoint, Knifepoint,
this 1s Hunter Eight.” It took several tries to reach the NORAD con-
troller. “Hunter Four has engaged large hostile attacking bomber force.”
He gave the approximate position and direction of flight.

“We copy all, Hunter flight,” the controller responded. “We en-
countered heavy MIJling on all frequencies. We have lost contact with
all SEEK IGLOO and SEEK FROST sites. Unable to provide service at
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this time.” The controller paused, then said, “We saw the gaggle go by,
and then we lost our radars. There

but we couldn’t talk to anyone
wasn’t a damn thing we could do.”

NORTH AMERICAN AEROSPACE DEFENSE HEADQUARTERS,
CHEYENNE MOUNTAIN AIR FORCE STATION, COLORADO

That same time

riple-C, this is ADOC, we have a situation,” the intercom announce-

ment began. “Alaska NORAD Region has just submitted a radar
outage report. They report losing contact with four long-range radars
and seven short-range radars of the North Warning System. They’ve
also submitted a Fighter Status Report and indicate they have lost con-
tact with one of their fighters scrambled out of Eielson. This is not a
drill. Both Alaska NORAD and Eielson report communications out-
ages as well.”

“ADOC, Command copies,” responded U.S. Army Colonel Joanna
Kearsage, the command director of the Combined Control Center. “All
OCs, stand by. Systems, warm up the hot lines. This is not a drill.”
Kearsage was a former Patriot air-defense-brigade commander from
Fort Hood, Texas, and a twenty-two-year Army veteran. She once
thought that nothing compared to deploying her brigade out to the
field on short notice and putting her beloved Patriot missile system
through its paces—and then she got the assignment to the Mountain.
She’d been wrong. For eight hours every day and a half, information
from all over the world flowed right to her fingertips, and she made de-
cisions that affected the lives of two great democracies and the peace
and freedom of the entire world. There was nothing else like it.

At first the idea of living in a huge underground bunker was not
very appealing. The Cheyenne Mountain Operations Center was a series
of massive excavations covering four and a half acres deep inside the
Mountain. Inside the granite excavations was a rabbit’s warren of fifteen
steel buildings, most of which were three stories tall, all mounted on
springs to absorb the shock of a nuclear blast or earthquake. There was
no contact between the buildings and the rock; flexible corridors con-
nected the buildings. The complex had its own emergency power gen-
erators and water reservoirs, along with its own dining halls, medical
centers, and barracks, and even such creature comforts as two exercise
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centers, a barbershop, a chapel, and a sauna. The whole complex was en-
closed behind massive steel doors, each weighing over twenty-five tons
but so precisely balanced on their hinges that only two men could push
them open or closed if necessary.

The command director of the Cheyenne Mountain Operations
Center was the person in charge of the round-the-clock global moni-
toring network of three major military commands: the North American
Aerospace Defense Command, the U.S. Strategic Command, and the
U.S. Northern Command, all responsible for the defense of the United
States and Canada. Kearsage’s forty-person Charlie crew manned the
extensive communications and computer-network terminals that col-
lected information from everywhere in the world and from space and
merged it into the displays and readouts presented to the command di-
rector and her operations staff. Her battle staff was broken up into oper-
ations centers within Cheyenne Mountain: Missile Warning, Air
Warning, Space Control, Intelligence, Systems Control, and Weather.
Each center’s combined data was displayed in the command center on
several computer monitors of various types and sizes.

Kearsage was seated in the command center along with her deputy
commander, Canadian Forces Colonel Ward Howell, and the noncom-
missioned officer in charge of command communications. Dominating
the command center were four wall-size monitors with graphical com-
pilations of the global threat and continental defense picture. The left-
center screen showed the current threats for North America, and the
right-center screen showed threats around the world. Flanking the two
large center screens were two other screens showing the status of air-
defense and strategic-attack forces. Two rows of computer monitors in
front of Kearsage and her deputies showed up-to-date information and
reports from the individual operations centers themselves.

Her attention was riveted on the North America display, which
showed the circles representing the optimal range of the long-range
radars, or LRRs, and short-range radars, or SRR, of the North Warn-
ing System in northern Alaska and northern Canada. The circles were
blinking red, indicating a malfunction or degradation. The North
Warning System was the first line of defense against air-breathing
threats to the North American continent—and for some reason a good
chunk of it was suddenly shut down.

In addition, there was a blinking red inverted V, indicating the last
known position of the F-16 scrambled out of Eielson Air Force Base on
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cryptic orders from the Pentagon. She could still see the two other
groups of symbols, representing other airborne assets: one F-16C and a
KC-135R tanker from Eielson, which were supposed to rendezvous
with the lone F-16; and two F-15Cs and an E-3C AWACS radar plane
flying northeast from Elmendorf Air Force Base in southern Alaska to
temporarily set up a long-range radar and fighter picket northwest of
Alaska over the Arctic Ocean. But the other two groups of symbols
were steady green—on course, on time, and in contact. What happened
to the first F-16?

“ADOC, talk to me,” Kearsage said, using the acronym for the Air
Defense Operations Center inside the Mountain, her group responsible
for tracking and identifying all air targets over North America. “What
do we have? And where is that fighter?”

“Village is trying to ascertain the status of those radars and to make
contact with the fighter,” the Air Warning Center’s senior controller re-
sponded. “Remote transmissions appear to be experiencing heavy in-
terference.” “Village” was the call sign for the Alaska NORAD regional
headquarters at Elmendorf Air Force Base.

“SOLAR, would sunspot activity be responsible for the comm in-
terference?” “SOLAR” was the nickname for the Weather Support
Center at nearby Peterson Air Force Base, which provided weather sup-
port to Cheyenne Mountain.

“Unknown at this time, ma’am, but we’re not experiencing any ab-
normal solar activity.”

“Triple-C, this is MWC,” the controller at the Missile Warning
Center at NORAD reported. The Missile Warning Center was respon-
sible for detecting, identifying, and monitoring any possible missile
launches anywhere on the planet, using heat-seeking satellites, and pre-
dicting if the missiles posed a threat to North America. “We’re looking
at some events near the long-range and short-range radar sites in north-
eastern Alaska and northwestern Canada. Not very high threshold

bR

readings—definitely not ballistic-missile launches. Stand by.” “Events”
were how they referred to whatever hot spots the heat-sensing Defense
Support Program satellites could pick up—anything from oil-well fires
and forest fires to ballistic-missile launches.

“Village, this is Anchor, what do you think?” “Anchor” was
Kearsage’s code word for NOR AD headquarters.

“Ma’am, we’re in contact with the fighter’s wingman, who took oft

from Eielson, and we’re in contact with the F-15s and AWACS that
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launched out of Elmendorf,” the senior controller at the Alaska NO-
RAD Region headquarters responded. “Some sort of localized inter-
ference over the Beaufort Sea.”

“Are you going to submit an ECTAR?”

“Negative. Not at this time,” the senior controller responded.

Kearsage allowed herself to relax a bit. An Electronic Countermea-
sures Tactical Action Report, or ECTAR, was an important notifica-
tion, because it was often the first indication of an enemy attack. If
there was some kind of jamming, the NORAD Regional Operations
Centers were supposed to launch airborne-radar planes and prepare to
transfer control to them. So far they had not lost tactical command—
that was a good sign. “MWC, what you got for us?”

“Triple-C, we recorded a few brief hot events,” the Missile Warn-
ing Center’s controller responded. “Not sunlight glints, but very brief
flares. Perhaps a fire or explosion.”

Kearsage and Howell turned and looked at each other. “Electronic
interference, loss of contact with both the radars and our fighter, and
now possible explosions near the LRRs—looks pretty suspicious to
me,” Howell said.

“But we don’t have any indication of a threat,” Kearsage said. “And
we have contact with all other airborne assets. . . .”

“Colonel, that message from Air Intelligence Agency was pretty spe-
cific—a possible bomber attack against the United States, similar to the
attack on that CIA base in Uzbekistan.”

She looked at him, looked at his eyes to read the seriousness of his
words—and what she saw scared her. Howell was the former fighter pi-
lot on this command crew. He’d been involved in strategic air defense
for almost his entire career. He was always the stoic, unflappable
Canuck—and if he thought this was a real emergency, he meant it. He
also rarely called her by her rank, except if VIPs or commanding offi-
cers were in the Mountain—if he used her rank now, he was probably
scared, too.

That warning from the U.S. Air Force was certainly weird. Nor-
mally intelligence data flowed directly from whatever source, usually Air
Intelligence Center or sometimes directly from the U.S. Space Com-
mand, to NORAD. This time a warning had been issued by the chief of
staft of the U.S. Air Force. This indicated some kind of turmoil in the
Pentagon. That was usually very, very bad news. Someone had broken
the chain of command, which usually resulted in confusion and chaos.
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She heard through the grapevine that it was a flap in Air Intelligence
Agency, involving its powerful commander and the new commander of
one of its information-warfare wings, none other than Patrick McLana-
han. That, Kearsage thought, explained a lot. McLanahan had the worst
reputation of any general officer since Lieutenant General Brad Elliott.
He was, simply, a flakeoid. He couldn’t be trusted. He’d obviously said
or done something that got everyone at the Pentagon riled up—his spe-
cialty. Now they had to expend lots of time, energy, manpower, and re-
sources proving how stupid the guy was.

Kearsage studied the map of North America. The lone F-16 and the
tanker from Eielson would soon be in the last known area of the first
F-16, and the E-3C AWACS and the two F-15s from Elmendorf would
join up a few minutes later. Assuming there was a big outage of several
North Warning System radars, their first priority would be to fill in
those gaps.

She looked over at the list of available assets in Canada and was
pleased to see that two NATO AWACS planes were based at Four Wing,
Canadian Forces Cold Lake, Alberta, probably deployed there to support
a MAPLE FLAG air-warfare exercise. “Let’s get an AWACS and a cou-
ple CF-18s airborne from Cold Lake moving north to cover that gap in
the North Warning System,” she ordered.

“Roger that.” Howell picked up his telephone and hit the button
that would connect him immediately to Canadian Air Defense Forces
headquarters in North Bay, Ontario. The NOR AD-tasked fighter units
in Alaska and Canada were very accustomed to these sudden air-
sovereignty missions—they would have those three planes launched in
less than half an hour.

“MWC, I'm about to wake up the world,” Kearsage said seriously.
“I need to know if we have an attack, an incident, or an anomaly. Give
me your best guess.”

There was a slight hesitation before he responded, “Triple-C, MWC
believes we do not have an attack. We may have sustained some sort of
large-scale power outage or malfunction of a communications network,
but without further investigation. I'm not prepared to say it was an en-
emy or terrorist attack on our radar sites.”

“Very well,” Kearsage said. The first rule of NORAD surveillance:
When in doubt, report it. Even though it could be nothing more than a
short circuit or a polar bear eating through a power cable—that hap-
pened all the time—the loss of those radars needed to be reported.



160 DALE BROwWN

She flipped open her checklist, filled in some blanks with a grease
pencil, used her authenticator documents to insert a date-time group,
had Howell check it over, then picked up the telephone and dialed the
Air Force Operations Support Center in Washington. When she was
connected, she read from the script: “Monument, this is Anchor with a
Priority Secret OPREP Three BEELINE report, serial number two-
zero-zero-four-four-three. We have lost contact with three LRRs and
five SRR of the North Warning System, and we have lost contact with
a single Foxtrot-sixteen assigned combat air patrol, reasons unknown.
DSP reports brief unexplained infrared events with no tracks taking
place near the radar sites. We are investigating further but do not believe
that these are attacks against NORAD assets that would require a PIN-
NACLE FRONT BURNER report.

“We have deployed additional air-defense and airborne-surveillance
assets in the affected area, and we are investigating the radar and radio
outages.” She ended the message with the date-time group and the
proper authentication code. A BEELINE message was an alert notifica-
tion to the U.S. Air Force only, letting them know that there was a prob-
lem and what NORAD was doing to fix it. It was one step below a
PINNACLE FRONT BURNER report, which was a notification of
an actual attack or deliberate action against NOR AD.

Kearsage received an acknowledgment from the Air Force Opera-
tions Center—they were now responsible for channeling the report to
the proper agencies. She would surely get a phone call in the next few
minutes from the National Military Command Center at the Pentagon,
asking for updates and clarification. “MWC, anything?” Kearsage asked
after she received an acknowledgment that the report had been copied
and understood.

“Negative,” came the response. “No further events. Village still re-
ports negative contact with their LRRs and their F-16s, reason still un-
known.”

“Roger, Triple-C copies.” Joanna sat back in her chair, wishing she
could light up a cigarette. There was nothing else to do but wait and see
what the troops in the field could find out next.



OVER THE CHUKCHI SEA, 150 MILES NORTH OF NOME, ALASKA

That same time

ORAD’s long-range early-warning radars at Point Hope and

Scammon Bay couldn’t see them, and even RAPCON’s—Nome

Radar Approach Control—precision approach-control radar
didn’t spot them until they were well over Kotzebue Sound, heading
away from the Seward Peninsula and into the forbidding Arctic waste-
lands of Alaska. The groundspeed readout for the target did indeed say
“540”—540 knots, over 570 miles per hour—but the electrically
charged atmosphere, magnetic anomalies, and terrain often confused
and scrambled radar plots in Alaska.

Still, with a few sketchy reports of some kind of air-defense activity
up in the northeast part of Alaska, reporting even likely radar anomalies
was far better than making no report at all. The Nome Approach con-
troller issued a “pending” contact report to Fairbanks Approach Con-
trol, with an estimated time of radar contact. At the same time, the
R APCON supervisor issued a similar report to the Alaska NORAD
Region headquarters at Elmendorf Air Force Base near Anchorage.
NORAD would in turn alert the short-range radar station at Clear Air
Station in central Alaska to watch for the contact as well.

Except those manning the station would never get the chance to
see it.

The activity wasn’t a radar anomaly or magnetic disturbance—it
was a formation of two Russian Tupolev-160 supersonic bombers,
which had been flying nap-of-the-earth for the past hour, since well
over the Chukchi Peninsula of eastern Siberia.
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It originally started as a formation of four bombers, but one could
not refuel and another suffered engine failure and had to abort the mis-
sion. Their route of flight took them not over Siberia but along the
Bering Sea close to the commercial polar transoceanic flight routes,
where their presence would not cause alarm until the flight approached
the American Air Defense Identification Zone. By then the two re-
maining bombers—fully refueled and with weapon, flight, engine, nav-
igation, and defensive systems all working perfectly—descended below
radar coverage and drove eastward toward their objective. Flying at very
low altitudes—sometimes just a few meters above the sea—the bombers
successfully slipped through the gaps in the long-range NOR AD radars
along the western Alaskan coastline.

By the time the bombers were detected, it was too late . . . but even
if they had been detected earlier, there were no fighters to intercept
them and no surface-to-air missile systems to shoot them down. The
two alert fighters at Eielson Air Force Base near Fairbanks had already
been committed to the air patrol over northern Alaska with the E-3C
AWACS radar plane; the four F-15C Eagle fighters being prepared for
alert duties were still being armed and manned and wouldn’t be ready
to respond to an alert call for several minutes. The bombers were com-
pletely unopposed as they headed east, into the heart of the Alaskan
wilderness.

EARECKSON AIR FORCE BASE, SHEMYA, ALASKA

That same time

S. Marine Corps Sergeant Major Chris Wohl stuck his head in the

door, letting light from the hallway spill across the bed inside the
small room within. “Sir, you’re needed in the ready room,” he said
loudly and without preamble.

Air Force Colonel Hal Briggs was instantly awake—a trait that, al-
though it served him well as a forward combat air controller and chief
of security at HAWC, was irritating because he knew that now that he
was awake, it would be nearly impossible for him to go back to sleep. He
glanced at the glowing red numerals on his bedside alarm clock and
groaned theatrically. “Top, I just got to bed five friggin’ hours ago.
What the hell is—?”
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“Sir, you're needed in the ready room. Now.” And the door
slammed shut.

Hal knew that Chris Wohl wouldn’t awaken his boss if it weren’t
pretty damned important—usually. He quickly dressed in pixelated Arc-
tic battle dress uniform, cold-weather boots and gloves, wool balaclava,
and a parka, and headed to his unit’s ready room.

Shemya Island was only six square miles in area, the largest of the
Semichi Group of volcanic islands in the western Aleutian Island chain.
Much closer to Russia than to Anchorage, the Aleutians were barely no-
ticed before 1940; Russian blue foxes far outnumbered humans along
almost the entire chain. But the islands’ strategic location did not go
unnoticed at the start of World War II. The Japanese invaded them in
1942, occupying Adak Island and attacking Dutch Harbor on Unalaska
Island. If the Aleutians could be captured and held, the Japanese could
control the entire North Pacific and threaten all of North America.

Admiral Chester Nimitz ordered the construction of an airfield on
Shemya in 1943 to enable the staging of air raids on Japanese positions
on Adak and Kiska Islands; Shemya was chosen because it was relatively
flat and was not bothered as much by fog as were most of the other
Aleutians. By 1945 Shemya housed over eleven hundred soldiers, sea-
men, and airmen, plus a fleet of B-24 bombers and P-51 fighters. Its
tremendous strategic importance as the guardian of America’s northern
flank was in direct inverse proportion to the level of morale of its
troops, who endured years of stark isolation, lack of resources, the worst
living conditions of any base in the American military, no promotions,
and severe psychological depression. It was without a doubt America’s
version of a Soviet-style gulag.

After the end of the Korean War, Shemya’s importance steadily de-
clined, as radar and eventually satellites took over the important job of
watching the Arctic skies for any signs of attackers or intruders. At the
end of the Cold War, with the Russian threat all but eliminated, the Air
Force station was closed and put into caretaker status, with just a hand-
ful of civilian technicians on hand to service the massive COBRA
DANE ballistic-missile tracking radar, nicknamed “Big Alice,” and
other intelligence-gathering systems. The island became a massive
dumping ground for all of the Aleutians, since it was far easier to dump
even expensive equipment than it was to haul it back to the States. She-
mya became “The Rock” once more.
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But since the advent of President Thomas Thorn’s “Fortress Amer-
ica” initiative—eliminating overseas military commitments and building
up the defense of the North American continent—Shemya, fifteen hun-
dred miles west of Anchorage on the western tip of the Aleutian Island
chain, was busier and more important than ever. Already vital as an
emergency-abort base for transpolar and Far East airline and military
flights and as a location of ballistic-missile tracking radars and other
intelligence-gathering facilities, Eareckson Air Force Base, formerly just an
air station but now advanced to full air-base status, was the location of
the Aerospace Defense Command’s long-range XBR, or X-band radar,
and the In-Flight Interceptor Communications System, which provided
ultraprecise steering information to ground-based interceptor missiles
fired from silos in Alaska and North Dakota.

Eareckson Air Force Base was now in an almost constant state of
upgrade and new construction. Nearly two thousand men and women
were based there in modern concrete dormitories, connected by under-
ground tunnels and interspersed with comfortable, albeit subterranean,
offices, computer rooms, laboratories, and other amenities. The runway
facilities could now handle any aircraft in the world up to a million
pounds gross weight and could land a suitably equipped aircraft in al-
most any weather, including the frequent and usually unexpected near-
hurricane-force windstorms that were as much a part of life on Shemya
as were Russian blue foxes, the cold, and the loneliness. Every aircraft
that arrived in Shemya was housed in its own hydronically heated
hangar—sometimes in better facilities than at its home base.

Along with the construction workers and engineers assembling the
new missile-defense network, Shemya was host to many other govern-
ment and military organizations—and that included the Air Battle
Force. It was not the first time they had been there: Rebecca Furness’s
111th Bombardment Wing, from where all of the Air Battle Force’s
B-1 bombers originated, had been deployed there during the War of
Reunification, to prevent an outbreak of nuclear war on the Korean
Peninsula. Shemya’s strategic location against Russia, China, and all of
Far East Asia—especially now that all bases in Korea and Japan were
closed to permanent American military forces—made the little island
the stepping-oft point for most military operations in the North Pacific
theater.

Hal decided not to take the tunnel to the ready room out on the
flight line—and almost instantly regretted it. Although nights were
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fairly short in early spring, the changing seasons meant changing
weather. In the short walk to the ready room, Hal experienced almost
every possible climatic change: It went from cold and frosty to hori-
zontal snow and stinging ice to horizontal freezing rain to windy but
clear in a matter of a couple minutes. Once he had to brace himself
against a light pole to keep from being knocked off his feet by an errant
blast of wind.

There was one consolation: Hal was able to see a rare Aleutian sun-
rise, the first one he’d ever seen. The golden light illuminated the nearby
islands and turned the sea from dark and forbidding to an unbelievable
crystal blue. He was almost breathless with amazement—until another
gush of icy wind brought his attention back to the here and now.

Hal was hesitant to remove his balaclava to speak, but when he did,
he found that it was warming up quickly outside now that the sun was
up. All part of living and working in Alaska. As the old saying went, “If
you don’t like the weather on Shemya, wait five minutes.” “Duty Of-
ficer,” Hal spoke into thin air, “get the door for me, will you?”

“Yes, Colonel Briggs,” the female computerized voice of the Duty
Ofticer responded, and Hal felt the click of electronic locks disengaging
as soon as he touched the door handle. The “Duty Officer” was a com-
puterized all-around assistant, handling everything from routine radio
messages to complex top-secret mission planning from Air Battle Force
headquarters at Battle Mountain Air Reserve Base in Battle Mountain,
Nevada. Relayed via satellite, the Duty Ofticer tracked the location and
identity of every person assigned to Battle Mountain and instantly re-
sponded to requests, even if the person was far from the main base. As it
did at Battle Mountain, the Duty Officer constantly monitored and op-
erated all security systems wherever the Air Battle Force was deployed—
personnel never carried pass cards or had to worry about passwords or
codes. The Duty Ofticer knew who and where you were and made sure
that if you weren’t cleared to enter a particular area—from an aircraft
hangar to an individual file drawer—you didn’t get in.

Of course, Hal realized, it would’ve been far easier, faster, and more
efticient for the Duty Officer to awaken him if there was something ur-
gent happening—but getting the boss’s ass out of bed was a pleasure
Sergeant Major Wohl obviously reserved for himself, no matter what
the weather.

The ready room for the Air Battle Force was actually their aircraft
hangar, where barracks, planning, storage, and communications rooms
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had been set up. Two MV-32 Pave Dasher tilt-jet aircraft waited inside.
The MV-32 resembled the MV-22 Osprey tilt-rotor special-operations
transport—with a big, boxy fuselage; stubby, high-mounted wings; large
tail structure; and a drive-up cargo ramp—except the MV-32 was larger
and used four turbojet engines, two on each wingtip and two on the tips
of the horizontal stabilizer, in place of rotors. Like the MV-22, the Pave
Dasher could take off and land vertically yet fly like a conventional
tfixed-wing aircraft, but the MV-32 could fly 50 percent faster than the
-22 on just a little more fuel. The MV-32 was air-refuelable and had an
infrared camera and radar for terrain-following flight and precision nav-
igation and targeting. It could carry as many as eighteen combat troops
and also carried two retractable and reloadable weapon pods on the
landing-gear sponsons, along with a twenty-millimeter Minigun in a
steerable nose turret with five hundred rounds of ammunition.

Hal Briggs threw his parka and hood onto a chair. “Someone get
me coftee, and someone else talk to me,” he said, “or I'm about to get
very cranky.”

“Some increased NORAD activity, sir,” Chris Wohl responded.

“We know that already, Top,” Hal said irritably. “That’s why we’re
here. The general convinced NORAD to put fighters on patrol until
they can push out the radar surveillance.”

“It’s something else, sir,” Wohl went on, handing Briggs a large mug
of steaming coftee. “NORAD just issued a BEELINE report for sud-
den, unexplained radar outages along the North Warning System.”

That didn’t sound good. “Where are the fighters?”

“NORAD put one fighter from Eielson on patrol over the Arctic
Ocean—his wingman should be airborne shortly,” Wohl responded.
“An AWACS radar plane and a couple F-15 interceptors from Elmendorf
are on their way now to fill in for the long-range radars that are out.”

“So at the present time, all the surveillance we have north of Alaska
is one fighter?”

Wohl nodded. “Thought you’d need to know that right away, sir,”
he said.

He did. Hal thought hard for a moment, then spoke into the air,
“Briggs to Luger.”

“I was just going to give you a call, Hal,” Brigadier General David
Luger, commanding the Air Battle Force, responded via the secure
subcutaneous-transceiver system. “I got the message just now.”

“What do you think is going on?”
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“Whatever it is, it’s not good,” Dave said. “What’s your status?”

“I just need to get the children out of bed and the planes rolled out,
and we’re oft,” Hal responded. “Fifteen minutes max.”

“Good. Stand by There was a slight pause. Then Luger said,
“Civilian approach controllers just issued a ‘pending’ notification to
NORAD—an unidentified target heading east, altitude unknown,
groundspeed five hundred and forty knots.”

“A plane at low altitude going point-seven-two Mach over Alaska?”
Briggs remarked. “Either it’s Santa Claus on a training flight—or it’s
trouble.”

“It’s trouble,” Luger said. “I’ll see if the Navy can get any look-
down eyes out there. Get your guys airborne. Disperse them someplace
nearby. Adak?”

“The bad guys are the other way, Dave,” Hal said. “The Coast
Guard said we can use their hangar on Attu Island, so that’s where we’ll
go.” Attu Island, about fifty miles west of Shemya, was the largest and
rockiest of the Near Islands, and the westernmost of the American
Aleutians. It also had the worst weather in the Aleutians—if it wasn’t
having driving rain or snow with hurricane-force winds, it was blan-
keted in thick, cold fog. The U.S. Coast Guard maintained a small
search-and-rescue, maritime patrol, communications, and ground navi-
gation facility there, with just twenty people manning the small site—
they welcomed visitors and encouraged all services to use their facilities.
“They usually have plenty of fuel and provisions, too. We’ve made a few
resupply flights for them just since we arrived.”

“Good. Disperse there and keep in touch.”

“You think Shemya could be a target?”

“No, but it doesn’t hurt to be safe—and that big old radar out there
plus all the ballistic-missile defense stuft sure are pretty inviting targets,”
Dave said.

“Rog,” Hal said. He turned to Wohl and twirled his index finger in
the air, telling the master sergeant to get his men ready to fly. “What are
you going to do?”

“I'm not sure,” Dave said. “I'm not authorized to fly my
bombers. . . .” He thought for a moment, then added, “But no one said
I couldn’t fuel them and hoist them to the surface, just for a systems-test
run. Maybe I’ll see how fast my guys can get them upstairs.” Unlike any
other air base in the world, Battle Mountain Air Reserve Base was built
twelve stories underground in an abandoned national alternate military
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command center first built in the 1950s. The facility was originally
constructed to house an entire fighter-bomber air wing and over five
thousand men and women and protect them from all but a direct hit by
a one-megaton nuclear device. Aircraft were raised up to the surface on
eight large elevators located at the end of the airfield’s twelve-thousand-
toot-long runway and at the mass parking ramp.

“Sounds like a good idea to me,” Hal said. “We’ll report in when
we’re safe on Attu.”

“Roger that.”

“Any word from the general?” Even though Patrick McLanahan
had been gone for several weeks now, everyone still referred to him as
“the general.”

“He’s not at AIA headquarters anymore,” Dave said. “He may be
heading back to Sacramento. I think he may have gotten spanked for go-
ing around Houser and Samson about what the Russians are doing.”

“I have to admit, it’s quite a stretch to see a bunch of tankers at one
base in Siberia and conclude that the Russians are going to bomb the
United States,” Hal said. “But that’s the general. He’s a smart guy and
one hell of a leader, but he does tend to lead with his chin sometimes.”

“Hal, it scared the hell out of me when I saw all those bombers and
tankers at those bases—and now with that BEELINE report about the
North Warning System radars down, I'm more scared than ever,” Dave
Luger said. “We’ll know what happens this morning. In the meantime I
want to make sure our unit is safe.”

“We’re on our way, boss,” Hal said. “We’ll report when we’re on
alert on Attu. Briggs out.”

ack at Battle Mountain, Luger thought about the situation for a mo-

ment, then spoke, “Duty Ofticer, set condition Alpha-Foxtrot-one
for the Air Battle Force Alpha alert team, and set condition Echo-
Foxtrot-two for all other aircraft. Then get me Colonel Shrike at Elliott
Air Force Base.”

“Roger, General Luger, set condition Alpha-Foxtrot-one for the Alpha team
and Echo-Foxtrot-two for all other aircraft,” the Duty Ofticer responded.
“Please stand by for counterorder.”

“Furness to Luger,” Rebecca Furness radioed excitedly a few mo-
ments later. “I didn’t hear an ‘exercise’ classification. What’s going on?”
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“This is not an exercise, Rebecca,” Dave said. “I want all the Alpha-
alert aircraft into Foxtrot-one.”

“Luger, I damned well shouldn’t have to remind you that we’re not
authorized to fly our aircraft anywhere,” Rebecca said angrily. “You re-
member that little order from the secretary of defense, don’t you?”

“By the time the crews arrive and the planes are hoisted to the sur-
face, I'll have authorization,” Luger said.

“Then why not order an Echo generation for all aircraft?” Rebecca
asked. “You ordered an Alpha launch for the Alpha force—that’s a sur-
vival launch for our aircraft with weapons aboard.” Even though the
planes were decertified and declared non-mission ready, David Luger
and Rebecca Furness had directed that the Air Battle Force’s Alpha
force—composed of two EB-1C Vampire bombers, four EB-52
Megafortress bombers, and four KC-135R  tankers—remain loaded
with weapons, fueled, and ready to respond at short notice for combat
operations. These planes could be airborne in less than an hour. The
other planes were all in various stages of readiness, but in general the
Bravo force could be ready in three to six hours, and the Charlie force
could be ready in nine to twelve hours.

“Rebecca, something’s happening up in Alaska,” Dave said, “and af-
ter what we’ve seen in Siberia, that’s enough warning for me. I need
you to countersign the order to launch the Alpha team right away.”

“You’re going to end up out on your ass even faster than McLana-
han,” Rebecca said.

“Rebecca .. .”

“I want your word that you won’t launch any aircraft, even the
tankers, without my counterorder,” Rebecca said. “Otherwise I'll defer
my countersignature to higher headquarters.”

“Agreed.” A moment later he heard the Duty Ofticer report, “Gen-
eral Luger, generation order verified by General Furness, A-hour established.” A
moment: “Colonel Shrike is on the line, secure.”

“Put him on.”

“Shrike here, secure,” Colonel Andrew “Amos” Shrike was com-
mander of Elliott Air Force Base at Groom Lake, Nevada, the supersecret
weapon- and aircraft-testing facility north of Las Vegas.

“This is General Luger at Battle Mountain.”

“What do you need, General?” Shrike said testily. Shrike was a
twenty-three-year veteran of the U.S. Air Force. He’d received an Air
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Force commission through the Officer Training Corps program after
graduating from the University of Texas A&M in electrical engineer-
ing. Through hard work and sheer determination, he rose through the
ranks all the way to full colonel, wrangling a pilot-training slot for him-
self at a time when the Air Force was RIFing (Reduction in Forces) pi-
lots left and right. He was hand-selected by Terrill Samson to take over
the High Technology Aerospace Weapons Center, with strict instruc-
tions not to turn it into a secret combat base—specifically, not to let
McLanahan, Luger, Furness, Mace, or Cheshire turn it into their private
combat-operations center.

But on a personal level, Shrike resented the young, brash men and
women like Luger who got promoted by doing outlandish, audacious
things that Shrike himself would’ve been busted for in his early years.
He had been taught that the way to get promoted was to follow orders
and run a tight ship, not contravene orders and disregard the chain
of command. Luger was ten years younger but was already a one-star
general—in Shrike’s book that was pure crapola.

“I’d like my AL-52s fueled and ready to load the laser as soon as
possible,” Luger said now. “I’'m flying flight and technical crews down
on a KC-135 in one hour.”

“I’d be happy to give them to you and get them the hell out of my
hangars, General—as soon as I see some paperwork,” Shrike said. To call
Andrew Shrike “anal” would be an understatement: He took a personal,
direct interest in every aspect of all operations at the High Technology
Aerospace Weapons Center. Nothing happened there without his ex-

press knowledge and approval. “But since I haven’t seen or heard any-
thing from you guys in weeks, it won’t happen. It'll take you an entire
day just to get authorization for your tanker to land here—and another
week at least to get permission to launch those things out of here.”
David Luger could feel that familiar tension creeping into his brain
and spinal cord—the feeling of dread, of abject fear, of impending
pain—and he felt his body start to move into self-defense mode. He
found he couldn’t speak, couldn’t react. He just looked straight ahead,
teet planted firmly on the floor, arms becoming rigid. . . .
“Anything else, General? It’s early, and I've got a lot of work to do.”
“I...I1...” Dave stammered, but no words were coming out.
“Nice to talk to you, sir,” Shrike said flatly, obviously not meaning
one word of it. “Good—"
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“Colonel,” Dave finally spit. He blinked, gritted his teeth, and
willed his back and neck muscles to move.

“Yes, General? What is it?”

“I want . . . those planes ready for my crews in one hour.”

“I told you, General, it won’t happen,” Shrike said. “You need the
proper—"~

“Damn it, Colonel, you do as I goddamned tell you to do!” Luger sud-
denly blurted out. “You don’t need authorization to fuel those planes
and open the fucking hangar doors, and you don’t need authorization
for an R&D team that already has clearance to both the aircraft and the
facility to arrive there. I'll get all the other authorizations. Now, move
those planes like I told you to do, or I will nail your ass to my front gate,
warning all you other insubordinate assholes not fo mess with me!l” And
he disconnected the line.

When he looked up, he saw most of his senior officers—Rebecca
Furness; Colonel Daren Mace, her ops officer; Colonel Nancy Cheshire,
commander of the EB-52 Megafortresses and the AL-52 Dragons of
the Fifty-second Bomb Squadron; and Lieutenant Colonel Samantha
Hellion, commander of the EB-1C Vampire bombers of the Fifty-first
Bomb Squadron—staring at him as if he had grown an extra head.

“What are you standing around for?” Luger snapped. “I want the
Alpha force ready to launch into the Foxtrot One airborne-alert area in
one hour, and I want the rest of the force on the roof and ready to fly in
two hours. Nancy, get your Dragon crews loaded up on a KC-135 and
ready to fly to Dreamland to get the birds ready for combat operations.”

“Are you serious, sir?” Nancy Cheshire asked incredulously.
Cheshire was a veteran Dreamland test pilot and one of the original
program directors of both the EB-52 Megafortress airborne battleship
and the AL-52 Dragon airborne laser, both modified B-52 bombers.
“We’re going into combat even though we haven’t been recertified?”

“Not quite—I said I want all our planes ‘ready’ to go into combat,”
Luger said. “But I'm authorized to do everything necessary to have my
force survive an attack against the United States, and that’s what I plan
to do.”

“What attack against the United States?” Cheshire asked.

“The one that very well could be happening right now—if what
Patrick thought might happen really does happen,” Dave said. “I've got

a feeling he’s correct. And if he 1s, I don’t want my planes sitting around
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here on the ground like wounded ducks. Let’s roll, folks.” He paused,
then said, “Duty Officer, get me General Muskoka’s office at Langley
right away—urgent priority.”

CLEAR, ALASKA

A short time later

he Tupolev-160 supersonic bombers accelerated to twelve hundred

kilometers per hour and climbed slightly to five hundred meters
above the ground shortly before crossing just north of Wolf Mountain
in central Alaska. They received a READY indication moments later, but
the navigator/bombardier knew well enough to wait until the desig-
nated launch point, because his Kh-15 missiles would lose valuable
range if they had to climb over or circumnavigate the mountain.

At the preplanned launch point, the bombardier flipped a switch
from SAFE to coMMIT, which started the Kh-15 missile countdown. The
Tu-160’s attack computers immediately downloaded navigation, head-
ing, and velocity information to the missiles, which allowed the missiles’
gyros to perform their final transfer alignment to prepare them for
flight. As soon as the missiles reported ready, the aft bomb-bay doors
flew open, and four Kh-15 missiles were ejected down into the slip-
stream, one every fifteen seconds. Each one fell about a hundred meters
in a slightly nose-low attitude while the air data sensors sampled the air,
computed roll and bank velocities, set the rear fins for stabilization, and
then fired its first-stage solid rocket motor. The Kh-15 shot ahead of
the bomber in the blink of an eye, sped ahead for a few kilometers, then
started a fast climb. The second Tu-160 fired four missiles from its rear
bomb bay as well.

In fifteen seconds the missiles were at twenty thousand meters’ alti-
tude, where they began to level off as the second-stage motor ignited.
They cruised at twice the speed of sound for another forty-five seconds,
then started a descent. Their precision inertial accelerometers kept them
on course for their target, now less than eighty kilometers away.

Like Shemya, Clear Air Station in central Alaska was a rather isolated
location that was growing in importance and development with the ad-
vent of the Aerospace Defense Command’s ballistic-missile defense sys-
tem. Along with the existing Ballistic Missile Early Warning System
radar, Clear Air Station hosted civilian air-traffic-control radars and
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NORAD surveillance radars. As part of the national missile-defense
system’s expansion, the Air Force was also constructing a Battle Man-
agement Command and Control Center and an In-Flight Interceptor
Communications System, plus eight silos, each housing four ground-
based interceptor (GBI) rockets, spread out over eight hundred acres.
The rockets were modified Minuteman II ballistic missiles fitted with a
kill-vehicle warhead, designed to track and destroy ballistic-missile war-
head “buses” outside Earth’s atmosphere. Three hundred military and
over five hundred civilian contractors and construction workers lived
and worked at the base.

Clear Air Station was definitely a “soft” target—perfect prey for the
Kh-15 muissiles.

In less than two minutes from launch, the first Russian attack mis-
sile reached its target. When the Kh-15 missile was still a thousand me-
ters aboveground, its warhead detonated. The fireball of a one-kiloton
thermonuclear device was very small and barely reached the ground,
but the shock and overpressure of the explosion were enough to destroy
every surface structure within four kilometers of ground zero. Every
fifteen seconds another explosion ripped across the Alaskan wilderness,
burning, crushing, or sweeping away buildings, radar antennae, and
trees—and killing every living thing standing within a sixteen-square-
kilometer area.

Each bomber’s third and fourth missiles were fitted with a deep-
penetrating warhead and a delayed-action fuze and programmed against
the ground-based interceptor silos. Although these were not as eftective
as the air-burst warheads programmed against aboveground targets, over
half of the thirty-two GBIs were destroyed by the burrowing Kh-15
nuclear warheads.

F or the alert force, for the alert force, scramble, scramble, scramble!”

The radio announcement came as a complete surprise. The four
F-16C Fighting Falcon alert crews were inside the ramp-maintenance
supervisor’s truck, sipping coftee while they reviewed their jets’ Form
781 maintenance logs prior to accepting the aircraft for alert status.
Coffee cups dropped to the floor, and confused, scared eyes turned to
each other inside the truck.

“Holy shit!” one of the younger pilots shouted as they all collected
their flight gear. “What do we do?”
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“Get your ass airborne, that’s what!” answered one of the other pi-
lots, the flight commander. “Get rolling as fast as you can!” He dashed
for the door, hoping like hell the others were right behind him.

The alert ramp at Eielson Air Force Base was in a state of slight dis-
array. With the two alert aircraft airborne in support of the newly estab-
lished air patrols over northern Alaska, the wing was still in the process
of preparing more aircraft for alert. The Third Wing at Eielson kept
two F-16s interceptors in preload status, ready to be armed and fueled,
but with no crews assigned, in support of the air-sovereignty mission
for Alaska. Normally it took anywhere from one to three hours to get
the preload birds ready to fly, but in this heightened state of alert, with
the alert aircraft suddenly committed to fly airborne patrols, the two
preload aircraft were almost ready, and two more F-16s were less than
an hour away from ready-five status as well.

The four aircraft being preflighted were in alert shelters, with both
forward and rear doors open and with many different teams of mainte-
nance technicians inside checking systems and running checklists. The
crew chiefs were furiously racing around their aircraft, yelling at the
maintenance teams to finish up and get out of the hangars, removing
streamers and plugs, and closing inspection and access panels. Their pre-
cocking checklists were not yet complete, so they had to be sure that all
steps in several other checklists were done, as well as the “scramble”
checklist itself. The pilots did the same, following right behind their
crew chiefs, running several checklists simultaneously in a mad dash to
get their jets ready to fly. But in less than ten minutes, pilots were climb-
ing inside the two ready-five interceptors, and soon engines were
started, the taxiways cleared, and the two Falcons started taxiing to the
active runway.

But they would not make it airborne.

Two minutes after the last warhead detonated over Clear Air Sta-
tion, the Tu-160 Blackjack bombers screamed overhead, continuing
their missile run. With the NOR AD and FAA radars down, they would
be virtually invisible as they pressed their attack. Five minutes after pass-
ing over Clear, the Tupolev-160 bombers were in position to begin
their second missile run.

Each bomber launched four missiles against three separate target ar-
eas around the city of Fairbanks, Alaska: Fort Wainwright, Eielson Air
Force Base, and Fort Greely. Like Shemya and Clear, all these three loca-
tions had components of the new ballistic-missile defense system under
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construction; in addition, Eielson was the location of the Alaskan battle-
management headquarters, which was a mirror to the main command
headquarters located in North Dakota. All eight missiles were bunker-
buster weapons, designed to explode deep underground—but the blast
effects were more than powerful enough to heavily damage all three
military bases.

As soon as the two Russian bombers launched the remaining
weapons in their aft bomb bays, they headed southwest across Alaska,
staying clear of the radar sites around Anchorage, Bethel, and Dilling-
ham. In twenty minutes they were feet-wet over the Bering Sea. Two
F-15C Eagle fighters launched from Elmendort Air Force Base near An-
chorage to pursue, but they never got within range to spot them at low
altitude.

And the Russian bombers still were not finished with their attacks.

ABOARD THE RUSSIAN TUPOLEV-95MS BEAR BOMBER

A short time later

eet dry, crew,” the navigator radioed. “Ninety minutes to launch
point.”

Leborov was in the middle of his attack briefing when the navigator
gave his report. The cabin got instantly quiet. They still had a long way
to go before this part of their mission was over, but actually making it
into North America was simply an incredible feat in itself. Even the
most optimistic planner gave them a one-in-ten chance of getting this
far—and, as far as Leborov could tell, every Tupolev-95MS in his for-
mation that had completed an air refueling had made it. The old rattle-
traps had done their jobs nicely so far.

The Tupolev-22M bombers had done their job admirably, too. They
had created a curtain of electronic jamming that screened the attack
force from detection until their long-range Kh-31 antiradar missiles
were in range to destroy the North American Aerospace Defense Com-
mand’s North Warning System radar sites. As far as he could tell, they
had lost just six -22Ms, and no -95Ms.

“R ... roger, nav,” Leborov responded after a few moments. “Sta-
tion check, crew.” Each one of his crew members responded with his
crew position and then performed the routine check, which included
switches, oxygen, safety equipment, lights, radios, and required logbook
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entries. They had done a station check just a few minutes earlier, but
doing that simple yet important task, Leborov hoped, would get their
minds back on the mission and away from the danger they were contin-
uing to fly into.

When everyone had finished, Leborov went on, “Okay, crew, let me
get through this damned briefing, and then you can have some quiet
time to yourselves before we do our thing.

“After weapon release we’ll head directly west toward the Rocky
Mountains, then northward along the military crest to evade any sur-
viving radars. We still have all of our antiradar missiles on board, so we’ll
attack and destroy any military radars we encounter, such as AWACS,
fighter-intercept, or fire-control radars, and secondarily any ground-
surveillance radars. If possible, we’ll retain any unused weapons for force
reconstitution.

“Our primary forward landing base is Norman Wells, which is lo-
cated on the Mackenzie River west of Great Bear Lake—in fact, we’ll
be flying close to it on our inbound leg. We have SPETZNAZ com-
mandos and mechanics on the ground waiting for our signal to help us
refuel—"

“Has that been confirmed, sir?” the flight engineer cut in. “Are they
really there?”

“They were in place when we departed, but we haven’t heard a
thing since,” Leborov responded. “We won’t know for sure until we’re
getting ready to land. If we get no word from them, we’ll decide what
to do as a crew—either land and attempt a refueling ourselves, land and
abandon the plane, bail out and crash the plane, or risk flying across
Alaska attempting to make it back into eastern Siberia.” Again the crew
got very quiet. “Anyway, as soon as possible, we’ll take on as much fuel
at Norman Wells as we can and, as the Americans say, ‘Get out of
Dodge’—whatever the hell that means. We then will try to make it past
any American fighter patrols and across to any friendly base. Anadyr is
the primary recovery base. If we top off our tanks at Norman Wells, we
will have enough fuel to make it all the way to Novosibirsk or
Petropavlovsk with no problems.

“Weapon-disposal procedures: If we have any of the Kh-90
weapons still on board, and we can’t launch them against secondary tar-
gets, we’ll take them with us,” Leborov went on. “If there is any danger
whatsoever of their falling into enemy hands, we’ll jettison them safe
over isolated enemy territory, open ocean, or ice pack. If we’re on the
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ground, we’ll jettison them prearmed on the ramp—they won’t deto-
nate, and they’ll be useless after their chemical batteries run out. Lastly,
it the weapons cannot be jettisoned at all, our only option is to bail out
of the aircraft and let the weapons crash with the plane. If we do make
it on the ground, under no circumstances shut down power to the weapon-
arming panel. I will stay in the pilot’s seat, and I will have full authority
on whether to retain or jettison the weapons. Bottom line: We don’t let
viable nuclear weapons fall into enemy hands. Of course, none of this
applies to the Kh-31s, since they are nonnuclear.

“Survival and evasion: If we are forced to bail out, crash-land, or
ditch, it 1s each individual crew member’s responsibility to survive and
to make your way to a designated recovery or exfiltration point. Our
poststrike exfiltration zones are near Norman Wells, Pine Point, Inuvik,
Prince Rupert, Whitehorse, and Fort Nelson. If you don’t know how to
get to them by now, you had better learn fast, because we’re destroying
all maps after we launch our missiles. You are all well trained in cold-
weather survival, and I should think our chances of surviving oft the
land and making it to one of the planned exfiltration points is very
good. Try to link up with one of the others if possible, but don’t travel
together unless you need assistance. The exfiltration points will be vis-
ited from time to time by friendly forces, hired escorts, or SPETZNAZ
combat-rescue teams, as conditions warrant, so sit tight once you make
it to an exfil point, and look out for your contact. Most of all, remem-
ber your training and keep a cool head.

“Resistance and escape: If you’re captured, remember that your first
and foremost responsibility to your crew and your country is to survive;
second, to resist to the best of your ability giving up vital state secrets;
and third, to escape, so you can return to friendly forces and fight again.
You must protect your fellow crew members and support your country,
but if you feel you will be killed if you do not talk, then talk—but say
as little as possible. The Canadians and Americans are generally not con-
sidered brutal captors, but the outposts and field-intelligence ofticers
will be the most unpredictable, and of course we’ll have just launched
nuclear weapons against them, so they’re likely to be very, very angry.

“If necessary, give them the most minimal information possible—
name, rank, serial number, and date of birth—then beg for mercy. Try
anything and everything to avoid being abused, tortured, or interro-
gated: Remind them of their legal responsibilities, speak about the
Geneva Conventions, ask to talk to the Red Cross, plead with them to
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be fair and humane, tell them you are a family man, pretend you’re in-
jured, blah blah blah, and they will likely not hurt you. This is no time
to be a hero and get yourselves maimed. Remember, we are not talking
about the Chechens or the Afghans—the Americans and Canadians re-
spond to pleas for help. Again, rely on your training and keep a cool
head, and you’ll come out of it okay. Hell, you might even star on one
of their television reality shows, sign a Hollywood movie deal, marry
Pamela Anderson, and get famous defense lawyer Johnny Cochran to
represent you in court within a day or two.” That got a laugh that
Leborov could hear even in the noisy cabin.

“If you escape, your chance of finding support from the civilian
population is unknown,” the aircraft commander went on. “You may
encounter some Russian-speaking individuals, but don’t assume they are
pro-Russian. Generally, people who live in the Arctic, as in Russia, sup-
port strangers they find in the wilderness—it is an unwritten code for
those who live in inhospitable regions. Still, it is best to stay away from
strangers and make contact only if your situation becomes desperate.
We assume you’ll be treated as an evading combatant as defined in the
Geneva Conventions; as such, remember that if you kill a civilian while
evading or in custody, even if you are being pursued by armed individ-
uals or are being mistreated or tortured, you may be subject to the death
penalty, even though Canada does not have it. Is that understood?”

Leborov asked for questions. They discussed this and that, mostly
the weather and ground conditions in northern Canada and a little
about their poststrike refueling base. Norman Wells was in the heart of
Canada’s vast western oil fields, so there was a lot of jet traftic and a lot
of aviation fuel stored there. It was doubtful they’d be able to steal
enough gas for all twenty-one Tupolev-95 bombers to refuel—in that
case they’d pick the best planes, fill them up with crew members, and
take whomever they could. The SPETZNAZ commandos would be
exfiltrated by submarine from Mackenzie Bay, so some of the crew
members could go with them if they chose.

“Fuck all that,” Borodev said cross-cockpit after their discussions
were concluded. “I'm staying in Canada.”

Leborov couldn’t believe his ears. “What did you say?”

“I said, if T can’t fly out, 'm staying,” the copilot said. “I speak
pretty good English—I can even speak some Canadian, hey? I'll be a
bush pilot. I'll fly tourists in the summer and supplies in the winter. Or
maybe I’ll put on a Russian fur-trapper music show with a dancing bear
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in Sitka, Alaska, for the tourists coming off the cruise ships. I'll hide out
right under their noses.”

“You’re crazy,” Leborov said. “Do you think they’ll still have danc-
ing bears and music shows after what we’ll do to them today?”

“More than ever,” Borodev said.

“You have a life back in Russia, my friend, remember? You’re an
airman and an officer in the Russian air force.”

“You made a life for yourself back home—if they let you have
one,” Borodev said, turning serious. “Wherever they send us after this is
over, at least you’ll have your family with you. I won’t have shit.”

“You’ll be a hero,” Leborov said. “You’ll spend the rest of your mil-
itary career explaining how in hell you survived penetrating Canadian
and American air defenses and bombing the shit out of them.”

The copilot laughed. “I think I prefer the dancing bear, Joey,” he
said. “But I'll make sure you’re on your way home first, don’t worry.”
Leborov didn’t respond—he didn’t want to continue this line of discus-
sion at all.

“Coming up on the turnpoint,” the navigator said.

“There’s another good reason to stay in Canada, my friend,”
Borodev said. “Great Bear Lake. One of the largest freshwater lakes in
the world, and by far the best trout fishing on Earth. I read they catch
trout out of that lake that take two men to carry. A busboy at one of
their fishing lodges makes more money in one month than flying ofti-
cers in the Russian air force make all year.”

“You’re fucked in the head, pal.”

The navigator gave a heading correction that would take them east
of the lake. Although there was nothing in the area this time of year ex-
cept caribou, grizzly bears, and oil rigs, overflying the lake would high-
light them from any air patrols they might encounter.

“Forty minutes to launch point, crew;,” the navigator said.

“Stop with the damned countdown, nav,” Leborov said irritably. He
took a few whifts of oxygen to try to calm his nerves. “Just let us know
when you’re starting your checklists—everyone else is configured for
weapon release. Let’s do a station check and then—"

Suddenly they all heard the slow warning tone over their head-
phones. “UHF search radar, two o’clock,” the electronic-warfare ofticer
reported.

“Search radar? From where?”

“Airborne radar, probably an AWACS,” the EWO said.
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“Want to step it down to one hundred meters?” Borodev asked.

“If 1t’s an AWACS, it won’t matter how low we go—it’ll find us,”
Leborov said grimly. “Our only hope is to try to shoot it down before
they—"

Just then they heard another warning tone. “Fighter radar sweep,
two o’clock,” the EWO reported. “X-band, probably a Canadian CF-
18 Hornet. It’s down—AWACs will take over the hunt.”

“—send in fighters,” Leborov said, finishing his sentence. “Let’s get
up to launch altitude.” They had no choice. They had to climb to one
thousand meters aboveground to launch a Kh-31 from the bomb bay.

“Airborne search radar changing from long-range scan to fast PRF
height-finder scan. I think they spotted us. Jammers on. All counter-
measures active.”

“I need a fire-control solution right now, EWQO,” Leborov said.

“No azimuth or range data yet.”

“Damn it, EWO, you gave me the azimuth a moment ago!”

“That was a rough estimate oft the warning receiver,” the electronic-
warfare ofticer retorted. “The fire-control receiver hasn’t computed a
launch bearing.”

“I don’t want excuses, I need to attack!” Leborov shouted. “That
Hornet will be on us any moment now!”

“No azimuth yet . . .”

“Don’t wait for the fire-control computer!” Leborov screamed.
“Fire a missile at the last known azimuth. Make them take the first
move!”

There was a short pause, then, “Stand by for missile launch, crew!
Consent switches.”

“Consent!” Leborov shouted, flipping three red guarded switches
up. “Shoot, damn 1it!”

“Bomb doors coming open!” the EWO shouted. Seconds later
there was a deep rumbling sound as the Tupolev-95’s massive bomb
doors swung open. “Missile away!” Both pilots shielded their eyes as a
tremendous streak of fire illuminated the cabin and an impossibly loud
roaring sound drowned out even the thunder of the Tu-95’s turbo-
props. The first Kh-31P missile fired ahead of the bomber on its solid
rocket booster, then started its climb.

Seconds later: “AWACS radar down!” the EWO crowed. The mis-
sile launch had its desired effect—the AWACS crew shut down its radar
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to escape the missile. Moments later: “X-band radar, CF-18 Hornet,
three o’clock!”

Leborov immediately performed a “notch,” turning the Tu-95 hard
right, directly over Great Bear Lake. He was hoping to maneuver until
he was flying perpendicular to the Hornet’s flight path, which would
blank out the Russian bomber from the Hornet’s pulse-Doppler radar.
It seemed a little ridiculous trying to hide a huge, lumbering rhinoceros
like the Tu-95 from an advanced interceptor like the CF-18 Hornet, but
for the sake of his crew, he had to try everything.

“Hornet’s at nine o’clock . .. wait . . . fast PRF, Hornet has reac-
quired . . . Hornet is locked on ... chaff, chaff, pilot hard turn left.”
Leborov threw the Tupolev-95 into a hard left turn, hoping now to cut
down on their radar cross-section and make the enemy fighter’s radar
track the decoy chaft and not the plane. “Hornet’s . . . wait . . . Hor-
net’s turning northeast . . . Hornet’s locked on . . . missile launch, missile
launch, break . .. Wait . . . he’s not tracking us ... I'm picking up the
uplink for an AMR AAM launch, but it’s not aimed at us . . . another
missile launch!”

Leborov twisted the microphone-select switch on his intercom
panel to the formation frequency. “Heads up, guys, the bastard’s firing!”

“Second Hornet, eight o’clock. Hard turn left, heading one-two-
zero . . . possibly a third Hornet in formation . . .”

Suddenly they heard on the command channel, “We’re hit, we’re hit,
One-seven. Initiating bailout. We are—" And the radio went dead.

“We lost One-seven,” Borodev said.

“Bandits, seven o’clock high, six K!” their tail gunner shouted over the
intercom.

“No RWR contact,” the electronic warfare officer said. “He must
be using a night-attack system, or night-vision goggles.” They heard the
chatter and felt the heavy vibration as the Tu-95’s big twin twenty-
three-millimeter tail cannons opened fire. Moments later they heard the
roar of powerful jet engines overhead as the Hornets sped past. Like a
shark that brushes up against its prey to taste it before attacking, the
crew knew that the Hornets’ first pass was an identification run—they’d
close in for the kill on the next pass.

“AWACS radar back up,” the EWO reported. “Our first missile
must’ve missed.”

“Nail that bastard, EWQ!” Leborov shouted.
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“No fire-control solution yet.”

“Bandit, five o’clock, seven K,” the gunner reported. “Coming in
fast .. .six K, five K ...

“Fire-control solution resolved and entered!” the EWO shouted. “I
got it! Stay wings-level! Bomb doors coming open!” Seconds later they
launched their second Kh-31 missile. The two pilots watched as the
missile seemed to shoot straight up in front of them, and they heard the
sonic boom as it broke the sound barrier. “AWACS radar down . . . -31
is going active . . . -31 is homing, it’s locked on!” The pilots were sur-
prised when, in another instant, they saw a tremendous flash of light oft
in the distance, and a large streak of fire slowly tumbled across the night
sky, with burning pieces of debris breaking oft and fluttering to Earth.

“You got it!” Borodev shouted. “You got the AWACS! Good
shoo—"

At that moment they heard the tail guns firing again. “Bandit five
o’clock four K!” the tail gunner screamed. They couldn’t maneuver while
the Kh-31 was being launched, and so they were sitting ducks for the
Canadian Hornet. Seconds later the Tupolev-95 rumbled and vibrated
as several huge sledgehammer-like blows rippled across its fuselage and
wings. One engine on the left wing surged and bucked, yawing the
bomber violently from side to side as Leborov fought for control. “Sec-
ond bandit is at seven o’clock high, six K. ... He’s coming down . . .
five . . . four. .. .” The tail guns opened fire again—and then abruptly
stopped. It seemed there was a moment of eerie silence.

And then more hammer blows pelted the bomber. A flash of light
illuminated the cabin. “Fire, fire, fire, engine number four!” Borodev
screamed. As Leborov pulled the appropriate prop lever to FEATHER,
brought the throttle to idle, and pulled the condition lever to sHUT
DOWN, Borodev pulled the emergency fire T-handle, shut oft fuel to the
number-four engine, and isolated its electrical, pneumatic, and hydraulic
systems.

“The number-two -90 is still reporting okay,” the bombardier said.
“I can see the fire on number four—it’s still on fire! I'm preparing to
jettison the number-two missile.”

“No!” Leborov shouted. “We didn’t come all this way just to jetti-
son the missiles!”

“Joey, if that missile cooks oft, it’ll blow us into a billion pieces,”
Borodev said.

“Then launch the bastard instead!”
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“We’re still forty minutes from our launch point.”

“Forget the planned launch point!” Leborov shouted. “Replan the
missiles for closer targets.”

“But . ..how can we . . . I mean, which ones?”

“Get on the damned radio and coordinate retargeting with the rest
of the formation,” Leborov said. “We’ve been discovered—I think we
can break radio silence now. Then radio to the other formations and
have them retarget as well. You're the formation leader—you fell them
what targets to hit. Hurry! Navigator, help him.”

“Ack-acknowledged.” The bombardier switched radio channels and
immediately began issuing orders to the other planes. Each bomber’s at-
tack computers had been programmed with the same set of target coor-
dinates, so it was a simple matter to look up the targets farther north
within range and reprogram the computer. Finally the bombardier ra-
dioed the second flight of Tu-95 bombers that they were changing their
targets and taking their target sets, so the second formation could repro-
gram their computers for targets farther south.

It was very quiet in the cockpit for several long moments, but sud-
denly the pilots saw a large red RyapAM light illuminate on their forward
eyebrow panel. “I have a SAFE IN RANGE light, bombardier.”

“Acknowledged. Consent switches.”

“Bandit, eight o’clock high, seven K . . .”

“Consent! Launch the damn missiles!”

The ryapam light began to blink. “Missiles counting down . . .
Start a slow climb, pilot, wings-level. . . .”

“SixK...five K...”

The ryapam light went to steady as the tail started violently swaying
from side to side. “Hold the nose steady, pilot!”

“I think we’re losing the number-three engine,” Borodev said. “Oil
pressure is surging . . . losing control of prop pitch on the number-six
propeller. . . . Should I shut it down?”

“No. I'll hold it.” Leborov took a crushing grip on the control
wheel, and he was practically lifting himself oft the seat as his feet
danced on the rudder pedals to keep the tail following the nose.

The ryapam light began to blink once more—the first missile was
counting down again. Suddenly the light flashed brightly. “Missile one
away!” the bombardier shouted. There was nothing for what seemed like
a very long time—and then there was an earsplitting roar that seemed a
thousand times louder than the Kh-31’s rocket-motor ignition, and the
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first Kh-90 missile fired ahead, then started a steep climb and fast accel-
eration, disappearing quickly into the night sky. “Missile two counting
down ...”

Just then they heard the gunner yell something—and then an instant
later the number-one engine blew apart in a dramatic shower of fire. An
AIM-9L Sidewinder missile launched from one of the Canadian CF-18
Hornets had found its mark.

“Fire, fire, fire on engine number one!” Leborov shouted as he pulled
prop, throttle, and condition levers. “Shut down number one!” He
glanced at the RyaDAM light—it was steady, the missile holding its launch
countdown until the proper aircraft flight parameters were met.
Leborov struggled to keep the plane steady, but it seemed to be swaying,
yawing, and turning in every direction at once.

“Number one isn’t shutting down!” Borodev shouted.

“What?”

“Fuel control must’ve been cut—I can’t shut off fuel to the engine.
It’s still burning. I can’t isolate hydraulics or bleed air either.”

The cabin started to fill with smoke, getting heavier and heavier by
the second. “Crew, bail out, bail out, bail out!” Leborov ordered.

“I’ll take it, Joey,” Borodev said, grasping the control wheel.

“Negative. Blow the hatch and get the hell out.”

“I told you before, Joey—I'm staying here, in Canada,” Borodev
said, a smile on his face. “You have someone to go home to, remember?
You’re a family man now. I'm staying.”

“Yuri...”

“I have the airplane,” Borodev said. He jabbed a thumb aft. “Get
going, Commander.”

Leborov could see that he wasn’t going to change his copilot’s
mind, so he quickly unstrapped, pressed the EscAPE button, then patted
Borodev on the shoulder. “Thank you, Yuri,” he said.

“Maybe I'll see you on the ground, Joey. Get going. I've got work to
do.” Borodev started concentrating on keeping the plane steady so that
the last remaining missile could continue its countdown.

Caution lights illuminated on the forward instrument panel as both
the bombardier and gunner blew their escape hatches. The flight engi-
neer, navigator, and electronic-warfare officer were already on the lower
deck. The lower entry hatch was open and the escape slide rail ex-
tended. They attached their parachute slide rings to the rail, faced aft,
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put one hand on the emergency parachute D-ring, one hand on the rail,
and dropped through the hatch. The escape slide rail kept the crew
members from getting caught in the bomber’s slipstream and sucked
back into the fuselage. At the end of the rail, a mechanism pulled the
automatic parachute-activation knob, which used a barometric device to
control parachute opening—since they were at very low altitude, the pi-
lot chute came out immediately, followed by the main chute less than a
second later.

Leborov was the last man under a parachute. At first he couldn’t be-
lieve how quiet it was. He could hear a faint humming sound, probably
his Tupolev-95 flying away, but he thought it must be very far away, be-
cause he could barely hear the sound. He wondered how far. . . .

And then the silence was shattered by an incredibly deafening roar,
and a tongue of flame seemed to erupt right in front of his face. It was
the last Kh-90 missile: Yuri Borodev had managed to keep the stricken
bomber straight enough for the missile to finish its countdown.

Leborov pulled a parachute riser so he could turn around—and then
he saw the missile streaking away into the night sky, followed by a
stream of fire arcing off to the right. It was the Tupolev-95, its leftmost
engine burning fiercely. As he drifted down in his parachute, he saw
the fire completely consume, then burn apart, the left wing. Leborov
scanned the underside of the fuselage in the glow of the fire, hoping he
could catch a glimpse of his copilot sliding out of the hatch. But soon
the bomber spiraled into the darkness and crashed into the tundra be-
low, and Leborov never saw if Borodev exited.

He hit the hard, half-frozen ground a few moments later, in the typ-
ical aircrew member’s parachute-landing fall—feet, butt, and head.
Dazed, Leborov just lay on his back, not daring to move. The still-
billowing parachute tugged at his harness, asking to be released, but he
ignored it. If the parachute dragged him, he didn’t much care right now.

As he lay there trying to recover his senses, he saw them—streaks of
fire across the clear night sky. His teammates had done it—one by one
they were launching their missiles, too. He lost count after fifteen, but
they kept on coming. He blinked every time a sonic boom rolled across
him, but it was a happy sound.

The sound of success.
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CHEYENNE MOUNTAIN OPERATIONS CENTER

That same time

ell Village to launch every plane they’ve got to their patrol orbits

now,” Joanna Kearsage said. “Armed or unarmed, get them up in the
air before they get their asses blown away. Order Ferry and Argus to get
their alert planes up into their patrols as well, and tell Vigil and Feast to
disperse all available aircraft.” Those were the other air-defense units in
central Canada and the western United States—she needed to get as
many planes into the sky as she could to deal with the bombers attack-
ing Alaska.

“Warning, MW C detects multiple strategic events via DSP three in
central Canada,” the Missile Warning Center’s senior controller re-
ported. “MWC determines the events are hostile. This 1s not a drill. We
confirm, repeat confirm, multiple missile launches. Track and impact es-
timations in progress.”

Joanna Kearsage nearly catapulted out of her seat as she saw the nu-
merous lines beginning to appear over the map of Canada. Swearing
softly to herself, she lifted a clear plastic cover on a button on her con-
sole and pressed it, waiting for it to turn from red to green. When it
did—signifying that everyone on the NORAD Aerospace Reporting
System network was online—she said, “Warning, warning, warning, this
is Anchor with a Flash Top Secret PINNACLE FRONT BURNER re-
port. Missile Warning Center has detected numerous events over central
Canada and is resolving track and impact predictions. This is not a drill.
All stations stand by.”

It was her second warning in just the past few minutes—the first be-
ing the attacks in Alaska by bombers carrying cruise missiles. This was
no rogue or terrorist action—this was an all-out attack on the United
States of America!

“Triple-C, ADOC, Village reports fighters have engaged multiple
Russian bomber aircraft, Tupolev-95 Bear-H bombers,” the senior con-
troller of the Air Defense Operations Center cut in. “The bombers are
launching small missiles from their bomb bays and have apparently shot
down the AWACS—"

“They what?”

“—and the Bear bombers have also launched larger missiles from
wing pylons. Each Bear seems to have two very large wing missiles and
an unknown number of the smaller missiles in its bomb bays.”
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“How many Bear bombers, ADOC?”

“They’ve counted over a dozen so far, Triple-C, and there may be
many more,” the ADOC controller replied. “They’ve shot down three
so far. There’s only two CF-18 Hornets up there, and without the
AWACS they don’t have a complete picture.”

Kearsage keyed the Aerospace Reporting System button again:
“Warning, warning, warning, all stations, NORAD air forces have en-
gaged multiple Russian bomber aircraft, position near Great Bear Lake
in Alberta, Canada. Enemy aircraft have been observed launching multi-
ple hypersonic attack missiles. All NORAD regions are being ordered
to launch alert aircraft to their assigned patrol orbits and to launch all
other flyable aircraft to dispersal or survival anchors immediately.”

The phone lights started blinking, but all Kearsage could see were
the growing track lines of missiles speeding south toward the United
States. She flipped open her codebook to the next section and started to
compose a new missile-track report, working as quickly as she could:
“Warning, warning, warning, all stations, Missile Warning Center issues
the following special hostile track report Sierra-Bravo-seven. AWACS
issues Flash special hostile track report Tango-Alpha-one-three, stand
by for—"

And then she stopped. Because now the computers were issuing
their predictions for missile impacts. Her mouth dropped open in sur-
prise. The codebook forgotten, she pressed the ARS button and spoke,
“All units, this is Anchor, inbound track reports . . . missile targets—
Oh, my God, we’re under attack! America is under attack. For God’s
sake, America is under attack!”



KANSAS CITY, MISSOURI

That same time

he chief of the Presidential Protection Detail of the Secret Service

didn’t call first before rushing into the president’s hotel suite, but he

wasn’t surprised to see President Thomas Thorn hurriedly putting
on his trousers in the sitting area. The president had always exhibited a
weird second-sight ability to anticipate events before they happened.
“What’s happened, Mark?” the president asked.

“NMCC called a ‘campfire,” sir,” the PPD chief said, his voice wa-
vering in terror. The president’s mouth dropped open in surprise, and
he was going to ask the PPD chietf to repeat, but one look at the man’s
face told him that he’d indeed heard the right code word—the one for
an “enemy nuclear attack on the United States under way”—and that
this was no exercise. In moments the president was dressed for quick
travel, wearing his dark brown leather flying jacket over a white shirt, a
dark blue Air Force One ball cap, dark gray business slacks, and thick-
soled casual shoes.

“Let’s get moving, gents,” the president said, and he rushed past the
astonished agents and out into the hallway, toward the staircase. Mem-
bers of the Secret Service were trained to physically take control of
their charges in the process of evacuation—usually the evacuees were
too confused, sleepy, or scared to know which way to go, and they never
moved fast enough to suit the PPD—but Thorn, an ex-U.S. Army
Green Beret, was moving so quickly that the agents couldn’t get a grasp
on his arms.

Inside the armored limousine, Thorn met up with the U.S. Navy
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officer who carried the “football,” the briefcase containing coded doc-
uments and communications equipment that would allow him to issue
orders to America’s nuclear forces anywhere in the world. “Marine One
is ready to fly, sir,” the chief PPD officer said as they peeled out of the
hotel entryway, surrounded by police cars and flanked by Secret Service
armored Suburbans. “We’ll be at Union Station pickup point in three
minutes.” He listened to the reports through his earpiece. “Your stafters
are asking us to return to pick them up.”

“Negative. Let’s roll,” the president said. He obviously did not want
to wait for anyone—which suited the PPD just fine. The chief made a
report on his secure cell phone, then handed it to the president. “This is
Séance,” he responded, using his personal call sign. “Go ahead.”

“Thank God you’re all right, Mr. President,” came Vice President
Lester Busick’s voice. When he was excited, Busick’s thick South
Florida drawl became obvious, almost indecipherable. “Are you okay?”

“Fine, Les. What’s going on?”

“I don’t know yet. The Secret Service blew the whistle, and I've
been on the move ever since,” Busick replied. “I thought those bastards
were going to rip my arms off carrying me out of the residence. I do
know we’re on our way to Andrews, not High Point. I think I'm going
airborne.”

“Who’s with you?”

“Nobody,” Busick responded. “Hell, I couldn’t even get the old
lady out of bed.”

“I’ll talk to you after I'm airborne, Les.”

“Okay, Thomas. I'll see you back at the ranch after they’re done
screwing with us.” The heaviness in his voice said much more than his
words—they both knew that something serious was happening, and they
most likely wouldn’t be going back to Washington for quite some time.

“Everything will be okay, Les,” the president said. “I’ll call as soon
as | hear anything.”

“You take care, Thomas,” Busick said. Thorn was about to hang up
when he heard, “Thomas?”

“Go ahead, Les.”

“You need to be tough now, Thomas,” Busick said. “I got a feelin’
the shit’s hittin’ the fan. I want you to be strong, Thom—I mean, Mr.
President.”

“Since when do you call me ‘Mr. President’ when we’re—?"

“Damn it, Mr. President, please listen,” Busick said earnestly. “We
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may not be able to talk for a while, so just listen. I've seen this before,
sir—"

“Seen what?”

“Seen this shit that’s happenin’ right now,” Busick said. “The last
time was in 91, when we thought the Iraqis were launching biochem
weapons at Israel and we were getting ready to drop a nuke on Baghdad.
I was the Senate majority whip. We were hustled out of Washington
faster than shit from a goose. And it wasn’t just to the Mountain—we
were dispersed to preserve the government, sir.”

“What are you talking about, ‘preserve the government’?” Thorn
asked. “This is a precaution, a contingency. With all that’s happening in
Turkmenistan and the Middle East, the heightened tensions, the saber
rattling, it’s understandable—"

“Mr. President, with all due respect, sir, you have no friggin’ idea
what’s about to happen,” Busick said seriously. “As soon as you step
aboard Air Force One, you will become the executive branch of the
United States government—not just the White House but every de-
partment and every executive agency that exists. You may be alone and
isolated for days, maybe weeks. You may not be in contact with your
cabinet or advisers.

“What I'm tryin’ to tell you is that I think this is it, Mr. President,”
Busick went on. “The warning came right from NORAD. They were
talkin’ about missile tracks and flight times. They—"

“What are you saying, Les?”

“I'm tellin’ you, Mr. President, I think we just caught the bolt from
the blue,” Busick said. “And I'm telling you that you need to be strong
and you need to be tough. Because there will be a lot of hurt people in
this country very, very soon, and they’ll be looking to you for leader-
ship. You've got to give it to them. And sometimes being the leader
means doin’ the most horrific thing you can damned well think of.”

“Les . ..” Thorn tried to tell him again that everything was going
to be okay, that this was just some sort of mistake or false alarm, but he
didn’t know what it was, and he would sound silly trying to reassure the
veteran politician of something he himself knew absolutely nothing
about. Finally he said, “Les, my family . . . ?”

“Helicopters picked them up from Rutland minutes ago. They
should be launching from Burlington International about the time you
go airborne.” The first lady was a former state supreme court justice
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from Vermont, and she visited her family near the Vermont state capital
whenever the president went out on his infrequent political travels.

The phone buzzed, interrupting their conversation—a higher-
priority call than the vice president had to be pretty damned important.
“I'll talk to you soon, Les.”

“Yes, sir,” Busick replied. Then he added, “Be tough, Thomas.
You're the fucking president, sir. Shove it down their throats.” Thorn
was going to ask him to elaborate, but by then Busick had hung up.

Thorn hit the TALK button. “This is Séance.”

“Mr. President, this is General Venti. I'm en route to the NMCC,
but I've received the latest from NORAD. I request permission to
change your escape routing.”

“Whiteman . . . ?”

“Sir, Whiteman is not secure.” Whiteman Air Force Base, an hour’s
drive east of Kansas City in Knob Noster, and the home of the B-2A
Spirit stealth bomber, was where Air Force One was based while the
president was in Kansas City.

“Tell it to me straight, General.”

There was a slight pause before Venti said, “Yes, sir. NORAD has is-
sued an air-defense emergency. The Missile Warning Center is tracking
a number of high-speed, high-altitude cruise missiles, launched by
Russian Bear bombers. We count twenty-seven tracks so far. We believe
that each missile carries two nuclear warheads, yields unknown. One
track is definitely headed for Whiteman Air Force Base. Time to impact,
approximately thirty-five minutes.”

“Oh,my God . ..”

“Other confirmed tracks are headed for Offutt Air Force Base in
Nebraska; Ellsworth Air Force Base, South Dakota; Minot Air Force
Base, North Dakota; Twentieth Air Force headquarters at E E. Warren
Air Force Base in Wyoming; and several missile-launch control facilities
in Wyoming, Montana, and Colorado. It appears that the Russians are
attempting to take out all of our land-based strategic nuclear-strike
weapon systems—our [CBMs and bombers—in one massive pre-
emptive strike.”

“I... I can’t believe it,” Thorn muttered. “This can’t be happen-
ing. . ..

“It’s confirmed, sir,” Venti said, his voice a bit shaky and strained.
“The first missile will hit Minot Air Force Base in less than thirty-four

”
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minutes. Minot has thirty-two B-52 bombers, twenty-eight KC-135
aerial-refueling tankers, and other support aircraft; plus, they serve as
Ninety-first Space Wing headquarters, controlling one hundred and
fifty Minuteman III missiles.”

“Can . .. can any of those bombers escape?”

There was another slight pause. “We’re trying to get as many aircraft
as we can oft the ground, sir, any way we possibly can—maintenance
troops, students, transient alert crews, anybody who can start the engines
and take the controls and have any chance at all of landing it afterward.
We have no strategic strike aircraft on ready alert. I'm afraid that the
only survivors might be aircraft that are ready to launch on training or
operational-support missions, are deployed, or already airborne.”

“My God . . .”

“Mr. President, our first consideration is to be sure you can escape,”
Venti said. “Whiteman is definitely out. The other Air Force base
within range of Marine One is McConnell, near Wichita, but it was
once an Air National Guard B-1 bomber base and might be a target as
well.” He was silent for a moment. “The staft recommends you be
evacuated to Fort Leavenworth, Kansas. It’s the most secure location
nearby. Once Angel escapes, we can arrange a rendezvous.”

“Sounds fine to me,” the president said. “Angel” was the unclassi-
fied code word for the Air Force VC-25 transport planes, known as “Air
Force One” when the president was aboard. Both planes in the fleet
were always deployed with the president on his travels, and at least one
was always kept ready to fly at a moment’s notice.

“Is Foghorn with you, sir?”

Thorn looked at the Navy officer with the “football.” “Yes.”

“Sir, I recommend you change the national defense configuration to
DEFCON One,” Venti said. “All surviving military forces will begin
preparations for war, should you order it in the future. You don’t need
to give me an authorization code—your verbal order is enough until we
can formalize it in writing.”

“Very well. Issue the order,” Thorn responded immediately.

Venti barked out an order over his shoulder, then returned to the
phone: “I also recommend you increase the strategic force posture to
red, sir,” he said.

Thorn hesitated. The Defense Configuration, or DEFCON, or-
dered all military units to various readiness states, with DEFCON One
being maximum readiness for war. The “posture” told the units with
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weapons exactly what state or operational status their weapons and de-
livery systems should be in. The exact state varied by unit and weapon
system but was broken down into three stages: red, yellow, and green,
with green meaning that weapons in secure storage and coded docu-
ments and launch or enabling devices locked away; to red, which meant
that weapons were loaded and the crews had all the documents and de-
vices they needed to prearm and launch live nuclear weapons. The
crews still needed the execution order from the president to release live
nuclear weapons, but under a Posture Red, the crews were just a few
switches away from unleashing hell on the enemy.

“Sir?”

“Go to Red Posture, General Venti,” Thorn said finally.

“Yes, sir. Understand. Posture Red.” Again he gave a verbal order to
his deputy to issue the posture change to military forces around the
world. Then he said, “Sir, I know we’ve game-planned this out in ad-
vance, but [ still want to ask you: Do you wish to order any retaliatory
or preemptive strikes at this time?” Any particular combination of
DEFCON and posture initiated a series of actions by various military
units around the world, depending on the nature of the emergency.
Several actions were automatic—dispersing ships and aircraft, retarget-
ing missiles, activating shelters, and sending commanders to alternate
and airborne command centers—and other actions were optional.
Among the optional actions were nuclear and nonnuclear strikes on
selected important targets.

Thorn had made it clear early on in his administration that he would
not initiate nuclear retaliation based on just an attack notification—the
so-called launch-on-warning option—but the plans were still in the bag
sitting on the shelf anyway, and Venti thought it his duty to ask. There
were several targets he’d like to see vaporized right now, he thought.

“No. Proceed as planned, General,” Thorn replied. The president’s
standing order to any attack on the United States, from another Sep-
tember 11-style terrorist attack to a massive nuclear attack, was the same
in all cases: Ride it out, then plan a response based on all available intel-
ligence and advice. It assumed that every other aspect of emergency
planning remained the same: survival of key government officials, en-
suring constitutional succession, and maintaining positive and unam-
biguous control of the nation’s nuclear weapons; but in any case,
Thomas Thorn insisted on complete and absolute control over his nu-
clear forces. “Any word from Gryzlov?” Thorn asked.
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“Stand by, sir. . . .” A moment later: “Yes, sir, there are numerous
hot-line messages, both voice and e-mail.”

“Have Signal connect me to President Gryzlov, General,” Thorn
ordered.

“Sir, we don’t have time—"

“Link us up, General.”

“Mr. President, I . . . sir, whatever they say, I hardly think they have
the slightest bearing on what our response should be!” Venti said. “The
Russian Federation has initiated a sneak attack against the United States
of America, and the first weapon impacts in about thirty minutes. They
certainly didn’t consult us before launching this attack!”

“General . . .”

“With all due respect, sir, it doesn’t goddamn matter what Gryzlov
has to say!” Venti stormed. “You know he’s going to come up with
some cockamamie reason, invent some crisis or trigger event, blame the
whole event on us, and warn us not to retaliate. What the hell difference
does it make if he apologizes, if he says it was a mistake, if he’s sorry, if
he’s angry? He still launched an attack on us, squarely aimed to take out
most if not all of our land-based long-range attack forces!”

“It’s all right, Richard,” the president said, trying to soothe his ob-
viously agitated Joint Chiefs chairman. “I’'m not going to make a deci-
sion without consulting the Joint Chiefs and the Cabinet. Now, get him
on the line. I'll be on Marine One in a few minutes.”

“Yes, sir,” Venti finally responded, the outrage obvious in his voice.
“Stand by.” It took several minutes, during which time Thorn had
transferred to Marine One and was on his way across Kansas City to
Fort Leavenworth, about thirty miles to the northwest. It was risky
making such a call—although the circuit was encrypted to protect
eavesdroppers from listening in, the bearing to Marine One could easily
be measured and the helicopter tracked across the sky.

“Marine One, this is Signals, your party is on the line, secure,” the
Army communications ofticer announced.

“President Gryzlov, I assume you have an explanation for this at-
tack,” Thorn said without preamble or pleasantries.

“President Thorn, listen to me very carefully,” the voice of the
Russian interpreter said. Anatoliy Gryzlov’s voice could be heard in the
background. He did not seem to be agitated in the least, as if launching
missiles at the United States were an everyday occurrence. But he was
the former chief of the general staff of the world’s second-largest mili-
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tary, and he was accustomed to giving orders that sent thousands to their
deaths. “This action is nothing more than retaliation for the attack
against Engels Air Base, Zhukovsky Flight Test Center, and our paramil-
itary forces near Belgorod, perpetrated by Major General Patrick
McLanahan and his band of high-tech aerial terrorists, acting under
your full authority and direction—"

“That’s sheer nonsense, Mr. President,” Thorn said. “I’ve taken full
responsibility for each and every one of those attacks, all of which were
provoked by Russian military hostilities; and may I remind you that the
United States has paid millions of dollars in reparations and legal claims
as a result of those attacks. I want you to abort those missiles immedi-
ately and—"

“President Thorn, I asked you to listen to me,” Gryzlov’s interpreter
said. “This is not a negotiation, only a notification. The missiles cannot
and will not be aborted. The targets are offensive bomber and missile
bases and combat command-and-control facilities only. The warheads
are one-kiloton nuclear devices with bunker-penetrating technology,
designed to destroy armored underground facilities—"

“My God!”

“They are no more powerful than the plasma-yield devices you
used over Korea and only a few magnitudes more powerful than the
thermium-nitrate weapons you used on Engels Air Base, and I predict
that the death toll will be much lower in this attack than from the one
on Engels,” Gryzlov went on. “At least I gave you the courtesy of noti-
tying you ahead of time, Mr. President.”

“What?”

“If you’ll check your hot-line messages, I notified the White House
of the targets of the attack shortly after the missiles were launched,” the
interpreter said. “You have the entire target list, exactly as programmed
into the attack computers of every aircraft in our strike force. I had in-
tended to give you a full hour to evacuate those targets, but our strike
force was discovered, and the flight leader ordered his force to retarget
and launch early.

“You are more than welcome to try to shoot down the warheads,
since I am certain that you can accurately predict the missiles’ flight
path, but I am assured that it is almost impossible to do so even with
your impressive Patriot PAC-3 surface-to-air missile. Of course, you
might have a chance to do so with the AL-52 Dragon anti-ballistic-
missile laser aircraft under General McLanahan’s command, but our in-
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telligence tells me that you have grounded his entire fleet of aircraft.
Unfortunate.”

“McLanahan is no longer in command of the Air Battle Force, Gry-
zlov,” Thorn said angrily. Marine One banked sharply, lining up for its
final approach to landing. “You're doing all this to avenge yourself on a
man that’s not even in the picture anymore!”

“That does not matter, Mr. President,” the interpreter said. “For too
long you and your predecessors have sanctioned McLanahan’s actions,
and when he performs some heinous attack without your authority, you
chose not to punish him—even when his actions kill thousands of in-
nocent men, women, and children and terrorize the entire civilized
world. McLanahan is nothing but a wild dog—but you are the dog’s
handler. It is your responsibility, and you have failed. Now it is time to
accept your punishment.

“I know you have absolutely no reason to trust me, President
Thorn,” the interpreter went on, “but what I am about to tell you is the
truth, and if your ofticers will check the data I have provided, you will
see that I have told you the truth all along. I will continue to do so un-
til I perceive that you will not be truthful with me. I do not want to
start a nuclear war with you, Mr. Thorn—"

“But that is exactly what you’re doing!” Thorn retorted. The noise
level inside the cabin rose as Marine One began its hover approach to its
landing zone on the parade grounds outside the Fort Leavenworth
headquarters building. “What do you expect me to do, Gryzlov—sit
still while Russia drops dozens of nuclear warheads on the United
States?”

“That 1s precisely what 1 expect you to do—for the sake of the
world,” Gryzlov said. “I promise you, on my mother’s eyes, soldier to
soldier, that I will not launch any further attacks on the United States of
America, its allies—what few allies you have left—and its territories,
unless you decide to retaliate. This attack is a response to your attacks
against Russia. It is merely payback. Remember that.

“And if you study the effect of this attack, Mr. President, you will
see in very short order that it leaves the United States and Russia with
exactly the same number of strategic weapon systems—in other words,
nuclear parity, with an equal number of delivery vehicles on both
sides.”

“Are you actually going to present to the world that this attack is an
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arms-control exercise?” Thorn asked incredulously. “Do you honestly ex-
pect anyone on Earth to believe that?”

“Nonetheless, it will be true, and you may verify it yourself,” Gry-
zlov’s interpreter said. Thorn could hear papers shuffling—the inter-
preter was likely reading from a prepared script. “Now, I know that you
have eight to ten Ohio-class nuclear ballistic-missile submarines on pa-
trol at the present time, plus an equal number at port or undergoing
maintenance. That is five times more than Russia has and, as much as I
hate to admit it, I fear that our submarines will probably blow them-
selves up the moment they try to launch a missile. That gives the United
States a substantial deterrent capability.”

“What’s your point, Gryzlov?”

“The point 1s, sir, that even if our attack is one hundred and ten per-
cent eftective, the United States would still have a substantial advantage
over Russia. We could then—"

“Gryzlov, you don’t understand a thing,” Thorn snapped. “I don’t
give a damn about the weapons. I'm all for reducing our nuclear arsenal
to below two thousand warheads, maybe even lower. I would have been
happy to work with you to draft a new Strategic Arms Limitation
Treaty. But what you’re doing is killing potentially thousands of people
in a sneak attack against the United States. No American president
would allow that to happen unavenged.”

“So a sneak attack against Russia is acceptable to you, but a sneak at-
tack against the United States is not?”

Thorn found he had no answer for Gryzlov. He felt that the Rus-
sian president was right: McLanahan had staged a sneak attack against
Russian border guards in Belgorod, trying to rescue two of his crew
members who’d been shot down over Russia—after he was specifically
ordered to return to base. McLanahan had launched a sneak attack
against Engels Air Base, moments before Russian bombers were to
launch and execute a massive attack against Turkmeni military forces
that had defeated a Russian battalion in Turkmenistan. McLanahan had
destroyed a Russian air-defense site in Turkmenistan without proper
authorization.

He hadn’t used nuclear weapons, of course—but did that really
matter? The attack on Engels had killed thousands, including some
civilians, and nearly destroyed one of Russia’s main military air bases.
McLanahan’s attack on the air-defense site had killed almost two dozen,
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and that was against a completely defensive weapon system. Was Gry-
zlov a worse leader just because he was using nuclear weapons? Was
Patrick McLanahan the real provocateur in this entire matter after all?

The door to Marine One opened, and two Secret Service agents, a
general officer, and several armed soldiers stood outside in the driving
rain, waiting excitedly for the president to alight. He did not need to
glance at his watch to know that time was running out—no, time had
run out a long time ago. Time had run out when he’d failed to deal
with McLanahan, when he’d let his secretary of defense, Robert Goff,
talk him out of punishing the general.

“Listen to me, President Thorn,” Gryzlov went on. “I need to
know what you decide. Will you retaliate?”

“What if [ do?”

“Then, depending on the threat to my government and my people,
I will have to respond in kind,” the interpreter responded.

“Following your sneak attack with more threats, Gryzlov?”

“Allow me to remind you again, Mr. President: This attack, al-
though preemptive and heinous, makes us even. For the first time in his-
tory, Russia and the United States are at a strategic parity, with the
United States definitely holding a technological and, at least for the time
being, a moral advantage. If you retaliate, you’ll be condemning the
world to nuclear disaster. You will be the aggressor.”

There was a rustling of sound on the phone, and then General
Anatoliy Gryzlov’s voice, speaking in halting and heavily accented En-
glish, took over from that of the interpreter. “Mr. President, you have
made remarks in the past saying that a limited nuclear war is not just
possible but probable. You have seen nuclear weapons used by the Peo-
ple’s Republic of China, the former North Koreans, and even Ukraine
against Russia itself. Surely you have given this topic much thought.
You know your answer. You know that the risk I have taken is great,
but the risk you take by retaliating heightens the danger to the world a
thousandfold.”

“Mr. President, I want you into a shelter in five minutes,” the chief
of the Presidential Protection Detail said sternly. Thorn’s internal
“commando clock” told him there was less than twenty minutes before
the first warhead would hit. “We have to go now.”

“President Thorn?”” Gryzlov asked. “What will you do?”

Thorn looked at his PPD chief, then at the floor of the VIP cabin of
the helicopter. Taking a deep breath, he raised his head and said, “What
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I'm going to do . . . is not talk to you any longer, Gryzlov,” the presi-
dent said. “You launch nuclear weapons at my country and then tell me
that you won’t launch any more unless we do—and you say it as casually
as apologizing for accidentally splashing mud on someone? I'll do what
I have to do, without conferring with you beforehand.” Gryzlov was
saying something in Russian in the background, but Thorn hung up be-
fore the interpreter could translate.

He leaped out of the helicopter. The general ofticer saluted, and
Thorn returned his salute. “Mr. President, I'm Major General Robert
Lee Brown, commanding general,” he said. “This way, sir, quickly.”
Brown motioned to a waiting staft car, and they drove off, surrounded
by Army military-police escorts. They drove to a traditional-looking
three-story brick building; inside, it looked anything but traditional.
There was a welcome area featuring several large computer screens
where visitors could watch images of computerized tank and helicopter
battles, with captions underneath showing which units were participat-
ing in the mock battle. All of the screens were dark now, shut down to
prevent damage in case of an electromagnetic pulse, and the area was
deserted except for a few worried-looking soldiers in battle-dress uni-
forms stepping hurriedly past.

The group took a concrete-and-steel stairway down two floors, fol-
lowed a long minimally decorated corridor, and entered an office com-
plex with a secretarial staff area flanked by several large oftice suites.
“This is the computer operations hub for the National Simulation Cen-
ter, which conducts several different types of battlefield combat simula-
tions,” Brown said. “This office complex is the most secure location on
base, and it is also equipped with secure high-speed communications fa-
cilities. You should be safe down here for as long as you need to stay.
We’re not hardened against EMP, nor are we equipped with biochem
filters, but this is the safest place on post. We should be safe if Whiteman
or McConnell is attacked.”

“That’s okay, General,” Thorn said. “We’ll be on our way as soon as
we’re able. Thank you. Please see to your command now—make sure
everyone is safe.” The general saluted the president, shook his proftered
hand, then departed. “Mark, get me the NMCC.”

The Secret Service agent got a quick briefing on the phone system,
then dialed the National Military Command Center, checked in, and
activated the speakerphone. “This is the president, secure,” Thorn said.
“Situation report.”
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“Sir, this 1s General Venti. Secretary Goft and I are en route to An-
drews to take the NAOC airborne.” The NAOC, or National Airborne
Operations Center, was the flying version of the National Military
Command Center at the Pentagon, a converted Boeing 747 able to
communicate with government, civil, and military forces around the
world. “We are still in an Air Defense EMERCON. Four bases in
Alaska have been struck by small-yield nuclear missiles—all radar sites
and ballistic-missile defense installations. NOR AD is now tracking sev-
eral dozen inbound very-high-speed cruise missiles over south-central
Canada. Estimated time to first impact: nine minutes, twelve seconds;
target: Minot Air Force Base, North Dakota.”

“I spoke with Gryzlov—he confirmed he launched the attack and
warns us not to retaliate,” Thorn said grimly. “Status of the government
and military command-and-control network?”

“Good and bad, sir,” Venti said. “Most of the cabinet and congres-
sional leadership have checked in with the comm center. Most are stay-
ing in Washington, unless there’s evidence that they might try to strike
the capital. Since there are no tracks detected heading toward Washing-
ton or anywhere east of the Mississippi, the vice president relocated to
High Point instead of going airborne. We’ll take several members of
Congress and other agencies airborne with us. Secretary of State Her-
shel 1s airborne in a C-32 from Phoenix. Attorney General Horton
hasn’t checked in, but his deputy said he was en route to Andrews, along
with the director of the FBI.”

“I want you and Secretary Goft airborne ASAP, General, as soon as
you arrive at Andrews,” the president said. “As soon as both of you are
on board, lift off. Don’t wait for stragglers.”

“Understood, sir.”

“What’s the bad news, General?”

“The bad news, sir,” Venti said grimly, “is that we’re going to get
clobbered, and there’s nothing we can do about it except watch—and
wait for the casualty counts to come in.”

SITE 91-12, NORTH DAKOTA
That same time

heir day had started at seven-thirty the previous morning. Captain
Bruce Ellerby and Second Lieutenant Christine Johnson, his assistant
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crew commander, met at the 742nd Missile Squadron to review tech-
order changes and alert notes. They wore royal blue Air Force fatigues
with white name tapes and insignia, along with squadron scarves.

After a series of briefings to the entire oncoming crews, including
launch-facility status, intelligence, weather, and standardization/evalua-
tion reports, the crews piled their tech orders, manuals, and other bags
into assigned vans and headed out to their assigned launch-control facil-
ities. Both Ellerby and Johnson were taking correspondence classes
while on alert, so they brought backpacks filled with books: Ellerby was
working on his master’s degree in aviation-maintenance management
from Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University, while Johnson was work-
ing on both Squadron Officer School and her master’s degree in com-
puter science from the University of North Dakota.

After dropping off another crew, Ellerby and Johnson made their
way to their facility and checked in with the security-forces commander
around noon. A security-alert team was sent out to check ID cards and
access badges, and the van was allowed to approach the launch-control
facility. The crew checked in with the “House Mouse,” the noncom-
missioned officer who controlled access to the facility, to get the secu-
rity and operational status of the site, and then placed a lunch order with
the cook. By then the House Mouse had checked in with the offgoing
crew, received verification of crew change and code words, then opened
the elevator-shaft access door for the ongoing crew.

Despite its being only an eight-story ride, it took four minutes for
the elevator to reach the bottom. Their first task after reaching the sub-
terranean level was to manually pump open the locking pins securing
the ten-ton outer blast door leading to the launch-control electrical bay.
Despite being heavy, the door was so well balanced on its hinges that it
was easy for Ellerby and Johnson to pull it open. Once inside, the crew
completed their preflight checks of the high-voltage electrical systems,
switching panels, generators, and batteries, which would supply electri-
cal power to the launch-control facility in case city power was dis-
rupted. Once the checklist was complete, the crew closed the big door
and pumped the locks back in.

Meanwhile, the offgoing crew in the launch-control capsule was
pumping open the blast door to the capsule. By the time Ellerby and
Johnson were finished, the door was open, and they walked across a nar-
row tunnel leading to the launch-control capsule, an egg-shaped room
suspended from the ceiling by enormous spring shock absorbers de-
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signed to protect the crew from the blast eftects of all but a direct hit by
a nuclear weapon.

The oftgoing crew commander briefed the ongoing crew on the
status of the facility and on any scheduled maintenance or security-team
inspections that were to be performed on the facility itself or any of the
ten primary and ten secondary missiles under their supervision. The fi-
nal task was for the offgoing crew to remove their combination locks
from the red safe above the deputy commander’s launch console and cut
off the tamper-evident truck seals securing the safe. The oncoming
crew checked the authentication documents and launch keys, logged the
new seal numbers, then closed, locked, and safety-sealed the safe. With
the changeover complete, the offgoing crew turned over their sidearms
to the new crew and departed. A final one hundred pumps on the han-
dle, and the capsule was closed. After a check-in with the squadron’s
other four launch-control facilities and assessment of equipment status,
the twenty-four-hour alert tour began.

Normally, pulling alert in a missile launch-control facility meant
hours and hours of boredom, punctuated by a few hours of busywork
and a few minutes of excitement. This tour was anything but normal.
After a fairly quiet day and early evening, the communications system
became more and more active as the evening wore on, with several
communications and status-report queries from wing and Twentieth Air
Force headquarters. Tensions were obviously high. The crews were fully
aware of the events that had taken place in Central Asia in recent weeks
and months, and of the overall heightened degree of distrust and suspi-
cion of the Russians.

The tension exploded early the next morning with a loud, rapid
deedledeedledeedle! warning tone, signaling receipt of an emergency
action message. Christine Johnson, taking a nap in the crew bunk, im-
mediately bolted upright and hurried over to her deputy crew com-
mander’s seat. Ellerby was already in his seat, and he had his codebook
out and open. Seconds later a coded message from the wing command
post was broadcast, and both crew members copied the message in their
codebooks with grease pencils and began decoding it.

The first indication that this was not going to be a normal day: The
message decoded as an “Actual” message, not an “Exercise,” and al-
though they had received several “Actual” messages already that shift,
getting another so early in the morning was not normal. “I decode the
message as a Message Eleven,” Ellerby announced.
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“I concur,” Johnson said, her mouth turning instantly dry. She stood
up and removed her lock and the truck seal from the red safe while
Ellerby joined her. He removed the proper authentication card from the
outer compartment. “Card Bravo-Echo.”

“Checks,” she said. He snapped open the foil card and tore off the
top, exposing a combination of six letters and numbers underneath the
foil, then laid it down on the message book. The characters were exactly
as Johnson had copied.

“Authenticators match and are in exact sequence,” Ellerby said.

“I concur,” Johnson said, her heart pounding now.

This time both crew members did everything together, slowly and
carefully. They decoded the rest of the message, entering the proper
date-time group and instructions on another page in the message book.
When they were finished, they looked at each other—and realized they
were about to do something neither one of them had ever done except
in a simulator.

Ellerby removed his lock from the red safe, cut oft the second truck
seal, and opened the main compartment. He handed Johnson a key and
three more authenticator cards, then took a key and his cards back to his
console. The two consoles were fifteen feet apart, separated to avoid any
one person from touching the other’s console—especially the switch
into which the launch keys were inserted. Meanwhile, Johnson looped
the launch key over her neck, strapped herself into her steel seat with a
four-point harness, and tightened the straps.

Both crew members began running their checklists as directed in
the emergency action message: They notified the other launch-control
facilities in the squadron that they had copied and authenticated a valid
message; they began the power-up and data-transfer and alignment se-
quence; and they alerted the aboveground security and maintenance
crews that they had received a launch-alert message. The crew was in a
hair-trigger readiness state, waiting for the next message.

The next message arrived a few moments later, with retargeting in-
formation. On day-to-day alert, the Minuteman III missiles at Minot
and elsewhere had “open-ocean” coordinates programmed into the
missiles, so in case of an accidental or terrorist launch, the warheads
would not hit any real targets. Now real targets had to be entered back
into each missile’s warhead. It did not take long to do, but it was scary
for the crew members to realize that they had taken the next step toward
actually firing their missiles in anger. If the missiles left their silos now,
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they would strike their assigned targets minutes later—there was no
abort, no recall, and no retargeting while in flight.

After the retargeting was completed, there was nothing to do but
sit back and wait to copy and authenticate an execution message,
which would direct them to complete their launch checklist. The fi-
nal step was to insert their launch keys into the launch switch and per-
form simultaneous key turns, which would enter a launch vote into
the time-shared master computer. Successful key turns by at least two
launch-control capsules with no INHIBIT commands from any other
squadron LCCs was necessary to launch the missiles; three successful
key turns in the squadron would send a launch command, no matter
how many other INHIBIT commands were entered. The master com-
puter would then decide when each missile would launch, automati-
cally holding some missiles while others launched so the warheads
would not destroy each other after—

Suddenly the entire launch-control capsule heaved. The lights
blinked, then went out, then came back one by one. The air became
heavy, then hot, then seemed to boil with moisture and red-hot dust.
The capsule banged against something solid—probably the bottom of
the facility—and then bounced and shook like a bucking bronco. Both
crew members screamed as their bodies were hurled against their re-
straints. Equipment, books, and papers started flying in every direction
around the capsule, but Ellerby and Johnson didn’t notice as they fought
to stay conscious against the tremendous pounding. The heat began to
build and build. . . .

And then it all exploded into a wall of fire, which mercifully lasted
only one or two heartbeats, until everything went forever dark and
silent.

OVER CENTRAL UTAH

That same time

ttention all aircraft on this frequency, this is Salt Lake Center, I have
received an emergency notification from the U.S. Defense Depart-
ment and the Department of Homeland Security,” the message on the
radio said suddenly. “You are instructed to divert to the nearest suitable
airport and land immediately. Any aircraft not in compliance within the



PLAN OF ATTACK 205

next twenty minutes is in violation of federal air regulations and will be
prosecuted, and you may be shot down by ground or airborne air-
defense weapon systems without further warning.”

Patrick McLanahan, sipping on a bottle of cold water while at the
controls of his own Aerostar 602P twin-engine airplane, nearly gagged
when he heard that announcement. He immediately punched the NrsT
button on his GPS computer, which gave him a list of the nearest air-
ports. Luckily, there were a lot to choose from in this area—a few min-
utes farther west, out over the vast high deserts of western Utah and
eastern Nevada, and he’d be in big trouble.

His Aerostar was a rather small, bullet-shaped twin-engine plane,
built for speed, with short wings that needed a lot of runway for take-
off, so he had to choose carefully or he might have trouble departing;
Patrick also remembered that thousands of air travelers had been
stranded for several days after they were grounded following the terror-
ist attacks on September 11, 2001, and several hundred general-aviation
aircraft were grounded for weeks if they were based near Boston, New
York City, or Washington, D.C. The nearest airport to him now, Nephi
Municipal, was only six miles away, which would take him about two
minutes, but Provo Municipal was only twenty-eight miles farther
north and would only take him an extra nine minutes to reach; it had a
longer runway and better airport services. He figured he’d be much
more likely to get a bus or train ride home from Provo than he would
from Nephi.

The channel was clogged with voices, dozens of pilots all trying to
talk at once. “All aircraft on this frequency, shut up!” the controller
shouted. It took several such calls for the frequency to clear. “Everyone,
listen carefully and cooperate. Don’t acknowledge my calls unless I ask
you to, and keep all channels clear unless it’s an emergency—and by
God, it had better be a big emergency.

“All VFR aircraft using radar flight following: Radar services are ter-
minated, squawk VFR, and land immediately at the nearest suitable air-
field,” the controller went on, struggling to remain calm and measured.
“Aircraft below flight level one-eight-zero on IFR flight plans in VMC,
remain VMC, squawk VFR, and land at the nearest suitable airfield im-
mediately.” Patrick was on an IFR, or Instrument Flight Rules, flight
plan, which meant his flight was being monitored by federal air traffic
controllers. Because the controllers were responsible for safe aircraft and
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terrain separation, IFR pilots had to follow precise flight rules. All air-
craft at or above eighteen thousand feet were required to be on such a
flight plan.

Below eighteen thousand, pilots flying in good weather (called
VMG, or “visual meteorological conditions™) had the option of filing an
IFR flight plan or flying under VFR, or Visual Flight Rules, which al-
lowed much more freedom. Pilots flying VFR were responsible for their
own traftic and terrain separation, but could request radar service, called
“flight following,” which controllers would provide if they weren’t too
busy with their IFR responsibilities.

“IFR aircraft in positive control airspace, if you are so equipped
and can ensure your own terrain and traffic separation, squawk VFR
and proceed immediately to the nearest suitable airport for landing—I
should be able to figure out which airport you're headed for and change
your flight plan.

“All other aircraft, | am going to be giving you initial vectors, so lis-
ten up. Approach controllers will be giving you further vectors for land-
ing. Do not acknowledge radio calls, just do what I tell you to do. As
soon as you descend below one-eight thousand feet in VMC, squawk
VEFR and proceed to the nearest suitable airport for immediate landing.
Keep your eyes and ears open for traffic advisories and monitor
GUARD for emergency messages.”

Patrick adjusted the autopilot for a quick descent, set his transponder
to “1200,” which meant he was accepting responsibility for his own nav-
igation and collision avoidance, pulled out his approach charts, and began
running his checklists for landing. The Center frequency was hopelessly
clogged with radio calls, despite the controller’s pleas, so Patrick tuned
the radio to Salt Lake City radar approach control, checked in, and re-
ceived approach instructions. Weather was good. He popped the speed
brakes to increase his rate of descent, careful not to pull too much power
off, because his engines were warm and a rapid descent plus low power
settings might damage the Aerostar’s big-bore turbocharged engines.

He knew he should be concentrating on his plane, approach, and
landing, but he couldn’t help it—he had to find out what had caused the
air-defense emergency.

“McLanahan to Luger,” Patrick spoke into midair. His original sub-
cutaneous transceiver had been removed—*“hacked out” would be more
accurate—Dby the Libyans two years earlier, but the new one, implanted
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into his abdomen to make locating and removing it more difticult,
worked perfectly. All personnel assigned to the High Technology Aero-
space Weapons Center wore them for the rest of their lives, mostly so
the government could keep track of them in case the need arose.

“Patrick!” Dave Luger responded. “Where the hell have you been?”

“On my way to Sacramento to meet up with my family,” Patrick
said. “I'm in the Aerostar, about to land in—"

“Muck, all hell is breaking loose,” Luger said. “I’ve just launched
four Vampires, five Megafortresses, and six tankers to escape orbits off
the coast.”

“What?”

“Muck, the damned Russians actually did what you predicted—
they launched a gaggle of Blackjack, Bear, and Backfire bombers and at-
tacked with AS-17s and -19s, exactly like over Uzbekistan,” Luger said.
“First they sent two Blackjack bombers in low-level and wiped out
Clear Air Station in Alaska, then shot nuclear missiles at Fort Wain-
wright, Fort Greely, and Eielson—"

“What? Oh, Jesus . . . I”

“Looks like the targets were all ballistic-missile defense sites,
Muck,” Dave went on. “Then they blasted a hole in the North Warn-
ing System radars with missiles from Backfires and drove about thirty
Bear bombers through. They were caught by the Canadians about three
hundred miles after feet-dry and started firing missiles. The Canucks
got a couple, but DSP estimates at least fifty hypersonic cruise missiles
are on their way.”

“Oh, shit!” Patrick swore. His throat and lips turned instantly dry,
there was a buzzing sound in his ears, and his heart felt as if it were go-
ing to jump right out of his chest. He could not believe what he’d just
heard—but then, he’d been so certain it would happen that he really
wasn’t that surprised. “Wh-when will they hit?”

“First CONUS missile hits Minot any minute now,” Luger re-
sponded. “Looks like they’re going after ballistic-missile defense bases,
bomber bases, missile launch-control facilities . . . and STRATCOM
headquarters at Offutt.”

“My God . . . what about Washington . . . ?”

“Not yet,” Luger responded. “Just Alaska and the Midwest bomber
and missile bases. Where are you, Muck?”

“Getting ready to land in Provo, Utah.”
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“It’d be safer for you here, and it won’t take you long in your
Aerostar—maybe an hour and a half. Got enough gas to make 1t?”

“I just refueled in Pagosa Springs, so I have plenty of gas,” Patrick
said, “but air-traffic control ordered all aircraft to land. I've got ten
minutes to be on the ground.”

“I’'ll give them a call and see if they’ll let you come on in. Stand by.”
But less than a minute later, he came back. “No good, Muck. Every
phone line is jammed.”

Patrick hesitated—but only for a moment. He retracted the speed
brakes, pushed in the mixture and prop levers, then slowly moved up
the throttles, while at the same time continuing his descent. Soon the
radar altimeter, which measured the distance between the airplane and
the ground, clicked in at two thousand feet above ground level.

“Aerostar Five-six Bravo Mike,” the approach controller radioed a
few moments later, “you are below my radar coverage, radar services ter-
minated, frequency change approved. Land immediately and remain on
the ground until specifically cleared for flight again by the FAA. Do not
acknowledge.”

Don’t worry, I won’t, Patrick said to himself. When the radar al-
timeter read one thousand feet aboveground, Patrick leveled off—and
then he punched the DIRECT-TO button on his GPS navigator and en-
tered “KBAM,” the identifier for Battle Mountain, Nevada. He had to
adjust the routing to stay away from restricted airspace around the Dug-
way Proving Grounds, but soon he was heading westbound as fast as the
Aerostar could carry him, as low as he could safely go in the mountain-
ous terrain. “Dave, I'm coming in, ETE one hour twenty-five minutes,”
Patrick reported.

“How’d you manage that, Muck?”

“The old-fashioned way—terrain masking,” Patrick replied. “I just
hope no interceptors think I’'m a bad guy. Send a message to NORAD
and tell them what I'm doing so their fighter jocks won’t shoot me
down.” Undoubtedly the North American Aerospace Defense Com-
mand would set up air patrols around the entire region in very short
time. “After you do that, you can brief me on the status of your
forces.”

“They’re your forces, Muck,” Luger said.

“I’ve been bounced out of my last command, Dave,” Patrick said.
“Houser has preferred charges against me. I'm not in command of
anything.”
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“These are your forces, Muck—always were, always will be,” Luger
repeated. “I'm just keeping them warm for you. You realize, of course,
that I never received orders confirming me as commander of Air Battle
Force?”

“Yes you did. The message from the Pentagon—"

“Only directed that I take control of the force while you were
called to take command of the Nine-sixty-sixth,” Luger said. “You’re
still the boss—and I think the powers that be wanted it that way. Come
on in, and we’ll figure out what we’re going to do next—if we survive
this, that 1s.”

“We’ll survive it,” Patrick said. “Were you able to deploy any of the
Tin Men?”

“I've got two teams deployed to Eareckson right now,” Luger said.
“I’'m just awaiting an execution order.”

“Get them out of there—if the Russians are going after ballistic-
missile defense bases, it’s likely to be next.”

“Already done, Muck,” Luger said. “We dispersed them to Attu as
soon as the air-defense alerts were broadcast.”

Patrick made several rapid mental calculations and quickly deter-
mined that the mission was nearly impossible. It was around fifteen
hundred miles from Eareckson Air Force Base on the island of Shemya
in the Aleutian Islands of western Alaska to Yakutsk, Russia. For the
MV-32 Pave Dasher tilt-jet aircraft, it meant five hours and at least two
aerial refuelings one way, lown over open ocean as well as over some of
the most inhospitable terrain on the planet. The team’s tanker aircraft, a
U.S. Air Force HC-130P special-operations tanker, would have to fly
over the Kamchatka Peninsula, the Sea of Okhotsk, and probably a good
portion of Siberia to rendezvous with the MV-32 on its return leg.

If the Pave Dashers missed any of their refueling rendezvous, they
would not make it back home.

From the moment the MV-32 and the HC-130P left Shemya, it
would be virtually over enemy territory—there was nothing between
Shemya and Yakutsk except icy-cold oceans and Russian territory. It
was suicidal. No one would ever imagine that such a mission could
succeed.

Which made it perfect for the Tin Men. “Have the team stand by,
Dave,” Patrick said. “I want to get them airborne as soon as possible—
but they’re not going in alone.”
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SIXTY MILES EAST OF OFFUTT AIR FORCE BASE,
BELLEVUE, NEBRASKA

That same time

he intercom phone next to Lieutenant General Terrill Samson’s seat

buzzed. He, along with Major General Gary Houser of the Air Intel-
ligence Agency and several of their senior staft members, were flying to
Offutt Air Force Base south of Omaha, Nebraska, to meet with General
Thomas Muskoka of Air Combat Command and the staff of the
United States Strategic Command to discuss activities in Russia and
what sort of plans they should recommend to the Pentagon to respond.
Samson glanced at Houser, who was seated across from him in the club
seating of the small jet, silently ordering him to answer it. Houser
reached forward and picked up the receiver. “This is General Houser.”

“Major Hale up on the flight deck, sir,” the copilot of the Air Force
C-21 transport jet responded. “We’ve received a notification of an air-
defense emergency over the United States.”

“What?” Houser exclaimed. “What’s the emergency?”

“Unknown, sir,” the copilot responded. “Air-traffic control is or-
dering us to land immediately. Offutt Air Force Base has closed its run-
way because of operational requirements. The nearest suitable base for
us is Lincoln Municipal.”

“We’re not landing at a civilian airfield, Major—we’re a military
SAM flight, for Christ’s sake,” Houser retorted. A SAM, or Special Air
Mission, was a designation that gave government or military flights pri-
ority handling by air-traffic controllers, almost on a par with Air Force
One itself. “And what the hell does ‘operational requirements’ mean?”

“They wouldn’t say, sir.”

“Tell AT C that we’re going to land at Oftutt unless further notified,”
Houser said. “Remind them, again, that we’re a military SAM flight.
Then get the Fifty-fifth Wing commander on the line immediately.”

“Sir, we’ve already tried to communicate with him directly—no
response.”

“I’ve got General Samson with me. He’ll authorize us to divert to
Oftutt.”

“Sorry, sir, but this directive comes down from NORAD through
the FAA.”

“Then request General Samson speak with General Shepard at
NORAD ASAP—he’s probably already at Offutt for the meeting we’re
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supposed to attend, for Christ’s sake. If he’s not available, get General Venti
at the Pentagon. We’re not going to divert to a civilian airfield, especially
not if an emergency exists that we need to respond to. Hurry it up.”

“Yes, sir.”

Samson looked up from his laptop computer. “What’s going on,
Gary?”

“ATC says someone’s declared an air-defense emergency,” Houser
said. “They’re trying to get us to land at the nearest civilian airfield.”

“They know we’re a SAM flight?”

“Yes, sir.”

“Base ops at Oftutt will have to contact FAA directly.”

“The crew has tried to contact the Fifty-fifth Wing commander
directly. They’re going to try to get General Shepard to get us permis-
sion to land. He should be right there at the STRATCOM command
center.”

The phone buzzed again, and this time Samson picked it up. “Gen-
eral Samson.”

“Major Hale up on the flight deck, sir. ATC says to divert immedi-
ately to Lincoln Municipal. Oftutt is out. They say base ops at Offutt
advised ATC not to allow anyone to land there, including inbound
SAMs. No response from General Shepard.”

“What in hell is going on, Major?”

“I don’t know, sir,” the copilot responded, “but I'm monitoring the
radios, and it sounds like Offutt launched one of their AOCs.” AOCs
were the Airborne Operations Center E-4Bs based at Offutt, modified
Boeing 747 airliners with the ability to communicate with and direct
military forces worldwide.

“So the runway itself is okay?”

“Sounds like it, sir.”

“Then advise ATC that we’re landing at Offutt,” Samson ordered.
“If they still want you to divert, declare an emergency for national secu-
rity reasons and proceed to Offutt.”

“Yes, sir.”

Samson hung up the intercom, picked up the in-flight phone, and
dialed his command post’s number. No response. He tried his office
number—still no response. “Well, what the hell is going on?” he mut-
tered. “I can’t get through to anyone.”

“Maybe we ought to land at Lincoln as they ordered,” Houser sug-
gested nervously, “and then sort it out on the ground.”
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“We’re less than forty miles from landing—we’re not going to di-
vert an extra fifty just because ATC has got a bug up their ass about
something,” General Samson said. “Besides, if something’s going on,
the best place for us to be is at Oftutt in the command center. We’ll go
there, even if we have to land on the taxiway.” Samson had a bit of trou-
ble relaying that desire to the pilot, but once the C-21 pilot was re-
minded exactly who in the back of the plane was calling the shots, the
decision was quickly made.

They watched out the small jet’s windows as they broke through a
thin overcast layer and caught a glimpse of the air base oft in the dis-
tance. Nothing looked out of the ordinary—no smoke or fire from a
plane crash, no signs of any sort of terrorist attack or of an approaching
tornado or severe thunderstorm. They appeared to be lining up for a
straight-in approach. Gary Houser felt relieved when the landing gear
came down, indicating they were cleared to land.

On the five-mile final, Houser was busy packing up his briefcase
and getting ready for landing when he noticed a bright flash of light,
like a nearby bolt of lightning. At that exact moment, the lights inside
the airplane cabin popped out.

“Holy crap!” Terrill Samson said, “I think we just got hit by light-
ning.”

“It sounds like the engines are spooling down, too,” Houser said. It
was hard to tell with the noise from the landing gear and flaps—or was
that noise from the gear ... or something else? This was bad. They
might be able to drag it in from this altitude, but these jets didn’t glide
too well. He tightened his seat belt and waited for the impact. He
could hear the jet engine’s starters roaring and the igniters clicking as
the pilots frantically tried to restart the engines. They had flown
through that thin overcast, but there didn’t seem to be any thunder-
heads nearby—where did the lightning come from? He glanced out the
window.

And saw what he thought was a huge tornado, like something in a
disaster movie, that had instantly materialized out of nowhere right in
the middle of the base. It was an immense column of dirt rising verti-
cally, at least a mile in diameter—with what looked like orange, red, and
yellow volcano-like rivers of fire mixed in. He opened his mouth to yell
out a warning to the cockpit when he heard an earsplitting blast, like a
thousand crashes of thunder.

Then he felt, saw, and heard nothing.



ABOARD AIR FORCE ONE

A short time later

resident Thomas Thorn sat at his desk in the executive office suite

in the nose section of Air Force One, staring at a computerized

map of the United States. Several dots on the map, representing
military installations, were blinking; others had red triangles around
them. Another flat-panel digital monitor had images of the vice presi-
dent at the Mount Weather Continuation of Government Special Facil-
ity, known as “High Point,” in Berryville, West Virginia; another
showed images of Secretary of Defense Robert Goft and Chairman of
the Joint Chiefs of Staft' General Venti, both airborne aboard the E-4B
National Airborne Operations Center, orbiting out over the Atlantic
Ocean with two F-15C Eagle fighters in formation with it. Several
members of the Joint Chiefs of Staff—the ones that managed to make
it to Andrews in time for takeoff—were also present in the NAOC’s
conference room and listening in on the teleconference, but were not
visible on the screen.

“NORAD is showing no more tracks, Mr. President,” Goft said
somberly over the secure videoconference link. “Looks like the attack is
over.”

It was over, all right—over for thousands of military men and
women, their families, and many thousands more innocent civilians liv-
ing near the military targets.

As hard as he tried, Thomas Thorn found himself growing angrier
by the second. He knew before receiving any estimates that the death
toll was going to be huge—ten, twenty, maybe thirty times greater than
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the number of lives lost in New York, Washington, and Pennsylvania on
September 11. How could the Russians do something like this? It was
such an unbelievable act of pure homicidal madness. Calling this an “act
of war” just didn’t seem to cut it. This was an act of insanity.

“You okay, Thomas?” Vice President Busick asked over the secure
video teleconference. “You look like you're flying through some rough
air.”

“I'm okay,” Thorn replied.

“I know what you’re feelin’, Thomas,” Busick said. “You wanna go
wring someone’s neck.” Thorn glanced at Busick’s face in the monitor.
“Get over that, Thomas. You have a lot of dead Americans out there,
and a lot more that want to know what’s gonna happen next. You're the
man that’s going to need to have some answers. Let’s get organized.”

Thorn stared blankly at a window—thick silver curtains had been
installed over all the windows in Air Force One to prevent injury by
flash blindness, should any more nuclear warheads explode nearby. He
telt helpless, overwhelmed. He and a handful of military and govern-
ment advisers were locked up in an airplane, flying over the ocean, far
away from the capital. Bits of information were dripping in, but for the
most part they were disconnected from the rest of the country. They
were cut off.

No, even that wasn’t exactly true. They were running. They had
abandoned the capital and were doing nothing more than fleeing to
save their own lives, while the rest of America had to sit and take what-
ever the Russians were going to fire at them next.

He had faced many such unexpected disasters in his years as a
special-operations officer in the U.S. Army. When an operation went
wrong or when they were discovered, the team went into a sort of
mental shock. They had planned and sometimes rehearsed many alter-
nate and emergency-contingency missions, but when the shit hits the
fan for real, the only plan they usually thought of was escape. It was
confusing, chaotic, and, frankly, it didn’t look very heroic. Weeks and
sometimes months of planning gave way to a headlong, almost irrational
fleeing instinct. Some of the more experienced troops remembered to
tell the others important things—Iike which way to go, what to watch
out for, and to remember to collect up things like maps, comm gear,
weapons, and fallen comrades. But for everyone the bottom line is sim-
ple: Get out. Save yourself. Run.

Once they had escaped, rendezvoused, and inventoried themselves
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and their equipment, the very next thing they did was look to the team
leaders, the ofticer and NCO in charge, for guidance and a plan of ac-
tion. They didn’t want anger, or vows of revenge, or signs of grief and
sorrow—they wanted and needed leadership. That’s what President
Thomas Thorn had to provide—rnow. Even if he didn’t know exactly
what he wanted to do, he had to have the strength and courage to gather
up his forces and get them moving.

Thorn drew in a deep breath, retrieved a bottle of water, took a
deep swig, then turned back to the video teleconference camera, “fac-
ing” his team of advisers. “Analysis?” the president asked simply.

“I've got a very preliminary tally, Mr. President,” General Richard
Venti, chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, responded. He took a deep
breath, steeling himself to deliver a report he thought he would never,
ever have to present:

“First to be hit was Clear Air Station in Alaska,” he began. “Clear
i1s...was...1is a major radar and command-and-control base for the
entire state of Alaska and the approaches into North America. The at-
tack destroyed several radar systems, communications facilities, and a
ground-based interceptor silo complex being built for the ballistic-
missile defense force. Clear was the main ballistic-missile and aircraft-
tracking station in the north, manned by approximately one thousand
men and women. It was hit by a total of eight low-yield nuclear
weapons, some with air-burst fuzes to destroy aboveground facilities,
others with penetrating bunker-buster fuzes to destroy the ground-
launched interceptor silos.

“Next was an attack against three major military bases in eastern
Alaska, near Fairbanks,” Venti went on. “Eielson Air Force Base is the
home of the Three-fifty-fourth Fighter Wing, an F-16 and A-10 attack
wing, but it also houses several components of the national missile-
defense infrastructure, including the Alaskan headquarters for the sys-
tem. Fort Wainwright and Fort Greely are Army installations housing
several infantry units, but they also contain several key NMD facilities.
The bases were hit by eight nuclear-tipped missiles.”

“How many men and women at those bases, General?” the presi-
dent asked woodenly, dreading the answer.

“About . . . approximately fifteen thousand in all four bases, sir,”
Venti responded.

“My ...God...” Thomas Thorn felt his face redden, and tears
flowed into his eyes. He could barely fathom such a number killed all at
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once. His voice cracked as he said, “Those bastards . . . I’ He rested his
head on his fingers, blankly staring straight ahead. After a few moments,
with his head still bowed, he asked, “Do we know what kind of
bombers they used?”

“The attacks against Alaska were accomplished by an unknown num-
ber of high-speed bombers, probably Tupolev-160s, code-named ‘Black-
jack,”” Air Force Chief of Staft General Charles Kuzner responded. “The
Blackjack’s standard strategic attack armament is sixteen AS-16 ‘Kick-
back’ missiles, inertially guided, short range, high speed, similar to our
obsolete AGM-69 short-range attack missiles that used to arm our strate-
gic bombers. The bombers probably came in at treetop level all the way
from Siberia. FAA and NORAD spotted them as they came ashore, but
we couldn’t get any more interceptors in the air fast enough.” The pres-
ident raised his head and stared accusingly into the camera, which
prompted Air Force General Kuzner to blurt out, “Sir, we had already
launched fighters from Eielson and Elmendorf because of the air-defense
threat farther north and—"

“I'm not blaming anyone, General,” Thorn said.

“We had four fighters rolling at Eielson when the base came under
attack,” Kuzner went on. “We had two more coming up from Elmen-
dorf searching for them, but the electromagnetic pulses from the above-
ground nuclear explosions were scrambling radar and communications
for hundreds of miles. The F-15s couldn’t see a thing, couldn’t talk to
anyone, couldn’t do a damned thing to stop them. . . .”

“I said I'm not blaming you, General Kuzner,” the president re-
peated. He could see Kuzner’s Adam’s apple bobbing up and down and
his facial muscles slacken as he silently tried to deal with the horror—
the horror that his forces might have prevented, had they been more
prepared.

Venti waited until he could see the president look at him, silently
asking him to continue, then cleared his throat and went on. “The first
CONUS base to be hit was Minot Air Force Base, thirteen miles outside
the city of Minot, North Dakota. That base is the home of the Fifth
Bomb Wing, with twenty-four B-52H Stratofortress bombers and
twelve KC-135R Stratotanker aerial-refueling tankers. Minot is also
the home of the Ninety-first Space Wing, a Minuteman III missile
wing, which comprises fifteen underground launch-control centers
spread out over eighty-five hundred square miles of North Dakota.
Each LCC controls ten LGM-30G Minuteman intercontinental ballis-
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tic missiles; in compliance with the START II treaty, each Minuteman
has been downgraded from three independently targeted warheads to
just one W78 nuclear warhead. We have detected direct hits on the base
itself and several hits near the LCCs, but we don’t yet know how many
were knocked out.”

“What about the base?”

“Unknown yet, sir,” Venti responded somberly. “It took two direct
hits.”

“How many personnel on that base?”

“About . . . about five thousand military.” Left unsaid was the obvi-
ous fact that perhaps two to four times that many military dependents
and civilians living near the base could have perished.

“My God,” the president breathed. He could scarcely believe that
this was happening—and yet he reminded himself that the death toll
had not even begun to be calculated. “What about the city?”

“A few reports of damage, a few casualties, but it appears the city it-
self was not affected.”

“Thank God.”

“The attacks on the continental U.S. appear to have been done by
Tupolev-95 Bear bombers, launching very long-range AS-19 hyper-
sonic missiles, code-named ‘Koala,” ” Venti said. “The Bear bombers are
not supersonic, but their range is almost twice that of the Blackjack
bomber. Several Bear bombers were intercepted and shot down over
Canada by Canadian air-defense forces.”

“AS-19—isn’t that the same missile supposedly used over Uzbek-
istan?” Vice President Busick asked.

“Yes, sir,” Secretary of Defense Goft said. “Apparently the attack
against our CIA station in Uzbekistan was an operational test launch.”

“Oh,shit...”

“Next to be hit was Grand Forks Air Force Base, sixteen miles west
of the city of Grand Forks, North Dakota,” Venti went on. “Grand
Forks is the headquarters of the new U.S. National Missile Defense
Command, the agency that will control our ballistic-missile defense
tforces. The base also has a reserve nuclear-weapon storage facility that
houses approximately four hundred and forty Minuteman-missile war-
heads, air-launched cruise-missile warheads, and B61 and B83 nuclear
bombs, all in secure storage. It was hit by a single Russian cruise missile
with great accuracy. It’s possible the direct casualty count here is very
small, although that doesn’t take into account the fallout and contami-
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nation from the warheads that were not incinerated in the blast. The
base was also home to the Three-nineteenth Air Refueling Wing, with
twenty-two KC-135R tankers.”

The president could do nothing but shake his head, almost over-
whelmed by the enormity of this disaster. The effect of the fallout—
dirt and debris bombarded by gamma radiation, making it radioactive,
then carried aloft by the force of the blast, spreading over hundreds of
thousand of square miles by high-altitude winds, then falling back to
Earth—was something to which very little attention had been paid
since the collapse of the Soviet Union and the end of the Cold War.
Thorn remembered the civil-defense exercises he’d participated in as a
child, and fallout was one of those fearsome things that caused night-
mares in impressionable young children. Now they had to face it for

real—and he found he was still scared of the harm it might cause.

“Next was Malmstrom Air Force Base, just six miles east of Great
Falls, Montana,” Venti went on. “The Three-forty-first Space Wing
there deploys two hundred Minuteman III missiles in twenty LCCs
spread out over twenty-three thousand square miles of Montana. The
base itself, which does not have an operating runway, did not appear to
be hit. Unfortunately, the missile-silo fields surround the city of Great
Falls on three sides, and we have detected explosions all around the city.
It’s possible casualties could be relatively small here, too, but it’s too early
to tell.

“Next was Ellsworth Air Force Base, twelve miles east of Rapid
City, South Dakota. Ellsworth is the home of the Twenty-eighth Bomb
Wing, a B-1B Lancer-bomber base. It was hit by a single missile. This
target is somewhat unusual, in that all the other places targeted by the
Russians were related to nuclear warfighting—Ellsworth’s B-1 bombers
were made nonnuclear eight years ago to conform to Strategic Arms
Reduction Treaty limits. Although it’s possible to make them capable of
carrying nuclear weapons, it would take many months to do it, and it
would greatly downgrade our conventional bombing capability. This
signals a flaw in the Russians’ intelligence matrix—either they forgot
that we made the B-1s nonnuclear or they thought we were about to
turn them back into nuclear bombers.”

“Which is precisely what we should be doing, sir,” Kuzner inter-
jected, “along with the aircraft in flyable storage. As soon as we convert
them and train crews to man them, we should put them on alpha
alert.”
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“I have no intention of putting nuclear-loaded bombers back on
alert, General,” President Thorn said. “Those days are over.”

“With all due respect, Mr. President, it looks to me like those days
are back again,” Kuzner said bitterly. “Without the ICBMs we have no
choice but to put every aircraft we can back on nuclear alert—mnot just
the bombers but every tactical jet capable of carrying a thermonuclear
weapon.”

“General Kuzner . . .”

“Mr. President, we can’t waste any time on this. It’ll take four to
eight weeks to recertify a new B-1 aircraft with positive-control
switches and devices for nuclear weapons, plus twenty to thirty weeks to
train a new aircrew and forty to sixty weeks to train a new maintenance
technician. We need to—"

“That’s enough, General,” Thorn said sternly. “We’ll discuss this
when the time comes.”

“Will we? Or are you just going to let another six thousand airmen
on one of my bases die?”

“I said that’s enough, General,” Thorn snapped. He noticed that nei-
ther Vice President Busick, Secretary of State Goft, or Joint Chiefs
chairman General Venti attempted to shut Kuzner down—they wanted
him to go off, and they wanted to see how Thorn would handle it. “I
assure you, when the time comes, we’ll plan an appropriate response and
use every weapon in our arsenal to implement the plan. In the mean-
time [ want to hear what we’ve lost and what we might have left before
I start loading nuclear weapons on bombers again. Is that clear, Gen-
eral?” Kuzner said nothing and responded with the faintest of nods.
Thorn noticed this and gave Kuzner a stern glare but decided not to
argue further. “General Venti, continue your report.”

“Yes, sir. Next was Francis E. Warren Air Force Base, adjacent to the
city of Cheyenne, Wyoming. E E. Warren is Twentieth Air Force head-
quarters, responsible for all of America’s land-launched intercontinental
ballistic missiles, and is also the home of the Ninetieth Space Wing,
which controls one hundred and fifty Minuteman ICBMs. One cruise
missile hit on the base itself—we don’t know exactly where yet. Most
of the other missiles were targeted on the fifteen launch-control centers
spread out over almost thirteen thousand square miles of Wyoming,
Colorado, and Nebraska.

“The next target was Whiteman Air Force Base, located in a rela-
tively rural area of western Missouri, about forty-five miles east of
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Kansas City. Whiteman is the home of the Five-oh-ninth Bomb Wing,
with nineteen B-2A Spirit stealth bombers and fourteen KC-135R
tankers, plus an OA-10 Thunderbolt II close-air-support fighter wing.
Two Russian warheads hit the base itself. Again, approximately four to
five thousand personnel were stationed at Whiteman.

“The last target was Offutt Air Force Base, eight miles south of
Omaha, Nebraska. Oftutt has the Fifty-fifth Wing, which controls all
of the nation’s strategic electronic reconnaissance and electronic
command-and-control aircraft, and of course it is the headquarters of
U.S. Strategic Command, the Joint Intelligence Center, the Air Force
Weather Agency, and the Pentagon’s National Airborne Operations
Center—all important military agencies necessary in planning and exe-
cuting strategic combat missions, such as what we would employ if we
fought a nuclear conflict with Russia. The base was hit by at least four
warheads.”

“Military contingent at Oftutt?” the president asked woodenly.

Venti hesitated, swallowed, then responded, “Over eight thousand,
sir.”’

“Jee-zus,” Vice President Busick exclaimed.

“There was one clean miss, sir—unfortunately, it could be the great-
est disaster of the attack,” Venti said. “Two warheads from one missile
were apparently targeted for the weapon-storage facility at Fairchild Air
Force Base near Spokane, Washington, which stores approximately five
hundred nuclear gravity bombs, and warheads for cruise missiles, naval
missiles, and torpedoes. The missile fell short and hit outside the city.
No specific casualty reports yet, but damage is extensive.

“DSP reports a total of sixty-three explosions in the United States,”
Venti summarized. “Thirty-one warheads targeted against Minuteman
IIT launch-control centers, obviously intended to prevent the missiles
from being launched; sixteen against ballistic-missile defense installa-
tions; ten warheads targeted against nuclear-capable bomber bases and
weapon-storage facilities; and six against strategic command-and-
control bases, mostly involving nuclear warfighting. The Air Warning
Center tracked over fifty missiles inbound on the attack against the
CONUS, so perhaps as many as ten Russian cruise missiles malfunc-
tioned and failed to detonate; one missile malfunctioned but its war-
heads did detonate, with disastrous results.”

“Still no contact with anyone at STRATCOM?” the president
asked.
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“No, sir—it looks like Oftutt took a direct hit with three warheads,”
General Venti said. “The airfield took one, and two hit the underground
command center. No word yet if anyone survived. One warhead ex-
ploded north of the city of Bellevue—damage and casualty estimates
are not in yet. All of the warheads used in these attacks were very small,
perhaps one or two kilotons—Iess than a tenth the size of the bomb that
was dropped on Hiroshima.”

“What are the chances anyone survived at STRATCOM?”

“The command center was designed to take the shock and over-
pressure from a one-megaton warhead,” Venti responded. “Many of the
warheads used on this attack were designed to explode deep under-
ground. It’s very possible anyone inside the underground facility could
have survived, if the complex was sealed up and fully disconnected from
all external power and air in time. Same with the Minuteman-missile
launch facilities. They are built on shock absorbers that are designed to
survive tremendous overpressure. But they can’t survive inside the fire-
ball. If the earth and the facility shielding couldn’t stop the fireball from
forming underground, they couldn’t make it.”

“Just one aircraft made it away from Offutt?”

“One E-4B Airborne Operations Center, which was on alert at the
time. They have checked in and are fully functional, although they do
not have a complete battle staff. Rear Admiral Jerrod Richland is the
battle-staff director. Although it does not have a complete crew, it can
do all the command-and-control functions of the STRATCOM com-
mand center. No other aircraft made it off in time.”

“So I can still talk to our subs and military headquarters?” the pres-
ident asked. “I still have control of the nuclear warheads?”

“The E-4 is a global communications platform, able to communi-
cate directly with any civilian or military person on planet Earth with a
radio receiver or computer—it took over for the old Strategic Air Com-
mand EC-135 ‘Looking Glass aircraft, which were designed to ‘mirror’
operations in SAC’s underground command center,” Venti responded.
“The E-6B is a communications aircraft, designed to communicate
with military units and ballistic-missile submarines deep under the
ocean, but the difference is that the B-model can format and send exe-
cution messages to nuclear forces and can also monitor and launch land-
based ballistic missiles.”

“Can’t I do all that from Air Force One?” the president asked.

“You can communicate easily with the E-4 and E-6 aircraft and is-
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sue orders to them and to any military command centers and govern-
ment operations centers; you can also break in on civil television and ra-
dio frequencies to speak with the American people,” Venti explained,
“but Air Force One was not designed as an airborne military command
post, only as an airborne White House. You cannot actually launch a
nuclear strike yourself.”

“So do I have control of our nuclear forces or not?” the president
asked, struggling to keep his head clear through the enormous jumble
of information he was absorbing. “Exactly what am I left with here?”

“You can issue orders to the ballistic nuclear submarine force at any
time through coded messages to the E-6A TACAMO aircraft that are
airborne over the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans,” chimed in Admiral
Charles Andover, Chief of Naval Operations, who was back in the Na-
tional Military Command Center at the Pentagon. “The E-6A’s job is to
talk with the boomers while submerged with extremely low-frequency
transmitters, and that network is still in place and operational.”

“We issued a change in posture and DEFCON—"

“So the boomers know that tensions are high,” Andover said. “Un-
der DEFCON One and a Posture Red, the boomers will proceed to
their launch positions and wait. After several days, if they don’t receive a
‘withhold’ or ‘termination’ message, they’ll launch.” Andover saw the
concern in President Thorn’s face and added quickly, “That is the pro-
cedure under these circumstances, sir. In case an attack completely wipes
out the leadership, under DEFCON One the subs are authorized to
launch if they don’t hear from us again. It ensures maximum stealth and
maximum deterrent effect—the subs don’t have to expose themselves to
enemy forces just to receive another execution message, and the Rus-
sians know they can’t completely destroy our most survivable nuclear
forces just by killing the president.”

“What else do we have left?”

“We don’t know how many land-based ICBMs we have left yet,”
General Venti responded. “With STRATCOM and Twentieth Air
Force headquarters destroyed, the U.S. Space Command will need to
hook into alternate communications lines to assess the status of the in-
dividual Minuteman launch-control centers and the weapons them-
selves. That should be done shortly.”

“If any survived, can we control those missiles?”

“The B-model Mercury aircraft should be able to take control of
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the ICBMs, sir,” Venti said. “Stand by one, sir.” He studied his status-of-
forces report for a moment, then said, “The E-6Bs are based at Tinker
Air Force Base in Oklahoma City. Normally, they embark a battle staff
at Offutt and then disperse to various locations around the United
States. The relief aircraft was destroyed at Offutt, but the alert E-6B
was dispersed to ground alert at Naval Air Station Dallas, and it
launched as soon as the air-defense alert was sounded. They’ll fly to
their monitoring-and-control orbit over Wyoming and try to make
contact with the launch-control centers to find out how many of our
land-based missiles made 1it.”

Venti nodded to an off-camera screen. “As far as the bomber fleet
goes: If you’ll look at the DSP satellite readouts, sir, you’ll see that three
very critical bases were destroyed: Minot Air Force Base in North
Dakota, Ellsworth Air Force Base in South Dakota, and Whiteman Air
Force Base in Missouri,” he went on. “We don’t know how many
bombers based at those locations survived. This leaves just one B-52
wing at Barksdale, near Shreveport, Louisiana, capable of executing a
nuclear strike.”

“How many bombers are based there?”

“Eighteen, sir.”

“That’s it? That’s all the heavy bombers we have left?”

“Those are all the nuclear-capable bombers we have left, sir,” Venti
said. “There may be other surviving bombers that were airborne at the
time of the attack. General Kuzner, what other forces do we have
available?”

“We have just one base with B-1B Lancer long-range bombers
left—Dyess Air Force Base just outside Abilene, Texas,” Kuzner re-
sponded. “It has about twenty aircraft, plus their air-refueling tankers.
However, we deployed four of Ellsworth’s B-1 bombers to Andersen
Air Force Base on Guam and six to Diego Garcia in the Indian Ocean as
part of a contingency fast-strike and naval surface action group air sup-
port force for the Middle East and Asia. So it appears we have a total of
about thirty B-1 bombers left. We also have another twenty to thirty
B-1 bombers in flyable storage, which is the most ridiculous oxymoron
ever invented—most of those planes would take months to make fly-
able, and some will never fly again.

“Keep in mind, sir, that B-1s cannot carry nuclear weapons without
significant and lengthy work. However, they can now carry cruise mis-
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siles—they have always had the capability of carrying cruise missiles but
were prevented from doing so by the START treaty. I think it’s safe to
say that all treaties with the Russians are null and void at this point.”

“I will inform you about which treaties are in force and which are
null and void, General Kuzner,” President Thorn snapped.

“Of course,” Kuzner went on angrily, ignoring the president’s re-
mark, “we’ve converted so many nuclear cruise missiles to conventional-
warheads-only that there aren’t enough for the B-1s to carry. Barksdale
lost all of their ALCMs and has only enough advanced cruise missiles to
equip its own fleet of B-52s—"

“General Kuzner, go get yourself a cup of coffee,” General Venti
said, and he reached over and punched a button that deactivated
Kuzner’s video-teleconference camera. He turned back to his own
camera. “I apologize, Mr. President. He’s a little upset. General Kuzner’s
family is from Cheyenne.”

“We’re all a little upset, General,” Thorn said. “Have him resume
his duties as soon as he can think and speak clearly. Understood?”

“Perfectly, sir.”

“So what do we have left to retaliate against the Russians with,
General?” Vice President Busick asked.

Venti added up the numbers. “At the present time, sir, we have
six Ohio-class ballistic-missile submarines on patrol, three each in the
Pacific and Atlantic, each loaded with twenty-four D-5 Trident II sea-
launched ballistic missiles—SLBMs—each of which has five indepen-
dently targeted nuclear warheads,” he said. “We have another four subs
that can be deployed in a short amount of time.”

“Where are the other subs?”

“Undergoing extensive overhauls, sir. Each overhaul takes about a
year.”

“What sort of targets?”

“On day-to-day patrol, each SLBM has target coordinates only for
ice packs,” Andover responded. “That’s a safety measure set in case of ac-
cidental or terrorist launch. But when we changed the DEFCON level,
the crews would have changed to normal SIOP targets—military bases,
command-and-control facilities, and major lines of communications.”

“You mean cities?”

“Yes, sir—telephone and data-switching stations, power plants, gas
and oil pipelines and distribution systems, highways, railroads, ports—
any civilian infrastructure that could support sustained military opera-
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tions,” Andover said. “The goal is to eliminate Russia’s ability to fight
an intercontinental war.”

“Even though it obviously means greater civilian casualties?”

“We don’t specifically target civilians. We don’t attack cities or
towns indiscriminately,” Venti said.

“What other nuclear forces do we have left that we know about?”
the president asked.

“We have fifteen heavy bombers that can be generated for nuclear
strike missions, plus two more undergoing depot-level maintenance and
one in extended local-level maintenance status—meaning it’s the
‘hangar queen,’ being used for spare parts until more come in.

“Fifteen bombers? That’s it?” the president exclaimed. “My God!”

“And the thirty surviving B-1s are not nuclear capable,” Venti re-
minded him. “The only long-range nuclear air-attack forces left are the
eighteen B-52s left at Barksdale, plus any other bombers that were air-
borne or deployed during the attack. We think only two B-2 stealth
bombers survived. That could leave us with about twenty nuclear-
capable long-range bombers.

“We do have other forces capable of delivering nuclear weapons,
but it will take time to generate those forces, and they’re not as surviv-
able as the heavies,” Venti went on. “As I mentioned, there are about
thirty B-1B bombers that can be converted back to carrying nuclear
weapons. The Air Force also has about one hundred and seventy-five
F-15E Strike Eagle tactical fighter-bombers that are capable of deliver-
ing nuclear weapons, based at six locations in the continental U.S. and
Alaska—unfortunately, we closed the F-15E base at R AF Lakenheath in
England and brought all of the nuclear weapons stored in Europe back
to the U.S. Although no warships except the ballistic-missile subs carry
nuclear weapons, ships can be quickly supplied with nuclear cruise mis-
siles and gravity bombs—the F/A-18 Hornet carrier-based fighter can
deliver nuclear weapons.”

“I think it would be wise to disperse those bombers and any other
bombers that survived around the country,” Secretary of Defense Goft
said, “to make it harder for the Russians to attack them. If they want to
go after bomber bases, they’ll be next.”

“I sent a message to Air Combat Command to suggest exactly that,”
Venti said. “We can phone or instant-message all the commanders from
the NAOC, just as you can from your phones and computers aboard Air
Force One. General Muskoka of ACC is on his way back to Langley. He



226 DALE BROWN

was en route to Oftutt Air Force Base for a meeting with STRAT-
COM, NORAD, Space Command, First Air Force, and Eighth Air
Force commanders to discuss reestablishing a tighter air-defense net-
work in the continental U.S. and perhaps putting the bomber force back
on twenty-four/seven alert.”” He paused, swallowed, then added, “I’ve
received no response from General Samson of Eighth Air Force, who is
the commander of the bomber forces. His staff thinks he had just ar-
rived at Oftutt when the attack took place. Air Force has also not heard
from General Shepard of NORAD, General Wollensky of Space Com-
mand, General Craig of First Air Force, and General Houser of Air In-
telligence Agency. They may have been at Offutt as well.”

“Oh, Christ,” Goff breathed. “That’s most of the Air Force’s senior
commanders.”

“We need replacements for the dead and missing generals, and we
need them fast,” the president said. “Then I need to talk to them right
away. | can’t even begin to try to plan a response to this attack before I
know what we have and what they have.”

“My staff is working on all that as we speak, Mr. President,” General
Venti said. “I've already been in contact with the deputy commander of
the Nine-sixty-sixth Information Warfare Wing, Colonel Trevor Grif-
fin. He’s taking a military jet from San Antonio and will be at the Pen-
tagon in a few hours. The STRATCOM ops detachment here at the
Pentagon can brief us on the status of strategic forces anytime you're
ready.”

“Have Griffin contact me as soon as he’s briefed, General,” Thorn
said. “What about civil defense and securing the blast sites?”

“The governors of each affected state and several of the neighboring
states have activated their national guards,” Secretary Goft responded,
“and we’re working with the Federal Emergency Management Agency
and U.S. Northern Command to secure the impact sites and provide re-
lief services. It’s too early to tell the extent of contamination—the
weapons were detonated underground but were extremely small, so the
hazard of radioactive fallout might be minimal.”

“Thank God,” the president murmured. He rubbed his eyes wearily.
“All right, everyone, my first order of business is to find out what we
lost and what we have left. I can’t say much of anything to the Ameri-
can people or to the world right now, except that I'm alive and our cap-
ital and government are still functioning. But very soon everyone’s
going to wonder what our first move will be. That’s what I need to fig-
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ure out. We’ll talk again in one hour, or sooner if conditions warrant.”
And the connection was broken.

BATTLE MOUNTAIN AIR RESERVE BASE

A short time later

ice to see you again, Tagger,” Patrick McLanahan said. He was in the

Battle Management area of the command center, speaking to Colo-
nel Trevor Griftin at Air Intelligence Agency headquarters via a secure
video teleconference. Patrick McLanahan was busily checking the
streams of data being fed to Battle Mountain from the Seventieth Intel-
ligence Wing, Fort Meade, Maryland, which had several technicians and
experts poring over intelligence-satellite imagery recently received
from space. “Glad to have you running the show there now.”

“I just wish it hadn’t happened because of a damned Russian sneak
attack,” Griffin said.

“We’ll take care of that problem shortly, Tagger,” Patrick said. “I
damned well guarantee it.” There was then a brief moment of silence
as they thought about the devastation that had come down on Offutt,
Minot, Ellsworth, Whiteman, and all the other targets of Russian cruise
missiles. America had suffered its worst-ever attack on its own soil—
and now it was their job to find a way to give the president of the
United States some options other than initiating a nuclear response.

“The data feed is looking good,” Patrick said to break the reverie.

“This stuff is hot off the presses,” Trevor Griftin said. “The last
NIRTSat overflight was just five minutes ago. Man, you guys have the
best toys.”

They did indeed, Patrick thought. The four-satellite NIRTSat—
“Need It Right This Second” satellite—constellation launched just a
few hours ago by Jon Masters was speeding over southern Siberia, pho-
tographing hundreds of thousands of square miles of territory with ul-
trabroadband radar and high-resolution imaging infrared cameras every
twenty minutes, then instantly beaming any returns back to Battle
Mountain. The images were analyzed by comparing their size, density,
and heat signatures to a catalog of known military objects.

“Okay, guys, here’s what we got,” Tagger began. “Let’s start with
the bombers. The Russians took some serious hits with their bomber
fleet on their attack, but they were very effective and bit a big chunk out
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of our asses. They easily have over a hundred and fifty or so planes left,
spread out across ten bases. They lost about a quarter of their fleet in the
initial attack, but it’s not slowing them down one bit. It definitely looks
like they’re reloading and rearming and getting ready for another
swipe—and this time they’ll have an easier time of it. Their next attack
could well reach every base and every government office in North
America.

“Their tanker tactics are very impressive—they’re using a level of
organization and sophistication that equals ours,” Tagger observed.
“They launch the bombers with maximum ordnance and minimal fuel,
refuel them with unit tankers as they cruise-climb to altitude, then top
them oft with task-force tankers from Yakutsk before they begin their
launch run. They’re tanking all the way to feet-dry, and they have a
huge reserve. By the time the bombers return to Siberia, the tankers
have loaded up at Yakutsk, and they go out and meet the bombers and
just repeat the whole process back to landing. Questions?”

Patrick said nothing, but he nodded slowly as he studied the satellite
imagery of the bases Griffin had just briefed.

“Let’s take a look at the Russian land-based missiles now,” Tagger
went on. “The SS-18s at Aleysk and Uzhur are definitely warmed up
and ready to go. Uzhur has the largest deployment, with four launch-
control centers each controlling twelve silos. Aleysk has just two
launch-control centers.

“Patrick, you asked about the composition of the launch-control
centers. The Russians did away with modernizing their SS-18 LCCs in
favor of improving their mobile-missile survivability. They assumed we
were going to smack their LCCs hard, so they emphasized fast-reaction
silo launches versus the idea of riding out an attack and then launching.
So the answer is, yes, a weapon like a Longhorn with bunker-busting
technology—a hardened penetrating nose cap, delayed fuze, and booster
motor—along with an enhanced-yield but nonnuclear payload such as a
thermium-nitrate warhead can, we believe, take out a SS-18 launch-
control center. We just have to be sure that we get to them before they
launch.

“The real trick has been the SS-25s,” Trevor Griffin went on.
“Those bastards are road-mobile, and they’ve had plenty of time to de-
ploy. We took a chance and started checking out every known garrison
location for the SS-25s, and I think we’ve hit pay dirt.

“The largest missile wing, Kansk, has forty-six units, but all of them
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relocated to their garrisons. Although they can still launch from a gar-
risoned position, we're hoping that’s a sign of either equipment mal-
functions or crew disillusionment. The smallest wing, Drovyanaya,
hasn’t even moved their missiles off the base yet—they’re all in their se-
curity garages. Both of these wings are the most geographically isolated,
so I think without a lot of adult supervision, the local commanders de-
cide on their own whether to deploy their rovers or not. Looks like in
these two cases they decided on very limited deployments.

“The other three missile wings are more difticult to surveille,” Tag-
ger admitted. “They dispersed their units quickly, and they’re not using
their garrisons as much—perhaps only a quarter of the units are in gar-
rison locations. Barnaul, Novosibirsk, and Irkutsk’s missiles are likely to
escape. We can get the ones in the garrisons, but that still leaves over
seventy units unaccounted for.”

“We’ll target the ones in the garrisons and hope we catch a break on
the rest,” Patrick said.

“We’ve got the garrisons covered,” David said. “The SS-25s may be
mobile, but in their garrisons they’re detectable and stoppable, and out
in the open they’re still detectable and as vulnerable as a tree. Stealth-
Hawks fitted with ultrawideband sensors can look inside the garrison
shelters easily, and millimeter-wave radar and imaging infrared sensors
can spot transporter-erector-launchers under foliage and hidden by
camouflage.”

“We definitely got a surprise here,” Tagger went on. “We weren’t
looking for them, but they popped up on our overflights anyway: activ-
ity at the old SS-24 garrisons at Krasnoyarsk.”

“What?” Patrick remarked. “SS-24s on the move?” The SS-24
“Scalpel” rail-mobile intercontinental ballistic missile was the weapon
that changed the course of arms-limitation-treaty talks in the 1990s.
The SS-24 was a copy of the American Peacekeeper ICBM, a long-
range missile designed to carry ten independently targeted nuclear war-
heads to ranges out to ten thousand miles. Like the original Peacekeeper
missile, the SS-24 was designed from the outset to travel on the national
railway system, mixing in with Russia’s substantial train population and
making targeting virtually impossible. At the beginning of the 1990s,
Russia had 150 three-missile units deployed throughout the country.
They could be launched anywhere with just a few minutes’ warning
time, and the warheads they carried were the most accurate carried by
any Russian ballistic missile.
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The second Strategic Arms Reduction Treaty signed between the
United States and Russia was supposed to eliminate the long-range rail-
mobile SS-24 and Peacekeeper missiles, and to make all land-based
ICBMs carry only single rather than multiple warheads. The United
States deactivated its last Peacekeeper missile in 2002 and destroyed its si-
los; the Russians were supposed to transfer the rail-mobile SS-24s to
older SS-18 silos and make them carry single warheads only.

“Obviously the Russians have been cheating on START II,” Tagger
summarized. “I think we might have as many as twelve SS-24s on the
move.”

“Dave?”

“The SS-24s are the biggest threats,” Luger said. “They have the
longest range, carry more warheads, and are more accurate than any-
thing else the Russians have.” He sat back in his seat and finally shook
his head. “It’s not going to work, Muck,” he said. “Even before we
found the SS-24s, we were pushing it—now I don’t think we have a
chance. Even if we gain all of the Air Force’s surviving bombers, we just
can’t surge enough airframes to drive ten thousand miles and take all
these locations at once. Some will leak through.”

Patrick remained silent for a few more moments, then turned to
Luger. “I know how to surge our planes,” he said. “I need Rebecca,
Daren, Hal, and the entire staff ready to do some planning—but I think
I know how we can do it. I'll need to speak with General Venti in about
an hour.” He nodded his thanks to Trevor Griffin, then asked, “Any-
thing else, Tagger?”

“Sure,” Griftin said matter-of-factly. His face broke out with a sly,
boyish smile. “Want to know where Anatoliy Gryzlov is now?”

“What? You know where Gryzlov is?”

“Air Intelligence Agency routinely tracks his command posts and
monitors radio and data traffic from Russia’s forty-seven various alter-
nate military command centers scattered around the country,” Tagger
said. “Gryzlov is crafty. He launched two sets of airborne military com-
mand posts before the attacks began, and there’s a lot of confusing and
conflicting radio traffic, meant as diversions. But I think we’ve pin-
pointed his actual location: Ryazan’, at an underground military facility
next to a deactivated military base, about a hundred forty miles south-
east of Moscow. We noticed shortly after the base closed that a substan-
tial amount of work was being done on Oksky Reserve, a game and
forest preserve adjacent to the old military base; when we saw a lot of
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dirt being moved but didn’t see any structures being built aboveground,
we suspected the Russians of building either an underground weapon-
storage facility or a command center. Gryzlov also happens to be from
Ryazan’ Oblast.”

“How certain are you that he’s there?”

“As certain as we can be, boss.”

“Whichis...?”

Tagger shrugged. “Sixty percent sure,” he admitted.

Patrick nodded, thankful for Griftin’s honesty. “Thanks for the info,
Tagger,” he said. “Let’s concentrate on nailing those ICBMs, and then
maybe we’ll get a shot at the general himself. But I want those missiles—
especially the SS-24s.”

ABOARD THE E-4B NATIONAL AIRBORNE
OPERATIONS CENTER AIRCRAFT

Hours later

cLanahan is on a secure link, sir,” General Richard Venti said to the

secretary of defense, Robert Goff. Along with them were members
of the Joint Chiefs of Staft or their designees—all of the chiefs did not
make it on board the NAOC before it departed Washington.

“Oh, brother!” Goff exclaimed. “Wonder what in hell he wants?
Where 1s he?”

“Battle Mountain, sir.”

“I should have known,” Goft said. He wearily massaged his temples,
but nodded. Venti pointed to the communications technician, and mo-
ments later Patrick McLanahan appeared on the video-teleconference
monitor, wearing a flight suit. Goft recognized most of the officers
seated with him: David Luger, the new commander of McLanahan’s old
unit; Rebecca Furness, the commander of the high-tech bomber wing
at Battle Mountain Air Reserve Base; her ops officer, Daren Mace; and
one of Furness’s squadron commanders, the one in charge of the mod-
ified B-52 bombers, Nancy Cheshire. “I see you are alive and well, Gen-
eral,” Goff said.

“That’s correct, sir,” Patrick replied.

“I also see you’re in flight gear. I hope it’s just for convenience’s
sake, General. I believe you’re no longer on flight status, pending the
outcome of your court-martial.”
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Rebecca Furness looked at McLanahan in some surprise—obvi-
ously she hadn’t heard this development. “I’ll fly only if I'm ordered to
do so, sir,” McLanahan responded.

“That would be a first,” Goft said dryly. “I don’t have much time,
General. What’s on your mind?”

“Upon General Luger’s authority, our attack and support forces are
holding in secure survival orbits oft the West Coast until we can deter-
mine what the Russians intend to do,” Patrick replied. “We have a total
of eight strike and six support aircraft airborne, plus five more strike air-
craft and two support aircraft safe on the ground, operational and ready
to go.”

“That’s good news, General,” Goff said, “because right now you
represent about one-third of America’s surviving bomber force.”

Luger’s and Furness’s faces turned blank in surprise, but Patrick’s
was as unflinching and stoic as ever. “We count two B-2As, two
B-52Hs, and four B-1B bombers that survived the attacks on White-
man, Minot, and Ellsworth,” he said.

“How do you know that so quickly, General? We don’t even have
that information yet.”

“The Air Battle Force routinely monitors all military aircraft move-
ment, sir, especially the heavy bombers and tankers,” Dave Luger said.
“We keep up with where every aircraft is, even those that aren’t ac-
tive—in fact, we keep track of where every aircraft component and part
1s, right down to the tires. We build a lot of equipment from off-the-
shelf parts and non-mission-ready airframes.”

“Impressive,” Goft muttered. “So what’s the purpose of the call,
General McLanahan?”

“Sir, I'm ready to take command of Eighth Air Force and begin a
counteroftensive against the Russian Federation,” Patrick said.

“I'm not in the mood for jokes, McLanahan,” Goff said. “I’ve al-
ready picked officers to replace the men we lost in the attack. Besides,
you’re not in line to take command of anything.”

“That’s . . . not exactly true, sir,” General Venti said.

“What are you talking about, General?”

“Sir, Patrick McLanahan was the senior wing commander of Air In-
telligence Agency,” Venti explained. “Upon the death of General
Houser, Patrick assumes command of Air Intelligence Agency—"

“What?”

“—and he also becomes the deputy commander in charge of intel-
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ligence of several units and agencies, including Air Combat Command,
Space Command, the Air Force, and U.S. Strategic Command, and even
reports to the National Security Council, the Joint Chiefs, and the
White House.”

“Not unless I say so!” Goft snapped. “I’ll put someone else in that
position—someone who’s not about to be court-martialed!”

“As commander of Air Intelligence Agency, General McLanahan is
an ex officio deputy commander of Eighth Air Force, in charge of in-
telligence operations,” Venti went on. “And since there was no vice
commander, the senior ranking deputy commander takes charge.”

“McLanahan.”

“Yes, sir. And as commander of Eighth Air Force, McLanahan also
becomes a deputy commander in charge of bomber forces for U.S.
Strategic Command.”

“Wait a minute—are you saying that McLanahan is going to advise
the STRATCOM commander on the bomber force—or what’s left of
it?” Admiral Andover asked. “With all due respect, sir, you can’t allow
that to happen. No one in the Navy trusts McLanahan. Sir, McLanahan
is the last guy you should choose to represent the Air Force or the
bomber force in STRATCOM.”

Goft was thunderstruck—but not for long. He thought for a mo-
ment, then waved a hand at Andover. “I don’t trust him either, Admiral.
But he saw the signs and called this conflict a long time ago, and he was
frighteningly accurate.” He paused, then turned to General Venti.
“Dick, you know I can make all this hocus-pocus chain-of-command
shit go away like that. What are your thoughts on this?”

“Technically, McLanahan should take command because of his
rank, but General Zoltrane does have more command and headquarters
experience than McLanahan, and I think he knows the force better,”
Venti admitted. “Charlie Zoltrane would definitely be the better
choice. We're at war here, sir—we need someone with true command
experience to take charge of the strategic nuclear air fleet.”

Goft thought for a moment, then nodded. “I agree. Dick, direct
General Kuzner to order Zoltrane to take command of Eighth Air
Force, and have him report to us via secure video teleconference as soon
as possible,” Goff ordered. “He’ll have to reorganize his staff’ and line
units on the fly. Then have Kuzner direct Colonel Griffin to take com-
mand of Air Intelligence Agency, and have him prepare to brief the
leadership by video teleconference.”
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“Sir, I have a way to downgrade or perhaps even effectively neutral-
ize Russia’s strategic nuclear forces that might threaten North Amer-
ica,” McLanahan interjected. Robert Goft paused and swallowed, but
he was going to repeat his order to upchannel his plan through the
proper chain of command, when McLanahan added, “I can set it in mo-
tion in less than thirty-six hours—and I can do it without using nuclear
weapons.”

“I'm going to be perfectly honest with you, General McLanahan:
No one, including myself, trusts you,” Robert Goft said seriously, ignor-
ing McLanahan’s words. “You have certainly set a record for how many
times a line officer can be busted, driven out of office, demoted, and
charged with insubordination, refusing to follow orders, and conduct
unbecoming. I think you have even managed at your young age to
eclipse Bradley James Elliott as the biggest uniformed pain in the ass in
U.S. history.”

“Sir, I'm not asking for a leadership position—let Zoltrane and
Griffin keep on doing what they know best,” Patrick said. “But put me
back in the field where I belong—here, in charge of the Air Battle
Force.”

“Why should I do that, General?” Goft asked.

“Sir, neither General Zoltrane nor the two surviving bomb-wing
commanders have any experience with the Megafortresses based out
here at Battle Mountain. Generals Furness, Luger, and myself, along
with Colonels Mace and Cheshire, are the only ones capable of employ-
ing the weapon systems here. On the other hand, all of us have experi-
ence leading B-52, B-1, and B-2 bombers into combat.”

“McLanahan, I don’t have time for this. Put it in writing and submit
it to—"

“Sir,” General Venti said with a firmness that surprised the secretary
of defense. He turned away from the camera, speaking directly to Goft
as privately as he could in front of a camera. “Whatever you think of’
Patrick McLanahan, sir, may I remind you that he predicted exactly what
has happened,” Venti said. “He saw the signs and wasn’t afraid to make
the call. We all saw the same data, but we never allowed ourselves to be-
lieve it would happen.”

“So what, General?”

“At the very least, sir, McLanahan deserves a listen,” Venti said.
“We’re threatening to put the guy in prison—I wouldn’t have blamed
him if he went home, packed up his family, and hightailed it up to Lake
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Tahoe. But he didn’t. He made it to Battle Mountain, got into a flight
suit, and put a plan together to deal with this emergency.”

Venti was right, Goft thought, but he wasn’t ready to admit it. He
turned to the chief of naval operations. “Admiral Andover?”

“I’ve made my opinions known already, sir—McLanahan is a men-
ace and should not even be in a military uniform, let alone being con-
sidered to lead a military unit into combat,” Andover responded. “Sir,
give me a few days and I'll brief a combined-forces operation—"

“How many Russian targets can the fleet hold at risk without us-
ing nuclear weapons, Admiral?” Goft asked. “A couple dozen? A cou-
ple hundred—as long as the shooters can safely move within a few
hundred miles of the shore? And how much time do you think we
have?”

“We’ve got as much time as we need, sir—and we sure as hell have
enough time to consider options other than sending Patrick McLana-
han. And I damned well know that the U.S. Navy can put many more
targets at risk than one Reserve unit can. And if a nuclear strike is nec-
essary, the Navy can exercise that option, too——McLanahan can’t.”

“Sir, Battle Mountain’s planes, the Megafortresses, are some of the
most high-tech aircraft left in our arsenal,” Venti went on. “They are
designed for SEAD—suppression of enemy air defenses—and
antiballistic-missile defense, but they also pack a considerable precision
standoft attack capability. Although the unit itself is not operational and
all of its aircraft are considered experimental, McLanahan’s Air Battle
Force and Furness’s One-eleventh Attack Wing of the Nevada Air Na-
tional Guard have proven themselves in combat many times, from
United Korea to Libya to Central Asia to western Russia.” He shrugged
and added, “And no one else in the Air Force except General Terrill
Samson knows much, if anything, about them—and Samson is appar-
ently one of the casualties at Oftutt.”

Goft shook his head. He expected Venti, an Air Force general, to
support his fellow blue-suiters. Most Joint Chiefs chairmen had biases
toward their own services. “And I'm supposed to forget the fact that he
disregards directives and busts the chain of command to suit himself?”
Goft asked. He rubbed his eyes in exasperation. “Richard, McLanahan
is a good guy, but I just can’t trust him. He’s the definition of ‘loose can-
non.” The president doesn’t trust him. Even Gryzlov wants his head on
a plate. Why on earth should I allow him back in uniform? Damn it,
General, T sure as hell shouldn’t allow him back at Battle Mountain,
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with access to all those fancy high-tech aircraft and weapons—God
knows what he might do, or what he might be doing right now!”

Venti took a deep breath, ready to argue—but he couldn’t. He
found himself nodding agreement. “Sir, at least consider this: It’ll take
Zoltrane and Griffin a few hours to get up to speed and report in—and
they won’t have a plan ready until they can assemble their own battle
staffs and pull packages off the shelf. Until we assess the status of the
ICBM and bomber fleets, the only other option is the sea-launched
nukes. Long before we have a plan, the subs will be in position—and
the Russians know this.”

“So?”

“Whatever the Russians will do next, sir, they’ll do it before the
boomers get into launch position,” Venti said. “The sub bases in Wash-
ington State and Georgia, the remaining bomber bases, Europe, NATO,
Washington, they’ll all be at risk—unless you believe that the Russians
really will stop?”

Goft’s eyes unconsciously widened. “Do you think this could be
the prelude to a wider attack?”

“I don’t know, sir—but right now we’re totally on the defensive un-
til the subs get into launch position,” Venti said. “The Russians have the
complete advantage of surprise and position. We can’t do much no
matter where they move next. It could take us days or weeks to plan and
organize a response by sea or a special-operations mission, and weeks to
months to plan a ground offensive.” He took another deep breath. “I
see two options right now, sir: Listen to McLanahan’s plan, or plan a
strike using the subs in about forty-eight hours.”

“A nuclear strike?” Goft asked.

Venti nodded. “But I don’t think the president will authorize it,” he
said. “Do you, sir?” Goft responded with silence. “Then I recommend
we hear what McLanahan has to say.”

ONE HUNDRED FIFTY KILOMETERS NORTHEAST
OF SHEMYA ISLAND, ALASKA

That same time

tand by for final launch run, crew,” radioed the bombardier aboard
the lead Tupolev-160 Blackjack bomber. “Final radar fix in progress,

bR

stand by for transfer-alignment maneuver. Radar to radiate . . . now.
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The bombardier activated his radarscope, already preset to the
proper range and tilt for the fastest and sharpest return—and there it
was, right where he predicted it would be: the American island of She-
mya, almost at the very end of the Aleutian Island chain. This little flat
rock in the ocean was one of America’s most important surveillance
outposts: Its COBRA DANE radar could monitor each and every
Russian land- and sea-launched ballistic-missile test fired into the Pa-
cific instrumented target range, and electronic listening posts collected
broadcasts from Russian and Chinese military bases half a world away. It
was also a linchpin in America’s new and highly illegal ballistic-missile
defense system.

In short, it was going away—right now.

Although they had initiated their attacks on America’s bases in
Alaska hours ago, it had taken this long to fly back across the Bering
Sea to get into position to strike this last but no less important target.
After this, it was an easy cruise back to the air-refueling track to ren-
dezvous with the tankers operating out of Yakutsk, and then an easy
ride home.

The radar crosshairs were less than a hundred meters off the aim-
point—the COBRA DANE antenna itself—so the bombardier laid
them back on, magnified the image to ensure they were on the right
spot—the northernmost corner of the massive array—checked the aim-
point coordinates, and then pressed the RADAR FIX button. The precise
radar fix, combined with GLONASS satellite-navigation signals, would
help keep the Tu-160’s inertial navigator properly aligned. Thirty sec-
onds later the navigation computer dumped velocity, heading, and posi-
tion information to the four remaining Kh-15 nuclear missiles in the
forward bomb bay.

“Fix complete,” he reported. “Stand by for TAL maneuver. Left
turn, thirty degrees of bank, ten seconds...now.”” The pilot com-
manded the autopilot to accomplish the turn. The TAL, or transfer
alignment maneuver, “exercised” the inertial-navigation system and al-
lowed a known quantity of velocity readings to fine-tune it. “Hold
heading for twelve seconds. ... Good, now right turn, center up the
heading bug. Remaining on this heading. Three minutes to launch
point. TAL complete, all remaining missiles reporting ready for launch.
Confidence is high.”

The Tu-160 was traveling at one thousand kilometers per hour at an
altitude of one hundred meters above the Bering Sea. His course would
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take him about a hundred kilometers north of Shemya, out of range of
any Patriot surface-to-air missiles the Americans may have placed
there. The American naval base at Adak Island had been closed for a
few years now, but there was no use taking chances; besides, they had
plenty of fuel to make it back to the refueling anchor and to the first
alternate landing site if they couldn’t make their refueling. They’d had
training missions twice as long and many times more complex than
this. But it was strange that the Americans didn’t place defensive
weapon systems around their own bases. Obviously, they thought
themselves invincible to attack—even way out here along the Aleutian
Islands, where Shemya was half as close to Russia than it was to Juneau,
the Alaskan capital.

Russia had proved this day how very wrong the Americans were.
America was not invincible. In fact, this attack was unbelievably easy.
They had detected just two American fighters during their entire two-
hour attack run into Alaska, and the fighters had zoomed right over
them without locking on even for a second. True, the electromagnetic
pulses created by the multiple nuclear detonations around Fairbanks had
helped degrade their radar. But launching only two fighters for the en-
tire state of Alaska? Didn’t the United States have any love or respect for
their forty-ninth state? Did they think so little of this big, beautiful,
mineral-rich place that they chose not to defend it with every weapon
system in their arsenal? Heading outbound toward Shemya was even
easier, as if the Americans never even tried to look for them. Could they
really be this completely disorganized?

The bombardier took a few radar sweeps of the ocean, scanning for
American warships. Nothing straight ahead, just a few small vessels,
probably fishing or patrol vessels—nothing with the size to suggest they
had the surface-to-air missile capacity to threaten a Tupolev-160. “This
is lead. You see that surface target at eleven o’clock, fifty kilometers?”
the bombardier radioed.

“I see it,” the bombardier aboard the number-two Tu-160 re-
sponded. “Less than twenty-five meters long, I'd say. Shaped like a
trawler. No threat.”

“We’ll keep our distance anyway,” the lead bombardier responded.
But he did not alter his flight-plan routing. They would be at least five
kilometers north of the sea target at their closest point—well out of
range of Stinger or other shoulder-fired antiaircraft weapons, which
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were not very much of a threat to a Tupolev-160 anyway. “Two min-
utes to launch.”

“Acknowledged. Search-radar contact only—no targeting radars.”

“EWO?” the pilot radioed to the electronic-warfare officer. “Check
those radar contacts.”

“Search radars only,” the electronic-warfare officer aboard the lead
Tu-160 reported after double-checking his readouts. “Echo-band air-
traffic control radar from Shemya, X-ray band phased array search
radar also from Shemya—the COBR A DANE long-range radar—and
F-band search radar from just oftshore, probably a surface-search radar
from that trawler. No height finders.”

“One minute to missile launch.”

The pilot’s voice sounded much more apprehensive. “Where’s that
trawler?” he asked.

“Eleven o’clock, thirty-two kilometers.”

“And you say it’s painting us with radar?”

“Search radar only, pilot,” the EWO responded.

“Can he see us?”

“Probably.”

“Then let’s deviate around him,” the pilot said. “Bombardier, give
me a vector.”

“Negative. Less than forty seconds to launch. Deviating might put
us outside the footprint. Hold heading.”

“If that trawler lights us up with a height finder, I want him blown
out of the water,” the pilot ordered.

“With a one-kiloton nuclear warhead? You want to nuke a little
fishing boat with a ten-million-ruble nuclear missile?”

“Have number two target that trawler—he’s got four missiles to
spare. That’s an order.”

“Roger.” On the interplane radio, the bombardier relayed the order
from the flight commander. The number-two Blackjack’s bombardier
laid his radar crosshairs on the radar return, hit a button to engage the
moving-target designation mode, waited thirty seconds for the
crosshairs to drift off, then placed them back on the target. The attack
computers automatically calculated the trawler’s speed—Iless than ten
knots—and computed a set of target coordinates for where the trawler
would be at the end of the missile’s very short flight time.

Not that it mattered much: A one-kiloton nuclear warhead would
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create an eight-cubic-kilometer hole in the ocean that would suck mil-
lions of kilos of seawater into it within seconds, crushing anything in-
side that was not already vaporized in the blast. The missile could miss
by several kilometers and still destroy the little trawler.

“Stand by for missile launch,” the lead bombardier reported. “Mis-
sile counting down . . . Doors coming open . . . Missile one away . . .
Launcher rotating . . . Missile two away . .. Doors coming closed . . .
All missiles away.”

At this range it would take just over one minute for the first missile to
hit. “Double-check curtain seals,” the pilot ordered. The pilots made sure
that the silver-and-lead-lined anti—flash blindness curtains covering the
cockpit windows were closed and securely fastened in place. “Crew, sun-
glasses secure, dark helmet visors down, interior lights full bright.” They
turned the inside lights full bright so they could see their instruments
through all the eye protection and to constrict their irises as much as pos-
sible. “Autopilot is off, climbing to one thousand meters. Prepare for—"

Just then the bombardier radioed, “Lost contact with missile

one . .. Missile two still on track . . . Thirty seconds to second missile
impact . . . twenty . . . Stand by for shock wave from first missile deto-
nation . . . ten . .. Shit, I lost contact with the second missile. . . .

Shock wave impact, now.” There was nothing. “Stand by for shock wave
from missile two. . . .”

“What happened, bombardier?” the pilot asked.

“Unknown. I just lost contact. . .. Shock wave coming up, now.”
Still nothing. “No detonation. I don’t understand it, pilot. I had two
good missiles until just before detonation, and then nothing.”

The pilot started pulling off the anti—flash blindness curtains from
his cockpit windscreen. “I'm going to look for a mushroom cloud or
signs of detonation. Copilot, shield your eyes.” The pilot gingerly
opened his curtains a few centimeters. There was no sign of a nuclear
explosion. “Nothing! What could have happened?”

“Want me to launch the last two missiles at Shemya?”

“We were supposed to save the last two for surface targets we’d en-
counter on our way back,” the pilot reminded him, “and then save any
unexpended weapons for contingencies.” But Shemya was a very im-
portant target, he thought. “Have our wingman cancel his attack on that
surface target and launch two missiles at Shemya—then we’ll both have
two missiles remaining. That’s better than one plane having four left but
being unable to launch.”
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“Acknowledged. Break. Two, this is lead, put a couple on Shemya.
Our two missiles malfunctioned.”

“Acknowledged. Changing to left-echelon formation.” Since his
missiles would be flying south, the number-two Blackjack bomber
crossed over to the lead bomber’s left side and prepared to launch two
Kh-15 missiles at Shemya.

“Zagavn’at!” the pilot swore aloud. “How could we fuck up that
bad?”

“We didn’t do anything wrong, pilot,” the bombardier said. “Who
knows? Maybe the missile’s electronics got beat up too badly during the
long low-level cruising. Maybe the fuze malfunctioned.”

“Any air defenses on Shemya?”

“None whatsoever,” the electronic-warfare officer responded, puz-
zled.

“And even if there were, even a Patriot missile would have a hard
time shooting down a Kh-15,” the bombardier says. “The Kh-15 flies
taster and lower than the Patriot can—"

“Uyobyvay!” the copilot suddenly swore. “What in hell was that?”

The pilot saw it too—a streak of blue-yellow flashed by the wind-
screen, so fast that it seemed like a beam of light—except the streak left
a thin, white, steamy contrail. “Was that a sutface-to-air missile?”

“I'm not picking up any uplink or height-finder radars,” the
electronic-warfare officer said immediately. “Scope’s clear except for a
surface-search radar at eleven o’clock, ten kilometers.”

“That trawler is still painting us?”

“It’s not a SAM radar, just a—"

At that instant the crew felt a tremendous bang! reverberate through
the aircraft—very quick and sharp, almost like clear-air turbulence.
“Station check, crew!” the pilot ordered as he snapped his oxygen mask
in place. “Everyone on oxygen.”

“Offense in the green.”

“Defense in the green.”

“Copilot is in the— Wait, I've got a tank low-pressure warning in
the fuselage number-two fuel tank,” the copilot reported as he contin-
ued scanning his instruments. “Pressure is down to ten kilopascals. . . .
Fuel quantity is dropping, too. I'm initiating transfer to the main body
and transferring wing main fuel to the outboards.”

“Any other malfunctions?”

“Negative, just the fuel pressure and—"
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At that moment there was another sharp bang! The air inside the
cabin turned instantly cloudy, as if a thick fog had appeared out of
nowhere. The pilot felt air gush out of his nostrils and mouth so loudly
that he barked like a dog. “What was that? Station check again! Report!”

“My God!” the electronic-warfare officer screamed. “Oh, my
God ... !”

“What is it? Report!”

“Igor . . . the bombardier . . . God, he’s been hit . . . Jesus, his entire
body exploded!” the EWO screamed over the intercom. “I felt that sec-
ond thud, and I looked over, and . . . oh, God, it looks like his body was
blown in half from head to toe. Something came up from the bottom
of the aircraft and blew Igor into pieces!”

“Copilot . .. 77

“Explosive decompression, two alternators and generators offline,
and I feel a tremor in the fuselage,” the copilot reported.

“I have the airplane,” the pilot said. “I’'m turning north.” He keyed
the mike button. “Two, this is lead, I think we’ve been hit by ground
fi